
1 

 
 

METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF SEFTON 
 

COUNCIL SUMMONS 
 
 
To Members of the Metropolitan Borough Council 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 
You are requested to attend a Meeting of the Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council to  
 
 
be held on Thursday 27th June, 2013 at 6.30 pm at the Town Hall, Southport to  
 
 
transact the business set out on the agenda overleaf. 
 
 

Yours sincerely, 

 
Chief Executive 

 
 
 
 
Town Hall, 
Southport 
 
Wednesday 19 June 2013 
 
 

Please contact Steve Pearce,Democratic Services Manager  
on 0151 934 2046 or e-mail steve.pearce@sefton.gov.uk 

 

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack



2 

 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank.



3 

A G E N D A 
 

1. Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2. Declarations of Interest 

 Members are requested to give notice of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest, which is not already included in their 
Register of Members' Interests and the nature of that interest, 
relating to any item on the agenda in accordance with the 
Members Code of Conduct, before leaving the meeting room 
during the discussion on that particular item.  
 

 

3. Minutes of Previous Meetings 

 Minutes of the Annual Council Meeting held on 9 May 2013 
and the Adjourned Annual Council Meeting held on 14 May 
2013  
 

(Pages 5 - 24) 

4. Mayor's Communications 
 

 

Public Session 
 

5. Matters Raised by the Public 

 To deal with matters raised by members of the public 
resident within the Borough, of which notice has been given 
in accordance with the procedures relating to public 
questions, motions or petitions set out in Paragraph 36 to 46 
of the Council and Committee Procedure Rules in Chapter 4 
of the Council Constitution.  
 

 

Council Business Session 
 

6. Questions Raised by Members of the Council 

 To receive and consider questions to Cabinet Members, 
Chairs of Committees or Spokespersons for any of the Joint 
Authorities upon any matter within their portfolio/area of 
responsibility, of which notice has been given by Members of 
the Council in accordance with Paragraph 48 to 50 of the 
Council and Committee Procedure Rules, set out in Chapter 
4 of the Council Constitution.  
 

 

7. Local Plan for Sefton - Preferred Option Document 

 Report of the Director of Built Environment  
 

(Pages 25 - 
340) 

8. Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan - 
Adoption of Plan 

 Report of Director of Built Environment  
 

(Pages 341 - 
346) 



4 

9. Introduction of a Byelaw - Cosmetic Treatments 

 Report of the Director of Built Environment  
 

(Pages 347 - 
358) 

10. Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2012/13 

 Report attached  
 

(Pages 359 - 
380) 

11. Membership of Committees 2013/14 

 To consider any changes to the Membership of any 
Committees etc.  
 

 

12. Notice of Motion Submitted by Councillor Dawson 

 To consider the following Motion submitted by Councillor 
Dawson: 
 
“This Council notes the problems which have been 
increasingly encountered by local residents seeking urgent 
and emergency care, whether this is from General 
Practitioners, telephone advice systems, A&E departments or 
ambulances. 
 
The Council: 
 
(1) urges the Government to take steps to ensure that quality 

standards for all urgent and emergency services are 
maintained and improved; and 

 
(2) commits itself, through its overview and scrutiny function, 

to monitoring the quality and availability of local urgent 
and emergency health care.”  

 

 

 



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN” 

 

1 

COUNCIL 

 

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, SOUTHPORT 

ON THURSDAY 9TH MAY, 2013 

 
 
PRESENT: The Mayor (Councillor M. Fearn) (in the Chair) 

The Deputy Chair (Councillor K. Cluskey) (Vice 
Chair) 
 

 Councillors Ashton, Atkinson, Ball, Bennett, Booth, 
Bradshaw, Brennan, Byrom, Carr, L. Cluskey, 
Crabtree, Cummins, Cuthbertson, Dawson, Dorgan, 
M. Dowd, P. Dowd, Dutton, Lord Fearn, Friel, 
Gatherer, Hardy, Hands, Hartill, Hubbard, Jones, 
Keith, John Kelly, John Joseph Kelly, Kermode, 
Kerrigan, Killen, P. Maguire, Maher, Mahon, 
McGinnity, S. McGuire, McIvor, McKinley, Moncur, 
Page, Papworth, Preece, Rimmer, Roberts, 
Robertson, Roche, Sumner, Tweed, Veidman, 
Sir Ron Watson, Weavers, Webster and Welsh 

 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Blackburn, Brodie – 
Browne, Dodd, Fairclough, Gustafson, Lappin, Murphy, Robinson, Shaw 
and Tonkiss. 
 
2. ELECTION OF MAYOR FOR 2013/14  

 
It was moved by Councillor Robertson, seconded by Councillor Lord Fearn 
and unanimously 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That Maureen Fearn, J.P., a Councillor of the Borough, be elected Mayor 
of the Borough for the ensuing Municipal Year and until the acceptance of 
office by her successor. 
 
Councillor M. Fearn then made a Declaration of Acceptance of Office and 
took the Chair for the meeting. 
 
3. ELECTION OF DEPUTY CHAIR FOR 2013/14  

 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
unanimously 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 5



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 9TH MAY, 2013 
 

2 

That Kevin Cluskey, a Councillor of the Borough, be elected the Deputy 
Chair of the Council for the ensuing Municipal Year and until the 
acceptance of office by his successor. 
 
4. VOTE OF THANKS FOR RETIRING MAYOR  

 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
unanimously 
 
RESOLVED:  That 
 
(1) the Council does hereby place on record its appreciation of the 

ability, courtesy and impartiality, shown by Councillor Kevin Cluskey 
in his capacity as Mayor of the Borough and Chair of the meetings 
of the Council, during the Municipal Year 2012-2013 and for his 
attendance at many civic and public functions, both inside and 
outside of the Borough; 

 
(2) the Council also desires to extend its thanks to Councillor Mrs. 

Linda Cluskey for her support and encouragement given to the 
Mayor; 

 
(3) the Council wishes to record its appreciation of the excellent effort 

and involvement by both Councillor Kevin Cluskey and Councillor 
Mrs. Linda Cluskey in connection with the Mayor of Sefton’s Charity 
Fund; 

 
(4) the Council further desires to extend its sincere thanks to Councillor 

Kevin Cluskey and Councillor Mrs. Linda Cluskey for the hospitality 
extended to Royal Visits, Overseas Visitors, Civic Dignitaries and 
Twinning Officials hosted by this Borough; and 

 
(5) a copy of the Resolution be passed under the Corporate Seal and 

presented to Councillor Kevin Cluskey. 
 
Councillor Kevin Cluskey and Councillor Mrs. Linda Cluskey were then 
presented with framed copies of the Vote of Thanks as tokens of the 
Council’s appreciation of the manner in which they had undertaken their 
duties in the Office of Mayor during the past twelve months. 
 
Councillor Kevin Cluskey responded to the Vote of Thanks and expressed 
his appreciation to his Mayoress, Councillor Mrs. Linda Cluskey, the 
members of the public, various organisations and Council officers who had 
supported him during his Year of Office. 
 
5. ADJOURNMENT OF MEETING  

 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 6



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 9TH MAY, 2013 
 

3 

That the meeting be adjourned and the Council re-convene on Tuesday, 
14 May 2013 at 6.30 p.m. in Bootle Town Hall. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN” 

 

4 

COUNCIL 

 

ADJOURNED ANNUAL MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, 
BOOTLE ON TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 

 
 
PRESENT: The Mayor (Councillor M. Fearn) (in the Chair) 

The Deputy Chair (Councillor K. Cluskey) (Vice 
Chair) 
 

 Councillors Ashton, Atkinson, Ball, Bennett, 
Blackburn, Booth, Bradshaw, Brennan, Brodie -
 Browne, Byrom, Carr, L. Cluskey, Crabtree, 
Cummins, Cuthbertson, Dawson, Dodd, Dorgan, 
M. Dowd, P. Dowd, Dutton, Fairclough, Friel, 
Gatherer, Hardy, Gustafson, Hands, Hartill, 
Hubbard, Jones, Keith, John Kelly, 
John Joseph Kelly, Kermode, Kerrigan, Lappin, 
P. Maguire, Maher, Mahon, McGinnity, McIvor, 
McKinley, Moncur, Murphy, Page, Papworth, 
Preece, Rimmer, Roberts, Robertson, Roche, Shaw, 
Sumner, Tonkiss, Tweed, Veidman, Weavers, 
Webster and Welsh 

 
 
6. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Lord Fearn, Killen, 
S. McGuire, Robinson and Sir Ron Watson. 
 
7. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 
8. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Minutes of the Council meeting held on 18 April 2013 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 
9. MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS  
 
Annual Council and Installation Dinner 

The Mayor expressed her thanks to those Councillors who had attended 
her Installation at the Annual Council Meeting and the Installation Dinner 
held in the Ramada Hotel, Southport on 9 May 2013; and indicated that 
she was Iooking forward to her third term as Mayor of Sefton. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 9



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

5 

Mayoral Civic Service 
 
The Mayor reported that her Civic Service would take place on Sunday 7 
July 2013 at St Francis of Assisi Church, Folkstone Road, Southport; and 
that further details would be released in the near future to all Members of 
the Council. 
 
10. MATTERS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC  
 
The Mayor reported that members of the public had not submitted any 
petitions or questions. 
 
11. LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  
 
It was moved by Councillor Webster, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That it be noted that Councillor P. Dowd was appointed as the Leader of 
the Council by the Council on 17 May 2011 for a period of four years or 
until such time as his term of office expires. 
 
12. CABINET AND DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  
 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher and  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That it be noted that the Cabinet, comprising of the Members indicated 
below, was appointed by the Leader of the Council at the Council meeting 
held on 15 May 2012 for a four year term of office or until such time as 
their term of office expires, they are removed by the Leader or for any of 
the reasons set out in Paragraph 4 in Chapter 5 of the Constitution:- 
 

Portfolio Member 

Leader of the Council Cllr. P. Dowd 

Cabinet Member – Children, Schools, Families 
and Leisure 

Cllr. Moncur 

Cabinet Member – Communities and 
Environment 

Cllr. Hardy 

Cabinet Member – Corporate Services and 
Performance 

Cllr. Tweed 

Cabinet Member – Older People and Health Cllr. Cummins 

Cabinet Member – Regeneration and Tourism 
and Deputy Leader of the Council 

Cllr. Maher 

Cabinet Member – Transportation Cllr. Fairclough 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 10



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

6 

13. APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES AND WORKING GROUPS 
2013/14  

 
The Council considered a schedule which provided details of the allocation 
of Committee Places in accordance with the Political Balance Rules and 
the proposed Membership of the Committees and Working Groups for 
2013/14. 
 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher: 
 
That: 
 
(1) the allocation of Committee Places in accordance with the Political 

Balance Rules, as set out below, be noted; and  
 
(2) the Members, Chairs and Vice-Chairs for the Committees and 

Working Groups as set out in the schedule be appointed for a 
period of twelve months until the Adjourned Annual Council Meeting 
to be held in May 2014. 

 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Brodie – Browne, seconded by 
Councillor Hands that the Motion be amended as follows: 
 
“(1) that the Council distributes the Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees and of the Audit and Governance Committee 
proportionally ie: 3 Labour / 1 Liberal Democrat / 1 Conservative; 
and 

 
(2) that, within the above, the Chair of the Audit and Governance 

Committee be held by an Oppposition Member in line with the 
practice in Sefton Council until May 2012, and also in accordance 
with recommended best practice” 

 
Following debate thereon, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that 
the amendment was lost by 34 votes to 26 with 1 abstention. 
 
On a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the Motion was carried by 34 
votes to 26 with 1 abstention and it was 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That: 
 
(1) the allocation of Committee Places in accordance with the Political 

Balance Rules, as set out below, be noted; and  
 
(2) the Members, Chairs and Vice-Chairs for the Committees and 

Working Groups set out below be appointed for a period of twelve 
months until the Adjourned Annual Council Meeting to be held in 
May 2014. 

 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 11



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

7 

(A) OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN’S SERVICES) 
(10) 
 
(Plus 4 Education Added Members) 
 
(Lab 6 /Lib Dem 3 /Con 1) 

 

 Member Substitute 
   

1. Chair: Cllr. Brennan  Cllr. Veidman 

2. Vice-Chair: Cllr. Bradshaw Cllr. L. Cluskey 

3. Cllr. Bennett Cllr. Page 

4. Cllr. Hands Cllr. Booth 

5. Cllr. Hartill Cllr. Ball 

6 Cllr. Keith Cllr. Dodd 

7. Cllr. Killen Cllr. Maguire 

8. Cllr. McKinley Cllr. Byrom 

9. Cllr. Preece Cllr. Hubbard 

10. Cllr. Webster Cllr. Carr 

 
Education Added Members:- Canon R. Driver and Father D. Seddon 
(Voting Co-opted Members)  (Church Diocesan Representatives); 
   Mrs. S. M. Bradley and 1 Vacancy. 
   (Parent Governor Representatives) 
 
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (HEALTH AND SOCIAL 
CARE) (10) 
 
(Lab 6 /Lib Dem 3 /Con 1) 
 

 Member Substitute 
   

1. Chair: Cllr. Page Cllr. L. Cluskey 

2. Vice-Chair: Cllr. Robinson Cllr. Bradshaw 

3. Cllr. Ball Cllr. Jones 

4. Cllr. Friel Cllr. Webster 

5. Cllr. Gatherer Cllr. Lappin 

6.  Cllr. Hubbard Cllr. Welsh 

7.  Cllr. John Joseph Kelly Cllr. Gustafson 

8.  Cllr. McGuire Cllr. Dawson 

9.  Cllr. Rimmer Cllr. Keith 

10. Cllr. Roberts Cllr. Brennan 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 12



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

8 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (PERFORMANCE AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES) (10) 
 
(Lab 6 /Lib Dem 3 /Con 1) 
 

 Member Substitute 
   

1.  Chair: Cllr. McGinnity Cllr. McKinley 

2.  Vice-Chair: Cllr. Byrom Cllr. Veidman 

3. Cllr. Ashton Cllr. McGuire 

4. Cllr. Booth Cllr. Shaw 

5.  Cllr. Dawson Cllr. Weavers 

6.  Cllr. M. Dowd Cllr. Murphy 

7.  Cllr. Kermode Cllr. Killen 

8.  Cllr. Maguire Cllr. Roche 

9. Cllr. McIvor Cllr. Dorgan 

10. Cllr. Robinson Cllr. Roberts 

 
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES) (10) 
 
(Lab 6 /Lib Dem 3 /Con 1) 
 

 Member Substitute 
   

1. Chair: Cllr. McKinley Cllr. Webster 

2. Vice-Chair: Cllr. John Kelly Cllr. Bradshaw 

3.  Cllr. Bennett Cllr. Roche 

4.  Cllr. Gatherer Cllr. Robinson 

5.  Cllr. Jones Cllr. Crabtree 

6. Cllr. Lappin Cllr. Murphy 

7.  Cllr. Maguire Cllr. McGinnity 

8.  Cllr. Shaw Cllr. Booth 

9. Cllr. Tonkiss Cllr. McGuire 

10.  Cllr. Weavers Cllr. Welsh 

 
 
(B) REGULATORY AND OTHER COMMITTEES 
 
APPEALS COMMITTEE 
 
All Members of the Council (other than Cabinet Members) to form a Panel 
from which 3 Members are selected to form a politically balanced 
Committee.  (Lab 2 / Lib Dem 1 / Con 0) 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 13



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

9 

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE (10) 
 
(Lab 5 / Lib Dem 3 / Con 2) 

 

 Member Substitute 
   

1.  Chair: Cllr. Roberts Cllr. Friel 

2.  Vice-Chair: Cllr. McGinnity Cllr. Byrom 

3.  Cllr. Brennan Cllr. Mahon 

4.  Cllr. Lord Fearn Cllr. Ashton 

5.  Cllr. John Joseph Kelly Cllr. Kermode 

6. Cllr. Maher Cllr. Moncur 

7.  Cllr. McIvor Cllr. Dorgan 

8.  Cllr. Papworth Cllr. Dutton 

9.  Cllr. Shaw Cllr. Hands 

10.  Cllr. Weavers Cllr. Tonkiss 

 
Membership is the Leader of the Council and the other 2 Party Group 
Leaders (or their nominees) and 7 Non-Executive Members of the Council. 
 

ASSESSMENT SUB-COMMITTEE OF AUDIT & GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE 
 
All Members of the Audit and Governance Committee will form a Panel 
from which 3 Members will be selected to form a Sub-Committee. 
 
HEARINGS SUB-COMMITTEE OF AUDIT & GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE 
 
All Members of the Audit and Governance Committee will form a Panel 
from which 3 Members will be selected to form a Sub-Committee. 
 
REVIEW SUB-COMMITTEE OF AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
All Members of the Audit and Governance Committee to form a Panel from 
which 3 Members will be selected to form a Sub-Committee. 
 
EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE COMMITTEE 
 
Members of the Council to form a Panel from which a minimum of 3 
Members are selected to form a politically balanced Committee (Lab 2 /Lib 
Dem 1 /Con 0).  At least one member of the Cabinet to be included on the 
Committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 14



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

10 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Councillor Moncur – Cabinet Member 
– Children, Schools, Families and 
Leisure (Chair) 

Councillor Cummins – Cabinet 
Member – Older People and Health 

Councillor John Joseph Kelly 

 
 
 
As determined by the 
Leader of the Council  

Director of Public Health Dr. Janet Atherton 

Director of Older People  Robina Critchley 

Director of Young People and 
Families 

Colin Pettigrew 

Representative of NHS South Sefton 
Clinical Commissioning Group 

Dr Clive Shaw 

Representative of NHS Southport 
and Formby Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

Dr Niall Leonard 

Chief Officer of NHS South Sefton 
and NHS Southport and Formby 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 

Fiona Clark 

Representative of NHS England Phil Wadeson 

Representative of Healthwatch, 
Sefton 

Maureen Kelly 

The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 made under the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012 provide that the Board shall be a Committee of the Council.  The 
requirement for political balance does not apply to the Board and the Act 
requires that the Councillor Membership is nominated by the Executive 
Leader (Leader of the Council). 
 
LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE (15) 
 
(Lab 8 /Lib Dem 5 /Con 2)   

 

 Member 

1.  Chair: Cllr. Kerrigan 

2.  Vice-Chair Cllr. Robinson 

3.  Cllr. Ball 

4.  Cllr. Bradshaw 

5.  Cllr. Carr 

6.  Cllr. K. Cluskey 

7.  Cllr. Dorgan 

8.  Cllr. Gustafson 

9. Cllr. Hands 

10. Cllr. Keith 

11. Cllr. Kermode 

12. Cllr. Mahon 

13. Cllr. Preece 

14. Cllr. Rimmer 

15.  Cllr. Welsh 

Agenda Item 3

Page 15



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

11 

LICENSING AND REGULATORY (URGENT REFERRALS) 
COMMITTEE (3) 
 
(Lab 2 /Lib Dem 1 /Con 0) 
 

 Member Substitute 

1.  Chair: Cllr. Kerrigan Cllr. Bradshaw 

2.  Cllr. Preece Cllr. Hands 

3.  Cllr. Robinson Cllr. Kermode 

 
LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
Members of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee to form a Panel from 
which 3 Members are selected to form a politically balanced Sub-
Committee.(Lab  2/ Lib Dem  1/Con  0) 
 
PAY AND GRADING COMMITTEE (6) 
 
(Lab 3 /Lib Dem 2 /Con 1) – Including Cabinet Member – Corporate 
Services and Performance 
 

 Member 

1. Chair: Cllr. Tweed 

2. Vice-Chair: Cllr. Fairclough 

3. Cllr. Dorgan 

4. Cllr. Rimmer 

5. Cllr. Roberts 

6. Cllr. Welsh 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE (15) 
 
(Lab 8 /Lib Dem 5 /Con 2) 
 

 Member Substitute 
   

1.  Chair: Cllr. Veidman Cllr. Lappin 

2.  Vice-Chair: Cllr. John Kelly Cllr. Brennan 

3.  Cllr. Atkinson Cllr. Page 

4.  Cllr. Blackburn Cllr. Welsh 

5.  Cllr. Booth Cllr. Dawson 

6. Cllr. L. Cluskey Cllr. Roberts 

7.  Cllr. Crabtree Cllr. Hartill 

8. Cllr. Dodd Cllr. Weavers 

9. Cllr. Dutton Cllr. Ball 

10. Cllr. Gustafson Cllr. Webster 

11. Cllr. Mahon Cllr. Friel 

12. Cllr. Murphy Cllr. John Joseph Kelly 

13. Cllr. Robertson Cllr. Hubbard 

14. Cllr. Roche Cllr. Killen 

15. Cllr. Sumner Cllr. Hands 

Agenda Item 3

Page 16



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

12 

PLANNING (URGENT REFERRALS) COMMITTEE (3) 
 
(Lab 2 /Lib Dem 1 /Con 0) 
 

 Member Substitute 

1.  Chair: Cllr. Veidman Cllr. Mahon 

2.  Cllr. John Kelly Cllr. Atkinson 

3.  Cllr. Robertson Cllr. Booth 

 
PLANNING VISITING PANEL (15) 
 
The Panel comprises of the Members of the Planning Committee.  
 
(C) LOCAL AREA COMMITTEES 

 
The Members of the Wards indicated below in the area of each 
Committee. 
 
The Chair, Vice-Chair and Local Advisory Members to be appointed by the 
respective Area Committee. 
 
CENTRAL SEFTON AREA COMMITTEE (27) 
 

Ward Member 

 Cllr. Bennett 

Blundellsands Cllr. Dorgan 

 Cllr. Papworth 

 Cllr. Cummins 

Church Cllr. Veidman 

 Cllr. Webster 

 Cllr. Cuthbertson 

Harington Cllr. Dutton 

 Cllr. Killen 

 Cllr. John Joseph Kelly 

Manor Cllr. McGinnity 

 Cllr. Roberts 

 Cllr. Atkinson 

Molyneux Cllr. Carr 

 Cllr. Murphy 

 Cllr. Blackburn 

Park Cllr. Kermode 

 Cllr. Robertson 

 Cllr. Maguire 

Ravenmeols Cllr. McIvor 

 Cllr. Page 

 Cllr. Gatherer 

Sudell Cllr. Hubbard 

 Cllr. McKinley 

 Cllr. Byrom 

Victoria Cllr. Roche 

 Cllr. Tonkiss 

Agenda Item 3

Page 17



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

13 

SOUTH SEFTON AREA COMMITTEE (18) 
 

Ward Member 

 Cllr. L. Cluskey 

Derby Cllr. Gustafson 

 Cllr. Robinson 

 Cllr. K. Cluskey 

Ford Cllr. Lappin 

 Cllr. Moncur 

 Cllr. Fairclough 

Linacre Cllr. Friel 

 Cllr. Kerrigan 

 Cllr. Hardy 

Litherland Cllr. John Kelly 

 Cllr. Tweed 

 Cllr. Bradshaw 

Netherton and Orrell Cllr. Brennan 

 Cllr. Maher 

 Cllr. M. Dowd 

St. Oswald Cllr. P. Dowd 

 Cllr. Mahon 

 
SOUTHPORT AREA COMMITTEE (21) 
 

Ward Member 

 Cllr. Hartill 

Ainsdale Cllr. Jones 

 Cllr. Preece 

 Cllr. Brodie-Browne 

Birkdale Cllr. Hands 

 Cllr. Shaw 

 Cllr. Crabtree 

Cambridge Cllr. Keith 

 Cllr. McGuire 

 Cllr. Ball 

Dukes Cllr. Dawson 

 Cllr. Sir Ron Watson 

 Cllr. Booth 

Kew * 

 Cllr. Weavers 

 Cllr. Ashton 

Meols Cllr. Dodd 

 Cllr. Rimmer 

 Cllr. Lord Fearn 

Norwood Cllr. Sumner 

 Cllr. Welsh 

 
*The Mayor, Councillor M. Fearn will not be a Member of the Area 
Committee during her year of office 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 18



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

14 

(D) CONSULTATIVE BODIES 
 
INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL (5 members) 
 
Canon R. Driver   4 year term until May 2017 
Mr. E. Davies } 
Mr. J. Fraser  }  4 year term until May 2016 
Mrs. S. Lowe  } 
 
(To advise and make recommendations to the Authority about the 
allowances to be paid to Elected Members). 
 
JOINT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE FOR TEACHING STAFFS 
 
(9 Council Members plus 9 Teacher representatives) 
 
(Lab 5 /Lib Dem 3 /Con 1) 

 Member Substitute 
   

1.  Cllr. Bennett Cllr. Maguire 

2. Cllr. Brennan Cllr. McKinley 

3.  Cllr. P. Dowd Cllr. Page 

4.  Cllr. Dutton Cllr. Hartill 

5. Cllr. Keith Cllr. Shaw 

6. Cllr. Killen Cllr. John Kelly 

7. Cllr. McGuire Cllr. Ashton 

8. Cllr. Moncur Cllr. Tweed 

9. Cllr. Welsh Cllr. Lord Fearn 

 
LOCAL JOINT CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE 
 
(12 Council Members plus 12 Trade Union Representatives)  
 
(Lab 7 /Lib Dem 4/Con 1) 
 

 Member Substitute 
   

1. Cllr. Carr Cllr. Kermode 

2.  Cllr. Crabtree Cllr. Hartill 

3.  Cllr. Dawson Cllr. Blackburn 

4. Cllr. P. Dowd Cllr. Maher 

5.  Cllr. Fairclough Cllr. Friel 

6. Cllr. Lord Fearn Cllr. Robertson 

7. Cllr. McGinnity Cllr. Atkinson 

8. Cllr. Moncur Cllr. Mahon 

9. Cllr. Murphy Cllr. John Joseph Kelly 

10. Cllr. Tonkiss Cllr. Keith 

11. Cllr. Tweed Cllr. McKinley 

12. Cllr. Welsh Cllr. Rimmer 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 19



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

15 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION PANEL  (4) 
 
(Lab 2 /Lib Dem 1 /Con 1) 
 

 Member Substitute 
   

1.  Cabinet Member – Corporate 
Services and Performance – 
Cllr. Tweed 

Cllr. Robinson 

2.  Cllr. Ashton Cllr. Robertson 

3.  Cllr. Friel Cllr. Byrom 

4. Cllr. McIvor Cllr. Jones 

 
(E) MAJOR SERVICE GOVERNANCE BODIES 

 
STRATEGIC SERVICE PARTNERSHIP BOARD  
 
Leader of the Council (Councillor P. Dowd)  and the representatives on the 
Finance and Information Services Operational Board and the Technical 
Services Operational Board (Councillors Tweed and Fairclough). 
 

FINANCE AND INFORMATION SERVICES OPERATIONAL BOARD (1) 
 

Cabinet Member - Corporate Services and Performance (Councillor  
Tweed). 
 

TECHNICAL SERVICES OPERATIONAL BOARD (1) 
 
Cabinet Member - Transportation (Councillor Fairclough).  
 
14. TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR COMMITTEES AND WORKING 

GROUPS  
 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the terms of reference of the Committees and Working Groups as set 
out in Chapters 6 and 7 of the Council Constitution be approved. 
 
15. APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES ON MERSEYSIDE 

JOINT AUTHORITIES 2013/14  
 
The Council considered a schedule of the proposed representation on the 
Merseyside Joint Authorities for 2013/14. 
 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
 
RESOLVED:   
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 20



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

16 

That the following Members be appointed to serve on the following Joint 
Authorities in 2013/14: 
 
 
Merseyside Fire and 
Rescue Authority 
 

Councillors Blackburn 
John Joseph Kelly 

 

(LD) 
(Lab) 

Byrom 
Mahon 

(Lab) 
(Lab) 
 

     
Merseyside Integrated 
Transport Authority 

Councillors  Carr 
 Friel 
 

(Lab) 
(Lab) 
 

Dodd 
Kermode 
 

(LD) 
(Lab) 
 

     
Merseyside Waste 
Disposal Authority 

Councillors K. Cluskey (Lab) Hardy (Lab) 

     
Merseyside Police and 
Crime Panel 
(Nominations only – 
The appointments are 
agreed on a Pan-
Merseyside basis) 

Councillors Shaw 
 

(LD) 
 

Kerrigan (Lab) 

 
16. APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES ON SEFTON 

BOROUGH PARTNERSHIP BODIES 2013/14  
 
The Council considered a schedule of the proposed representation on the 
Thematic Partnerships/Groups and Area Partnerships of the Sefton 
Borough Partnership for 2013/14. 
 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the following Members set out below, be appointed to serve on the 
Thematic Partnerships of the Sefton Borough Partnership and Area 
Partnerships in 2013/14: 
 
Thematic Partnerships Number of  

Representatives 
 

Member 

Sefton Children's Trust 
Board 

1 Cabinet Member - Children, 
Schools,  Families and 
Leisure (Councillor Moncur) 
 

Sefton Safer 
Communities 
Partnership 

              3 Cabinet Member - 
Communities and 
Environment (Councillor 
Hardy) and the two Council 
representatives on the 
Merseyside Police and Crime 
Panel (Councillors Kerrigan 
and Shaw) 

Agenda Item 3

Page 21



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

17 

   
Sefton Partnership for 
Older Citizens 

1 Cabinet Member - Children, 
Schools,  Families and 
Leisure (Cllr. Moncur) 

Area Partnerships   
 
Crosby Area 
Partnership 

  
Appointments be referred to 
the Cabinet for determination 
 

Formby Area 
Partnership 

 Appointments be referred to 
the Cabinet for determination 
 

Sefton East Area 
Partnership 

 Appointments be referred to 
the Cabinet for determination 
 

South Sefton Area 
Partnership 

 Appointments be referred to 
the Cabinet for determination 
 

Southport Area 
Partnership 

2 Chair of Southport Area 
Committee plus 1 Cabinet 
Member to be appointed by 
the Leader of the Council 

 
 
17. DATES OF COUNCIL MEETINGS 2013/14  
 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That it be noted that the Council meetings scheduled to be held during the 
Municipal Year 2013/14 are as follows: 
 

• 27 June 2013  

• 5 September 2013  

• 21 November 2013  

• 23 January 2014  

• 6 March 2014 (Budget Meeting) 

• 24 April 2014 
 
18. CAPITAL ALLOCATIONS 2013/14  
 
Further to Minute No’s 142 and 147 of the Cabinet meeting held on 25 
April 2013, the Council considered the report of the Head of Corporate 
Finance and ICT which provided an update on the capital allocations 
allocated to Sefton for 2013/14 by the Government and proposals for the 
development of a Capital Investment Plan for 2013/14 and details of the 
outturn figure for the Southport Cultural Centre Project. 
 
This was a Key Decision and was included in the Council’s Forward Plan 
of Key Decisions. 

Agenda Item 3

Page 22



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

18 

 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher and 
 
RESOLVED: That: 
 
(1) the Children’s Services capital allocations for 2013/14 for Devolved 

Formula Capital, Basic Needs, and Capital Maintenance as referred 
to in paragraph 2.2 of the report be noted; 

 
(2) the Disabled Facilities Grant allocation for 2013/14 as referred to in 

paragraph 2.2 of the report be noted; 
 
(3) the detailed profile of the Capital Priorities Fund of £1m as referred 

to in paragraph 3 of the report be noted; 
 
(4) the items recommended by the Strategic Capital Investment Group 

(SCIG) for inclusion within the Capital investment Plan be approved, 
including those items classed as pre-allocated, those funded from 
Direct Revenue Funding, and those recommended to the SCIG to 
be funded from the Single Capital Pot, as referred to in paragraph 4 
of the report; and 

 
(5) approval be given to the inclusion in the Capital Programme of the 

additional spend on the Southport Cultural Centre Project, as set 
out in paragraph 5 of the report. 

 
19. SCHEME OF MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES  
 
Further to Minute No. 143 of the Cabinet meeting held on 25 April 2013, 
the Council considered the report of the Director of Corporate Services 
which provided details of the review of the Scheme of Members’ 
Allowances undertaken by the Independent Remuneration Panel and the 
recommendations of the Panel. 
 
It was moved by Councillor P. Dowd, seconded by Councillor Maher: 
 
That approval be given to: 
 
(1) the existing Scheme of Allowances being implemented for the 

2013/14 Municipal Year; 
 
(2) the Scheme of Allowances being adjusted annually in accordance 

with the average of any pay increase awarded to Sefton Council 
employees; 

 
(3) the publicity required, as set out in Section 4 of the report being 

undertaken; and 
 
(4) the Council’s Constitution being amended to insert the revised 

Scheme. 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 23



COUNCIL- TUESDAY 14TH MAY, 2013 
 

19 

An amendment was moved by Councillor Robertson, seconded by 
Councillor Shaw that the Motion be amended by the addition of the 
following text at the end of Resolution (1): 
 
“subject to the special responsibility allowances payable to the Leader of 
the Council and Cabinet Members being reduced by 10% and the resulting 
saving of £14,500 be used to fund the re-instatement of the Crosby, 
Formby and Sefton East Parishes Area Committees” 
 
Following debate thereon, on a show of hands, the Mayor declared that 
the amendment was lost by 34 votes to 26 with 1 abstention. 
 
On a show of hands, the Mayor declared that the Motion was carried by 34 
votes to 25 with 1 abstention and it was 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That approval be given to: 
 
(1) the existing Scheme of Allowances being implemented for the 

2013/14 Municipal Year; 
 
(2) the Scheme of Allowances being adjusted annually in accordance 

with the average of any pay increase awarded to Sefton Council 
employees; 

 
(3) the publicity required, as set out in Section 4 of the report, being 

undertaken; and 
 
(4) the Council’s Constitution being amended to insert the revised 

Scheme. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 24



 

Report to:  Cabinet                           Date of Meeting:  20 June 2013 
 Council             27 June 2013 
               

Subject:    Local Plan for Sefton: Preferred Option Document 
 
Report of:  Director Built Environment Wards Affected: All 
 
Is this a Key Decision?   Yes   Is it included in the Forward Plan? 

Yes 
 

Exempt/Confidential No 
 

 
Purpose/Summary 
To present to Members the Preferred Option Document, a key stage in the preparation of 
Sefton’s Local Plan.  The Document sets out issues and challenges facing Sefton and 
includes: 
 

• a vision for Sefton planning ahead to 2030; 

• a strategy for how Sefton’s housing, business and other  development needs can be 
met; 

• a ‘preferred’ option indicating where these needs might be met including detailed 
site allocations; 

• details of other options which have been considered and discounted; 

• development management policies to help guide development and provide a policy 
framework for making decisions on planning applications; and  

• details of the 12 week consultation. 
 
This is an important corporate strategy document which is being developed within the 
statutory planning framework. The Preferred Option Document is a key stage in the 
process of adopting a Local Plan, which will in due course replace the Unitary 
Development Plan.   
 

Recommendations 
 

That Cabinet  
1. recommends the Council to approve for consultation, the further evidence which 

supports the Preferred Option Document, as outlined in section 18 of the report; 
2. recommends the Council to approve the approach to consultation on the Preferred 

Option Document, as outlined in section 20 of the report; and 
3. recommends the Council to approve for consultation, the Preferred Option 

document, including a correction to the land proposed for development, south east 
of Hightown as set out in section 19 and the attached plan of the report. 

 
That Council 

1. approve for consultation, the further evidence which supports the Preferred Option 
Document, as outlined in section 18 of the report; 

2. approve the approach to consultation on the Preferred Option Document, as 
outlined in section 20 of the report; 

3. approve the Preferred Option Document for consultation, including a correction to 
the land proposed for development, south east of Hightown as set out in section 19 

Agenda Item 7

Page 25



and the attached plan of the report; and 
4. grants delegated powers to the Head of Planning Services to make minor editorial 

changes to the Document before it is published, as referred to in section 20.7 of the 
report. 

 

How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community ü   

2 Jobs and Prosperity ü   

3 Environmental Sustainability ü   

4 Health and Well-Being ü   

5 Children and Young People ü   

6 Creating Safe Communities ü   

7 Creating Inclusive Communities ü   

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

ü   

 
Reasons for the Recommendations: 
 

To enable the Preferred Option Document and supporting evidence to be available for 
public consultation.      
 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 

It is estimated that the total costs associated with the production of the Document will not 
exceed £20,000. These include legal costs, costs of printing the Document, publicising 
the consultation and hiring venues for public events. This sum can be met from within the 
2013/14 Planning Department’s (Planning Policy) Revenue budget.  
 
There will be further costs, expected to arise in 2014/15, arising from the next formal 
stage of producing a Publication draft followed by Submission and Examination.  These 
will include the updating of evidence, further consultation, legal costs, printing and 
publicity, and for the examination. At this stage, it is expected that total estimated cost 
will be in the region of £300,000 for which an earmarked reserve has been created, but 
future reports will provide further detail. 
 
(B) Capital Costs 
 

None  
 
Implications: 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 26



 
 
 
 

Legal   Incorporated into report 

Human Resources None 

Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated                           See report at Annex A 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 
Impact on Service Delivery: 
None 
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?   
The Head of Corporate Finance (FD2291/13) has been consulted and her comments 
have been incorporated into the report. The Head of Corporate Legal Services 
(LD1607/13) has been consulted and her comments have been incorporated into the 
report. 
 
Are there any other options available for consideration? 
 

The report considers three options which include different levels of development and 
growth. The report recommends a Preferred Option.  
 
The Council is required to prepare and adopt a Local Plan. It will be necessary to have 
the Local Plan formally examined by a planning inspector. The Local Plan must meet 
statutory planning requirements and will be assessed for ‘soundness’. The Preferred 
Option being presented in this report is considered to be the most appropriate option for 
Sefton when considering these various requirements.  
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 

Council meeting on 27th June 2013. 
 
Contact Officer: Steve Matthews 
Tel: 0151 934 3559 
Email: steve.matthews@sefton.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers:   
National Planning Policy Framework [CLG, 2012] 

Review of Sefton Housing Requirement [NLP, 2011] 
[Updated] Review of Sefton’s Housing Requirement [NLP, 2012] 
2012 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment [SMBC, 2013] 
Employment Land and Premises Study [BE Group, 2010; updated 2012] 
Agricultural Land Study [ADAS, 2012] 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment [Capita Symonds, 2013] 
Sequential Test Position Statement [Capita Symonds, 2013] 
Consequences Study [NLP, 2013] 
Green Belt Study [SMBC, 2013] 

 

ü 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 27



Port Masterplan [Peel Ports, 2011] 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy [SMBC, 2013] 
Economic Strategy [SMBC, 2012] 

See www.sefton.gov.uk/planningstudies  

Agenda Item 7

Page 28



Summary of report 
 
The Preferred Option Document is one of the key stages in preparing a Local Plan for 
Sefton which looks ahead to 2030. The Document sets out the issues and challenges 
facing Sefton and outlines a vision, objectives and possible options to address these.  It 
selects a Preferred Option as to how the Borough’s main housing, business and other 
development needs will be met.  It provides a suite of policies which will help to guide 
development over the period of the plan. It also includes detailed policies for assessing 
proposals and applications for development, as well as identifying and allocating sites for 
new development.   
 
The Government is committed to sustainable development and economic growth, and 
the National Planning Policy Framework [the ‘Framework’], published in 2012, gives clear 
direction to local authorities.  Local planning authorities are expected to carry out 
objective assessments of their needs for housing, business and other needs, and then -
through the Local Plan – provide for those needs.  
 
Three options, or levels of development, have previously been identified.  Following 
previous consultation and detailed analysis and assessment  Option Two is selected as 
the Preferred Option.  This Option would still mean that about half the total number of 
homes will be developed in our urban areas. This includes sites that are currently 
identified as ‘urban greenspace’ in our UDP.  It will also mean that the proposed new 
business parks /employment sites along with the remaining half of the housing needed, 
would have to be located in the Green Belt. The boundary of the Green Belt would 
therefore be reviewed and updated to accommodate this. 
 
This Preferred Option Document has been prepared following national guidance and with 
the benefit of extensive and robust evidence. Much of this evidence has been 
commissioned and prepared by independent consultants who are specialists in their 
field. Where studies have been prepared in-house they have been externally assessed. It 
also draws on the experience of other local authorities more advanced in the Local Plan 
process. 
 
Sefton is a constrained Borough due to its shape and location. It is also a Borough of 
contrasts – including significant areas of international importance and policy protection 
(such as the coast) – as well as areas of wealth and deprivation. These are some of the  
challenges which will need to be addressed in the Local Plan.  
 
Due to the geography and shape of Sefton, along with past success at delivering much 
of our new development within the urban areas of the Borough, it is known that the urban 
land supply is finite and is coming under increasing pressure. This is a critical challenge 
for the Local Plan. We know that the Borough cannot meet all of its development needs 
within the urban areas of Sefton and that it will be necessary to release sites within the 
Green Belt in order to meet the government’s policy challenge. Whilst this may be 
controversial, it is considered to be a necessary step if the Council is to achieve a sound 
Local Plan.   
 
The strategic policy approach will ensure that development in the Green Belt will meet 
needs as far as possible where they arise.  The aim is to have a proportionate 
distribution of development, as far as possible, when considering Sefton’s constraints. 
Sites should be sustainable, they should be the least constrained, and there should be a 
sufficient supply to meet local needs. They also need to be able to be implemented. In 

Agenda Item 7

Page 29



addition to this we will provide for mixed use sustainable development in appropriate 
locations.  
 
Development will have to meet detailed policy requirements as set out in the Plan. It will 
have to provide new infrastructure where it is necessary – and should ensure that 
existing conditions (such as drainage) are not made worse.  
 
Development can also bring opportunities to improve local infrastructure as well as 
supporting local services that become unsustainable – these include local shops and  
schools.  The Local Plan also identifies significant opportunities for new development 
within our urban areas – around half of all new housing can still be accommodated within 
our urban areas.  
 
Only those needs that cannot be met within the urban areas will be met in the Green 
Belt. This is particularly important for new economic development such as business 
parks and opportunities for job creation. As stated, there are no sites within the urban 
area to meet these needs and Green Belt release is essential to plan for economic 
growth and job creation.  
 
In order to help form a view on the way forward, and bring together significant evidence 
already prepared, an independent Consequences Study was commissioned. This has 
assessed the impacts of each option on both Sefton and its adjoining authorities, from a 
social, economic and environmental perspective. Our neighbouring authorities do not 
support Option One [no release of Green Belt land], as this would put further pressure on 
them to accommodate more homes.  West Lancashire and Knowsley are already 
planning to release Green Belt in their Local Plans to meet their own needs. They have 
previously told us that they cannot meet any of our needs for us.  
 
The Government’s Plannign Policy Framework states that the Green Belt should be 
protected from inappropriate development, but also that the Green Belt can be altered in 
exceptional circumstances  – which includes when a Local Plan is being prepared. 
 
The best way to protect Green Belt is to plan positively to meet needs, thereby identifying 
the most sustainable sites to contribute to our communities.  By not planning to meet 
needs, the Green Belt will be less protected, and vulnerable to planning applications and 
appeals on sites which may be less sustainable.  This would lead to Sefton losing  
control of which land in the Green Belt would be developed.   
 
Option Two provides the best approach not only for meeting the Borough’s needs up to 
2030 for new homes and businesses, but for tackling a whole range of issues which are 
important to the future of Sefton.  These include our approach to regeneration, health, 
infrastructure, design and climate change.   
 
  
 
 
 
     

Agenda Item 7

Page 30



 1. Introduction 
 

1.1 We  are required by the Government to have a Local Plan that looks forward at 
least 15 years from when the plan is approved. We have to plan for sustainable 
development to meet identified needs.  

 

1.2 Following the Core Strategy Options consultation in 2011 the Preferred Option 
Document is the next stage in preparing Sefton’s updated Local Plan. Following a 
change in the law in early 2012, the work we did as part of the Core Strategy is 
now being taken forward under the name of the Sefton Local Plan.  
 

1.3 In November 2012, Members received a report providing an update on the further 
evidence which was being prepared to support this next stage of the Local Plan.  
Members were also advised that a Consequences Study was due to be carried 
out. This report updates Members and progresses the Preferred Option.  

 
2. What is the Preferred Option Document? 
 

2.1 The Preferred Option Document sets out the strategic and detailed policies to 
guide and control development in the borough for the next 15 years. It includes 
site allocations and expectations for development of those sites, for example the 
infrastructure which will be required. It is prepared in line with Government policy 
and advice. 

 

2.2 This stage of the Local Plan is a further key opportunity to consult with our local 
community, statutory bodies and other interested organisations about the 
challenges and opportunities facing Sefton and our response to these.  For 
convenience the Preferred Option Document will be referred to in this report as 
‘the Document’.  

  

2.3 Figure 1 [next page] shows how this stage fits in to the overall process of 
preparing the Local Plan.   

 

2.4 In summer 2011 a consultation was held on Options for the Core Strategy for 
Sefton.  Since that consultation, the Government published the National Planning 
Policy Framework to simplify the planning system and to promote sustainable 
development and economic growth. This is a significant change and one that 
needs to be reflected in our Local Plan. 

 
3. What does the National Planning Policy Framework mean for our approach 

to the Local Plan? 
 

3.1 The Framework sets out the Government’s national policy for planning. The 
Government is committed to sustainable development which it defines as positive 
growth – ‘making economic, environmental and social progress for this and future 
generations’.  It wants the planning system to help make this happen. 

 

3.2 In particular The Framework [paragraph 152] states that: 
“Local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area; local plans should meet objectively assessed 
needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid change, unless any adverse 
impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a  
whole, or specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted”.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 31



Figure 1 The Local Plan – stages of preparation 
 

Timescale  Stage of Local 
Plan Preparation 

 Comments 

     

2008 - 2009  Issues   

     

Summer 2009  Public consultation on 
Issues   

 Information about this 
consultation can be found 
on the Local Plan web-site. 

 
 

    

2009 - 2012  Options    

     

Summer 2011  Public consultation on 
Options 

 More information, including 
about the consultation and 

the Council’s initial 
responses, can be found on 
the Local Plan web-site. 

 
 

    

2012 - 2013  Preferred Option     We are now at this 
stage.   

    

Summer 2013  Consultation on 
Preferred Option 
Document    

 
This is the main 
opportunity to 
comment on the 
Local Plan. 

     

 
 
 

June – July 2014 

  

Publication 
 

Public consultation 
(Notification) 

  
The Council’s ability to 

make changes to the Local 
Plan is more limited at this 
consultation stage, and 

must only relate to whether 
the Plan is considered to be 

‘sound’. 

     

  Submission    

August –     

September 2014  Formal submission to 
the Secretary of State 

 Submission to the 
Secretary of State 

     

    . 

 
 

    

  Examination    

     

November 2014  Examination in Public   An independent Inspector 
will conduct the 
Examination.  

 
 

    

March/ April  
2015 

 Adoption  Council formally adopts the 
Local Plan, which replaces 
the Unitary Development 

Plan (2006). 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 32



  The core land-use planning principles which are set out in the Framework are 
summarised below. These are expected to form the basis of the Local Plan and 
decision-taking [paragraph 17]. 
 

3.3 Planning should (in summary):   

• Proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver the 
homes, business and other development needs of their area (including  
infrastructure);   

• Seek to secure high quality design – to create attractive places where people 
live; 

• Take account of the different roles and character of different areas, including 
protecting Green Belts; 

• Promote mixed use developments and encourage multiple benefits from use of 
land – eg recreation, wildlife, flood risk mitigation;  

• Support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full 
account of flood risk coastal change, and encourage the reuse of existing 
resources; 

• Conserve heritage assets and enhance the natural environment – allocating 
land for development with lesser environmental value; 

• Encourage reuse of land which has been previously developed; 

• Actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest possible use of public 
transport, walking and cycling; and 

• Support local strategies to improve health social and cultural wellbeing. 
 
3.4 Overall, Local Plans are expected to set out a positive vision for the future of their 

area, and meet objectively assessed needs. 
 
4. Issues which the Local Plan ought to address 
 

4.1 The Document sets out a number of issues which are well-documented through 
evidence, our partners’ strategies, and consultation with local people and 
organisations.  They include long-standing issues which all Boroughs face as well 
as pressures which are becoming increasingly important for Sefton such as: 

 

• how can we reduce the causes of deprivation in order to improve health and 
raise the quality of life within Sefton’s most deprived households?   

• how can we develop skills and business growth to provide more jobs and 
reduce numbers of people who are not in education, employment or training? 

• how do we provide for an anticipated growth in population and number of 
households in the borough, including providing more affordable housing? 

• how do we accommodate and, if possible, slow down trends for an 
increasingly elderly population [e.g. providing homes and jobs for families and 
people of working age so they don’t leave the Bororugh, as well as providing 
more appropriate homes and health care]? 

• how do we enable the Port to grow whilst ensuring the harm to local amenity is 
reduced as much as possible? 

• how can we make the best use of our resources and assets – including 
previously developed land, former industrial sites and vacant homes? 

  

 
4.2 One issue poses particular challenges and requires a balance between meeting 

needs and the possible impact of development:  given the lack of capacity within 
the urban area, how can we enable the Borough to grow and develop and meet 

Agenda Item 7

Page 33



identified needs while protecting and enhancing the high quality environment of 
Sefton?   

 
5. Responding to the issues   
 

5.1 In planning for the future of Sefton we need to balance a number of competing 
priorities.  We wish to protect the many different assets of the Borough including 
its high quality environment and its rich heritage.  We also have a responsibility to 
cater for identified development needs and growth.  We want to improve 
communities and create opportunities for our residents. We want to ensure new 
infrastructure is planned for and delivered through the development process. 

 
5.2 ‘Sustainable growth’ is about finding the balance between these different 

aspirations.  We want to provide opportunities and choices for the people of 
Sefton, but in a way which best protects our special environment. 

 
5.3 Protecting the environment at all costs would mean we would not provide enough 

homes and jobs for our residents.  Focusing entirely on development and growth 
would harm Sefton’s special environment.  Yet we could not improve the situation 
for our communities and offer new opportunities without promoting a certain level 
of growth and development.  

 
5.4 It is not a simple choice between protecting the environment on the one hand 

against enabling growth and development on the other. 
 
5.5 Protecting Sefton’s environment also includes a commitment to make the best use 

of Sefton’s resources. There are many opportunities to redevelop land to provide 
new homes and land for jobs, together with new infrastructure, services and 
facilities.  

 
5.6 The challenge is to meet the Borough’s needs for development over the next 15 

years while making the most of the opportunities which development provides to 
create the type of environment in which people want to live, work and visit.    

 
6. What are Sefton’s development needs? 
 

6.1 We are progressing a Local Plan based upon wide ranging and robust evidence. 
We are committed to updating our evidence base when it is appropriate to do so. 
Indeed, over the past 12 months we have updated much of our evidence in order 
to best inform our Local Plan. In addition we have commissioned a Consequences 
Study to bring together an assessment of the various impacts of the Local Plan 
options. This is an unusual study – one that not many Local Planning Authorities 
have progressed – to will provide an additional layer of scrutiny and robustness to 
our work. It will enable Members to take account of the consequences of 
progressing with the relevant options, so as to enable any decisions to be properly 
informed. 

 
Whilst we progress our Local Plan evidence may change over time. This may 
mean that we need to review some evidence at later stages. This is not unusual or 
unexpected, and is increasingly happening in other Local Plans. The Government 
requires local authorities to prepare proportionate evidence which is adequate, up 
to date and relevant.  We have assessed our evidence and set out Sefton’s 
various needs based on this below. For example, we know that we will need to 

Agenda Item 7

Page 34



update our housing requirement following the publication of new population and 
household projections in 2014.  
 

 Requirement for new homes  
6.2 Independent consultants, Nathaniel Lichfield and Partners [NLP], carried out an 

updated assessment of the housing requirement for Sefton in late  2012. Based 
on the most recent population and household projections available at that time 
NLP presented revised figures for an annual housing requirement for Sefton.  The 
figure of 510 dwellings a year was their preferred assessment based on a more 
cautious view about future rates of migration into Sefton than that reflected in the 
ONS 2010-based population projections. This work was reported to Cabinet in 
December 2012. 

 

 What are the implications on this figure of the most recent household projections? 
6.3 Interim household projections were published in April of this year.  These suggest 

an annual requirement for Sefton of 399 dwellings a year. However there are a 
number of limitations with these projections: 

• They are, as their title implies, only ‘interim’ and will be superseded by new 
2012-based Household Projections which will be published in late 2014 

• They only look forward to 2021 and are therefore silent about the latter part 
of the local plan period 2021 to 2030  

• They do not take account of a planned comprehensive review of household 
formation rates which will be published next year and will look forward to 
2031 and beyond  

• They do not make an allowance for vacant or second homes which would 
bring the figure of 399 up to about 420 homes a year.   

 
6.4 In view of the limitations of these interim household projections we will review the 

borough’s housing requirement afresh in 2014 when the next round of population 
and household projections are published.  These will look forward for the whole of 
the period of the Local Plan.  

 
6.5  The Government urges local authorities to complete their Local Plan preparation 

as quickly as possible.  It would not be appropriate to delay the Plan to take 
account of these figures, particularly given the opportunity to address the 
implications of the comprehensive set of projections which will be available next 
year.  
 
Requirement for land for business 

6.6 The results of a study on Employment Land and Premises were also reported to 
Cabinet in December 2012.  The study recognised that Sefton has by far the least 
employment land of any of the Merseyside authorities and it therefore needs to 
protect and increase this supply during the plan period.  It therefore recommended 
that Sefton retain the Borough’s main industrial estates and business parks in  
employment uses, but noted that a very limited number of small sites could be 
made available for housing, where it can be clearly demonstrated that a future 
employment use is no longer a reasonable prospect.  

 

6.7 The Study concluded there was an outstanding requirement for a minimum of  31 
hectares of land but also recommended that any new allocations made should 
exceed this requirement in order to: 

• provide a degree of choice 

Agenda Item 7

Page 35



• recognise that any lead in time to site delivery would be uncertain, and  

• acknowledge that some identified supply would only be provided after  
2031. 

6.8 The Study recommended that two new business parks should be provided, one in 
North Sefton and one in South Sefton.  It also recommended that land to the south 
of Crowland Street could deliver an industrial estate as an extension to the 
existing area. This site would meet general employment needs, and therefore 
provide a different offer and role to the other two business parks proposed. 

 Port of Liverpool 
6.9 The Port of Liverpool has consulted on a Master Plan and its commitment to 

growth.  Their ambitions also mean that extra employment land is required and 
this has also been taken account of in the amount of land identified.  

 
 Infrastructure 
6.10 There is also an opportunity to meet some of our infrastructure needs through 

development.  It is a fundamental tenet of national guidance that plan making 
should take full account of infrastructure requirement and planning. For many 
years key infrastructure has been able to be funded   through government grant 
and regeneration initiatives like Housing Market Renewal.  Development now 
offers a key opportunity to provide some key infrastructure which will benefit the 
borough e.g. new junction links to the M58, public transport improvements, and 
sustainable development through mixed use allocations. 

 
7. Possible ‘options’ for meeting needs 

7.1 The results of the latest housing and employment land studies provided the basis 
for the three options relating to different levels of development. 

 
7.2 In December 2012, Cabinet approved the updated housing figures which help to 

define these options for the purposes of carrying out a ‘Consequences Study’.   
These options are as follows: 

 
Option One:  270 homes a year– ‘urban containment’ [i.e. meet all development 
needs within the built-up area] 
Option Two:  510 homes a year + a new business park in both the north and the 
south of the Borough, and an extension to Crowland Street [Southport] industrial 
area – ‘meeting identified needs’ 
Option Three: 700 homes a year + new employment areas as in Option Two – 
'optimistic household growth' 

It is important to note that the number of homes for options two and three above 
are dependent on achieving and maintaining a vacancy rate of 4% over the local 
plan period.  The vacancy rate is currently just under 4.1%. The level of vacancies 
is affected by a variety of factors, including many beyond the local authority’s 
control, but we will do all we can to get the figure down to or below 4%.  

 

 

  
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 36



 
8. What did the Consequences Study conclude?   

8.1 The purpose of the Consequences Study was to assess the likely implications of 
these options, both on Sefton and on adjoining authorities, from an economic, 
social and environmental perspective.   

 
8.2 The Consequences Study is a detailed and complex piece of evidence. 

Conclusions are:  

• Adjoining authorities support Option Two. They would not support Option One 
as it would put more pressure on them to meet additional needs for homes; 
already West Lancashire and Knowsley are having to identify land in the 
Green Belt to meet their own needs and would not wish to have to meet some 
of Sefton’s unmet housing needs through further Green Belt release in their 
Boroughs.   

• From an economic point of view, Options Two & Three would be preferred; 
only Liverpool of the adjoining authorities would potentially support Option 
Three on the basis that it could attract new people into the sub regional area 
and would increase its potential workforce; however, this advantage was 
countered with the threat of de-population from Liverpool as people move out 
into Sefton which would raise issues over the sustainability of Option Three 
from Liverpool's perspective. 

•  However the additional development for Option Three would not provide 
significantly more economic benefits when compared with Option Two as the 
amount of employment land does not vary.  

• Options Two and Three would be expected to generate twice as many jobs as 
Option One [approx 3,350 and 3,800 for Options Two and Three as opposed 
to 1,700 for Option One].   

• A similar situation is anticipated for GVA from direct investment, with Options 
Two and Three expected to generate approximately £110m and £120m as 
opposed to approximately £55m for Option One].   

• From a social perspective, Options Two & Three would put more strain on 
existing resources [e.g. schools and medical services]; however, these options 
would also offer funding through development to improve and sustain local 
facilities 

• From an environmental perspective, Option One would have least impact.  
Option Two would have more impact but there are opportunities for mitigation 
and compensation.  Option Three would have greatest impact, and it would be 
more difficult to mitigate or compensate for.  This is in relation to the greater 
amount of land which this Option would require in the Green Belt and its 
implications for land at risk of flooding, land protected by nature conservation 
designations, higher agricultural quality land, and the impact of increased 
traffic.   

• Option One would mean there was very limited opportunity to deliver the 
affordable homes that Sefton needs, because we would be constrained by the 
existing urban housing supply and the lack of suitable and viable sites. Options 
Two and Three would enable significantly more affordable homes to be built, 
thereby meeting needs.  

• Option One would involve no planned Green Belt release but would be highly 
likely to result in an unsound Local Plan. [Options Two and Three would result 
in limited Green Belt release – 3.2% and approximately 4% respectively]. 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 37



8.3 The Consequences Study does not recommended any particular Option as this 
was not what it was commissioned to do. It has provided very useful information to 
assist the Council in choosing a Preferred Option 

 
 9. What is the recommended Preferred Option?   

9.1 Option Two is strongly recommended as the Preferred Option.  There are a 
number of key factors which support this recommendation: 

• it represents the best balance between meeting needs, and protecting and 
enhancing the environment 

• it meets the Government’s commitment to growth and providing choice of 
homes and other economic development 

• it will provide more opportunities for families and young people for both homes 
and jobs and will therefore help to accommodate and stem the current trend 
towards an increasingly ageing population 

• it will enable many more affordable homes to be provided than under Option 
One, though not as many as under Option Three 

• at a time of severe cutbacks in public sector funding, the allocation of land for 
new homes may help to keep some existing local services viable because 
more people will live in a particular area;  

•  it will also bring significant investment in new infrastructure which will have to 
be paid for through the development process  

• this Option best matches past rates of development in the Borough - we have  
built an average of 470 dwellings in Sefton for the past 30 years 

• It will identify the most sustainable green belt sites for development – having  
regard to local constraints such as flood risk and ecological designations 

• It will ensure that best use is made of our assets – including land in the urban 
area and the Green Belt 

• It will enable, as far as possible, a proportionate spread of development across 
the Borough – meeting needs in the main where they arise 

• It will deliver a new urban extension, providing significant investment in local 
infrastructure, meeting needs in a sustainable mixed use development 

• It will provide significant new local employment opportunities to help support 
and grow the economy  

• It will protect the heritage and environments of Sefton with detailed polices 
requiring high design standards in new development 

• It is considered to be a deliverable option. 
 
9.2 Importantly, Option Two is a sustainable option in that it can be defended at a 

public examination.  
 
10. Duty to Co-operate 

10.1 The 2011 Localism Act introduced a ‘Duty to Co-operate’ with adjoining local 
authorities and other organisations.  This means that we have to do all we 
possibly can to reach agreement with our neighbours in the future planning of our 
repsective areas. Many aspects of our Plans will have implications reaching far 
beyond our own boundaries e.g. providing homes and land for jobs; in particular,  
providing homes close to a boundary could lead to an impact on the infrastructure 
of the adjoining authority e.g. roads, schools and other services.    

 
10.2 Option Two has the unanimous support of our adjoining local authorities.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 38



10.3 Option One would not be supported by any of our adjoining authorities.  West 
Lancashire and Knowsley boroughs already have had to identify land in the Green 
Belt in their boroughs to meet their own needs.  

 
10.4 All neighbouring authorities have expressed concern about Option Three because 

of the likely effect on their own boroughs - it would attract residents to Sefton from 
their authorities, and could lead to their population decline and allocated sites 
remaining undeveloped.  There would also be an increase in traffic because of the 
likely increase in the number of people who would live in Sefton and work in these 
other authorities and, for West Lancashire, this Option would narrow a strategic 
gap in the Green Belt. 

 
10.5 The Duty to Co-operate must be taken very seriously, not least because these 

Local Authorities can give evidence against Sefton at the examination stage. 
 
 
11. Why have the two other options been discounted?     

11.1  Option One 

• this Option would not meet the needs of the borough, based on an objective 
assessment. It would fall some way short. 

• it would not promote sustainable development and economic growth, as 
required by the Government’s Framework 

• while this Option may seem to protect the Green Belt from development,  in 
reality this would not happen. The reason for this is that Sefton’s readily 
available supply of ‘deliverable’ land for housing is below the five years’ 
minimum required by the Government, and this would continue to deteriorate 
under an Option One approach.  Failure to plan for a ‘five year supply’ would 
mean that proposals for development in the Green Belt could be challenged 
successfully at an appeal, even if Sefton were to refuse permission initially. We 
could therefore lose control over where new development was located – 
including in the Green Belt - benefits that could be gained for the local 
community may be lost. 

• this Option would not be supported by any of our adjoining authorities.  West 
Lancashire and Knowsley boroughs already have had to identify land in the 
Green Belt in their boroughs to meet their own needs. These Local Authorities 
can give evidence against Sefton at the examination stage. 

• Option One would be extremely high risk, would fall short of meeting the needs 
of Sefton and would be highly likely to found unsound and thrown out at 
Examination  

• It could result in us having to redo our Local Plan, involving significant cost to 
update our evidence. We are aware of a number of local authorities which 
have had their Plans found unsound and been asked to amend them at a late 
stage 

• This Option would not meet the needs of our communities for homes and jobs. 
It would not address Sefton’s key issues. 

 
 11.2 Option Three 

• this Option would provide more homes and jobs, but at a level which is not 
considered to be justified by current projections of population and household  
growth, or past levels of building houses in Sefton 

Agenda Item 7

Page 39



• more land in the Green Belt would be required than has been currently 
identified; this would be concentrated in Lydiate and Formby due to a lack of 
suitable sites in the rest of the Borough    

• it would provide even more affordable homes than Option Two, but this benefit 
is not considered to outweigh the likely harm to the environment 

• it would enable an even greater contribution towards improving infrastructure 
through development, but again officers do not consider these benefits would 
be justified because of the likely impact on the environment. 

 
11.3 Variation of Option Two 

As outlined in section 6.5 above, authorities are advised to complete their plans as 
quickly as possible to make sure they are up-to-date.  Within this overall approach 
there is the opportunity to review any aspect of the Plan in the light of new 
evidence. Given that the recent projections are interim and that comprehensive, 
population and household projections will be available in 2014, it is recommended 
that the housing requirement be reassessed once that information is available 
next year. 
 

12. The Preferred Option Document identifies land in the Green Belt for 
development – isn’t this contrary to the Government’s Framework ? 

12.1 Whilst the Framework says that one of its land-use planning principles is to protect 
the Green Belt, this needs to be read in context of the rest of the Framework. 
Paragraphs 83 and 84 of the Framework also says that: “Green Belt boundaries 
should only be altered in exceptional circumstances, through the preparation or 
review of the Local Plan… Local planning authorities should take account of the 
need to promote sustainable patterns of development. They should consider the 
consequences of sustainable development towards urban areas inside the Green 
Belt boundary, towards towns and villages inset within the Green Belt….”.  

 
12.2 There is not enough land in the urban area to comply with other requirements of 

the Framework – in particular the requirements of paragraph 156 which requires 
Local Plans to deliver the homes and jobs needed in the area, based on 
adequate, up-to-date and relevant evidence about the economic, social and 
environmental characteristics and prospects of the area (paragraph 158).  The 
Council is reviewing its Local Plan so this is the right time to review the current 
Green Belt boundary so that the Local Plan can demonstrate how future needs 
will be met.   

 
12.3 The Framework also requires local planning authorities when defining Green Belt 

boundaries to 

• “where necessary, identify in their plans areas of ‘safeguarded land’ 
between the urban area and the Green Belt, in order to meet longer-term 
development needs stretching well beyond the plan period”, and  

• “satisfy themselves that Green Belt boundaries will not need to be altered 
at the end of the development plan period” [paragraph 85]. 

 
12.4 Once it is established that the Green Belt boundaries have to be reviewed, the 

Government requires local authorities to look ahead not only for the period of the 
Plan, but well beyond this.  No figure is given but a period of a further 10 years 
has been suggested as appropriate, so there will be no need to carry out a further 
review for some considerable time. The Framework makes clear that the 

Agenda Item 7

Page 40



safeguarded land would not be allocated for development at the present time, but 
would require a future Local Plan review to propose the development of these 
areas.  

 
12.5 We do not propose to identify such safeguarded land in our Local Plan [if we did, it 

would be required to accommodate an additional 5,000 dwellings].  That is not 
because it is thought that the exercise is not appropriate but rather that we 
consider that it would be appropriate at an agreed date to carry out a sub-regional 
review of Green Belt across Merseyside to address this issue.  This approach is 
consistent with what our neighbours (including West Lancashire whose Local Plan 
was recently examined) are proposing.  

 
 13. Are there other ways of meeting needs without having to use land in the  

Green Belt?     

13.1 A number of possible ways of doing this are regularly suggested such as using 
more brownfield land, reusing vacant homes, increasing densities of development 
or building on more green spaces within the urban area, and asking neighbouring  
authorities if they can meet some of our needs. We have considered all of these 
issues and our approach in the Preferred Option Document incorporates many of 
these approaches. 

 
13.2 The potential to increase the number of homes from these sources is addressed 

in Chapter 6, “ Meeting Sefton’s needs – what are the options?” . They have been 
examined in some detail, and have been taken account of in our calculations.  
However, none of these alternatives is able to provide nearly enough dwellings to 
make up the shortfall.  None offers a realistic alternative to providing for needs for 
development in the Green Belt. However, it is worth highlighting a few of these. 

 
 Vacant homes 
13.3 One of the objectives of the Document is “to encourage best use of .. land  and 

buildings”. The current percentage of vacant homes in Sefton is just under 4.1%, 
lower than the figure for the North West.  The annual requirement of 510 dwellings 
under Option Two assumes a vacancy rate of 4%.  The Council is working actively 
to reduce the number of vacant homes, and has a strategy to help achieve this, 
but vacant homes are often owned privately and the Council’s ability to intervene 
is limited. In addition, there is a need to have some vacant homes (normally about 
3%) in order for the housing market to function effectively so that people are able 
to move house. Our policy approach is to reduce the number of homes needed 
each year by aiming to keep the vacancy rate at 4% or below.   
 
Brownfield land  

13.4 We have undertaken a Study to assess how much housing can be accommodated 
in the urban area.  Whilst almost 5,000 new homes could be accommodated on 
brownfield and other appropriate sites, this would not be enough to meet Sefton’s 
housing needs in the years ahead.   
 
Use of green spaces in the built-up area 

13.5 We have identified a small number of surplus greenspaces which could be 
developed in the urban areas, with capacity for around 650 dwellings.  These sites 
will be consulted on alongside other proposed development sites.  However, the 

Agenda Item 7

Page 41



vast majority of Sefton’s urban greenspaces are not appropriate for development 
and will continue to be protected.   

 
Five years’ supply of housing land 

13.6 The availability of sites is important because local planning authorities are 
expected to maintain a five year supply of ‘deliverable’ sites for housing.  This is 
measured against strict criteria, including that the site is available now and is 
viable.  Sefton has around a 3.4 years’ supply of housing sites. This is a further 
reason why Sefton needs to be able to identify extra land so we can get back to a 
five years’ supply.  The chosen Local Plan option must address this.  As long as it 
does not, we will be vulnerable at planning appeal.   The Local Plan will address 
this issue and allow Sefton to return to a defensible five year supply - along with 
the longer term supply over the whole plan period. 

   
14. What factors have been used to decide where to locate development?  

14.1 This is referred to in the policy on ‘Housing Allocations and Phasing’ in the 
Preferred Option Document. The Document includes the following objectives:   

• to support urban regeneration  

• to encourage the best use of resources and assets 

• to meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities as far as 
possible close to where the needs arise. 

 
14.2 A study has been carried out to identify suitable sites within the built-up area [the 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment]. Traditionally Bootle and 
Southport have accommodated most of the development on sites within their built-
up area.  These are now beginning to run out of suitable land, but the majority of 
potential sites in the built-up area still lie within Bootle and Southport.   

 
14.3 Much of the land in Sefton’s Green Belt is affected by one or more limitations  

which determine how suitable it is for development.  These limitations include  
nature conservation, flood risk, heritage and high quality agricultural land.   

 
14.4 A study assessed all land in the Green Belt for their importance in supporting the 

purposes of including land in the Green Belt and on the need to promote 
sustainable patterns of development [Framework, paragraphs 80 & 84].  From a 
short-list of areas, the study identified those with fewest limitations, or where the 
limitations could be overcome.  The methodology used for this study and the 
conclusions reached were assessed independently.  The sites have also been 
subject to a Sustainability Appraisal and to a Habitats Regulations Assessment. 
The purpose of this Assessment is to identify any likely effects of developing the 
sites on the integrity of international important nature sites. 

 
14.5 Some parts of the borough are more constrained than others.  The built-up part of 

Southport extends right up to the boundary with West Lancashire in many places.  
Land west of Formby is protected by international conservation designations and 
is subject to coastal erosion. Bootle has no Green Belt to extend into and the land  
between Netherton, Aintree and Maghull needs to be kept open in order to 
prevent these settlements from merging into one another.  The land around 
Maghull, Lydiate and Waddicar has fewest limitations, but this is where the quality 
of agricultural land is highest.   

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 42



14.6 The Document identifies land as being suitable for new homes, both within the 
built-up area and within the Green Belt.  It also identifies reserve sites in the 
Green Belt incase some sites prove not to be suitable [‘Housing Allocations and 
Phasing’ policy].  This approach is necessary because Inspectors at other 
examinations into Local Plans have required a 5% buffer in order to ensure a 
realistic prospect of achieving a planned supply and to ensure choice and 
competition in the market. 

 
14.7   The Document also indicates sites in the Green Belt considered suitable for new 

business parks. These comprise one for the south of the borough [east of 
Maghull], one in the north [an extension of the existing Formby Industrial Estate, 
east of Formby], and an extension to the Crowland Street, Southport, industrial 
area [see the section on ‘Sustainable Growth and Regeneration’]. Two of these 
three sites will have a mixed use allocation and be developed with supporting 
residential development – thereby ensuring new development is sustainable. 
These sites will be required to deliver appropriate mitigation and infrastructure. 
The site to the east of Maghull for example will form a new urban extension with 
requirements to significantly invest in local infrastructure including new motorway 
access, improved local highways, public transport improvements, environmental 
improvements and support for local facilities and services as appropriate. 

 
14.8 The sites in the north of the Borough have been identified as being suitable for 

business use in the Employment Land and Premises study undertaken by 
specialist property and economic development consultants BE Group. They have  
also identified a need for a business park in the south of the borough but they did  
not propose a specific site. The land to the east of Maghull has been identified to 
develop a mixed housing and employment site with significant investment in 
infrastructure in the local area.   

 
14.9 In summary, our strategic policy approach will ensure that development in the 

Green Belt will meet needs as far as possible where they arise.  Our aim is to 
have as far as possible a proportionate distribution across the Borough taking 
account of the following: that sites should be sustainable, that they should be the 
least constrained, and that there is a sufficiently good spread to meet local needs 
and to ensure they will be able to be implemented. The site allocations also take 
account of the presence of constraints and the opportunity to provide mixed use 
sustainable dvelopment with the benefits of investment in new infrastructure. 

 
15. During the consultation on Options in 2011, many people opposed 

development in the Green Belt – what account has been taken of their 
views?  

 
15.1 The views of local people are important, but they must be balanced with 

Government requirements, precedents created by the decisions and advice of 
Inspectors of Local Plans, and the evidence of what the Borough needs in the 
long term. Despite significant objection to any development in the green belt - 
there was also some support for development and growth.  

 

15.2 The Government makes it clear in the Framework that it is committed to 
sustainable development and to securing economic growth.  Local Plans are 

Agenda Item 7

Page 43



encouraged to  “… identify strategic sites, for local and inward investment … and 
to meet anticipated needs over the plan period” [Framework, paragraph 21].  

 
15.3 Independent employment land, housing studies and other studies come to very 

clear conclusions. The realistic needs of the Borough over the period of the Local 
Plan cannot be met without reviewing the boundary of the Green Belt. 

 
15.4 However, many of the sites in the Green Belt which were identified as being 

potentially suitable at the Options stage are no longer proposed for development.  
It was always anticipated that some sites might not be suitable for a variety of 
reasons, e.g. 

• it would be too difficult to overcome some of the constraints affecting some 
sites e.g. flood risk, nature designations 

• some landowners have decided they do not want their sites to be 
considered for development. 

• we need to consider impacts on communities of allocated sites –a 
proliferation of many sites in a small area could be undeliverable and 
potentially unacceptable. 

 
16. How can the environmental impact of development in the Green Belt be kept  

to a minimum?  

16.1 Where there are specific impacts on identified sites e.g. affect on nature 
conservation or flood risk, these can generally be overcome.  Loss of habitat can 
be mitigated or the habitat can be re-created in the near vicinity by way of 
compensation.  Some types of flood risk can be solved within the site through, for 
example, leaving part of the site open.  This space can then provide a number of 
functions, including recreation, nature area and drainage. 

 
16.2 Concern has been expressed about the loss of high quality [‘best and most 

versatile’] agricultural land - once it is developed, it is lost forever.  It is not 
possible to be precise about what proportion of the land proposed for 
development under Option Two is high quality [‘best and most versatile’], as 
detailed surveys are not available for every site.  Sometimes the survey concludes 
that sites are a mix of higher and lower quality.  Where the surveys indicate a mix 
of quality, we have assumed that all of it is the higher quality.  A maximum of 84% 
of land selected for Option Two is best and most versatile. However, the total land 
identified for Green Belt development under Option Two represents 3.7% of the 
agricultural land in the Borough.   

 
16.3 This is a small proportion of the total in Sefton, and in the context of high quality 

agricultural land at a regional and national level is very small indeed. This loss 
must also be weighed against the fact that Sefton is required to meet its needs.  
The Framework says that where significant development of agricultural land is 
demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities should seek to use areas 
of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher quality. Because of the 
distribution of the best and most versatile agricultural land in Sefton (most of the 
eastern area), it is inevitable that some of the higher quality land will have to be 
developed. 

 
16.4 Since the Framework has been in place, there have been a number of public 

inquiries where the protection of agricultural land has been given significantly less 

Agenda Item 7

Page 44



weight than meeting housing needs.  This is a material factor that we must 
consider.  

 
16.5 The Consequences Study evaluated the environmental impacts and concluded 

that under this option they could often be mitigated or compensated for and, 
where this was not possible, on balance the benefits of development outweighed 
the harm.  

 
17. The Preferred Option Document is about more than meeting needs for 

homes and business.  What are the other key messages? 
 

17.1 Section 4 above listed a number of issues which the Document addresses. The 
Document aims to provide a policy response to these issues.  The Local Plan is 
limited in what it can achieve and will be most effective when it is part of a co-
ordinated approach, promoting responses which are consistent with strategies 
prepared by the Council’s partners.   

 
17.2 Regeneration is a key theme, and a section of the Document is titled “Sustainable 

Growth and Regeneration”.  There is generally much less funding to achieve 
changes in our borough so there is greater need to work alongside development 
partners to try to bring about change.  The Document notes, for example, how the 
growth of the Port can help to bring investment and jobs in some of our most 
deprived communities.  However, the Document is also clear that growth of the 
Port can only be supported when it does not cause unacceptable harm to the local 
environment.   

 
17.3 The Borough has an increasingly ageing population which presents particular 

issues including making sure there is appropriate accommodation and health 
care.  Option Two would help to stem this continuing trend by providing more 
choice of homes and jobs which will encourage families and young people to live 
and work in Sefton.  

 
17.4 The Borough needs new and improved infrastructure.  Lack of public funding 

means less investment in infrastructure. Option Two would bring additional  
investment including new motorway links, a new rail station, new business parks, 
improved drainage, and investment in schools, recreation and nature areas, and 
footpath and cycling links.  An Infrastructure Delivery Plan will be prepared for the 
next stage of the Local Plan.  This will set out the Borough’s priorities for 
infrastructure and what kind of development in which parts of the Borough might 
be able to contribute towards this.  

 
17.5 The difference in health between different [and sometimes neighbouring] parts of 

the Borough has long been a concern.  The Document contains a section called 
‘People and Places’ which comprises policies on air quality, access to homes, 
jobs, facilities and services on foot and by bike as well as by car, opportunities for 
recreation and access to green spaces linked to health and wellbeing objectives.  
The benefits to many people’s health can be improved by having a greater choice 
of homes, more affordable homes, greater prospects of a job and access to 
openspaces and leisure.  Option Two will provide more opportunities for this.  

 
17.6 We want to provide attractive places for people to live, work in and visit.  The 

Document sets out an approach to design to make sure that development is 

Agenda Item 7

Page 45



designed to a high standard. Our policy approach also seeks to preserve 
important heritage assets in the borough.  

 
17.7 Sefton has an outstanding environment which has been referred to regularly in 

this report.  Our policies aim to protect this and to ensure that on the few 
occasions where there may be no alternative sites for development, any damage 
to habitat or species can be mitigated or compensated for by providing alternative 
habitat close by.  Opportunites to designate Nature Improvement Areas will be 
sought to provide areas where this alternative habitat can be provided.  This will 
help to make sure that the amount and quality of Sefton’s natural habitat will be at 
least as good in the future as it is now. 

 
17.8 Our approach to urban greenspace needs to change to reflect national planning 

policy.  Much of our public open space (such as parks, playing fields, sports club 
sites and allotments) will continue to be protected in both urban and rural areas.  
However we will protect fewer amenity green spaces (e.g. highway verges). A 
revised approach to urban school and college sites and care institutions intends to 
allow more development whilst retaining the key characteristics of the sites as far 
as possible, and more development on site where this use has ceased.  Almost all 
former private urban greenspaces will now be part of the primarily residential area.   

 
17.9 Town and local centres nationally are under pressure with the downturn in the  

economy and in particular with the rise of internet shopping.  The Document 
proposes a more flexible approach to uses in our centres, while protecting key 
parts of our town centres in retail use.  

 
17.10 Climate change is a major issue for all local authorities. The Local Plan tries to 

address this in a number of ways e.g. 

• directing development away from areas of flood risk 

• ensuring development is accessible by means of transport other than the  
private car,  

• encouraging the reuse of existing resources such as land and buildings, 
and  

• encouraging energy efficiency and the use of renewable energy in new 
developments. 

 
17.11 Overall, it is considered that the Preferred Option represents a sustainable 

balance of uses which best meets the needs of the Borough looking ahead to 
2030.  The view is taken that this Option also makes the best use of the 
opportunities and resources available to the Borough.  
 

18. Studies and evidence  
 

18.1 A number of studies provide background information which has been taken into 
account in selecting the Preferred Option. Where studies have been prepared in-
house they have been externally assessed. 

 
18.2    Green Belt study and Methodology for Selecting Green Belt sites.  A draft Green 

Belt Study was carried out in 2011 and this was the basis on which sites were 
included in the Options Paper consultation as having potential for development. 
This was externally validated by a company called Envision.  This study has been 
updated and, together with information from other studies, has been used to 

Agenda Item 7

Page 46



select sites which are included in the Preferred Option. Discussions took place 
with landowners to check whether their sites were genuinely available for 
development and to enable the Council to guage where and how many homes 
could be built each year.    

 
18.3   The capacity on these sites was more than 10,000 homes, and well above the 

number required for Option Two, even allowing for a 5% buffer. A ‘traffic light’ 
assessment was then undertaken, both on the sites consulted on at the Options 
stage as well as on a small number of additional areas submitted by landowners 
or developers during the Options consultation. It was concluded that most sites 
were not suitable for development, but a few were added in. Like the Green Belt 
Study methodology, the methodology for assessing the Green Belt sites for 
inclusion in the Preferred Option was independently checked by AMEC, 
consultants appointed by the Government’s Planning Advisory Service for this 
purpose. 

 
18.4    An assessment was carried out for each area using a number of criteria.  Each 

was rated ‘red’ [not suitable for development], ‘amber’ [possibly suitable if an issue 
could be overcome or where further information was required], and ‘green’ [any 
issue would not preclude development and could be dealt with at planning 
application stage]. Not all criteria have the same weight. The rating used in this 
methodology is not the sole reason for selecting sites but is one important 
aspect.    

 
18.5 The Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2013) (SFRA) and Sequential Test 

Position Statement 2013.  These documents have been prepared in line with 
government advice.  They have been used to help select sites which are suitable 
for development and to help the Council write Local Plan policies to manage flood 
risk. 
  

18.6 Government advice is that only river and tidal flood risk should affect the location 
of development sites, but that all flood risk from all sources should be taken into 
account when looking at the design of development or where exactly it is built 
within the site. 
  

18.7 The Sequential Test Position Statement 2013 applies the sequential test to 
potential development sites in Sefton, using the most up-to-date information in 
Sefton’s SFRA. 
  

18.8 Sustainability Appraisal.  This is an overall assessment of the Plan, its aims, vision 
and policies against a wide range of sustainability objectives, to assess the overall 
impact of the plan on the sutainability of Sefton. The Sustainability Appraisal 
highlights some of the implications of the possible options in relation to wider 
sustainability objectives and, together with many other pieces of evidence, will  
help the Council in making coming to a recommendation on which should be the  
Preferred Option.  

 
18.9 Consequences Study.  This has been referred to throughout the report and has 

helped to highlight the impacts of the various Options, from an economic, social 
and environmental perspective, not only on Sefton but on its adjoining authorities.   
The Consequences Study does not recommended any particular Option as this 

Agenda Item 7

Page 47



was not what it was commissioned to do. However, it has provided very useful 
information to assist the Council in choosing a Preferred Option. 

 
19. Minor change to proposed site at Hightown 

19.1 The plan which was available at the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 28th May identified one site for development south east of 
Hightown.  This plan needs to be replaced with the correct plan which is 
appended at the end of this report.   

 
20. Consultation  
 

20.1 There will be 12 weeks of consultation beginning on 8th July.  Two reports have 
been taken to the Public Engagement and Consultation Panel outlining our 
approach to consultation.  We have worked with the national Planning Advisory 
Service in reviewing our approach to this consultation. In addition we have worked 
with a group of senior officers from across the Council. We have also held 
meetings with a number of key residents’ groups to discuss our planned approach 
and seek feedback on it.  [Our 12 week consultation is significantly more than  
what we are required to do – six weeks is considered to be good practice, though 
the Council’s own Statement of Community Involvement has a standard of eight 
weeks]. 

 
20.2  We plan a multi pronged approach to the consultation with widespread media 

coverage.  We are planning a ‘wraparound’ of the Champion paper, and that this 
will be delivered even to those homes which do not normally receive the 
Champion, thereby achieving full Borough coverage.   

 
20.3 There will be a series of public events in the early part of the consultation at 10 

venues well spread across the Borough.  This will be followed up in September 
with five further events, to provide opportunities for those who missed the first 
round of consultation.  Attendance at these events will have to be booked 
beforehand, so we are able to manage numbers in relation to the staff available.  
This will mean that those who attend will have a chance to discuss their views with 
a member of the planning team, and also to make sure that the limited staff 
resources are used most efficiently. This approach was suggested by the 
Government’s Planning Advisory Service representative.  

 
20.4 The Council web-site will be kept up-to-date [e.g. with answers to frequently asked 

questions], and we will use the Council’s Twitter feed. There will also be events in 
September geared at special interest groups [e.g. those covered by Sefton 
Council for Voluntary Services].  

 
20.5 We will prepare a response form to encourage people to record their views and 

send them to the Council.  We will compile a Report of Consultation and report 
back to Planning Committee and Cabinet in due course. 

 
20.6 The Preferred Option document is quite technical in places and must address  

some complex topics.  However, it is important to try to communicate these issues  
clearly.  We will prepare material for the public events which are easy to 
understand and we aim to make the web-site straightforward for people to use.   

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 48



20.7 There is scope to make some of the policies and the explanations in the 
Document read more simply without changing their meaning. The document can 
also be presented in a way which makes it easier for people to read and 
understand.  Authority is requested to make such minor editorial changes before 
the document is printed.    

 
21. Next stages  
 

21.1 The Publication version of the Local Plan will be prepared during 2014. The 
Publication draft will take account of updated information such as: 

• the results of a housing study, due to be commissioned shortly, which will  
include a revised assessment of the number of affordable homes which we 
need, as our current study [Strategic Market Housing Assessment] is 
becoming dated.   

• the results of a study of the needs of gypsies and travellers; this study has 
been commissioned jointly by the Merseyside authorities.  This will help us 
know how many pitches should be provided for gypsies and travellers in 
Sefton and a site [or sites] will be included in the Publication draft of the Plan 

 
21.2 There will be a further statutory six weeks of consultation after which the draft 

Local Plan is submitted to the Secretary of State for public examination.  At this 
stage comments can only be made on matters relating to the ‘soundness’ of the  
Plan.  The examination is planned for late 2014. 

  
22. Conclusions  
 

22.1 The Preferred Option Document is an important stage in the preparation of the 
Local Plan for Sefton. The Government’s support for sustainable development and 
for economic growth is clear.   

 
22.2 There can often be potential conflict between development and the benefits which 

flow from it, including the likely environmental impact for the Borough. However, to 
choose Option One and not to identify land in the Green Belt for development 
would ultimately not protect the Green Belt. Sefton has a duty to provide land to 
meet its needs. If it does not provide this land, sites in the Green Belt could be 
released for development in any case.  This would not happen through the co-
ordinated approach of the Local Plan, but piecemeal through individual 
applications for development.  These may not be in the most sustainable locations 
or on sites that would contribute most positively to existing communities.  

 
22.3 Although Option Three would provide more homes and jobs, this level is not 

considered to be justified by current projections of population and household 
growth, or past levels of building houses in Sefton.  Most neighbouring authorities 
have expressed concern about this option. Although it would enable an even 
greater contribution towards improving infrastructure through development,  
officers do not consider these benefits would be justified because of the likely 
impact on the environment. 

 
22.4 Option Two is recommended as the best option for Sefton - it fits with the 

government’s policy approach, and also addresses most of the Borough’s needs 
whilst still protecting much of the environmental quality of the Borough.  Sefton will 
benefit from the fact that this Option promotes economic growth and provides for a 
range of homes jobs and infrastructure which will encourage more families and 

Agenda Item 7

Page 49



younger people to live and work in Sefton. This option will strike a balance 
between promoting growth and protecting the most important environmental 
assets. Neighbouring authorities support this option too. This factor is important as 
Sefton has a legal duty to co-operate with adjoining authorities as well as with 
other organisations. 

 
22.5 Option Two helps us address many of the issues and challenges facing Sefton 

which are described in the Document.  It offers most opportunities for achieving 
quality sustainable development which responds sensitively to Sefton’s valued 
environments.  It will promote appropriate investment in the future of Sefton and in 
its assets, for residents and businesses alike.  It also represents the Option which 
is most likely to be found sound by an Inspector at a future examination of our  
Local Plan.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 50



 

Agenda Item 7

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

Sefton Local Plan 
 

Preferred Option 
document 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sefton MBC 
June 2013  

 
  

Agenda Item 7

Page 53



 
 

[This page has been left blank intentionally] 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 54



Preferred Option document – Index and structure 
 
 
Section A - Context 
 
Chapter 1 - Introduction and context 
What is the Local Plan?  
What does the ‘Preferred Option’ contain?   
Commenting on the ‘Preferred Option’ 
Other Local Plan Options which are not being taken forward 
Where can I see a copy of the Preferred Option? 
How can I comment?  
 
Chapter 2 – Profile of Sefton 
South Sefton 
Southport 
Central Sefton  
Sensitive environment  
Homes and neighbourhoods 
Jobs and economy 
Making connections- travel and accessibility 
Health and well-being 
 
Chapter 3 – Key issues  
Key issues  
Responding to the issues 
 
Chapter 4 - Sefton in 2030 – our vision for Sefton 
Our vision for Sefton 
What does this mean for different communities within Sefton? 
Bootle and south Sefton 
Crosby and surrounding area  
Formby, Little Altcar and Ince Blundell  
Maghull, Lydiate, Melling, Aintree and the surrounding villages  
Southport  
 
Chapter 5 – Objectives of Sefton’s Local Plan  
 
Chapter 6 - Meeting Sefton’s needs – what are the options? 
What does the Government say we have to do? 
What are Sefton’s needs? 
How can these needs be met? 

 Shouldn’t ‘brownfield land’ be used before building on green fields? 

 Can’t vacant homes be brought back into use instead of building new homes? 

 Could we build at higher densities in the built-up areas to save green fields being 
used?    

 Is there scope to build on little used green spaces within the built-up area?   

 Sefton’s environment is very important – can neighbouring authorities help meet 
some of our needs? 

 The only other land which could meet our needs is Green Belt land … but isn’t this 
meant to be protected from development for all time?   

 Given the above, what are the possible options for Sefton? 
Option One 
Option Two  

Agenda Item 7

Page 55



Option Three 
Our Conclusions 
 
Chapter 7- How to use the Plan  
How the policies are organised 
 
 
Section B – Economy   
 
Chapter 8 - Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 
     

Strategic policies:  

 SS1 Strategic Policy: Spatial Strategy for Sefton  
A Key diagram accompanies the spatial strategy 

 SR1 Strategic Policy: Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 
Borough-wide policies:   

 SR2 Extent of the Green Belt  

 SR3 Housing requirement 

 SR4 Housing allocations and phasing 

 SR5 Employment requirement and strategic employment locations  

 SR5A Primarily Industrial Areas and Employment Allocations  

 SR6 Regeneration  

 SR7 Infrastructure and developer contributions  

 SR8 Centres and Parades 

 SR9 Mixed use areas 

 SR10 Transport   
Southport area 

 SRS1 Strategic site: Crowland Street, Southport 

 SRS2 Southport Central area 

 SRS3 Southport Seafront 

 SRS4 Employment sites in Southport   
Formby area  

 SRF1 Strategic site: Land north of Formby Industrial Estate  
Crosby area  
Maghull area 

 SRM1 Strategic allocation : Land east of Maghull 
Bootle area 

 SRB1 The Port and Maritime Zone  
 
 
 
Section C – Environment and resources  

 
Chapter 9 - Protection and enhancement of environmental assets 

 
Strategic policy:  

 ER1  Strategic policy: Environmental Assets 
Natural assets 

 ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement   

 ER3 Minerals 

 ER4 Green infrastructure 

 ER5 The Sefton Coast and development  
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 56



Heritage  

 ER6 Heritage assets  
Landscape character 

 ER7 Landscape character. 
 
Chapter 10 - Climate change and carbon reduction 
 

Strategic policy  

 CC1 Strategic policy:  Climate change and carbon reduction 
Other policies  

 CC2 Flood risk and surface-water management.    

 CC3 Energy and carbon reduction 

 CC4 Making the best use of resources 

 CC5 Waste 
 
 
Section D – Community  
 
Chapter 11 - People and Places 
 

Strategic policies:  

 SD1 Strategic policy: Promoting Sustainable Development 

 P1 Strategic policy: People and places  
Design / local distinctiveness /character  

 PD1 Design 

 PD2 Education and care institution sites in the urban area 

 PD3 Development in the Green Belt 

 PD4 House Extensions and Alterations 

 PD5 Telecommunications 

 PD6 Advertisements 
Making it easier for people to lead a healthy, active lifestyle  

 PH1  Health and well-being 

 PH2  Food and Drink Uses; 
Better communities 

 PC1  Access and facilities  

 PC2  Affordable housing   

 PC3  Planning for Travellers 

 PC4  Community Facilities 
Protecting amenity 

 PA1  Development in Primarily Residential Areas 

 PA2  Planning enforcement   
Minimise pollution and reduced risk to health  

 PEP1  Pollution and Hazards  

 PEP2  Land Affected By Contamination.   
 

 
Appendices  
 
Appendix 1: List of Studies 
 
Appendix 2:   List of Local Wildlife Sites and Sites of Local Geological Interest 
 
Appendix 3:  Approach to current urban greenspaces 

Agenda Item 7

Page 57



 
 
 
 

[This page has been left blank intentionally] 

Agenda Item 7

Page 58



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section A - Context  

Agenda Item 7

Page 59



[This page has been left blank intentionally] 

Agenda Item 7

Page 60



1.  Introduction and context 
 
1.1  This document is the ‘Preferred Option’ and is one of the stages of preparing a Local 

Plan for Sefton.  The Local Plan will cover the period 2015-2030, and it will replace the 
Sefton Unitary Development Plan which was adopted in 2006. 

 
What is the Local Plan?  
 

1.2 The Local Plan is a statutory document which sets out the Borough’s planning policies 
and priorities.  

 
1.3 In 2011 we consulted on a number of Options for the future of Sefton.  This was carried 

out under the banner of the Core Strategy.  New regulations have given a different 
name to the development plan for an area.  It is now known as the Local Plan.   

 
1.4 There have other major changes to the planning system since we consulted on the 

Options document.   

 The National Planning Policy Framework was introduced in 2012, replacing 
previous national policy statements and guidance.   

 The Localism Act (2011), which sets out the framework within which local people 
– Parish Councils and Neighbourhood Forums -can produce their own distinctive 
local and Neighbourhood Plans. However, these must conform to the Council’s 
Local Plan. 

 Regional Spatial Strategy for the North West (RSS) was revoked on 20 May 2013.  
This means that its policies are no longer relevant in preparing a Local Plan for 
Sefton.  However, the evidence for the RSS may continue to be relevant.  

 
1.5 The Local Plan sets out: 

 How  we will provide for development to meet the needs of our communities; 

 The policy framework for making decisions on planning applications; 

 The strategic policy framework for Neighbourhood Plans; and 

 Priorities for investment in employment, housing and infrastructure. 
. 

1.6 The Local Plan will help us to shape Sefton over the next 15 years – our towns and 
villages, coast and countryside, homes, jobs, services and leisure opportunities which 
give Sefton its distinctive character. 

 
1.7 There are a number of stages in preparing the Local Plan and these are set out in 

Figure 1 on the next page. 
 
1.8 The key things we have had to take into account in preparing this stage of the Local 

Plan are: 

 The National Planning Policy Framework and especially its emphasis on: 
o Allowing sustainable development 
o Taking account of objective evidence 
o Identifying, and then meeting, local needs 
o Making sure that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places 

and at the right time to support sustainable growth. 
     

 Other key Council strategies and those of partners (such as the Public Health 
strategy) 

 

 Comments from the public and other organisations received in earlier 
consultations. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 61



 Figure 1 The Local Plan – stages of preparation 
 

Timescale  Stage of Local 
Plan Preparation 

 Comments 

     

2008 - 2009  Issues   
     

Summer 2009  Public consultation on 
Issues   

 Information about this 
consultation can be 

found on the Local Plan 
web-site. 

 
 

    

2009 - 2012  Options   More information, 
including about the 
consultation and the 

Council’s initial 
responses, can be found 
on the Local Plan web-

site. 

    

Summer 2011  Public consultation on 
Options 

 

     

2012 - 2013  Preferred Option     We are now at this 
stage.   

    This is the main 
opportunity to 

comment on the 
Local Plan. 

Summer 2013  Consultation on 
Preferred Option 

Document    

 

     

 
 
 

June – July 2014 

  

Publication 
 

Public consultation 
(Notification) 

  
The Council’s ability to 
make changes to the 
Local Plan is more 

limited at this 
consultation stage, and 

must only relate to 
whether the Plan is 
considered to be 

‘sound’. 

     

  Submission    

August –     

September 2014  Formal submission to 
the Secretary of State 

 Submission to the 
Secretary of State 

     

    . 

     

  Examination   An independent 
Inspector will conduct 

the Examination.  
    

November 2014  Examination in Public   

     

March/ April  
2015 

 Adoption  Council formally adopts 
the Local Plan, which 
replaces the Unitary 
Development Plan 

(2006). 

 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 62



1.9 The National Planning Policy Framework makes it clear that “Sustainable development 
is about positive growth – making economic, environmental and social progress” 
(Ministerial Foreword), and has at its heart “a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development, which should be seen as a golden thread running through both plan-
making and decision-taking” (paragraph 14).   

 
 
What does the ‘Preferred Option’ contain?   
 
1.10 This document sets out:  

 A Vision and Objectives for Sefton;   

 The Preferred Option and also other Options which were considered but rejected; 

 The strategy to help implement the Preferred Option; 

 Plans showing where land has been allocated for a particular use; and 

 Detailed policies setting out our requirements for new development – including 
being clear about what will not be permitted.   

 
 
Commenting on the ‘Preferred Option’: 
 

Consultation on the ‘Preferred Option’ is the main opportunity for you to comment on, 
and influence, the strategic direction, detailed policies and allocations of sites through 
the Local Plan. 

 
1.11 The Council will consider comments made and amend the Local Plan where it 

considers this to be appropriate.   When commenting, if you disagree with a policy or 
part of a policy, you should set out what your alternative is. 

 
 
Other Local Plan Options which are not being taken forward 
 
1.12 The ‘Preferred Option’ is based on meeting identified needs across the Plan period.  

The proposed spatial strategy aims to meet these needs across Sefton. This is broadly 
similar to ‘Option 2’ which we put forward at the Options stage, although it has been 
updated in the light of recent evidence and is likely to need further updating in the 
future.         

 
1.13 We considered some other Options but have not chosen them as the Preferred Option 

mainly because of: 

 What the National Planning Policy Framework requires us to do, 

 New and updated studies providing evidence of local needs and issues in Sefton.  
These studies are listed in Appendix 1, 

 The results of various assessments which we are required to carry out, for 
example a Sustainability Appraisal (which includes Strategic Environmental 
Assessment).   

 
1.14 More information about the Options not being progressed is set out in chapter 6 of this 

document and in the Sustainability Appraisal report.   
 
 
Where can I see a copy of the Preferred Option? 
 

On-line [http://www.sefton.gov.uk/localplan],  Sefton’s libraries and at the Council offices at 
Magdalen House, Bootle, L20 3NJ 

Agenda Item 7

Page 63



 
 
How can I comment?  
 

On-line, email and by letter- preferably using the comments form 

  
 

The main web-site for the Sefton Local Plan is http://www.sefton.gov.uk/localplan. 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 64



2. Profile of Sefton 
 
2.1 Sefton is a coastal borough with a population of approximately 274,000 (2011 census) 

It lies in the northern part of the Liverpool City Region with which it shares close 
economic, social, cultural and transport links. It also has important links to Preston and 
West Lancashire. Sefton adjoins the City of Liverpool to the south, the boroughs of 
Knowsley to the south-east, and the largely rural West Lancashire elsewhere. 

 

 
Figure 2.1 Sefton in its sub regional context 

 

2.2 Sefton, with its five main settlement areas across its northern, central and southern 
areas, is a borough of contrasts. In the south, Bootle, Litherland, Seaforth and 
Netherton share the metropolitan character of Liverpool. The other main settlements 
are Crosby, Maghull, Hightown and Formby in the centre of the Borough and the 
Victorian resort of Southport in the north. These built up areas comprise about half of 
the area of the Borough and are where 95% of Sefton’s residents live. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 65



 
2.3 The other half of Sefton is rural, including a number of villages, and is covered by the 

Merseyside Green Belt. This is tightly drawn around Sefton’s towns and villages and 
has helped channel regeneration and development into the built up areas, notably 
Bootle and Southport. 

 
2.4 Sefton has a number of famous features that help make it distinctive.  These include 

the resort of Southport, an outstanding natural coast, the home of the Grand National 
at Aintree, England’s ‘golf coast’ including Royal Birkdale, and Antony Gormley’s Iron 
Men sculptures on Crosby beach. Most of the Port of Liverpool is situated in the south 
of the Borough. Sefton is therefore an important gateway for trade with Ireland, 
America and the Far East. 

 
South Sefton 
2.5 The south of Sefton abuts north Liverpool and shares many characteristics. Until the 

Victorian era, Bootle was an area of scattered villages and hamlets with an 18th 
century canal running through it.  The expansion and development of Liverpool’s docks 
northwards in the 19th century led to the rapid development of the areas of Bootle, 
Litherland and Seaforth to house the new, largely Welsh and Irish workforce.  As a 
result the area has a legacy of large numbers of high density Victorian and Edwardian 
terraced housing. The area continued to grow and change through the 20th century, 
with major post-war redevelopments of housing and commercial areas and new lower 
density, mostly Council, housing built at the edges of the urban area such as at 
Netherton, much of which was built during the 1960s.   

 
2.6  A significant part of the operational Port of Liverpool is in south Sefton, including the 

Seaforth container terminal and the Freeport. The Port of Liverpool has ambitious plans 
for further expansion including the new deep river berth for ‘post-Panamax’ vessels. 
Bootle’s industrial past has left large tracts of contaminated and derelict land in areas 
that have low land values. This legacy requires investment to remediate vacant sites, 
overcome constraints and make them suitable for new development. However this land 
also presents opportunities  for housing and commercial development to bring new 
life to a part of the borough which has a strong sense of community. Parts of south 
Sefton and the adjoining area of north Liverpool have been identified as priorities for 
regeneration, and both Councils have agreed to a strategic framework to help bring this 
about.  

 
2.7  In recent years, much of south Sefton was designated as part of the Merseyside 

‘Housing Market Renewal Area’. The initiative has begun to change the housing 
quality, type and tenure available, mainly through demolition of low-demand homes and 
clearance of former, vacant, industrial sites and rebuilding of new homes. There is a 
need for further investment to make sure that this area continues to improve, although 
government funding for this initiative has come to an end. The Council has resolved to 
channel ‘New Homes Bonus’ funding towards this area.  

 
2.8 South Sefton’s ability to grow is constrained by the Port to the west, the urban form 

where it adjoins Crosby and Aintree and the boundary with Liverpool.  
 
Southport 
2.9 Southport is the one of the North West’s main coastal resorts  its Seafront and Lord 

Street shopping area are crucial to the economic success of the town. Southport has a 
traditional, quality image, borne out of its Victorian and Edwardian architectural and 
landscape grandeur. This heritage has led to Southport being described as a ‘classic 
resort’.  This, coupled with family attractions and recent growth in ‘eco-tourism’, has 

Agenda Item 7

Page 66



enabled it to endure changing holiday patterns. There has been significant investment 
in the town centre and Seafront in recent years, but both its leisure and retail areas 
continue to need to be revitalised. 

 
2.10 Approximately 40% of the population of Southport (including Birkdale and Ainsdale) is 

aged over 55 (a percentage which is expected to increase significantly). This means 
Sefton has one of the oldest populations in the North West. This brings specific 
challenges for housing and health care. The town also has a relatively large migrant 
population, many of whom work in West Lancashire. Within Sefton, Southport has the 
greatest need for affordable housing, due in part to the high house prices and a 
restricted supply of affordable housing. 

 
2.11 Southport comprises areas of both deprivation and relative wealth, with part of the 

central area containing some of the most deprived neighbourhoods in Sefton.  By 
contrast, parts of Churchtown, southern Birkdale are some of the least deprived areas 
in Sefton and nationally. 

 
2.12 Unlike the rest of Sefton, most people living in Southport work in the local area; 

although some commute to other areas.  Parts of east Southport and Birkdale have 
workshops and other informal employment areas on small sites at the backs of the 
houses [known as ‘backland’ sites], some of which are now vacant.  Many of these 
provide valuable employment, but not all are ideally located.  Over time these are being 
redeveloped for housing, and they may make a small contribution towards meeting 
future housing need.    

 
2.13 Southport’s ability to grow is constrained by the coast to the west and the boundary 

with West Lancashire in the north and east.  
 
Central Sefton 
2.14 The central area of Sefton contains Crosby (including Waterloo, Blundellsands and 

Thornton) at the edge of the ‘Greater-Liverpool’ metropolitan area, suburban areas 
such as Aintree and Waddicar, and the free standing towns of Maghull (including 
Lydiate) and Formby (including Little Altcar). These are distinctive settlements in their 
own right, and all function as commuter settlements for the Liverpool City Region. 

 
2.15 The central area of Sefton also includes historic villages like Melling, Sefton, Lunt, Ince 

Blundell and Little Crosby, and the larger village of Hightown.   
 
2.16 Formby enjoys a high quality coastal environment with easy access to the coastal 

dunes and pinewoods well known for their Natterjack toads and red squirrels. A 
proportion of Formby residents commute well beyond the Liverpool City Region.  
Although some areas are relatively more deprived and there is a considerable need for 
affordable housing, generally Formby is one of Sefton’s more wealthy areas and a 
prime location for executive housing for Sefton and Merseyside.  

 
2.17 The popular residential districts of Crosby have a mixture of large Regency, Victorian 

and Edwardian housing. The coast also helps define this part of the borough. 
 
2.18 Maghull (including Lydiate) is a large town in the east of Sefton. It has mainly grown 

throughout the second half of the twentieth century.  Like the other settlements in 
Central Sefton, it is primarily a commuter settlement.  

 
2.19 There are relatively few employment areas in central Sefton, with one main, larger 

industrial area which is in Maghull, and retail and industrial areas in Aintree.  There are 
smaller industrial pockets in Seaforth, Crosby and Formby, plus town centre and other 

Agenda Item 7

Page 67



employment opportunities (including in coastal leisure and tourism, and smaller-scale 
offices, especially in Crosby). Central Sefton is has the largest rural area, and much 
agricultural land, including some agricultural land of the highest quality around Maghull.  
This rural area is in the Green Belt. The Leeds and Liverpool Canal passes through 
Maghull, Liverpool and offers opportunities for recreation and tourism. 

 
2.20 The smaller villages are varied in origins and architectural characteristics.  Homer 

Green, Lunt and Carr Houses are agricultural hamlets of mediaeval origins.  Some 
buildings within them date to the 16th century and the landscapes around them contain 
evidence of ancient field systems.  Little Crosby is believed to date back to at least the 
9th century and has a strong 18th century character with stone cottages around the 
parkland of Crosby Hall Estate.  Sefton Village is another historic settlement, with the 
spire of St Helen’s church (Sefton’s only Grade 1 Listed Building) dominating the 
surrounding flat landscape.  Hightown by contrast is more modern, and has a large 
number of early 20th century buildings of the Arts and crafts tradition giving it a strong 
sense of place. 

  
2.21 The rest of this profile looks at some of the charcteristics of Sefton under a 

number of themes, which are based on earlier government guidance about 
sustainable comunities: 

 a sensitive environment 

 homes and neighbourhoods  

 jobs and economy 

 making connections  

 healthy & safe. 
 

Sensitive environment 
2.22 Sefton’s 22 miles of Coast is an important part of the borough’s outstanding natural 

environment which helps to make Sefton distinctive and is valued by residents, 
businesses and visitors alike. The Coast helps define Sefton and is an important part of 
its identity. It stretches the length of the borough and contains a number of 
internationally important nature reserves and the most extensive dunes in England. 
There is a real sense of local pride and interest in this natural heritage which also 
attracts many visitors to the area. Most of our coast has been designated a Special 
Area of Conservation under the European Union Habitats Directive, a Special 
Protection Area under the EU Birds Directive and a Ramsar Site under the Ramsar 
Convention. The Borough is home to three national and four local nature reserves, and 
four Sites of Special Scientific Interest.  

 
2.23 Other important green infrastructure in Sefton includes trees, especially urban trees.  

Away from the coastal area, there are few areas of woodland, apart from recently 
planted community woodlands.  There are more than 150 parks, playing fields and 
sports pitches and other public open spaces which play an important part in the lives of 
people who live and work in, and visit, Sefton, and other nature sites away from the 
Coast.   This green infrastructure can also help Sefton meet the challenge of climate 
change.  Green space can help reduce air temperatures, provide shade and shelter 
and provide storage areas for flood water.  

 
2.24 Much of Sefton is flat and low-lying, which makes it potentially vulnerable to flooding 

from a variety of sources.  This risk of flooding is likely to increase with climate change.  
In recent years Sefton Council has required major non-residential development to 
include on-site renewable energy provision, and its commitment to a low carbon 
economy will help to reduce the impact of climate change.       

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 68



2.25 The borough also has a rich built heritage, with over 500 Listed Buildings, 25 
Conservation Areas, five registered Parks and Gardens and 13 Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments.  Listed Buildings range from country estates to fisherman’s cottages.  
Though there is a concentration of heritage assets in some areas, such as Southport 
town centre and Little Crosby, they are located throughout Sefton and contribute to the 
value, attractiveness and distinctiveness of their local areas.   

 
2.26 We need to ensure that the most sensitive aspects of the environment continue to be 

protected from development. 
 
Homes & Neighbourhoods 
2.27 Sefton comprises a largely self-contained housing market - most people who live in 

Sefton want to continue to live in Sefton. A recent study (Housing Search and 

Expectations Study 2010) indicated that over eight out of ten people would choose to stay 
in Sefton if they moved house. Within this overall pattern, there is a north-south divide. 
There is a higher proportion of owner occupiers outside Bootle and Netherton, and 
house prices are generally much higher in central and north Sefton than in the south of 
the Borough. In general terms, there is a need for more affordable housing in the north 
and more private housing in the south. 

 
2.28 The number of vacant (i.e. empty) homes in Sefton is just over 5,100 (based on 2012 

Council tax data), about 4.1% of the total stock. This matches the north west average, 
but is lower than the Merseyside average of 4.46% including both Liverpool and 
Knowsley. Of the total number of vacant homes, 2,200 are classed as long term 
vacant, i.e. vacant for more than six months. These vacancies are concentrated in 
south Sefton and central Southport. 

 
2.29 Whilst there is a mix of house types and tenures across most of Sefton, there is less 

choice in south Sefton where there are more terraced houses, and more homes owned 
by housing associations or private landlords.  

 
Jobs and economy 
2.30 Economically, Sefton is an integral part of the Liverpool City Region, with the exception 

of Southport which operates as a largely self-contained employment market. Two out of 
every five of Sefton’s working population commute outside the Borough, many of these 
to Liverpool and elsewhere within the City Region. Sefton has an industrial heritage in 
the south of the Borough, but there are now only low levels of manufacturing, and little 
of this is of high value. There is a limited amount of employment land in north Sefton.  
In fact, Sefton’s employment land supply is, by some way, the smallest of any greater 
Merseyside local authority area. 

 
2.31 Sefton has high skill levels and a low rate of deprivation when compared to the other 

local authority areas of Merseyside (although there are pockets of deprivation in Bootle 
and Seaforth). Unemployment has increased sharply during the recession, but 
decreased significantly in the last 12 months.  The proportion unemployed in Sefton 
remains significantly lower than in Liverpool and Knowsley.  

 
2.32 Two out of every five jobs in Sefton are in the public sector (including the Department 

of Work and Pensions, the Health and Safety Executive, Sefton Council and the NHS). 
However, the overall number of these jobs is decreasing significantly as a result of 
reductions in government funding for this sector. Many of these jobs are based in the 
Bootle area which has a large amount of office space, much of which has been 
improved. Sefton has fewer businesses (21 per 1000 working age population) than the 
North West and national average. 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 69



2.33 Whilst Sefton compares well with other districts in Merseyside, too few of our working-
age population have qualifications at NVQ levels 3 and 4 compared to the country as a 
whole. This makes it more difficult for them to gain employment, or better paid 
employment. Unemployment levels, linked to poor skill levels and long-term structural 
changes in the economy (for example affecting jobs for dock workers), have been 
historically high in the most disadvantaged parts of the south of the Borough.  This is 
despite past efforts to increase the number and variety of jobs available in places close 
to where people live, to provide greeter training opportunities and to provide advice and 
support for local businesses.    

 
2.34 Sefton’s town and other centres perform an important economic role, both in terms of 

providing shops and services but also as locations for jobs. Southport and Bootle 
centres remain the main town centres in Sefton with smaller centres at Waterloo, 
Crosby, Maghull and Formby also having an important retail function. However, the role 
of such centres nationally is evolving, due in part to national retailing and wider 
economic pressures and changing shopping habits (including the rise of internet 
shopping).  Centres in Sefton, as elsewhere, must adapt and evolve if they are to 
remain vibrant, attractive destinations for a range of shops, services and other uses.  
More specifically, each of Sefton’s centres faces continued and potentially increasing 
competition from both new and existing developments outside the Borough and out of 
centre shopping within Sefton. As a result vacancy levels are relatively high.  At July 
2011, 13.6% of total floorspace in Southport town centre was vacant, and 11.9% of 
total floorspace in Bootle town centre (2012 Retail Strategy Review). Some local 
centres e.g. Seaforth have been particularly hard hit and present a major challenge for 
regeneration.  

 
2.35 The Port is critically important to the economy of the Liverpool City Region and 

provides a significant number of jobs for people in Sefton, either directly in the Port or 
in the associated maritime economy.  Although the Port of Liverpool has ambitious 
plans for further expansion, this is restricted in Sefton by a lack of available land, with 
potentially available land being internationally important for nature conservation. 
Expansion of the Port will require improved access during the lifetime of this Plan. 
Activity associated with the Port has an impact on local communities through traffic, 
noise and air pollution, and this needs to be carefully considered in any proposals for 
expanding the Port’s operations.    

 

 
Making connections - travel and accessibility 
2.36 Sefton has an extensive, well developed and well used transport network. Most of the 

urban areas are within easy reach of the bus network, which includes radial and 
circular routes from each of the 5 main settlement centres as well as linking routes. 
There are high frequency local rail services running from the north to the south of the 
borough – on the Southport to Liverpool line which runs through Formbv, Crosby and 
Bootle; and the Ormskirk to Liverpool line which runs through Maghull, Aintree and 
southern Bootle.  An increasing number of people use the train to travel to work. 
Despite this, most people travel to work by car (57.7%), with public transport 
accounting for one-fifth of journeys (20.8%). 

 
2.37 However, people in some parts of the borough find the bus network inadequate, 

particularly for east-west trips in the south of the borough, on the outer edges of the 
urban areas and in the rural areas. There are no east-west passenger rail links in 
Sefton. It is difficult for many people to use public transport to get to health, leisure or 
other facilities, especially in the evenings and at weekends.  

 
2.38 Our roads are under increasing pressure as traffic flows continue to increase. This 

Agenda Item 7

Page 70



leads to local congestion within the A565 corridor through Crosby/Waterloo, between 
Thornton and Switch Island, and, in the summer, on the roads leading into Southport. 
The traffic congestion in these areas can result in problems with noise and air quality.  
The proposed Brooms Cross Road (Thornton to Switch Island link), on which work is 
due to commence later this year, will help reduce some of these problems. 

 
2.39 The 2011/12 study of how people enter Merseyside’s main towns during the morning 

rush hour shows that Bootle (78%) and Southport (80%) have the highest private car 
use. The average is 57% and Liverpool City Centre is just 37% [source Mott 
Macdonald ‘Modal Choice into Merseyside Centres 2011/12’]. In 2006 30% of people 
travelled to work by sustainable methods (walking, public transport and cycling) a 
decrease from 38% in 2001 [2012 update].  

 
2.40 Many areas in Sefton are poorly served by essential infrastructure (such as roads, 

water, electricity, sewers and gas) services and facilities. In the past new development 
has often not contributed enough to resolving these issues and in some cases has 
made the problem worse by increasing demand in areas with restricted capacity. The 
Council is working with infrastructure and service providers so that any identified 
infrastructure issues are addressed, including via their Business Plans and through 
contributions from developers, linked to future development.    

 
Health and wellbeing 
2.41 The population of Sefton has declined slowly from a peak of 300,100 in 1981. It is 

currently around 275,000 and for the first time in 30 years this decline has stabilised 
and even reversed.  The population is now projected to rise to about 286,300 by 2031. 
(ONS 2010 based sub national population projections for Sefton (published 21/3/12). 

 
2.42 The Borough has an ageing population and the number of residents aged 65 is now 

about the same as the numbers of people under 20, and likely to continue to increase.  
More than one in every five of Sefton’s residents are now over 65; this is predicted to 
be close to one in three by 2033. This means Sefton has one of the oldest populations 
in the North West. This brings specific challenges for housing health care and other 
services, and also for our workforce. 

 
2.43 Sefton is ranked as the 83rd most deprived borough nationally (from 354 English Local 

Authorities), though it is improving (it was the 78th most deprived in 2004) but this 
conceals a wide diversity within the Borough. Generally, the more affluent areas of 
Sefton are in the north, with the exception of central Southport. 

 
2.44 About 1 in 4 of Sefton’s residents live in an area classed as within the 20% most 

deprived areas in the country and 1 in 10 live in an area classed as within the 20% 
least deprived areas in the country. This diversity leads to some major inequalities 
across the Borough, for example there are major variations in health and life 
expectancy within a short distance.  

 
2.45 Average life expectancy levels for both men and women across the Borough have 

improved over the past ten years. However this is still below the average life 
expectancy for England. Significantly, the rate of improvement has not been as great in 
the most disadvantaged parts of the Borough, particularly for women. People living in 
the poorest parts of Sefton die on average at younger ages than in the rest of the 
Borough. Men living within two miles of each other can have a difference in their life 
expectancy of more than eleven years.  

 
2.46 As our population continues to age there are increasing issues with health, and the 

number of households with someone living with a long term disability continues to 

Agenda Item 7

Page 71



grow. 
 
2.47 Sefton is a safe place to live compared to England as a whole. However there are 

variations within Sefton.  In 2012 the areas that had the highest recorded levels of 
crime were south Sefton and central Southport, with parts of Bootle having five times 
as much crime reported than parts of Formby (Linacre ward 12.87 crimes per 100 
population; Harington ward 2.52 crimes per 100 population). 

 
2.48 Sefton Council now has greater responsibilities for public health, as well as the NHS 

role.  Strategic objectives for the Sefton Health and Well-being Strategy (draft, 2012) 
include supporting older people and those with long term conditions and disabilities to 
remain independent and in their own homes, and seeking to address the wider social, 
environmental and economic issues that contribute to poor health and wellbeing.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 72



3. Key issues 
 
3.1 The following key issues have been identified as needing co-ordinated action by the 

Council and other agencies within the lifetime of this plan.  They have come to light in 
the course of discussions and consultation with many local people and organisations 
and through an assessment of Sefton’s current performance across a range of issues.  
This includes consultation at the Local Plan ‘Issues’ stage in summer 2009, the 
‘Options’ stage in summer 2011 and consultation on other Council and partner 
strategies such as Sefton’s Strategic [health] Needs Assessment in 2012. They have 
been consistently identified over a number of years as important issues. These 
priorities are supported by studies and other evidence. 

 

 How can we make the best use of the Borough’s resources and assets, including 
former industrial sites, brownfield sites, vacant homes and the environment? 

 

 Given the lack of capacity within the urban area, how can we help the Borough to 
grow and develop while protecting and enhancing the high quality environment of 
Sefton?   
 

 How can we meet the need for new homes, make sure they are of the right type, 
built at the right time and to a high quality? 

 

 How can we provide enough affordable housing particularly given the recent 
welfare reforms and changes to housing benefit? 
 

 How can we increase enterprise, develop skills & sustain business growth to 
reduce the number of people who are not in education, employment or training?  
 

 How can we allow the Port to grow whilst making sure there is no unacceptable 
harm to amenity and that appropriate mitigation or compensatory provision is made 
regarding potential harm to any internationally important wildlife sites?   
 

 How can we make sure that our town and local centres continue to perform a 
valuable role within their communities, given the major challenges facing traditional 
retailing and town centres?  
 

 How do we improve access to facilities, employment and services, particularly for 
those in rural areas, and improve accessibility between the west and east of Sefton 
? 
 

 How can we make the most of the opportunities offered by new development to 
contribute to the new infrastructure the Borough needs? 
 

 How can we address the causes of deprivation in order to improve health and raise 
the quality of life within Sefton’s most deprived households? 

 

 How can we best plan for an ageing population e.g. housing, health care services 
and accessible services?    

 

 How can we most effectively meet the challenges of climate change?  

Agenda Item 7

Page 73



Responding to the issues  
 
3.2 In planning for the future of Sefton we need to balance a number of competing 

priorities, to achieve sustainable growth.  We need protect Sefton’s environmental 
natural assets including its high quality environment and its rich heritage.  We also 
have a responsibility to cater for development and growth in a planned way.  And we 
want to improve the living conditions and opportunities for our residents.  

 
3.3 ‘Sustainable growth’ is about finding the balance between these different aspirations.  

We want to provide opportunities and choices for the people of Sefton, but in a way 
which protects the best of our special environment. 

 
3.4 It is not a simple choice between protecting the environment on the one hand and 

allowing growth and development on the other.  Protecting the environment at all costs 
would mean we would not provide enough homes and jobs for our residents.  Focusing 
entirely on development and growth would harm Sefton’s special environment.  Yet we 
could not improve living conditions and offer new opportunities without promoting a 
certain level of growth and development.  

 
3.5 Our aim is to protect the best of Sefton’s outstanding environment, which draws people 

to live in Sefton even though they are likely to work across the City Region and beyond, 
and draws people to visit. The Coast in particular is a major asset both for recreation 
and especially for its international nature conservation importance. The borough has 
many other environmental assets including its heritage and its high quality agricultural 
land.  

 
3.6 However, our aim must also be to make the most of the opportunities which 

development brings for the benefit of the people of Sefton.  It is about providing more 
choices for where people can live; opportunities for training and jobs; better designed 
buildings; making it easier for people to get around.  It is also about bringing new life to 
derelict areas, dealing with contaminated land and creating an environment which is 
greener, cleaner and healthier – in short, attractive places where people choose to live, 
to work and to visit.  

 
3.7 Protecting the best of Sefton’s environment also includes a commitment to make the 

best use of Sefton’s resources. There are many opportunities to redevelop land to 
provide new homes and land for jobs, together with new services and facilities. The 
HMRI area is an example. The ‘Housing Market Renewal initiative’ (HMRI)  has begun 
to change the housing quality, type and tenure available in the HMRI area in south 
Sefton, mainly through demolition of  low demand homes and clearance of former, 
vacant, industrial sites and rebuilding of new homes.  Although government funding for 
the HMRI has come to an end, the Council has resolved to channel ‘New Homes 
Bonus’ funding towards this area, and to investigate other potential sources of funding, 
so that progress continues.  Re-use of this previously developed housing and industrial 
land should reduce housing development pressures elsewhere.  

 
3.8 The challenge is to meet Sefton’s needs for development over the next 15 years and 

beyond while making the most of the opportunities which development provides to 
create the type of environment in which people want to live.    

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 74



 

4.  Sefton in 2030 – our vision for Sefton 
 
This section describes what Sefton will be like at the end of the plan period when the policies 
in the Local Plan have been implemented.   
 

4.1 Sefton has successfully planned for and delivered sustainable development and growth 
across the borough, meeting the needs of its communities. At the same time Sefton 
has retained and enhanced what makes it special – varied and distinctive communities 
living in an outstanding natural environment in a coastal location.    

 Sefton has made the best use of its land in meeting needs for homes, jobs 
and services, and many empty properties have been brought back into use or 
their sites have been redeveloped 

 Provision of new homes, jobs and facilities has been balanced with protection 
of the environment and improved living conditions – this combination has 
helped to reduce deprivation 

 New development is well designed and integrated into existing communities; 

 Important nature sites and heritage assets have generally been retained and 
enhanced  

 New and enhanced areas of public open space, nature space and other  
green space have been provided 

 There is a wider selection of quality and affordable homes for all of Sefton’s 
residents and this balance in provision has helped to stem the trend towards 
an increasingly ageing population  

 At the same time, more specialist accommodation for the elderly has been 
provided which has freed up larger homes for family use and progress has 
been made in meeting the needs of an ageing population  

 Sefton has made the most of its assets to attract jobs and investment, and 
provide training for local residents.  These assets include its coastal location 
and attractive environment, its position within the Liverpool City Region, the 
provision of two new high quality business parks and new industrial area, the 
skills of its population and improved transport links   

 The Port has expanded, providing more jobs for local people and helping to 
regenerate the communities closest to it. Access to the Port has been 
improved and this has been done in a way which has caused least harm to 
the local environment and communities    

 A more flexible approach to town and local centres has enabled them to 
withstand major changes to retailing and to develop new roles  

 Access to facilities, employment and services has improved as a result of new 
infrastructure, some linked to development.  This includes the Brooms Cross 
Road (Thornton-Switch Island link), new links to the M58 and the new rail 
station at Maghull North 

 The range of jobs has increased and levels of training and educational 
attainment have improved so that more people can access jobs. A more 
attractive environment, including public open space and green transport 
routes mean that more people take more exercise.  This has helped reduce 
levels of deprivation and increase life expectancy   

 Infrastructure has improved as a result of development, including upgraded 
waste water treatment and additional school places    

 Sefton continues to meet the challenge of climate change by focusing on 
exploiting its potential to generate renewable energy; new businesses and 
homes and many existing homes now use energy more efficiently 

 New development manages surface water more effectively and sustainably. 
Local drainage has been improved 

Agenda Item 7

Page 75



 New homes have been located in areas with the lowest risk of flooding, and 
where necessary have been designed to reduce the overall risk of flooding.  

 
 
What does this mean for different communities within Sefton? 
 

4.2 Local people have played an important role in shaping Sefton, notably through the 
preparation of the Local Plan and through Neighbourhood planning.  

 
 
Bootle and south Sefton 

 Regeneration has continued to be a priority and people have better access to 
opportunities for training, jobs, houses, healthy lifestyles and services; 

 The main focus for employment and training continues to be in central Bootle, along 
Dunningsbridge Road, and in Netherton; 

 Hugh Baird College and other further andhigher  education facilites have expanded; 

 The Hawthorne Road corridor has been transformed with high quality new homes and 
brownfield sites cleaned up and brought back into use; 

 The growth of the Port has been the catalyst for investment in adjoining communities, 
notably Seaforth and Bootle; 

  Bootle town centre continues to be the main centre serving south Sefton and north 
Liverpool, but has developed a more flexible role, as hasNetherton centre and central 
Seaforth; 

 Bootle office quarter continues to be a focus for civic and office uses but has developed a 
more flexible role.      
 
 

Crosby and surrounding area (including Blundellsands, Thornton, Waterloo, Little 
Crosby and Hightown) 

 The area has continued to make the most of the recreation  and tourism opportunities 
offered by the Coastal Park and  Antony Gormley’s Iron Men 

 The enhanced Waterloo centre and cultural area is an important shopping, economic and 
leisure focus, and Crosby centre has found an expanded role with new retail 
development, a wider range of leisure,entertainment and other uses 

 Brooms Cross Road and other initiatives have improved air quality and the local 
environment, as well as givingeasier access  to the motorway network.  

 
 
Formby, Little Altcar and Ince Blundell  

 There has been continued emphasis on protecting and enhancing the natural coastal 
environment; 

 There is a wider range of new homes which are well-integrated into the existing 
settlement; 

 Formby centre continues to be a shopping focus but has developed a more flexible role; 

 There are new employment opportunities in the expanded business park, better road 
links southwards and new compensatory areas of biodiversity and habitat; 

 New development manages surface water more effectively and sustainably and local 
drainage has been improved. 

 
 
Maghull, Lydiate, Melling, Aintree and the surrounding villages  

 A wide range of new homes and local facilities have been provided throughout the area;  

 The  new neighbourhood to the east of Maghull is of high quality, meeting all design and 
resources  objectives, and is well-integrated with the existing urban area; 

Agenda Item 7

Page 76



 Growth in Maghull has provided a new high quality business park offering new 
employment opportunities, with local facilities and services including public open space, 
and other green infrastructure and more capacity in local schools; 

 Maghull centre has been enhanced and offers new shopping and other complementary 
uses; 

 Access to jobs, services and facilities has improved considerably, with a Maghull North 
station and new links to the M58, and congestion has been reduced; 

 Aintree continues to be important economically, particularly Aintree Racecourse and the 
Retail Park. 

 
 
Southport (including Ainsdale, Birkdale and Churchtown) 

 A wider range of homes has been provided, including more homes suitable for the 
elderly, and more affordable housing; 

 Deprivation in the central area has been reduced 

 New tourism, cultural and town centre development has enhanced the environmental, 
heritage and cultural strengths of the Town Centre and Seafront, including regeneration 
of Kings Gardens and new development of the Marine Park site; 

 Southport’s cycle town status has help promote cycling as an alternative to the car; 

 New employment sites have attracted investment and created jobs, and green tourism 
has increased substantially.   

 Our largest urban housing development (Town Lane, Kew) has been completed with 
extra care housing, and the associated Southport Business Park is fully developed. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 77



5.  Objectives of Sefton’s Local Plan 

 
1. To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 

 
2. To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where possible 

create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing assets. 
 

3. To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the emphasis on 
improving the quality of place.  

 
4. To manage the effects of climate change, to encourage best use of resources and 

assets, land and buildings, and to reduce Sefton’s carbon footprint. 
 

5. To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as possible 
close to where the needs arise. 
 

6. To make sure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local 
character and historic assets and minimises impact on its surroundings.  

 
7. To make sure that new housing provision meets the diverse needs of a changing 

population, including a wide range of market housing, affordable housing, special 
needs accommodation and family homes. 

 
8. To allow people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to leisure 

opportunities and in safe environments. 
 

9. To make sure that new developments include the essential infrastructure, services 
and facilities that they require. 

 
10. To improve access to services, facilities and jobs without people having to depend 

on the car. 
 

11. To support Sefton’s town and local centres so they are able to adapt to local and 
wider needs for shopping, leisure, culture and other services, and develop a more 
flexible role .  

 
12. To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based economy in terms of 

job type, skills and the local labour supply, and support new and existing businesses. 
 

13. To make the most of the value of the Port to the local economy and jobs, while 
making sure that the impact on the environment and local communities is mitigated.  

 
14. To work with Sefton’s neighbours and partners to make sure Sefton contributes to, 

and benefits from, its place within the Liverpool City Region. 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 78



6. Meeting Sefton’s needs – what are the options? 
 
What does the Government say we have to do? 

6.1 The Government is committed to sustainable economic growth. They provide a clear 
national planning policy framework for meeting local development needs.  Local 
authorities are expected to carry out an up-to-date and objective assessment of the 
need for homes, business and other development and then set out how they will meet 
these needs during the 15 year lifespan of the Plan period. 

 
6.2 Having carried out an objective assessment of needs, local authorities are expected to 

meet these needs unless the environmental harm of doing so is so great – in terms of 
nationally important assets or constraints - that it is considered that they should not be 
met.   Whilst Sefton’s environment is special, and important to people living in, working 
in and visiting the Borough, it is not special enough nationally to mean that we can 
avoid meeting our development needs. 

 
What are Sefton’s needs? 
6.3 These include a variety of types of development including providing land for new 

homes and for business.  They also include a range of supporting infrastructure e.g. 
roads, water supply, schools, shops and other facilities and services.  

 
6.4 We have commissioned studies on the number of homes we require and the amount of 

employment land we should provide over the period of the Local Plan i.e. through to 
2030. These figures may change in the future from two perspectives: 

 
a) as the 2011 census based and other changed demographic information is  

incorporated into future Office for National Statistics population and Communities 
for Local Government household projections for the borough, and  

 
b) as the borough’s employment needs and supply change over time.   

 
6.5 As the Local Plan proceeds towards adoption, it will need to reflect, as far as possible, 

the most recent data available from these and other sources and the changed land 
requirements, for housing and for employment land, arising from this work. 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 79



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

STUDY: 
Requirement for new homes 
[Review of Regional Spatial Strategy Housing Requirement for Sefton, NLP, 
published December 2012] 
 
- this study looked at a number of demographic scenarios but concluded that the most 

appropriate scenario for Sefton was based on the 2010 sub-national population projections 

for the borough, adjusted downwards to reflect more cautious assumptions about future 

migration patterns and then subject to the application of the 2008-based CLG household 

formation rates to derive a projection of future households. 

- this work was based on the most up-to-date published demographic information available 

at the time the study was undertaken covering the whole local plan period, hence it did not 

take account of the 2011 based interim sub-national population projections (published in 

September 2012) or the 2011 based interim CLG sub-national household projections 

(published in April 2013), both of which only looked forward to 2021 and did not cover the 

latter part of the local plan period 2021 to 2030. 

- this demographic information will be updated in 2014 when revised population and 

household projections are published and, as a consequence, the preferred housing 

requirement figure, which is currently 510 a year and underpins Option 2, may change. 

- calculations to derive the 510 a year figure assume a long term borough vacancy rate of 

4% a year and does not include housing ‘backlog’. 

- the Option 1 figure of 270 a year reflects the assumption that only development needs 

within the urban area could be met, whilst Option 3 figure of 700 dwellings a year assumes 

more optimistic assumptions about household growth than Option 2  

 

STUDY: 
Employment land & premises 
[Employment Land and Premises Study Refresh, BE Group, November 2012] 
 

- this study looked at a number of alternative approaches to calculating future employment 

land requirements but concluded that the most robust approach was to measure existing 

employment provision against an assumption that historic take-up rates would continue in 

the future. This generated a shortfall of 19.32 ha when measured against the existing 

supply (at April 2012) of 57.96ha, which increased to a 23.50 ha shortfall when sites with 

development constraints were excluded. The shortfall further increased to 30.76 ha when 

other deductions (12.39 ha) and additions (5.13ha) were made 

- the study confirmed that Sefton had by far the smallest amount of employment land of any 

local authority in Greater Merseyside and only slightly more than West Lancashire which 

has a population of only two fifths of Sefton’s population 

- given the above, Sefton is committed to protecting its existing employment supply as far 

as possible, including its strategic employment sites 

- in order to meet the 30.76 ha shortfall in provision, a need for two new business parks has 

been identified, one in the north of the borough (Land to the North of Formby Industrial 

Estate) and another one on the south of the borough (Land to the East of Maghull), plus 

one further employment site (Land to the South of Crowland, Southport). 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 80



How can these needs be met? 
6.6 The built-up area of Sefton is running out of available land, mainly due to the success 

of previous policy initiatives. Our studies show that there is only room for around 
another ten years’ development for new homes, and no opportunities to provide new 
business parks. However, because we want to make the best use of Sefton’s 
resources, we must explore all possible ways of meeting Sefton’s needs, and this 
includes the possible contribution from empty homes, higher density development, 
development on some under-used urban green spaces, sites outside Sefton and 
possible release of sites from the Green Belt.   

 

Shouldn’t ‘brownfield land’ [ie land which has been developed before] be used before 
building on green fields? [‘greenfield land’]    

6.7 Yes.  Our priority, wherever possible, is to try to provide for new development within the 
existing built-up area. This land is already counted in our calculation of the limited 
supply of suitable land in the urban area. 

  
6.8 Some of our brownfield sites are heavily contaminated.  They require a lot of 

investment before they could be made suitable for building new homes and 
businesses.  It is not economically viable to do this without some kind of subsidy, and 
there is a shortage of grant subsidy to clean these sites up and make them ready for 
development.  While we want these sites to be developed as soon as possible, we 
cannot count on them to meet any of our needs in the short term. They are, however, 
still included in our assessments of what is available in the Plan period.  

 
6.9 There are two further important points. The National Planning Policy Framework 

weakens the priority given to using brownfield land for development.  In addition, to 
maintain a continuous 5 year supply of houisng land, which we do not currently have, 
Green Belt land will have to be released as soon as the Plan is adopted.   

 
Can’t vacant homes be brought back into use instead of building new homes? 

6.10 There are currently about 5100 vacant homes in the Sefton - 4.1%, which is around the 
North West average vacancy rate.  For any housing market to work effectively (for 
example to allow people to buy and sell homes), a vacancy rate of 3% is normally 
required. 

 
 6.11 2,200 of these are classed as long-term empty homes as they have been vacant for 

more than 6 months. If we succeed in keeping the percentage of empty homes to this 
level, the need for new homes on other sites is reduced.   However, this on its own 
does not provide the answer to meeting all of our housing needs. The Council is 
working with other organisations to try to bring vacant homes back into use but this is a 
slow process which requires a lot of resources.  

 
Could we build at higher densities in the built-up areas to save green fields being 
used?    

6.12 Due to a change in national planning policy, we cannot insist on a minimum density at 
which new homes should be developed. The Government generally does not favour 
setting targets for density. But we can develop – and have developed - policies which 
seek to make the best use of development sites whilst taking into account the character 
of the surrounding area.  This reduces the need for more homes to be built on other 
sites. However, we are limited as the Planning Inspectorate tells us that we must reflect 
the densities of development which the market wishes to deliver. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 81



Is there scope to build on little used green spaces within the built-up area?   

6.13 There are many public open spaces within the built up area.  However, these are 
generally highly valued by their local communities, particularly in areas of higher 
housing density where people’s back yards or gardens are small. National planning 
policy aims to protect such public open spaces.  If they were all developed this could 
affect local environmental quality and take away from local people valuable green 
infrastructure  with all its many benefits e.g. for physical and mental health, ecological 
value, and providing ‘breathing spaces’ in areas which may already be quite built-up.  

 
6.14 There is some scope to build on a few green spaces where this would not harm the 

environment.  We have assumed around 600 dwellings could be built on these green 
spaces.   Most are located in Bootle, Netherton and Southport, with a few in Formby.   

 
Sefton’s environment is very important – can neighbouring authorities help meet 
some of our needs? 

6.15 All our neighbouring authorities – West Lancashire, Knowsley and Liverpool – have told 
us they are unable to meet any of our housing or employment needs.  In fact, both 
West Lancashire and Knowsley have had to find land within their Green Belt to help 
meet their own needs.  Like Sefton, they do not have sufficient room within their built-
up areas.  Also, a 2008 study indicated that eight out of ten people would choose to 
stay in Sefton if they moved house and this was confirmed by a separate movers 
survey (based on council tax records) in 2010. The reality is the vast   majority of 
people who wish to move in Sefton wish to stay in Sefton. 

 
The only other land which could meet our needs is Green Belt land … but isn’t this 
meant to be protected from development for all time?   

6.16 National planning policy is that Green Belts remain largely open in the long-term and 
should be protected from inappropriate development; and that Green Belt boundaries 
should be altered only in exceptional circumstances, when preparing a Local Plan.  
National planning policy also says that we have to make sure in the Local Plan that 
enough land is available to meet the housing and employment needs of an area 
looking ahead 15 years and beyond.    

 
6.17 The Merseyside Green Belt was approved in 1983 to help promote the regeneration of 

inner Merseyside.  So the Green Belt boundary was tightly drawn around the edge of 
the urban area in Sefton and across Merseyside, so that land to meet future 
development needs would come from within the existing urban area (including 
previously developed land). The Green Belt boundary has remained virtually 
unchanged for the 30 years since 1983, more than double the anticipated time, and 
current circumstances mean that it should now be reviewed.  

 
Given the above, what are the possible options for Sefton? 

6.18 Based on the findings of the studies referred to above, we have considered three 
options which relate to different levels of growth.  Each of these options would have 
differing implications, for example for infrastructure and jobs. These three options are 
broadly similar those we put forward at the Options consultation stage in summer 2011, 
although they have been updated in the light of recent evidence.     We commissioned 
a study to help us assess the consequences of each of the options.    

 
Option One: urban containment 
6.19 This Option is that we should meet development needs entirely within the built-up area 

and keep the current Green Belt boundary as it is. This is a continuation of where 
development has taken place in the past, but would be at a reduced rate - over the past 
30 years, most new development has taken place within Bootle and Southport.  This 

Agenda Item 7

Page 82



option would not set out to meet the expected level of need for new homes and land for 
business and would mean that we would run out of land for both in the early 2020s. 

  
Option Two: meeting identified needs 
6.20 This option is based on what the most recently commissioned studies say about 

Sefton’s needs for new development. It is the closest option to past levels of 
development over the past 30 years.  It would mean development both within the urban 
area and in the current Green Belt. This would require the Green Belt boundary to be 
reviewed. It would mean that about 5,000 homes would be provided outside the current 
built-up area. This would be in the region of 200 hectares. In addition three 
employment areas of about 60 ha would also be provided outside the built-up area, 
although some of this capacity would be provided after 2030.   

 
Option Three: optimistic household growth 
6.21 This option is based on higher levels of growth in the number of households.  It would 

mean development both within the urban area and a greater amount of development in 
the current Green Belt.  This would require the Green Belt boundary to be reviewed.  It 
would mean about 8,500 homes being provided outside the built-up area.  As with 
Option 2, three employment areas of about 60 ha would also be provided outside the 
built-up area, although some of this capacity would be provided after 2030.   

 
Assessment of the Options 

6.22 An independent Consequences Study was carreid out to assess the likely implications 
of these options, both on Sefton and on adjoining authorities, from an economic, social 
and environmental perspective.   

 
6.23 The Consequences Study is a detailed and complex piece of evidence. Its conclusions 

are:  

 None of our adjoining authorities would support Option One as it would put more 
pressure on them to meet additional needs for homes; already West Lancashire 
and Knowsley are having to identify land in the Green Belt to meet their own 
needs and would not wish to have to meet some of Sefton’s unmet housing needs 
through further Green Belt release in their Boroughs.   

 From an economic point of view, Options Two & Three would be preferred; only 
Liverpool of the adjoining authorities would potentially support Option Three on 
the basis that it could attract new people into the sub regional area and would 
increase its potential workforce; however, this advantage was countered with the 
threat of de-population from Liverpool as people move out into Sefton and the 
radical change in commuting patterns (and congestion) likely to result, which 
would raise issues over the sustainability of Option Three from Liverpool's 
perspective. 

  When considering Options Two and Three, the additional development for Option 
Three would not provide significantly more economic benefits when compared 
with Option Two as the amount of employment land does not vary.  

 Options Two and Three would be expected to generate twice as many jobs as 
Option One [approx 3,350 and 3,800 for Options Two and Three as opposed to 
1,700 for Option One].   

 A similar situation is anticipated for GVA from direct investment, with Options Two 
and Three expected to generate approximately £110m and £120m as opposed to 
approximately £55m for Option One].   

 From a social perspective, Options Two & Three would put more strain on existing 
resources [e.g. schools and medical services]; however, these options would also 
offer funding through development to improve and sustain local facilities 

Agenda Item 7

Page 83



 From an environmental perspective, Option One would have least impact.  Option 
Two would have more impact but there are opportunities for mitigation and 
compensation.  Option Three would have greatest impact, and it would be more 
difficult to mitigate or compensate for. 

 Option One would mean there was very limited opportuinity to deliver the 
affordable homes that Sefton needs, because we would be constrained by the 
existing urban housing supply. Options Two and Three would enable significantly 
more affordable homes to be built, thereby meeting needs.  

 Option One would involve no planned Green Belt release but would be highly 
likely to result in an unsound Local Plan. [Options Two and Three would result in 
limited Green Belt release – 3.2% and approximately 4% respectively]. 

 
6.24 The Consequences Study does not recommended any particular Option as this was 

not what it was commissioned to do. It has provided very useful information to assist 
the Council in choosing a Preferred Option 

 
 
What is the recommended Preferred Option?   
 
6.25 Taking account of a whole range of factors including government guidance, Sefton’s 

nedsd and aspirations, and the evidence from recent studies, Option Two is 
recommended as the Preferred Option.   

 
6.26 There are a number of key factors which support this recommendation: 

 it represents the best balance between meeting needs, and protecting and 
enhancing the environment 

 it meets the Government’s commitment to growth and providing choice of homes 
and other economic development 

 it will provide more opportunities for families and young people for both homes 
and jobs and will therefore help to accommodate and stem the current trend 
towards an increasingly ageing population 

 it will enable many more affordable homes to be provided than under Option One, 
though not as many as under Option Three 

 at a time of severe cutbacks in public sector funding, the allocation of land for new 
homes may help to keep some existing local services viable because more 
people will live in a particular area;  

  it will also bring significant investment in new infrastructure which will have to be 
paid for through the development process  

 this Option has the unanimous support of our adjoining local authorities. We have 
a legal ‘duty to co-operate’ so it is important that we take note of the  views of our 
neighbouring authorities 

 this Option best matches past rates of dvelopment in the Borough - we have  built 
an average of 470 dwellings in Sefton for the past 30 years 

 It will identify the most sustainable green belt sites for development – having  
regard to local constraints such as flood risk and ecological designations. 

 It will ensure that best use is made of our assets – including for land in the urban 
area and the green belt.  

 It will enable, as far as possible, a proportionate spread of development across 
the Borough – meeting needs in the main where they arise 

 It will deliver a new urban extension, providing significant investment in local 
infrastructure, meeting needs in a sustainable mixed use development 

 It will provide significant new local employment opportunities to help support and 
grow the economy  

Agenda Item 7

Page 84



 It will protect the heritage and environments of Sefton with detailed polices 
requiring high design standards in new development 

 It is considered to be a deliverable option. 
 
6.27 Importantly, Option 2 is a sustainable option in that it can be defended at Examination.  
 
 
Why have the two other options been discounted?     

 Option One 

 this Option would not meet the needs of the borough, based on an objective 
assessment.  It would fall some way short 

 it would not promote sustainable development and economic growth, as required 
by the Government’s Framework 

 we would never meet our affordable housing needs, and would find it difficult to 
attract families to Sefton, to stem population decline and to avoid the labour force 
reducing 

 while this Option may seem to protect the Green Belt from development,  in reality 
this would not happen. The reason for this is that Sefton’s readily available supply 
of ‘deliverable’ land for housing is below the five years’ minimum required by the 
Government, and this would continue to deteriorate under an Option One 
approach.  Failure to plan for a ‘five year supply’ would mean that proposals for 
development in the Green Belt could be challenged successfully at an appeal, 
even if Sefton were to refuse permission initially. We could therefore lose control 
over where new development was located – including in the Green Belt - benefits 
that could be gained for the local community may be lost. 

 this Option would not be supported by any of our adjoining authorities.  West 
Lancashire and Knowsley boroughs already have had to identify land in the Green 
Belt in their boroughs to meet their own needs. These Local Authorities can give 
evidence against Sefton at the examination stage. 

 Option One would be extremely high risk, would fall short of meeting the needs of 
Sefton and would be highly likely to found unsound and thrown out at 
Examination.   

 It would result in us having to redo our Local Plan, involving significant cost to 
update our evidence. We are aware of a number of local authorities which have 
had their Plans found unsound and been asked to amend them at a late stage. 

 This Option would not meet the needs of our communities for homes and jobs and 
would mean we would run out of land by the early 2020s.  It would not address 
Sefton’s key issues. 

  
Option Three 

 this Option would provide more homes and jobs, but at a level which is not 
considered to be justified by current projections of population and household  
growth, or past levels of building houses in Sefton 

 more land in the Green Belt would be required than has been currently identified; 
this would be concentrated in Lydiate and Formby due to a lack of suitable sites in 
the rest of the Borough    

 it would provide even more affordable homes than Option Two, but this benefit is 
not considered to outweigh the likely harm to the environment 

 all neighbouring authorities have expressed concern about this option because of 
the likely effect on their own boroughs - it would attract residents to Sefton from 
their authorities and could lead to their population decline and allocated sites 
remaining undeveloped. There would also be an increase in traffic because of the 
likely increase in the number of people who would live in Sefton and work in these 

Agenda Item 7

Page 85



other authorities and, for West Lancashire, this Option would narrow a strategic 
gap in the Green Belt. 

 it would enable an even greater contribution towards improving infrastructure 
through development, but again officers do not consider these benefits would be 
justified because of the likely impact on the environment. 

 

 

Our conclusion is that while Sefton places the greatest priority on meeting its needs 
within its built-up area, we have no choice but to look to our Green Belt to help meet 
our identified needs. Option Two meets Sefton’s identified needs and this should be 
our Preferred Option.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 86



7.  How to use the Plan 
 
7.1 The rest of this document sets out the spatial strategy for Sefton and the strategic and 

other policies which will help us to provide for development to meet the needs of our 
communities.   Each policy has an explanation of why it is needed, its aims and, where 
relevant, how it will be implemented. 

 
7.2 These strategic and other policies provide the policy framework for making decisions 

on planning applications and the strategic policy framework for Neighbourhood Plans.  
They also indicate priorities for investment in employment, housing and infrastructure. 

   
7.3 A Local Plan consists of a Written Statement and a Policy Map. At this ‘Preferred 

Option’ stage we have not yet prepared a new Policy Map.  However, we have 
prepared maps showing the key sites which will be allocated for housing and 
employment development, including all sites in the current Green Belt. Smaller housing 
sites are identified in the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA). 
The approach to current urban greenspaces is set out in Appendix 3.    Where there is 
inconsistency between the Written Statement and Policy Map, the former takes 
precedence.   

 
7.4 The Local Plan should be read as a whole.  Typically, those making decisions on 

planning applications will need to consider the relevance and weight to be given to 
different policies and the Vision and Objectives of the Plan. This is particularly relevant 
in situations where two or more policies, or objectives are potentially conflicting or 
contradictory.   

 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 87



The proposed spatial strategy for Sefton together with strategic and other 
policies is structured as follows: 
 

Section B  -  Economy 
 
Chapter 8: Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 
 

 Strategic Policy: Spatial Strategy for Sefton  
(Key diagram to accompany the spatial strategy) 

 

 Strategic policy: Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 
 

 Borough-wide policies for: the Extent of the Green Belt; Infrastructure; Housing 
requirement, housing allocations and phasing; Employment requirement and strategic 
employment locations, Primarily Industrial Areas and employment allocations, 
regeneration, infrastructure and developer contributions,  centres and parades, mixed 
use areas, transport. 

 Policies for the Southport area 

 Policies for the Formby area 

 Policies for the Crosby area  

 Policies for the Maghull area 

 Policies for the Bootle area. 
 
 
Section C  -  Environment and Resources 
 
Chapter 9: Protection and enhancement of environmental assets 
 

 Strategic policy: Environmental Assets 
 

 Other policies for: nature conservation and enhancement, minerals, green 
infrastructure, the Sefton Coast and development,  heritage assets, landscape 
character. 

 
Chapter 10: Climate change and carbon reduction 
 

 Strategic policy:  Climate change and carbon reduction 
 

 Other policies for: flood risk and surface-water management, energy and carbon 
reduction, making the best use of resources, waste. 

 
  

Section D  -  Community 
 
Chapter 11: People and Places 
  

 Strategic policy: Promoting Sustainable Development 

 Strategic policy: People and places  
 

 Other policies for: Design, education and care institution sites in the urban area, 
development in the Green Belt, house extensions and alterations, 
telecommunications, advertisements, health and well-being, food and drink uses, 
access and facilities, affordable housing, planning for Travellers, community facilities, 
development in Primarily Residential Areas, planning enforcement,  pollution and 
hazards, land affected by contamination.   

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 88



Section B - Economy  

Agenda Item 7

Page 89



[This page is left blank intentionally] 

Agenda Item 7

Page 90



Chapter 8. Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 

This chapter sets out the strategic policy ‘Spatial Strategy for Sefton’.  The spatial strategy 
sets out the distribution of development across Sefton and what this means for different parts 
of the Borough.

The policies which follow set out in more detail how the spatial strategy will be implemented.  
These include the main site allocations for development and designations (such as Southport 
Seafront)  in Sefton.  Policies set out the uses which are acceptable in principle for particular 
sites, subject to other Local Plan polices which relate to environmental issues (in Section C) 
or development management (in section D of the Plan).

Strategic policy SS1: Spatial Strategy for Sefton

1) Development in Sefton should be consistent with the following principles.  Development 
should: 

  Meet needs in the areas where they arise as far as possible; 

  Make the best use of Sefton’s assets and resources, in particular brownfield land; 

  Be located on sites with the fewest environmental constraints; 

  Be in accessible locations or locations that can be made accessible. 

2) This means that development in Sefton during the plan period [2015-2030] will be 
concentrated in and adjacent to the key towns of Southport, Formby, Crosby, Maghull 
and Bootle / Netherton.  

A limited amount of development will be permitted adjacent to Hightown, Aintree and 
Melling/Waddicar. Only limited infill will be permitted in the smaller villages where this 
does not harm the character of the village or conflict with other policies in the Local Plan. 

3) With the exception of the sites listed below and shown on the Proposals Map, the extent 
of the Green Belt will be maintained so that it continues to perform the five purposes of 
the Green Belt set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

4) Land formerly in the Green Belt has only been released to meet the following needs: 

a) New employment sites to meet identified needs; and 

b) New housing to meet identified needs which cannot be met in the urban areas, in 
the following areas: 

  To the east of Southport and adjacent to Ainsdale; 

  To the north and south of Formby; 

  To the southeast of Hightown; 

  To the north of Crosby and east of Thornton; 

  To the east of Maghull, including the ‘prison’ site; 

  To the east of Aintree; and  

  To the north of Melling.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 91



Agenda Item 7

Page 92



Explanation

This policy sets out how and where Sefton will meet its identified development needs for 
housing and employment.  These are for 510 homes a year, and a new business park in both 
the north and the south of the Borough, and an extension to Crowland Street [Southport] 
industrial area.  This will allow Sefton to meet the Government’s commitment to growth and 
providing choice of homes and other economic development.  

The spatial strategy will bring significant investment in new infrastructure which will be paid 
for through the development process, and the following policy deals with this is more detail: 

  Infrastructure and developer contributions.  

The spatial strategy aims to achieve sustainable growth and regeneration. Development will 
take place both within the urban area and in land released from the current Green Belt (3.2% 
of the Green Belt) in a Green Belt boundary review.   The following policy deals with this in 
more detail: 

  Extent of the Green Belt. 

The following policies set out the overall spatial allocations for housing and employment, and 
set the framework for regeneration of areas facing perhaps the greatest challenges:    

  Housing requirement 

  Housing allocations and phasing 

  Employment requirement and strategic employment locations 

  Regeneration.  
Other, smaller, housing sites are identified in the Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA).     

Other policies in this chapter set out the spatial and development framework for other 
development needs across Sefton, as follows: 

  Centres and Parades, 

  Mixed use areas, 

  Transport infrastructure.  

Around 5,700 homes will be provided outside the current built-up area, on around 200 
hectares of land. In addition three employment areas of about 60 hectares would also be 
provided outside the built-up area. Some of this provision will be on strategic sites, for which 
more detailed policies apply. These are:     

 Crowland Street, Southport (for mixed development including employment uses) 
 Land north of Formby Industrial Estate (for employment uses) 
 Land east of Maghull (for both housing and employment uses). 

Within the built-up area strategic sites include: 
 Southport Seafront and especially the Marine Park site (for tourism uses) 
 The Port and Maritime Zone (for Port-related uses). 

The chapter sets out the land use and development allocations policies for each of Sefton’s 
five main settlement areas, as follows:

  Southport area 

  Formby area 

  Crosby area  

  Maghull area 

  Bootle area. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 93



The spatial strategy is considered to be the best balance between meeting needs, and 
protecting and enhancing the environment.  It makes sure that best use is made of Sefton’s 
assets – including for land in the urban area and the Green Belt. The sites to be released 
from the Green Belt are the most sustainable sites, having regard to local constraints such as 
flood risk and ecological designations. The strategic site east of Maghull comprises a well-
contained urban extension which is located between the Liverpool – Ormskirk railway and 
the M58. not only will this site deliver about 1,600 homes (some of which will not completed 
until after the plan period), but this is the only area that can deliver benefits such as the 
provision of the planned Maghull North station, the ‘missing’ spurs on the south side of 
Junction 1 of the M58, but also it is the only area where a new Business park can be located 
to serve the south of the Borough, once the sites in the Dunnings Bridge corridor have been 
redeveloped.

Within Sefton’s constraints, the spatial strategy aims to achieve a proportionate spread of 
development across the Borough, meeting needs as far as possible where they arise. 

The spatial strategy allows for the provision of significant new local employment opportunities 
to help support and grow the economy, and of more opportunities for families and young 
people to secure both homes and jobs. It aims to help to stem the current trend towards an 
increasingly ageing population.  It will allow provision of more affordable homes and other 
specialist housing including for travellers and Sefton’s rising elderly population. The 
allocation of land for new homes and jobs may also help to keep some existing services 
viable because more people will live in a particular area.   This is particularly important in the 
areas of Sefton with the highest levels of deprivation, and those facing the greatest 
challenges.   

The key principles for the spatial strategy are that, as far as possible: 
1. Development should be provided close to where the need arises. New development  

should be broadly in proportion to the size of community to which it relates;   
2. Brownfield land should be used in preference to other land; 
3. Any new development in the rural area (what is now the Green Belt) should relate closely 

to the urban area. This land is therefore likely to be in the most accessible locations; 
4. New development should make the best possible use of existing infrastructure including 

roads, water supply, drainage, electricity supply and services.   New services and 
infrastructure should be provided where necessary, and in a timely manner;  

5. New development must the necessary infrastructure and services needed to support it, 
and include appropriate mitigation measures where these are required; and   

6. Those sites with fewest environmental constraints will be preferred for development.  

Bootle and Southport contain 75% of the brownfield land available within the urban area, but 
the amount of open Green Belt land (in Sefton) next to these areas is severely restricted and 
very little of this is brownfield.    The remainder of the brownfield land is spread between 
Formby, Crosby and Maghull. Of Sefton’s has five main settlements, all but Bootle are 
surrounded by rural areas (including the coast and as well as other countryside areas).     

Sefton is elongated in form.  The urban area either extends right up to the borough boundary 
(with Liverpool, at Bootle), or almost to the boundary (with West Lancashire, at Southport).    

There is limited scope for a new free-standing settlement within Sefton’s rural area.  There is 
no scope to accommodate a ‘new village’ in the rural area because of constraints (such as 
areas required for flood storage and its nature value such as Pink-footed Geese) and 
landscape character – especially the historic parkland at Ince Blundell and Little Crosby. An 
area near Ince Blundell is also an identified area of search for wind turbines. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 94



Strategic policy SR1:      Sustainable Growth and Regeneration

1. The Local Plan will seek to deliver sufficient housing and economic development to meet 
local needs and to support regeneration and economic growth.   

Regeneration 
2. The Local Plan will support the delivery of Sefton’s key regeneration priorities, including: 

  Regeneration projects and programmes 

  The redevelopment of vacant, derelict, and contaminated land 

  The protections and positive enhancement of Sefton’s town and other retail 
centres

  The delivery of high quality employment development 

  The enhancement and development of Southport Seafront in order to support the 
local tourism economy 

  Sustainable development, including new housing, which contributes towards other 
Council priorities and regeneration programmes. 

  The delivery of new infrastructure, services, and facilities.  

Development proposals that contribute to these regeneration priorities will be acceptable 
in principle, subject to other Local Plan policies. 

Housing
3. The Local Plan seeks to positively meet the full range of housing needs in Sefton, 

including for: 

  Open market housing 

  Affordable housing 

  Specialist accommodation for the elderly and other vulnerable groups 

  Gypsy and traveller sites.  

4. Local housing needs in Sefton will be met, as far as possible, in the local area in which 
they arise. 

5. New housing will be delivered through development of allocated housing sites, and of 
other suitable sites in the urban area. 

6. In addition, the Local Plan will seek to make best use of the existing housing stock, and 
will aim to achieve a long-term average vacancy rate of 4% of stock. 

Employment Development 
7. The Local Plan identifies sufficient land to meet the needs of local businesses and to 

provide opportunities to attract new investment. It seeks to support the growth of key 
sectors identified in Sefton’s Economic Strategy. 

8. The Local Plan identifies 5 ‘Strategic Employment Locations’, which will be the focus for 
new high quality employment development and job creation.  

9. New business investment and development will also be directed to the Primarily Industrial 
Areas identified in the Plan. 

The Port of Liverpool 
10. The expansion of the Port of Liverpool is a major opportunity to secure new investment 

and employment growth, both within Sefton and across the Liverpool City Region. The 
Council will support the expansion and development of the Port of Liverpool, whilst 
seeking to avoid and / or minimise the environmental impacts.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 95



11. The following Port-related developments are acceptable in principle, subject to the above: 

  Port related development and infrastructure within the identified Port Area 

  Measures to improve and facilitate access to the Port 

  Environmental measures that mitigate the local impacts of Port expansion. 

Port expansion which has an adverse effect on internationally important nature sites will 
only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that there are no alternatives and 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest. Compensatory provision will also be 
required.  

Town, District, and Local Centres 
12. The Local Plan will support the vitality and viability of Sefton’s retail centres and facilitate 

appropriate development within them.  

13. The regeneration of Sefton’s Centres is a priority for the Council. Major new 
developments in retail centres should be in accordance with the defined retail hierarchy, 
and support the long term future of the centre. 

14. In recognition of changing retail patterns, other suitable uses which complement the 
primarily retail function of Sefton’s centres will be encouraged. 

Infrastructure  
15. Development may be required to provide essential infrastructure, related to the 

development of the site, as set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan. This will be 
secured through planning conditions, planning obligations, Community Infrastructure 
Levy, or other suitable mechanisms. 

Explanation

This strategic policy SR1 ‘Sustainable Growth and Regeneration’ sets out how we will make 
sure that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to 
support sustainable growth.  The Local Plan seeks to deliver sufficient housing and economic 

development to meet local needs and to support regeneration and economic growth.

Agenda Item 7

Page 96



Policy Title: SR2     Extent of the Green Belt  

Context The boundary of the Green Belt has been reviewed in order to meet 
Sefton’s needs for land for housing, jobs and infrastructure over the 
period of the plan. This comprises about 3.2% of the current Green Belt.  
The review provides the opportunity to make small changes to the 
boundary to reflect where minor development has taken place and to 
correct inaccuracies dating from when the Green Belt boundary was 
originally drafted.  

Policy Text: 1. The full extent of the Green Belt will be maintained until a strategic 
review of the Merseyside Green Belt has been carried out.   

2. The villages of Ince Blundell and Little Crosby, as shown on the plans, 
will be excluded from the Green Belt. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

The Council could have recommended that the boundary of the Green 
Belt should not be reviewed.  However, this would not allow Sefton’s 
needs to be met over the plan period. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) says that we 
need to ensure that Local Plan boundaries do not need to be altered 
again at the end of the Plan period. 

It recommends that areas of ‘safeguarded ‘land’ should be identified in 
Plans between the urban area and the Green Belt, in order to meet 
longer-term development needs stretching well beyond the plan period 
[e.g. for about a further 10 years].  The Council considers that it is not 
appropriate to identify safeguarded land in the Local Plan, but to work with 
the other authorities to jointly review the Merseyside Green Belt.   No date 
has yet been set for this.

Explanation: General Extent of the Green Belt

The Framwework sets out the national planning approach to land in the 
Green Belt. The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban 
sprawl by keeping land permanently open. Land which is needed to meet 
identified development needs or which does not need to be kept 
permanently open should not be included in the Green Belt. 

The Merseyside Green Belt was established in 1983 in order to “check the 
outward spread of the built-up area, direct development into existing 
towns, and encourage their regeneration” as well as ensuring that towns 
and villages kept their individual character; the surrounding countryside 
was safeguarded for agricultural, nature conservation and recreation, and 
its value as an amenity for townspeople was preserved.  

Whilst minor changes modifications have taken place since Sefton’s 
Green Belt was established there has been no need to carry out a full 
review until now. This is because there is no longer sufficient capacity in 
the urban areas to meet needs for both housing and employment 
throughout the period covered by this Local Plan. 

The Council has identified sites for development in line with the findings of 

Agenda Item 7

Page 97



the Green Belt Study. 

‘Inset’ villages
The Framework states that where it is necessary to prevent development 
in a village primarily because of the important contribution which the open 
character of the village makes to the Green Belt, the village should be 
included in the Green Belt. This applies to most of Sefton’s villages. 

This does not apply to Little Crosby and Ince Blundell. If the character of 
the village needs to be protected for other reasons, different means 
should be used, such as Conservation Area and Development 
Management policies. It is therefore proposed to inset these villages into 
the Green Belt in order to allow infilling on a limited number of sites.  

The criteria that any development should meet are set out in Policies PD3 
‘Development in the Green Belt’ and PD1 ‘Design’.  Policy ER6 ‘Heritage 
Assets’ is relevant to to new development in Little Crosby.  

As no further development can be accommodated in Sefton village, it is 
proposed to include this village in the Green Belt. Sefton is currently 
shown as an inset village in the adopted Unitary Development Plan, 
because there was a large ‘brownfield site’ in the village.  This has now 
been developed. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

2. To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where
possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing 
assets. 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SD1 PINS Model policy,  
SS1 Spatial Strategy,
ER1 Environmental assets  
SR1 Sustainable growth and regeneration. 

Links to other 
policies:

PD1 Design  
PD3 Development in the Green Belt 
ER6 Heritage Assets  
ER7 Landscape character  

Policy Context: Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework, especially paragraphs 79 – 
80, 83 - 86. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 98



Agenda Item 7

Page 99



Agenda Item 7

Page 100



Agenda Item 7

Page 101



Policy Title: SR3      Housing Requirement  

Context: The Preferred Option is based on an annual housing requirement of 
510 dwellings a year. In addition to this we are required to make an 
allowance for two other elements: 

  ‘backlog’, or unmet need going back to 2003 

  a ‘buffer’ of 5% in case the identified sites do not provide the 
expected number of dwellings. 

Policy Text:    
1. During the period 2012 – 2030 provision will be made for the 

development of a minimum of 10,700 new homes in Sefton. 

2. The housing requirement will be delivered at an annual average of 
at least 510 new dwellings a year, together with an amount for 
‘backlog’ and a 5% buffer over the period of the Plan.  

3. The housing requirement will be met primarily from the following 
sources: 

(a) The Housing Allocations identified at Policy SR4; 
(b) Sites with planning permission for housing development; 
(c) Other sites identified in the Strategic Housing Land Availability 

Assessment; 
(d) Unanticipated or ‘windfall’ sites  

Explanation: Sefton’s housing requirement is based on an objective assessment of 
housing needs in the Borough.  This is required by the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).  It takes account of the findings of 
a study called ‘Review of the RSS Housing Requirement for Sefton’, 
which was undertaken on the Council’s behalf by Nathaniel Lichfield & 
Partners.

The total housing requirement of 10,700 between 2012 and 2030  
comprises the following elements: 

1. The housing requirement of 510 dwellings a year. When 
multiplied by 18 (the 15 years of the Plan Period plus the 3 years from 
2012 to the anticipated adoption date in 2015), this equates to 9,180 
dwellings which will be required between 2012 and 2030. This figure is 
an assessment of future housing needs as a result of population and 
demographic changes.  

2. The ‘backlog’ (or shortfall) of number of homes provided when 
compared to the number that should have been provided based on the 
housing target in the former Regional Spatial Strategy for the North 
West.  This target was 500 dwellings a year. By 1st April 2012 the 
backlog amounted to 1,113 dwellings going back to 2003. This is a 
measure of the ‘pent up’ need for housing that has built up over these 
years.

3. A 5% buffer to allow for non-delivery or under-delivery of 
identified sites. This equates to 383 dwellings (5% of 15 x 510). 

Agenda Item 7

Page 102



Calculation of housing requirement 
Annual housing requirement                                 9,180 
Backlog since 2003                                               1,113 
5% buffer                                                                  383
Total                                                                    10,676 

This has been rounded up to 10,700.

This housing requirement is based on demographic and housing 
information that the Council has commissioned.  New, comprehensive, 
population and household projections will be available in 2014, and the 
housing requirement will be reassessed once this information is 
available. 

Alternative: The National Planning Policy Framework requires local planning 
authorities to identify objectively the housing needs of its area and to 
‘respond positively to wider opportunities for growth’. The alternative to 
this overall figure would be to choose a different figure which satisfies 
these criteria. A higher figure [700 dwellings a year] has been 
considered but been discounted.   

Inspectors’ decisions on planning appeals and Local Plan 
examinations make it clear that backlog must be taken account of in 
calculating the housing requirement.  A 5% buffer has also been 
considered to be a minimum requirement by Inspectors at Local Plan 
examinations.  

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(1) To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in 
Sefton
(5) To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, 
as far as possible close to where the needs arise. 
(7) To ensure new housing provision meets the diverse needs of a 
changing population, including affordable housing, special needs 
accommodation and family homes. 
(12) To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based 
economy in terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and 
support new and existing businesses. 

Relevant Strategic 
Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 

Links to other 
policies:

SR4 Housing allocations and phasing 

Policy Context: National Planning Policy Framework  

Agenda Item 7

Page 103



Note: Plans showing the proposed development sites in this policy currently in the Green 
Belt [GB] or on greenspace [GS] are shown at the end of the policy. 

Policy Title: SR4     Housing Allocations and Phasing  

Policy Text: 1. Housing supply
The following sites are allocated for housing development in order to meet 
the Borough’s housing requirement: 

Site
Ref

Location Area (ha) Capacity

01 Bartons Close, Southport 1.0 36 

02
Land at Bankfield Lane - Churchtown 
North (GB) 

4.7 120 

03
Land at Moss Lane - Churchtown 
South (GB) 

19.67 538 

04 Land at Crowland Street* (GB) 10.1 265 

05 Land at Broome Road, Southport (GS) 8.5 223 

06
Former Ainsdale Hope School, 
Ainsdale (GB) 

8.27 217 

07
Former St John Stone School, Meadow 
Lane, Ainsdale (GS) 

1.3 35 

08
Meadows ATC, Sandbrook Road, 
Ainsdale 

2.6 70 

09
Segar’s Farm, Coastal Road, Ainsdale 
(GB) 

20.21 531 

10
Land south of Moor Lane, Ainsdale 
(GB) 

5.17 136 

Southport sub-total  2171 

11
Land north of Brackenway, Formby 
(GB) 

6.43 169 

12
Former Holy Trinity School, Lonsdale 
Road, Formby (GS) 

0.92 25 

13
Formby Professional Development 
Centre, Park Road, Formby (GS) 

1.57 15 

14 Land at Liverpool Road, Formby (GB) 14.16 372 

15 Land at Altcar Lane, Formby (GB) 2.53 67 

16 Land at Andrew’s Close, Formby (GB) 4.59 120 

Formby sub-total  768 

17 Land at Elmcroft Lane, Hightown (GB) 0.72 22 

18 Land at Sandy Lane, Hightown(GB) 1.18 36 

19 Land at Hall Road West, Crosby (GB) 0.82 14 

20
Land at Southport Old Road, Thornton 
(GB) 

3.24 85 

21 Land west of Holgate, Thornton (GB) 6.75 177 

22
Land east of Holgate, Thornton Road 
(GB) 

2.0 63 

23 Land at Lydiate Lane, Thornton (GB) 8.96 235 

24
Tanhouse Farm, Runnell’s Lane, 
Thornton (GB) 

1.76 46 

Agenda Item 7

Page 104



25
Land south of Runnell’s Lane, Thornton 
(GB) 

5.23 137 

Crosby sub-total  810 

26
Former Prison Site, Park Lane, Maghull 
(GB) 

13.61 357 

27 Land east of Maghull* (GB) 60.5 1588 

28
Land east of Waddicar Lane, Melling 
(GB) 

5.37 141 

29 Waddicar Farm, Melling (GB) 5.48 144 

30 Land at Wango Lane, Aintree (GB) 1.81 57 

Sefton East Parishes sub-total  2287 

31
Aintree Curve Site, Ridgewood Way, 
Netherton

7.2 90 

32
Z Block Sites, Buckley Hill Lane, 
Netherton

3.5 100 

33
Former St Raymond’s School playing 
field, Harrops Croft, Netherton (GS)  

2.12 73 

34 Land at Pendle Drive, Netherton 1.4 52 

35
Former Bootle High School, Browns 
Lane, Netherton (built foot print only) 
(GS) 

1.4 50 

36
Former Daleacre School, Daleacre 
Drive, Netherton (GS) 

1.03 37 

37 Land at Sterrix Lane, Netherton (GS) 1.6 50 

38
Land adjacent to Our Lady Queen of 
Peace School, Ford Close, Litherland 
(GS) 

1.16 42 

39
Former Rawson Road County Primary 
School, Rawson Road, Bootle (GS) 

0.96 30 

40 Former St Wilfrid’s School, Bootle (GS) 6.60 198 

41
Klondyke redevelopment phases 2 and 
3

4.18 110 

42
Former St Joan of Arc School, Rimrose 
Road, Bootle (GS) 

1.3 48 

43
Former St Mary’s Primary School 
playing fields (GS) 

1.1 40 

Bootle + Netherton sub-total  920 

SEFTON TOTAL  6,956 

(GS) site designated as Urban Greenspace in the Sefton UDP 
(GB) site within the Green Belt in the Sefton UDP 
* The remainder of the site is proposed for employment uses 

2. Phasing
Planning permission for the development of all of the allocated sites will be 
granted on adoption of the Local Plan with the exception of the sites at 
Thornton. These sites will  
only be granted planning permission in the following order: 

(a) on adoption of the plan: Hall Road West, Crosby; Tanhouse Farm + 
Land at Runnells Lane, Thornton; 

(b) when the capacity with planning permission on the above sites falls 

Agenda Item 7

Page 105



has fallen below 80 units for more than 6 months and provided that the 
Thornton – Switch Island Road Link has been constructed: Land at 
Southport Old Road and Holgate, Thornton; and 

(c) when the capacity with planning permission on the sites listed in (a) 
and (b) above falls below 80 units for more than six months and provided 
that the Thornton – Switch Island Road Link has been constructed: Land at 
Lydiate Lane, Thornton. 

If, after 2020, the remaining capacity on sites with planning permission and 
on allocated sites falls below the five year supply, planning permission will 
be granted for the erection of homes included in the following list within any 
settlement if the development of that site would contribute to the delivery of 
any outstanding affordable housing requirement which cannot be met from 
other sources:  

Site
Ref

Location Area 
(ha)

Capacity 

 Land at Woodvale Sidings, Ainsdale 0.53 18 

 Land at Range Farm, Formby 10.79 283 

 Powerhouse site, phase 2, Formby 0.78 20 

Land north of Lambshear Lane, 
Lydiate

31.2 819 

 Land north of Kenyon’s Lane, Lydiate 9.8 257 

 Land south of Melling Lane, Maghull 3.4 89 

SEFTON TOTAL  1486 

If there is an outstanding requirement for affordable housing in Southport, 
the Council will work with West Lancashire Borough Council to secure the 
early delivery of the additional sites and safeguarded land identified in the 
West Lancashire Local Plan on the eastern edge of Southport. 

3. Other development 
With the exception of small-scale and ancillary development, non-
residential uses will only be permitted on these sites in exceptional 
circumstances.

Alternatives 
considered:

The National Planning Policy Framework requires the Council to 
demonstrate how it will meet its identified housing needs in the Local Plan. 
We are running out of sites in the urban area capable of being developed in 
the short term. We have no alternative but to include some sites designated 
as Greenspace in the Unitary Development Plan or located within the 
current Green Belt.

Alternative sites have been considered but discounted, following an 
assessment of the potential sites identified in the draft Green Belt Study. 
This included a discussion with all potential landowners or their 
representatives to find out whether their sites are genuinely available for 
development, whether there is any reason why the sites might not be 
viable, and when they expected to make them available for development. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 106



Explanation: This policy identifies sites allocated for housing development (shown on 
plans which follow this policy).  These are sites which are currently within 
the designated Green Belt and in the urban area.  The allocated sites are 
greater than 1ha in size except for a few sites in the urban area which used 
to be greenspace. 

According to our studies, approximately 50% of the Council’s future 
housing supply (5000 homes) is likely to come from sites in the urban area. 

Summary of housing supply: 
Capacity in the urban area                  5,000 
‘Surplus’ green spaces in urban area    650 
Sites in the Green Belt                        5,700
Total supply:                                    11,350  

This exceeds the requirement figure of 10,700 by 650.  Of these, 
approximately 300 units are expected to be provided after the end of the 
Local Plan period i.e. after 2030.  The remaining 350 provide some 
flexibility incase any of the sites drop out.   

Capacity of sites
The capacity of sites in the Green Belt assumes an average density of 35 
dwellings a hectare, based on the development of 75% of the site. The 
exception to this is Hall Road, Crosby, because of its size and shape. The 
capacity of sites in the urban area is consistent with the figures given in the 
latest housing capacity study (www.sefton.gov.uk/shlaa).   

Sites in the Green Belt
As only about 50% of the supply can be met from sites in the urban area, 
the Council has had to identify additional sites from other sources. 

A large number of Green Belt and Greenspace sites were included in the 
Options Paper as potential housing sites.  The method used to select the 
sites which are included in the Preferred Option is described in Sefton’s 
Green Belt Study. 

Two of the sites, ‘Land East of Maghull’ (Policy SRM1) and ‘Land South of 
Crowland Street’ (Policy SRS1), are also allocated in part for employment 
development. Both are the subject of site-specific policies. 

Once the Plan is adopted, almost all the sites will be allocated for housing 
development immediately. This approach is necessary as we do not 
currently have  a ‘5 year supply’ of ‘deliverable’ sites as we are required to 
have. Most of the sites will be developed over a number of years, while it is 
assumed the site east of Maghull will provide approximately 300 new 
homes after the end of the plan period i.e. 2030. 

The only exception to this is in the Thornton and Crosby area, where there 
is a need to specify the order in which sites are made available for 
development. This is because there is a limit to how many dwellings could 
be built in one area at a given time.  The three sites which are either wholly 
or partial brownfield or not currently used should be developed first. The 
three remaining sites, which are located to the east of Thornton, are also 
dependent on the Thornton- Switch Island link road being completed.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 107



Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(2)   To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where 
possible create new environmental assets that are well-connected to existing 
assets. 
(3)  To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the emphasis on 
improving the quality of place. 
(5) To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the need arises 
(7) To ensure new housing provision meets the diverse needs of a changing 
population, including affordable housing, special needs accommodation and family 
homes 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

Sustainable Growth and Regeneration  

Links to other 
policies:

Meeting Housing Needs, Affordable housing, Design, strategic Site allocations – 
Crowland Street, + Land east of Maghull, Infrastructure and Developer 
Contributions 
Other Local Plan policies which may be most relevant include policy D ‘Design’, 
Policy M ‘Making the Best use of resources’, policy E ‘Energy and Carbon 
Reduction’ and policy FR ‘Flood risk and surface water management’.  For 
example, for the Land adjacent to Our Lady Queen of Peace School, Ford Close, 
Netherton (GS) site, development is subject to appropriate flood risk management 
measures for ordinary watercourses, surface water and groundwater which may 
include sustainable drainage systems.    

Policy 
Context: 

NPPF paragraphs 156 + 157 

Agenda Item 7

Page 108



 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 109



 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 110



 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 111



 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 112



 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 113



 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 114



 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 115



 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 116



 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 117



 

Agenda Item 7

Page 118



Policy Title: SR5 Employment Requirement and Strategic Employment Locations 

Policy Text: The Local Plan seeks to meet the development needs of businesses in 
Sefton. New employment development will be delivered on the following 
types of land: 

a) Strategic Employment Sites 

b) Allocated Employment Sites 

c) Land within Primarily Industrial Areas 

d) Other suitable sites in Sefton 

Strategic Employment Sites

The Local Plan identifies five Strategic Employment Locations: 

 Southport Business Park and its Extension – 19.2 ha 
This site is suitable for offices, research and development, and light industrial 
uses that are compatible with an office park environment. 

 Three sites along the Dunnings Bridge Road Corridor, Netherton 
(Senate Business Park, Atlantic Business Park, and the Former 
Peerless Refinery Site) – 38.7 ha 
These sites are suitable for a mix of economic uses. 

 Land to the East of Maghull close to junction 1 of the M58 (circa 25 
ha)
This site is suitable for a mix of economic uses, subject to the ‘Strategic 
Allocation: Land East of Maghull’ policy. 

 Land to the North of Formby Industrial Estate (13.8 ha) 
This site is suitable for offices, research and development, and light industrial 
uses that are compatible with an office park environment, subject to the 
‘Strategic Allocation: Extension of Formby Industrial Estate’ policy. 

 Part of land to the South of Crowland Street, Southport (minimum 
of 7.5 ha) 
This site is suitable for a mix of economic uses, subject to the ‘Strategic 
Allocation: Land South of Crowland Street’ policy. 

Development of these sites will be expected to deliver a high quality 
business environment. In particular, new development should deliver high 
job outputs, be well designed, incorporating attractive landscaping and 
frontages onto main roads, and minimise impacts on adjacent occupiers.  

Retail and leisure development will only be permitted on these sites where 
this is small scale, and intended to predominantly serve nearby businesses. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

The five Strategic Employment Locations could feasibly have been included 
as employment allocations (within the Primarily Industrial Areas and 
Allocations’ policy). This would have given these sites the same status as the 
smaller, less prominent, employment allocations. 

A separate ‘Strategic Employment Sites’ designation is proposed because 
the five ‘Strategic Locations’ are the largest and most prominent employment 

Agenda Item 7

Page 119



sites in the Borough. Accordingly, the type and quality of development, and 
job outputs, achieved on these sites is expected to be higher than that on 
smaller, less prominent sites. 

The three sites that have been identified for potential removal from Green 
Belt have been identified through the Council’s Green Belt Study. This Study 
looked at the feasibility of identifying alternative sites and concluded that the 
three sites were the most appropriate to release. 

Explanation
:

The five Strategic Employment Locations are the largest and most prominent 
employment allocations in the Borough. These sites will be the focus for new 
large-scale, high quality employment development during the Plan period. It 
is envisaged that the development of these sites will support the creation of a 
significant number of new jobs. 

The Southport Business Park and its extension will be the main location for 
major new B1 Office and light industrial development outside of Southport 
Town Centre.

The Dunnings Bridge Road Corridor incorporates three sites. These are 
Atlantic Park (19.5 hectares), Senate Business Park (13.5 hectares), and the 
former Peerless Refinery Site (5.7 hectares). These sites are suitable for a 
mix of economic uses. The creation of a high quality frontage onto Dunnings 
Bridge Road will also be a priority. 

The other three Strategic Employment Locations are on land that is 
proposed to be removed from Green Belt. The precise location and extent of 
the employment provision at ‘Land to the East of Maghull’, and ‘Land South 
of Crowland Street’, Southport, has yet to be finalised as these sites will 
contain a mixture of both housing and employment uses. At Land East of 
Maghull, the new business park will be located towards the north east corner 
of the site. At Land South of Crowland Street, the employment land will be 
located to the west of the site. 

The Strategic Employment Location to the north of the current Formby 
Industrial Estate should be developed in accordance with the relevant 
Strategic Allocation policy  

Relevant 
Plan
Objectives: 

(1)To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton. 

(3) To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the needs arise. 

(6) To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local 
character and historic assets and minimises impact on its surroundings.  

(10) Improve access to services, facilities and jobs without having to depend on the 
car. 

(12)To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based economy in 
terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and support new and existing 
businesses. 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 
P1 People and Places  

Agenda Item 7

Page 120



Links to 
other
policies:

SRF1 Strategic allocation: Extension of Formby Industrial Estate 
SRM1 Strategic allocation - Land east of Maghull 
SRS1 Strategic allocation – Crowland Street, Southport 
SR5A Primarily Industrial Areas and Allocations 

Policy 
Context: 

NPPF

Agenda Item 7

Page 121



Agenda Item 7

Page 122



Agenda Item 7

Page 123



Agenda Item 7

Page 124



Agenda Item 7

Page 125



Agenda Item 7

Page 126



Agenda Item 7

Page 127



Agenda Item 7

Page 128



Policy Title: SR5A     Primarily Industrial Areas and Employment 
Allocations

Policy Text: The Primarily Industrial Areas identified on the Proposals Map are 
suitable for the following types of development: 

  Office and light industrial uses 

  General Industrial uses 

  Storage and distribution uses 

Other uses will be permitted where these provide good 
employment outputs and are compatible with the character and 
function of the area and with adjacent uses. 

Mixed use schemes may be permitted where they enable the 
development of the majority of the site for the uses above or other 
appropriate uses, provide good employment outputs, and are 
compatible with the character and function of the area and with 
adjacent uses.  

Retail and housing uses will generally not be permitted within 
Primarily Industrial Areas, unless exceptional circumstances can 
be demonstrated. 

Improvement of Primarily Industrial Areas

Development within the Primarily Industrial Areas, other than 
minor alterations to existing premises, will only be permitted: 

a) Where the proposal does not harm the amenity of any 
nearby residential areas; and 

b) Where, if the opportunity arises, the proposal helps to 
improve the general environment of the area 

Allocations

Within the identified Primarily Industrial Areas, the following sites 
are allocated for development:  

Site
Ref 

Location Area 
(ha) 

 Switch Car Site, Wakefield Road, Netherton 4.7 

 Land at Trinity Park, Orrell Lane, Bootle 2.8 

 Former Sewage Works, Sefton Lane, Maghull 1.4 

 Former Playing fields, Heysham Road, Bootle 1.1 

Rear of Atlantic Industrial Estate, Bridle Road, 
Netherton

1

 Linacre Bridge, Linacre Lane, Bootle  1 

 Former Lanstar Site, Hawthorne Road, Bootle 1 

 Land at Farriers Way, Netherton 0.5 

 Land North of Slaidburn Crescent, Southport 0.25 

In addition, the redevelopment and remodelling of other land within 

Agenda Item 7

Page 129



Primarily Industrial Areas (for the uses set out above) will be 
supported. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

There is no realistic alternative to this policy.  

Whilst the policy is more permissive than the 2006 Unitary 
Development Plan (which restricted development in PIAs to B1, 
B2, and B8 uses only), this would no longer be appropriate post-
NPPF, and in the context of the current economic downturn. 
Conversely, a less restrictive approach that allowed residential and 
retail development could undermine the availability of land and 
premises for businesses in the Borough. 

Explanation: The Primarily Industrial Areas comprise the main established 
industrial estates and business parks in the Borough. New B1, B2, 
B8 and appropriate sui generis uses are acceptable in principle in 
these areas, subject to other Local Plan policies. 

The provision of other economic development uses will be 
considered where these are compatible with an industrial estate / 
business park environment, and provide good job outputs. Such 
proposals will be considered on their merits. 

Sefton has the smallest amount of employment land of all the 
Merseyside authorities, despite having a significantly higher 
population than some of these authorities. In this context, and in 
light of the findings of the 2012 Employment Land & Premises 
Study, the Council will seek to retain the Primarily Industrial Areas 
for business investment and growth. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(1) To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 

(5) To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as 
far as possible close to where the needs arise 

(12) To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based 
economy in terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and 
support new and existing businesses 

Relevant Strategic 
Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable growth and regeneration 

Links to other policies: SR5 Employment Requirement and Strategic Employment Sites  
SR6 Regeneration 
PD1 Design 

Policy Context: e.g.
NPPF paragraph; gov 
guidance; Council/partner 
plans 

NPPF

Agenda Item 7

Page 130



Policy Title: SR6 Regeneration

Policy Text: The Council’s priorities for regeneration are identified below. 
Development proposals that support the Council’s regeneration 
objectives will be permitted.

Regeneration of Centres

The regeneration of Sefton’s Town Centres is a Council priority. The 
following centres are identified as opportunities for remodelling and 
regeneration:

1. Southport Town Centre and Seafront 
The regeneration and redevelopment of Southport Town Centre and 
Seafront consistent with Policies SRS2 and SRS3.

2. Crosby and Maghull District Centres
Crosby and Maghull District Centres are identified as opportunities for 
remodelling and regeneration that provides modern, high quality, town 
centre floor space, consistent with Policy SR8 ‘Centres and Parades’. 
Supplementary guidance will be prepared to guide redevelopment 
proposals at both of these centres.

3. Seaforth
Proposals in the centre of Seaforth, as shown on the plan, that support 
the following regeneration objectives will be permitted: 

a) the consolidation of the existing retail area, or the introduction of 
complementary and supporting uses

b) the redevelopment and positive re-use of vacant and / or derelict 
land and buildings

c) the environmental enhancement of the area

Regeneration in Bootle

The Council is committed to the regeneration of Bootle, including the 
redevelopment of derelict and vacant land.

The following sites shown on the (as shown on the plan) are allocated 
as Regeneration Opportunity Sites:

1. 495 – 509 Hawthorne Road, Bootle – 5.2 hectares; and

2. Peoples Site, Hawthorne Road / Linacre Lane, Bootle – 7.0 
hectares.

The above sites are suitable for housing development. Partial, small-
scale, development for other uses will be permitted where this does not 
prevent the development of the remainder of the site for housing, and 
where the proposed uses are compatible with a residential environment.  
Development proposals that would make it difficult to provide housing  
on these sites in the long term will only be permitted in exceptional 
circumstances, where substantial regeneration benefits are provided.

Agenda Item 7

Page 131



3. Former Gasworks Site, Marsh Lane, Bootle – 6.3 ha
The redevelopment of this site for appropriate uses will be permitted 
where it can be demonstrated that:

a) the proposed use is compatible with a residential area; and

b) the proposed use is compatible with the Council’s regeneration 
objectives for the area; and

c) any partial redevelopment would not make it more difficult to  
develop the remainder of the site.

Planning conditions or legal agreements may be used to ensure that the 
development of these sites contributes to the regeneration of the wider 
area.

Regeneration of Employment Areas

The following Employment Areas are identified as opportunities for 
significant remodelling and regeneration:

1. Dunnings Bridge Road Corridor, Netherton
The Dunnings Bridge Road Corridor will be the focus for major new 
employment investment in South Sefton. The regeneration priorities for 
this area are:

a) The remodelling of the Heysham Road Industrial Estate to provide 
modern employment premises and environmental enhancements

b) The development of the 3 Strategic Employment Sites within the 
Corridor, in line with Local Plan policy SR5

c) The delivery of high job outputs on development sites, and high 
quality landscaped frontages onto Dunnings Bridge Road itself

2. Bootle Office Quarter
The regeneration priorities for the Bootle Office Quarter are:

a) The refurbishment, re-use, or redevelopment of office blocks for 
appropriate new uses, consistent with Policy SR9

b) The redevelopment of vacant and under-used land for 
appropriate uses, consistent with Policy SR9

c) The development of new buildings of an appropriate scale and 
mass on the Stanley Road frontage.

Alternatives
Considered:

There are no realistic alternatives, as this policy is required in order to 
support the Council’s regeneration objectives in Sefton. 

Explanation: This Policy is intended to support the Council’s regeneration priorities for 
the Borough. It covers three key areas: regeneration of centres, 
regeneration in Bootle, and regeneration of employment areas.

Regeneration of Centres
The four centres identified in this policy are those which have the 
greatest scope for regeneration and remodelling within Sefton. Whilst 
the regeneration of other centres within the Borough will also be 
encouraged and supported, Southport, Crosby, Maghull, and Seaforth 
each contain opportunities for the complete remodelling of areas within 
the centre.

Southport Seafront contains a major development opportunity at Marine 
Drive to redevelop 16.4 ha of land for a major tourism development. The 
restoration of Kings Gardens is well underway. Southport Seafront is 
subject to Policy SRS3, as well as the wider Southport Central Area 
policy SRS2.

Agenda Item 7

Page 132



Maghull and Crosby District Centres would benefit from regeneration 
and selective redevelopment of out-dated premises. Both of these 
policies are subject to Policy SR8. Further guidance will be published to 
guide future development within these centres.

Central Seaforth was designated as a Local Centre in the 2006 UDP, 
and it currently experiences high levels of vacancy. There are also 
significant areas of vacant / derelict land on the periphery of the retail 
area. New uses that complement and help to consolidate the retail area 
will be acceptable in principle. In addition, the redevelopment of 
vacant/derelict land and buildings for appropriate uses will also be 
encouraged. The area would also benefit from environmental 
improvements.

Regeneration in Bootle
Bootle contains the highest concentrations of deprivation in Sefton, and 
has long been the focus for physical regeneration in the Borough. Whilst 
the former ‘Housing Market Renewal’ programme has been discontinued 
by the Government, the Council still intends to secure the regeneration 
of these areas. This includes securing the positive redevelopment of the 
remaining brownfield sites that were allocated as part of the Housing 
Market Renewal initiative, many of which are vacant or derelict, or 
whose current use is incompatible with the residential character of the 
area. The Council is already committed to channelling New Homes 
Bonus monies to promote regeneration, and will continue to seek 
funding from all available sources.

The Council’s regeneration objectives for Bootle are described in the 
following Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) and 
Supplementary Planning Guidance notes (SPGs):

 Klondyke SPG

 Peel-Knowsley and Linacre SPD

 Coffee House Bridge SPD

These documents will be updated and replaced over time.

The three identified Regeneration Opportunity Sites are large, mostly 
vacant or derelict sites that would benefit from positive redevelopment. 
All of these sites are known to suffer from varying degrees of 
contamination, and their redevelopment would be likely to require public 
sector ‘gap funding’. 

495-509 Hawthorne Road was previously allocated for housing in the 
2006 Unitary Development Plan. It forms the remaining part of the 
‘Hawthorne Road canal corridor’ which has now been largely 
redeveloped for housing. It is currently occupied by a mixture of 
employment uses and derelict land. It is suitable for housing 
development in principle. New greenspace should be provided alongside 
the canal as part of any comprehensive redevelopment.

The majority of the Peoples Site is Council owned, with the southern 
extremity in private ownership. The northern part of the site is cleared, 
and a Council depot is located in the centre of the site. The southern, 
privately owned part of the site is currently occupied by a mixture of 
commercial uses. The site would be suitable for housing development in 
principle.

Agenda Item 7

Page 133



The Gasworks Site was allocated as an ‘Opportunity Site’ in the 2006 
Unitary Development Plan. The site is known to be heavily contaminated 
and is the only site in Sefton to be listed under part 2a of the 
Environmental Protection Act. Given the significant constraints that 
apply to this site, the policy is intended to be flexible and encourage the 
redevelopment of the site. 

Regeneration of Employment Areas
Two employment areas within South Sefton are identified as 
opportunities for significant remodelling and regeneration - the Dunnings 
Bridge Road Corridor and the Bootle Office Quarter.

The Dunnings Bridge Road Corridor incorporates the Heysham Road 
Industrial Estate, the Bridle Road Industrial Estate, the industrial 
premises on the north-western side of Dunnings Bridge Road, and the 
three Strategic Sites identified in Policy SR5. Collectively, this area 
represents the biggest opportunity to provide large-scale and high 
quality modern employment development in an area of high 
unemployment.

Over the course of the Local Plan, a new role needs to be ound for the 
Bootle Office Quarter. The Office Quarter was constructed mostly in the 
1960s and has largely functioned as a public sector office complex ever 
since. Some of the office blocks are now dated, and the demand from 
public sector occupiers is likely to continue to contract. Some office 
blocks will need to be converted to or redeveloped for other uses. In 
addition, there are a number of vacant sites that could be developed for 
modern premises. The Bootle Office Quarter is part of the wider Central 
Bootle ‘Mixed Use Area’ - Policy SR9 sets out the uses which are 
appropriate within the Office Quarter.

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(1) To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 
(4) To manage the effects of climate change, to encourage best use of 
resources and assets, land and buildings, and to reduce Sefton’s carbon 
footprint 
(5) To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the needs arise 
(6) To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local 
character and historic assets and minimises impact on its surroundings 
(10) Improve access to services, facilities and jobs without having to depend on 
the car 
(11) To support Sefton’s town and local centres so they are able to adapt to 
local and wider needs for shopping, leisure, culture and other services, which 
contribute to making centres more viable 
(12) To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based economy in 
terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and support new and 
existing businesses 
(13) To maximise the value of the Port to the local economy and jobs, while 
making sure that the impact on the environment and local communities is 
mitigated.

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 

Links to other 
policies:

SR3 Housing requirement 
SR5 Employment requirement and strategic employment locations 
SR9 Mixed use areas 

Policy Context: NPPF
North Liverpool and South Sefton Regeneration Framework 

Agenda Item 7

Page 134



Agenda Item 7

Page 135



Agenda Item 7

Page 136



Agenda Item 7

Page 137



Agenda Item 7

Page 138



Agenda Item 7

Page 139



Agenda Item 7

Page 140



Policy Title: SR7     Infrastructure and Developer Contributions  

Policy Text: 1. Through development proposals, social, green and physical 
infrastructure will be protected, enhanced and provided to support 
sustainable communities by: 

  Protecting existing facilities from loss where there is an identified 
need;

  Providing sites for infrastructure where there is an identified need; 

  Making sure that infrastructure is provided in sustainable locations; 

  Working with a range of partners to make sure that infrastructure is 
provided in the right location and the right time; 

2. Developer contributions may also be sought in appropriate locations to 
assist with urban regeneration. 

3. Where appropriate, developers contributions will be sought to enhance 
and provide infrastructure along with new developments. This may be 
secured as a planning obligation through a Section 106 agreement, 
where the development would otherwise be unacceptable, through the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) or through other agreements. 

4. Where appropriate, the Council will require developers to provide the 
necessary infrastructure themselves as part of their development 
proposals, rather than making financial contributions in lieu of 
provision.

5. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan sets out the infrastructure required for 
the strategy set out in this Local Plan to be met. 

6. Where appropriate the impact on the viability of development proposals 
in providing infrastructure, or contributions for infrastructure, will be 
considered. 

Explanation: Infrastructure is the range of physical, social and green services, facilities 
and structures that is needed for the running of places and society. Types 
of physical infrastructure include roads, rail, sewers, homes and 
telecommunications. Social infrastructure includes schools, health facilities, 
shops and community facilities. Green infrastructure can include parks, 
trees, canals and rivers, allotments and the coast. 

New development can place a strain on existing infrastructure. Often the 
perception of local residents is that their area is lacking in a range of 
infrastructure and services and would struggle to accommodate further 
development. However, new development has the potential not only to 
secure new infrastructure, but also to improve existing infrastructure and 
services and to support infrastructure and services that may be in danger 
of closure. 

Infrastructure is also crucial to Sefton's long-term economic growth and 
social well-being. It helps to create places where people want to live, work 
and thrive. The quality, location and capacity of our infrastructure impacts 
on decisions and investment. While inadequate infrastructure can restrict 
growth, high-quality infrastructure can unlock development and boost 

Agenda Item 7

Page 141



private sector investment. 

Good infrastructure planning is therefore a critical aspect of development 
planning. Working with partners, including both public and private 
infrastructure providers, local people and developers is critical in ensuring 
that the right infrastructure is provided in the right location at the right time. 

An Infrastructure Delivery Plan will be published to support the Local Plan. 
This will set out the types of infrastructure that will be needed during the 
plan period, how much this will cost and the expected source of funding. It 
is envisaged that this delivery plan will be updated regularly. The 
infrastructure types that are likely to be required to support the Local Plan 
strategy include, but is not restricted to: 

  Transport improvements (see policy SR10 - Transport) 

  Public open space and other green infrastructure (including trees) 

  Additional school places 

  Water supply and sewers 

  Reducing the risk of flooding 

  Community facilities 

  Improvement of heritage assets 

A proportion of any contributions secured through the Community 
Infrastructure Levy will be given directly to local neighbourhoods. They will 
be able to set their own priorities for how they spend this money in their 
local area. 

We would expect that some of the additional and improved infrastructure 
will be provided through the development process and be secured by 
appropriate legal agreements. This may be provided on site by the 
developer, secured by planning agreement or through the Community 
Infrastructure Levy.  Additionally, policy CC3 - Energy and Carbon 
Reduction refers to the scope for compensatory provision, including 
financial  contributions, in lieu of meeting energy standards and targets, 
within the context of the Government’s emerging ‘Allowable Solutions’ 
framework or the Council’s approved energy strategies.   

 In late 2013/early 2014 we will undertake a viability assessment of the 
proposals contained in this plan. The purpose of this is to assess whether 
there is the scope to implement a Community Infrastructure Levy charging 
schedule in the borough, and if so, at what rate this should be set. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

1. To  support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 
3. To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the emphasis on 

improving the quality of place. 
5. To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 

possible close to where the needs arise. 
9.  To make sure that new developments include the essential infrastructure, 

services and facilities that it requires. 
10. To access to services, facilities and jobs without having to depend on the car. 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth & Regeneration 

Links to other 
policies:

Access and facilities 
Green infrastructure  

Policy Context: NPPF sections 4 and 5; paragraph 162 

Agenda Item 7

Page 142



Policy Title: SR8 Development in Town Centres,  District Centres and Local 
Centres and Local Shopping Parades 

Policy Text: Retail, leisure and other complimentary/town centre uses will be directed 
towards the Borough's existing centres in accordance with the following 
hierarchy:

TOWN CENTRES - Bootle and Southport. 
DISTRICT CENTRES - Crosby, Formby, Maghull and Waterloo. 
LOCAL CENTRES - Ainsdale, Birkdale, Churchtown, Netherton and Old 
Roan

Planning permission will be granted for development which is 
appropriate to the role and function of each centre. 

Where proposed outside of the defined town, district and local centres, 
all retail, leisure and other town centre uses will be subject to a 
sequential approach to development.  In addition, all proposed retail, 
leisure and other town centre uses should demonstrate: 

  that it would not prejudice the delivery of committed and planned 

public and private investment within any existing defined centre; 

and

  that no significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of 

any existing centre will arise from the proposed development. 

For retail, leisure and other town centre uses proposed outside of 
existing defined centres, impact assessments will be required to 
accompany planning applications based on the following floorspace 
thresholds at the following locations: 

  outside of the primary shopping areas of Bootle and Southport, 

an impact assessment will be required for development which 

proposes more than 500m2 gross floorspace or more; 

  within 800 metres of the boundaries of the district centres, an 

impact assessment will be required for development which 

proposes more than 300m2 gross floorspace; and 

  within 800 metres of the boundaries of the local centres, an 

impact assessment will be required for development which 

proposes more than 200m2 gross floorspace. 

In the event that more than one of the above criteria apply, the lower 
impact threshold will take precedence. 

Changes of use from A1 retail to other uses within primary retail areas 
[to be defined] will be carefully considered in terms of the impact on the 
retail function, character, and vitality and viability of the centre as a 
whole.  However, a flexible approach will be taken in relation to such 
proposals, particularly beyond the primary retail area, where it would 
lead to a vacant unit being brought back into active use, provided that 
the primary retail function of the centre as a whole is not undermined.     

Agenda Item 7

Page 143



Bootle and Southport Centres will be defined as Town Centres 

Bootle Town Centre 

Bootle Town Centre, as shown on the Proposals Map, will be the main 
focus for local convenience and comparison retail development in the 
south of Sefton. 

New retail development will be permitted providing that it is located 
within the defined Town Centre. However, if no suitable site or sites exist 
within the Town Centre, suitable edge of centre sites will be considered, 
or failing this accessible locations that are well connected with the town 
centre. 

Proposals for non retail uses, including offices (Class A2), food and 
drink (Class A3) uses and other uses compatible with a town centre use 
will be permitted providing that: 

(i) the overall retail function of Bootle Town Centre  would not 
be undermined

(ii)  the use would make a positive contribution to the overall the 
vitality and viability of Bootle Town Centre; and  

(iii) it  would  not result in an unacceptable cluster of non-retail 
uses  

 Southport Town Centre     

Southport Town Centre will be the main focus for local comparison and 
convenience retail development, cultural, education, office and for 
leisure development in North Sefton. 

New retail development will be permitted providing that it is located 
within the defined Town Centre as shown on the Proposals Map. 
However, if no suitable site or sites exist within the Town Centre, 
suitable edge of centre sites will be considered, or failing this accessible 
locations that are well connected with the town centre. 

Proposals for non retail uses, including offices (Class A2), food and 
drink (Class A3) uses and other uses compatible with a town centre use 
will be permitted providing that: 

(i) the overall retail function of Southport Town Centre  would 
not be undermined   

(ii)  the use would make a positive contribution to the overall the 
vitality and viability of Southport Town Centre  

(iii) it  would not result in an unacceptable cluster of non retail 
uses; and 

(iv)  It would be of a high quality design such that it would make a 
positive contribution to the character of Southport Town 
Centre, both in relation to adjacent properties and the wider 

Agenda Item 7

Page 144



street scene    

Development in District and Local Centres

The following will be defined  as District Centres: 

Waterloo
Crosby  
Maghull
Formby

The following will be defined as Local Centres 

Ainsdale 
Birkdale 
Churchtown
Old Roan 
Netherton

The District and Local Centres will remain the main focus for retail 
development to serve local needs. New retail development should 
preferably be promoted within the Primary Shopping Area to support the 
centres’ continued vitality and viability. However , other development 
(including change of use) will be permitted provided that: 

(i) the overall function of the Centres would not be 

undermined

(ii) the use would  contribute positively to  the overall vitality 

and viability of the Centre 

(iii) the proposal is appropriate to the scale, role and function 

of the Centre; and 

(iv) the development presents no adverse impacts on other 

surrounding/neighbouring uses. 

In District Centres small scale new retail development should preferably 
be located in within the Primary Retail Areas as shown in figure xx.
Other uses will be considered on their merits where they contribute 
positively to the overall vitality an viability of the centre

With specific regard to the District Centres of Crosby and Maghull, a 
more significant scale of retail redevelopment will be supported where it 
satisfies (i) to (iv) above and where it contributes positively to the 
delivery of modern, vibrant and competitive retail centres.  In this regard, 
should remodelling of either or both District Centres be required, it will 
need to be undertaken in a sensitive manner, be of a high quality of 
design, should positively enhance the centre as a whole,  and contribute 
positively to achieving townscape improvements and local regeneration 
outcomes.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 145



Local Shopping Parades 

Proposals for appropriate uses within local shopping parades (typically 
small groups of shops of four or more retail units in any six units) will be 
permitted  provided that: 

(a) they  bring back into beneficial use  a property including 

appropriate non retail  uses  which would otherwise be vacant or 

is in a poor physical condition;  

(b) they do not harm the overall provision of facilities in the local 

area or the appearance of the local shopping parade; and    

(c) the development presents no adverse impact on the amenity of 

surrounding/neighbouring uses. 

In this regard there is a recognition that the role and function of some 
shopping parades will need to change over time and this may mean that 
complimentary uses will need to be encouraged either for individual 
retail units or, exceptionally of for whole shopping parades.   

Explanation: The current economic climate is challenging and the economic future is 
uncertain. The future growth in retail expenditure for both convenience 
and comparison goods at the national level is predicted to be 
significantly weaker during the next decade than was experienced 
during the past decade.  Linked to this it is predicted that at the national 
level  town centre footfall will continue to fall, or at best remain broadly 
as it is currently. Furthermore, the most recent economic evidence 
supports the view that in overall terms customers may have less 
disposable incomes (or at best the same), which may, in turn,  lead to a 
greater desire/need for price conscious retailing. Linked to this there is a 
clear expectation that the UK on-line retail sector, embracing internet 
shopping, will continue to grow and this is likely to mean that some town 
centre retailers will increasingly need to offer customers a range of 
options, including buying on-line and “click and collect” services, 
whereby products can be purchased on-line but picked up from town 
centres stores. 

Given the above, town centres will  need to embrace these challenges if 
they are to remain  vital and viable and this will require a flexible 
approach to the interpretation of town centre policies and strategies and 
the uses which take place within them. The historical function of  town 
centres being  primarily for retailing will  continue but it will increasingly 
be necessary for town centres such as Bootle and Southport to  be 
supported by complementary non retail uses, including offices, food and 
drink uses and  other uses compatible with the role and function of these 
centres. That noted, changes of use from A1 retail to other uses within 
primary retail areas will need to be carefully considered in terms of the 
impact on retail function, character  and vitality and viability of the centre 
as a whole.    

The Retail Strategy Review (RSR) undertaken for Sefton in 2012 
concluded that in the period to 2016 there was additional convenience 
capacity to support a large sized foodstore of approximately 4,000 sq m 
net in north Sefton. Given the majority of this need is in Southport, it 
would be sensible to identify additional sites in or around Southport 

Agenda Item 7

Page 146



Town Centre, or failing this within the wider Southport area. In terms of 
comparison expenditure up to the period to 2021 existing capacity 
should meet need, although post 2021 there likely be a need for some 
additional comparison provision.  

In terms of south Sefton and Bootle the RSR forecasts indicate that the 
need for additional convenience floorspace will be of a limited scale and 
should be able to be met by expanding and improving capacity in 
existing retail centres, including Bootle Town Centre, where 
opportunities arise.  In terms of comparison  expenditure the RSR 
forecasts that there will be no significant need up to 2021, but there will 
be a need post 2021, which will increase as we move forward to 2031.  

Clearly these RSR forecasts will need to be kept under regular review 
and importantly forecasts over the medium to longer term need to be 
treated with a considerable degree of caution given the inherent 
uncertainties in predicting how the economy will perform over time,  but 
as matters stand at present the only significant short to medium term 
need is for further convenience capacity to be identified in Southport.  

Notwithstanding this, the ability of Southport town centre to adapt to the 
challenging retail environment, will be critical to its ability to attract 
significant visitor spending.  

Notwithstanding the above, and whilst the most recent forecasts of 
comparison floorspace expenditure and requirements, indicates no 
significant need for comparison floorspace up to 2021, this does not 
mean that additional comparison floorspace would not be supported in 
Southport Town Centre, and particularly where it would Southport’s 
market share or reuse or recycle existing floorspace. 

In terms of the district and local centres they will also face challenges 
and they too will require the application of a flexible approach to the 
interpretation of relevant policies if they are to maintain their vitality and 
viability. In this regard, other uses will uses will be considered positively 
where they contribute to the overall vitality and viability of a centre. 

Furthermore, shopping parades (defined at as groupings of four or more 
consecutive retail   units or four retail units in any six units), will in the 
main, perform a continued local convenience function.  However, they 
have no protection under NPPF advice.  

Acknowledging the findings of the recent shopping parades assessment 
for Sefton, whilst the majority of the parades are performing well, there is 
still a significant proportion of parades that are vulnerable and 
performing poorly. The challenge will be to ensure that those parades 
that perform well will continue to do so in the future and those 
performing less well will be supported in improving or, if this is not 
possible, in achieving acceptable complimentary uses. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

1. To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 
3. To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the emphasis 
on improving the quality of place.  
5. To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the needs arise. 
11. To support Sefton’s town and local centres so they are able to adapt to local 

Agenda Item 7

Page 147



and wider needs for shopping, leisure, culture and other services, and develop 
a more flexible role.

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 
P1 People and Places 

Links to other 
policies:

SRS2 Southport Central Area 
PH1 Health and Wellbeing 
PH2 Food and Drink uses 
PC1 Access and Facilities 
PC4 Community Facilities 

Policy Context: NPPF advice and especially paras 23 to 27. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 148



Agenda Item 7

Page 149



Agenda Item 7

Page 150



Agenda Item 7

Page 151



Agenda Item 7

Page 152



Agenda Item 7

Page 153



Agenda Item 7

Page 154



Agenda Item 7

Page 155



Agenda Item 7

Page 156



Agenda Item 7

Page 157



Agenda Item 7

Page 158



Agenda Item 7

Page 159



Agenda Item 7

Page 160



Policy Title: SR9 Mixed Use Areas 

Policy Text: 1. The Mixed Use Areas listed below are suitable for the following 
types of development: office and light industrial, health and 
educational uses, leisure and recreation, civic and community 
facilities, and other uses that compliment the character of the area. 

a) Bootle Central Area 
b) Land at Crosby Road North, Waterloo 
c) Land at Copy Lane, Netherton 
d) Land to the West of Ormskirk Road, Aintree 
e) Switch Island, Aintree 
f) Land at Hawthorne Road / Church Road, Bootle 

2. Retail development will only be permitted where it is small scale, or 
where the proposed development meets the criteria set out in Policy 
Development in town centres, district centres and local centres and 
local shopping parades’. 

3. Residential development will only be permitted where an acceptable 
residential environment that ensures the amenity of future occupiers 
can be achieved. This should have regard to any adjacent non-
residential uses. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

There are no realistic alternatives. The land identified as ‘Mixed Use 
Areas’ do not fit neatly into any alternative category and they incorporate 
a variety of uses. A significant part of the Bootle Central Area was 
previously allocated in the 2006 Unitary Development Plan as the Bootle 
Office Quarter, which restricted development to Office uses. This is no 
longer considered realistic given the subsequent public sector 
retrenchment and the associated reduction in demand for offices in 
Bootle.

Explanation: The identified mixed use areas already contain a variety of uses, and do 
not fit neatly into any alternative Local Plan designation. Four of the six 
areas were identified as Mixed use Areas in the 2006 Unitary 
Development Plan and this has worked well in facilitating appropriate 
development in these areas. 

The Bootle Central Area, not previously a Mixed Use Area, has been 
included now in recognition that the demand for office development in 
this area will likely contract. The flexibility that a Mixed Use Area 
designation brings will facilitate the development of new, complimentary 
uses, into the Office Quarter and wider Central Area. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(1) To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 
(5) To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the needs arise 
(12) To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based economy in 
terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and support new and 
existing businesses 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 

Links to other 
policies:

SR6 Regeneration 

Policy Context: NPPF

Agenda Item 7

Page 161



Agenda Item 7

Page 162



Agenda Item 7

Page 163



Agenda Item 7

Page 164



SR9 Copy Lane Netherton 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 165



 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 166



Agenda Item 7

Page 167



 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 168



Policy Title: SR10     Transport  

Policy Text: 1. The Council’s priorities for the transport network in Sefton during the 
plan period include: 

  Completion of the A5758 Brooms Cross Road [i.e. Thornton to 
Switch Island Link] 

  Improved access to the Port of Liverpool by a range of transport 
types

  Protection of the freight distribution network 

  A new train station and park and ride facilities at Maghull North  

  Development or extension of park and ride facilities at Hall 
Road, Seaforth & Litherland and Waterloo rail stations 

  The provision of interchange facilities in Southport, Crosby and 
Maghull centres. 

  Improved parking facilities in Bootle, Southport, Crosby and 
Maghull centres. 

  Upgrading of the motorway access at Junction 1 on the M58 

  Traffic management improvements to the A565 and A5036 

  Improved access to Southport from the east [A570 corridor] 

  Maintaining, improving and extending the walking and cycling 
network

  Better connecting new and existing neighbourhoods with the 
public transport network 

  Safeguarding the rail link between Bootle New Strand and 
Aintree rail station [i.e. the Aintree Curve] 

2. Transport Assessments will be required for: 

  all major development, as set out in the table below;  

  proposals which are likely to have a significant harmful effect on 
road safety, access or road capacity; or 

  proposals which are likely to significantly increase pollution 

3. Access onto the Primary Route Network will be restricted as follows: 

  direct access onto the Highways Agency’s motorways and 
strategic core trunk road network will not be permitted; 

  access onto the remainder of the Highways Agency’s trunk road 
network, whether indirectly (by way of an existing access) or 
directly (via a newly built one) will be assessed against the 
development’s impact on the trunk road network from 15 years 
of the occupation of the development. 

Where development is permitted, contributions may be sought for 
any mitigation which is necessary to make sure the trunk road 
network runs safely and efficiently; and 

Direct access onto the remainder of the primary route network will 
only be permitted if it does not restrict the capacity of the road or its 
intended purpose. Any junction or capacity improvements shall be 
completed before the occupation of the relevant development. 

In all cases, direct access on to the primary route network will not be 

permitted where a reasonable alternative exists.

Agenda Item 7

Page 169



Explanation: This policy identifies the Council’s current priorities for new and improved 
transport infrastructure. They are based on the Third Merseyside Local 
Transport Plan [LTP3] and will contribute to it being implemented. Where 
appropriate these transport priorities are also identified within the Council’s 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 

The Thornton to Switch Island Link Road has recently been approved and 
construction is expected to commence in late 2013. Once completed it will 
become the A5758 Broom's Cross Road. 

The Port of Liverpool at Seaforth is planned to significantly increase its 
capacity and this will have implications for the amount of freight that comes 
and goes. A recent Port Access Study set out that the potential of moving 
freight by rail will be maximised but that increased road capacity will still be 
required. It is likely that during the Local Plan period further work will be 
required to increase road capacity to the port. 

A number of our proposed development sites are currently in the Green 
Belt. As such they do not currently have good access to the public transport 
network. Individual development briefs for sites will look at ways this can be 
improved. Transport improvements at the land East of Maghull are covered 
in Policy SRM10. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

1. 2 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

SR2 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 

Links to other 
policies:

PC1 Access and Facilities 
SR7 Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
SRM1 Land East of Maghull 
PD1 Design 

Policy 
Context: 

Section 4 NPPF 
LTP3 
Transport Modelling Option Testing [MottMacDonald , 2013] 

Thresholds for Transport Assessments and Travel Plans 

Land Use Threshold 

Food retail/ non-food retail/ cinema and conference facilities/ clad D2 
including leisure 

1000m2

Class B1 including offices/ hospitals/ higher and further education 2500m2

Stadia 1500 seats 

Class B2 industry 5000m2

Class B8 distribution and warehousing 10000m2

Housing development 100 homes 

Development proposals which impact on the primary route network 

Agenda Item 7

Page 170



Southport area 

Southport is the one of the North West’s main coastal resorts   its Seafront, recent growth in 

green tourism, and Lord Street shopping area are crucial to the economic success of the 
town. There has been significant investment in the town centre and Seafront in recent years, 
but both tourism (notably on the Marine Park site within the Seafront) and retail areas 
continue to need to be revitalised.  Most people living in Southport work in the local area, 
and in addition to Southport Business Park at Kew there are also a number of industrial 
areas (such as the existing Crowland Street area) and informal employment areas on small 
sites at the backs of the houses.  There is a need for further land in Southport or Formby to 
meet additional employment needs in the Plan period.   

Policies relating to this sustainable economic growth and regeneration in Southport are set 
out below.  These policies are:    

  Strategic site: Crowland Street, Southport, 

  Southport Central area, 

  Southport Seafront, 

  Southport Town Centre, 

  Employment sites in Southport. 

Policy ER5 ‘The Sefton Coast and development’ [see chapter 9 ‘Protection and 
enhancement of environmental assets’] sets out the strategic policy framework for the Sefton 
Coast.  This includes recognition of the tourism role of Southport Seafront, and the need to 
maintain the integrity of the internationally important coastal nature sites.  Of the other 
environmental policies, policy CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface water management’ is perhaps 
the most specific to Southport, which has areas at risk of tidal, river, surface-water and other 
flooding.    A site at Kew is identified as a potential district heating zone, and Policy CC3 ’ 
Energy and carbon reduction’ sets out more detail. Sites outside Sefton, north of Southport, 
are currently exploratory sites for shale gas extraction.  Sefton’s approach to mineral 
development is set out in policy ER3 ’Minerals’.   

Policy SR8 ‘Centres and Parades’ sets out Sefton-wide policy, and is relevatn to Southport 
town centre, the smaller Ainsdale, Birkdale and Churchtown centres, and out-of-town 
retailing.   Policy SR10 ‘Transport’ is also relevant to Southport, which is a cycle town       

Sefton has one of the oldest populations in the North West and Southport has the highest 
percentage of elderly people in Sefton.  This brings specific challenges for housing and 
health care. The town also has a relatively large migrant population, many of whom work in 
West Lancashire. Within Sefton, Southport has the greatest need for affordable housing, due 
in part to the high house prices.  The town comprises areas of both deprivation and relative 
wealth, with part of the central area containing some of the most deprived neighbourhoods in 
Sefton.

Proposed housing sites to be released from the Green Belt in the Southport area are located 
to the east of Southport and adjacent to Ainsdale and three areas of under-used 
Greenspace have also been allocated for housing – these are identified in Policy SR4 
‘Housing allocations and phasing’. There are a large number of smaller housing sites in the 
urban area identified in the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA).   

Agenda Item 7

Page 171



Policy Title: SRS1     Strategic mixed use allocation:Crowland Street, Southport

Policy Text: 1. Land at Crowland Street, Southport, as shown on the plan, is 
designated as a mixed development site, with approximately half the site 
being developed for housing to secure the development of the rest of the 
site for employment purposes.  

2. The development of the site should adopt a master planning 
approach, in order to ensure the creation of an integrated, distinctive, 
well-designed, safe and secure residential neighbourhood and 
employment area incorporating high quality design standards.  

3. Where new development is proposed for employment or other non-
residential purposes adjacent to existing or proposed housing, the new 
development will need to demonstrate that it minimises impact on the 
residential areas including through the use of range of green 
infrastructure. 

4. The development of this site will deliver the following benefits 

through the use of planning conditions, Section 106 and other legal 

agreements:

1. The submission of a detailed phasing and delivery programme will 
ensure the appropriate and timely provision of development and 
the supporting infrastructure; 

2. The creation of improved accesses to and from Norwood Road 
and Meols Cop Road from Cobden Road and Butts Lane, and to 
and from Foul Lane and New Foul Lane onto Scarisbrick New 
Road, Southport Road and the Kew roundabouts; 

3. Improvements to the area’s connectivity with the wider highways 
network, including provision for walking, cycling and public 
transport; 

4. Provision of a range of housing types and tenures to meet 
identified housing needs; 

5. Provision of a serviced industrial estate to meet the general 
employment needs of the north of the Borough which are likely to 
emerge after 2020; 

6. Appropriate surface-water management measures, design and 
enhancement of green infrastructure and landscape character in 
line with the provisions of policies CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface 
water management, PD1 ‘Design’, ER4 ‘green infrastructure’ and 
ER7 ‘Landscape character 

7. The creation of a landscaped buffer adjacent to Sandy Brook and 
Boundary Brook and the creation of an attractive urban edge to 
improve green infrastructure on the edges and within the 
development site. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

The area has been looked at as a potential employment site over the past 
20+ years, but has not been viable solely as an employment site. This is 
because of a combination of poor ground conditions (peat), the need to 
improve the access to the area, and the fact that the site is not suitable for 
a high-quality Business Park, which is needed to be a successor to the 
Southport Business Park once that is fully developed. It was intended to 
be designated wholly for employment purposes in the Local Plan, but 

Agenda Item 7

Page 172



discussions with the owner’s agents have confirmed this is currently not 
viable. They have suggested 40% of the site should be developed for high 
density housing to enable the provision of a smaller employment area. 
Without this, the site will not be developed. 

Explanation: This site has previously been considered as a possible employment area, 
but has been discarded as it has not been viable, primarily because the 
costs associated with abnormal ground conditions and the need for 
highways infrastructure and the provision of an improved electricity supply 
to Southport. To address the issues relating solely to this site, it is 
proposed to allocate the site for a mixed development with a limited 
amount of housing to cross-subsidise the delivery of the employment 
area. Development of this area also has the benefit of creating a softer 
and more attractive urban edge with the Green Belt and views from West 
Lancashire towards this part of Southport. 

As a result of continuing viability concerns, the precise area for housing 
and employment cannot be specified, although the Council expects about 
half the site to be developed for employment purposes following the 
completion of a substantial proportion of the proposed housing. The 
Master Plan will set out mechanism for which part of the site will be 
developed for housing and which for employment, and when the 
employment area will be provided. The employment area should be laid 
out with appropriate infrastructure provided (road layout and services) so 
that sites can be developed individually. 

Policy CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface water management’ seeks to reduce 
surface water run-off rates and volumes on brownfield sites and not 
increase them on greenfield sites. This includes specific discharge rates 
and volumes to Sandy Brook and Boundary Brook.   

In achieving high design standards and provision and enhancement of 
green infrastructure (including trees) within the site, it is particularly 
important to create an attractive urban edge, in line with policy ER7 
‘Landscape character’.       

The development of the site will need to incorporate measures that reflect 
the Council's on-going commitment to reducing carbon emissions in 
Sefton, increasing the use of sustainable energy, and increasing energy 
efficiency in new buildings.  These are set out in policy CC3 ‘Energy and 
Carbon reduction.’  

Access to the area is constrained, and improvements will be required to 
the surrounding road network as a result of development taking place.  

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

5. To meet the need for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the need arises. 
7. To ensure new housing provision meets the diverse needs of a 
changing population, including affordable housing, special needs 
accommodation and family homes. 
8. To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to 
leisure opportunities and in safe environments. 
9. To make sure that new developments include the essential 
infrastructure, services and facilities that it requires. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 173



10. To improve access to services, facilities and jobs without having to 
depend on the car. 
12. To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based 
economy in terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and 
support new and existing businesses. 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration  

Links to other 
policies:

PC1 Access and facilities 
PD1 Design, 
CC2 Flood Risk and surface water management  
CC3 Energy and carbon reduction 
ER7 Landscape Character, 

Policy Context: National Planning Policy Framework esp paragraphs7 (all 3 bullet points); 
8; 9; 17 (3rd, 4th, 5th, 9th and 11th bullet points); 21(2nd and 5th bullet points) 
etc. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 174



Policy Title: SRS2 Southport Central Area 

Policy Text: 1. Within the Southport Central Area development proposals should be 
consistent with, and where possible make a positive contribution to, the 
economic function of the area and the quality of the environment. 

2. On the Lord Street frontage, new development is expected to promote 
active frontages that support the vitality and viability of this key 
thoroughfare.

3. Proposals for new bars and entertainment uses will be acceptable in the 
area bounded by the Promenade, Kingsway, West Street, and Neville 
Street, subject to conforming to all other aspects of the Plan. Bars and 
entertainment uses may be acceptable in other parts of the Central Area 
where:

a) There would be no unacceptable impact on residential amenity; 
and

b) It can be demonstrated that the use would not result in a material 
increase in crime and anti-social activity; and 

c) If located on Lord Street or Chapel Street its appearance would 
not harm the appearance, vitality, and viability of the street 
frontages. 

4. New retail and supporting development on Tulketh Street that improves 
the vitality and viability of the area are acceptable in principle. 

5. Development proposals for new hotels and guest houses are acceptable 
in principle. 

6. Development proposals for arts and cultural uses are acceptable in 
principle 

7. The use of upper floors for residential development will be permitted 
where an acceptable residential environment can be achieved. 

8. The expansion of Southport College is acceptable in principle. 

Explanation
:

The Southport Central Area policy incorporates the wider town centre and 
seafront areas. There are separate policies for Southport Seafront and the 
town centre which set out the broad types of development which are 
acceptable in these areas, although these areas are also covered by this 
policy. Other Local Plan policies are also relevant, for example heritage 
policies in relation to the Lord Street Conservation Area and its Listed 
Buildings, and the Houses in Multiple Occupation policy. 

The requirement to retain active frontages on the Lord Street frontage is 
reflective of Lord Street’s status as the main high street within Southport. It is 
intended to discourage uses that would present a ‘dead frontage’ during the 
day, which would detrimentally affect the vitality of Lord Street. 

The identification of the area bounded by the Promenade, Kingsway, West 
Street, and Neville Street, as an acceptable location for bars and nightclubs, 
has been carried forward from the previous UDP, and reflects the existing 
situation on the ground. This area already has a concentration of bars / 

Agenda Item 7

Page 175



nightclubs and focussing these uses in this existing cluster allows for more 
convenient and effective policing, and for residential amenity in other parts of 
the town centre to be protected. Whilst proposals for new bars / nightclubs in 
other parts of the centre will be considered on their merits, such proposals 
will be subject to the provisions of this policy. 

Tulketh Street is highlighted in this policy as it is one of the few opportunities 
to accommodate major new retail floorspace (albeit this is unlikely to come 
forward in the short term). There are significant areas of vacant or underuse 
land and buildings along Tulketh Street that could be remodelled to provide 
modern retail and supporting floorspace. 

Relevant 
Plan
Objectives: 

(1)To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton. 
(2) To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where 
possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing 
assets. 
(3) To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the emphasis on 
improving the quality of place. 
(6) To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local 
character and historic assets and minimises impact on its surroundings.  
(11) To support Sefton’s town and local centres so they are able to adapt to local 
and wider needs for shopping, leisure, culture and other services, which contribute 
to making centres more viable. 
(12) To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based economy in 
terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and support new and existing 
businesses. 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 

Links to 
other
policies:

SRS3 Southport Seafront 
PD1 Design 
ER1 Environmental Assets 
ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement 
ER4 Green infrastructure    
ER5 The Sefton Coast and development 
ER6 Heritage Assets 
P1 People and Places  

Policy 
Context: 

  NPPF 

  Tourism Strategy for Sefton 

  LCR Local Enterprise Partnership’s (LEP’s): 

o Business Plan 2012/13  
o LCR Visitor Economy Plan to 2020 

  Sefton Economic Strategy (2013) 

  Southport Investment Strategy  

Agenda Item 7

Page 176



Agenda Item 7

Page 177



Policy Title: SRS3     Southport Seafront 

Policy Text: 
1. Proposals within the Southport Seafront area for the following uses will 

be permitted, subject to other Local Plan policies: 

a) Leisure and recreational facilities; 

b) Hotels; 

c) Facilities for conferences, events and exhibitions 

2. Development that would be detrimental to the character of the Seafront 
or its function as a regional visitor attraction, or the adjacent 
internationally important nature sites, will not be permitted. 

Marine Park site, Marine Drive

3. The Marine Park site (16.4 ha of land) is allocated for major new leisure 
and tourism development. Redevelopment of this site must: 
a) Reflect the regional leisure and tourism role of Southport; and  

b) Ensure that any associated non-tourism development is the 

minimum necessary in order to deliver the wider site for major tourism 

development; and 

c) Be of high design quality, incorporating attractive frontages to both 
Marine Drive and Esplanade, and high quality landscaping; and 
d) Link with and complement King’s and South Marine Gardens, 
enhancing the existing pedestrian route through the site, and improving 
views across from the Promenade. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

There is no realistic alternative to this policy. The Seafront is of strategic 
importance to Southport’s economy and requires a policy to guide 
development in this area. Similarly, the Marine Drive site is a major 
development opportunity with the potential to enhance the tourism function of 
the Seafront area.

Explanation
:

The Seafront is of strategic importance to the tourism economy of Southport, 
Sefton and the Liverpool City Region. It contains some of Southport’s main 
tourist attractions and facilities, and new development in this area should 
strengthen this role. Leisure, recreation, hotel, conference and exhibition 
developments are suitable in this area, subject to other Local Plan policies.   

The visitor economy is one of the four key economic priorities recognised by 
the Local Enterprise Partnership for Liverpool City Region in its Business 
Plan and the LCR Visitor Economy Strategy to 2020.

Within the Seafront Area, the Marine Park site is allocated for major tourism 
development. This site represents a significant opportunity to deliver high 
quality development of a scale that enhances Southport role as a regional 
tourism destination. Development of this site will be expected to meet each 
of the criteria set out in the policy in order to ensure that the highest quality 
of development is achieved on this prominent site. 

Marine Park is in Council ownership and will be developed in partnership 

Agenda Item 7

Page 178



with a private sector developer. The site will be developed for tourism 
purposes as soon as circumstances allow. 

The Seafront area also contains some important heritage and environmental 
assets that will be protected from inappropriate development. Much of the 
Seafront is within the Promenade Conservation Area and the Pier is a Listed 
Building. Kings Gardens and South Marine Gardens are registered on the 
national list of Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest. The area 
contains also a number of important parks and open spaces, including 
Victoria Park. 

In addition, the Southport Seafront area is also adjacent to internationally 
important nature sites. Development which may have an adverse effect on 
internationally important nature sites will only be permitted where it can be 
demonstrated that there are both no alternatives and imperative reasons of 
overriding public interest. 

The northern and western shore of the Marine Lake, together with the Marine 
Lake itself is a Local Wildlife Site, and also contains priority habitats and 
species.   

Relevant 
Plan
Objectives: 

(1) To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton. 
(2) To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where 
possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing 
assets. 
(3) To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the emphasis on 
improving the quality of place. 
(6) To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local 
character and historic assets and minimises impact on its surroundings.  
(12)To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based economy in 
terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and support new and existing 
businesses. 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 

Links to 
other
policies:

SRS2 Southport Central Area 
SR6 Regeneration 
ER1 Environmental Assets 
ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement  
ER5 The Sefton Coast and development 

Policy 
Context: 

  NPPF 

  Tourism Strategy for Sefton 

  LCR Local Enterprise Partnership’s (LEP’s): 

o Business Plan 2012/13  
o SuperPort Action Plan 2011-2010 
o LCR Visitor Economy Plan to 2020 

  Sefton Economic Strategy (2013) 

  Southport Investment Strategy  

Agenda Item 7

Page 179



Agenda Item 7

Page 180



Policy Title: SRS4     Employment Sites in Southport 

Policy Text: In Southport, sites currently or last in office, general industrial, or 
warehouse and distribution usage, that are outside of identified Primarily 
Industrial Areas, should be retained in employment use except where one 
of the following circumstances can be demonstrated: 

  The site is below 0.2 ha in size; or 

  The site has been vacant for at least 2 years; or 

  The proposal is for 100% affordable housing; or 

  A mixed use development is proposed that incorporates modern 
business premises; or 

  The site is occupied by a business that is relocating to an alternative 
premises within the local area; or 

  The proposal offers other benefits which would outweigh the loss of 
the business premises. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

1. Not having this policy 
2. Extending to the whole borough 

Explanation: Southport has a significant shortage of employment land. This position of 
undersupply has been confirmed by the Employment Land & Premises 
Study 2012 update. Compared to nearby towns of a comparable size, it has 
significantly fewer business parks and industrial estates.  

In addition, there are relatively few development sites available for 
employment purposes in Southport. With the exception of the Strategic 
Employment Locations at Southport Business Park and Crowland Street, 
there are no allocated sites above 1 hectare in size. In this context, the 
‘backland’ employment sites which are located in Victorian areas of 
Southport are an important resource to local businesses. 

This policy seeks to retain the best quality sites in Southport for ongoing 
business use, to support local economic growth. It will apply only to those 
sites that are above 0.2 ha in size (the majority of sites are smaller than 
this).  

Where sites are above 0.2 ha in size, non-employment development must 
be justified against the criteria set out in the policy. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(5) To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the needs arise 

(12) To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based economy in 
terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and support new and existing 
businesses 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 
P1 People and Places.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 181



Links to other 
policies:

PA1 Development in Primarily Residential Areas 

Policy 
Context: 

Agenda Item 7

Page 182



Formby area

Formby (including Little Altcar) is largely a commuter settlement for the Liverpool City 
Region, although there are smaller industrial pockets including Stephenson Way, Formby.  
Also there are some other employment opportunities including in Formby centre, which is 
facing pressures common to most UK shopping areas.  There is a need for further land in 
Southport or Formby to meet additional employment needs in the Plan period, and it is 
proposed that this need be met in the strategic site to be released from the Green Belt, as 
follows:

  Policy SRF1: Land north of Formby Industrial Estate. 

Policy SR8 ‘Centres and Parades’ sets out Sefton-wide policy, and so relates to Formby 
centre and out-of-town retailing.   

People who live in, work in or visit Formby enjoy a high quality coastal environment.  
Although some areas are relatively more deprived and there is a considerable need for 
affordable housing, generally Formby is one of Sefton’s more wealthy areas.   

Proposed housing sites to be released from the Green Belt in the Formby area are located to 
the north and south of Formby and two areas of under-used Greenspace have also been 
allocated for housing:  these are listed in Policy SR4 ‘Housing Allocations and Phasing’.  A 
few smaller housing sites in the urban area are identified in the Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment (SHLAA).   

Sefton’s only site for travellers is in Formby, at Green Lane, and Policy PC3 ‘Planning for 
Travellers’  allocates an extension to this site as well as setting out the planning criteria for 
additional sites for travellers elsewhere.  

Formby lies within the un-developed coast, where the dunes and associated coastal 
landforms provide a natural coastal defence, which is subject erosion.  Of the environmental 
policies, those of greatest relevance to Formby include Policy ER2 ‘Nature conservation and 
enhancement’, due to the internationally important coastal nature sites, and Policy ER5 ‘The 
Sefton Coast and development’. Policy CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface water management’ is 
also relevant as parts of the Formby area are at risk of tidal, river, surface-water and other 
flooding.

The potential area of search for wind energy, near Ince Blundell, is also in the Formby area. 
Policy CC3 ’Energy and carbon reduction’ provides more detail.   

Agenda Item 7

Page 183



Policy Title: SRF1     Strategic allocation: Extension of Formby Industrial Estate 

Policy Text: 1. Land north of Formby Industrial Estate is allocated on the (as show 

on the plan) for a Business Park subject to the following 

requirements: 

a) Development will be restricted to uses falling within Class B1 of 
the Use Classes Order 1987 (as amended); 

b) Provision of replacement habitat suitable for water voles and 
breeding birds in accordance with Policy ER2 ‘Nature conservation 
and enhancement’;

c) Provision of a new signal-controlled access from the Formby 
Bypass (A565); 

d) Improvements to the area’s connectivity with the wider highway 
network, including provision for  walking, cycling and public transport; 

e) Appropriate surface-water management measures and design 
and enhancement of green infrastructure and landscape character in 
line with the provisions of policies CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface water 
management, PD1 ‘Design’, ER4 ‘Green Infrastructure’ and ER7 
‘Landscape character, including  provision of a landscaped buffer 
adjacent to Downholland Brook.; 

f) The creation of well-designed, safe and secure employment area 
incorporating high quality design standards and that meets the 
requirements of Policies PD1 ‘Design’ and CC3 ‘Energy and Carbon 
Reduction’. 

2. These requirements will be achieved through the use of planning 
conditions, Section 106 and other legal agreements 

Alternatives 
Considered:

None – this is the only site in Sefton capable of meeting the identified 
need for a new Business Park in the north of Sefton. Although land is 
allocated at Crowland Street, Southport for employment purposes, this 
will not provide the same offer as it will be developed for uses which are 
not appropriately sited on a Business Park. 

Explanation: This site has been identified as being the only site suitable and capable 
of meeting the need for a new Business Park in the north of Sefton, 
primarily to provide a successor to the Southport Business Park. It has 
excellent links to the strategic road network, which will be enhanced 
once Brooms Cross Road (the Thornton- Switch Island link road) is 
completed.

There are a number of issues that will need to be addressed in any 
planning application for the development of this site. These include the 
need to make suitable provision for the loss of part of a designated Local 
Wildlife Site, in line with policy ER2 ‘Nature conservation and 
enhancement’, and the need to create a safe access to the site, and the 
need to create an attractive urban edge between the site and the 
neighbouring Green Belt 

Policy FR ‘Flood risk and surface water management’ seeks to reduce 
surface water run-off rates and volumes on brownfield sites and not 
increase them on greenfield sites. This includes specific discharge rates 
and volumes to Downholland Brook.   

Agenda Item 7

Page 184



In achieving high design standards and provision and enhancement of 
green infrastructure (including trees) within the site, it is particularly 
important to create an attractive urban edge, in line with policy ER7 
‘Landscape character’.       

The development of the site will need to be of high design quality, and to 
incorporate measures that reflects the Council's on-going commitment to 
reducing carbon emissions in Sefton, increasing the use of sustainable 
energy, and increasing energy efficiency in new buildings.  These are 
set out in policy CC3 ‘Energy and Carbon reduction.’  
.

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(1) To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in 
Sefton.
(2)  To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment 
and where possible create new environmental assets which are well 
connected to existing assets. 
(3)  To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the 
emphasis on improving the quality of place. 
(5)  To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, 
as far as possible close to where the need arises. 
(6)  To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects 
local character and historic assets and minimises impact on its 
surroundings.  
(9)  To make sure that new development includes the essential 
infrastructure, services and facilities that it requires. 
(10)  To improve access to services, facilities and jobs without having to 
depend on the car. 
(12) To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based 
economy in terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and 
support new and existing businesses. 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration  

Links to other 
policies:

SR5 Employment requirement and strategic employment locations 
SR10 Transport
PC1 Access and facilities  
PD1 Design
ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement 
ER7 Landscape Character
CC2 Flood risk and surface-water management  

Policy Context: 
e.g. NPPF 
paragraph; gov 
guidance; 
Council/partner 
plans 

NPPF paragraphs 7-9, 11 - 17 3rd bullet point, Section 1 ‘Building a 
strong, competitive economy’ 

Agenda Item 7

Page 185



Agenda Item 7

Page 186



Crosby area  

Crosby (including Waterloo, Blundellsands and Thornton) lies at the northern at the edge of 
the ‘greater-Liverpool’ metropolitan area, and is bounded to the west by the coast and to the 
north and east by a rural area which includes agricultural land, the Ince Blundell Hall and 
Crosby Hall estates, and historic villages such as like Lunt and Little Crosby.  The larger 
village of Hightown is more modern, and has a large number of early 20th century buildings of 
the Arts and crafts tradition giving it a strong sense of place.  To the south, Crosby borders 
Bootle and the Port. Crosby has a mixture of large Regency, Victorian and Edwardian 
housing. The coast helps define this part of Sefton. 

There are relatively few employment areas in Crosby. However there are other employment 
opportunities, including in leisure and tourism in Crosby Coastal Park, smaller-scale offices, 
the cultural area around South Road, library and cinema, and in Crosby and Waterloo 
centres.  Policy SR9 ’Mixed–use areas’ sets out the land use and development approach to 
the area next to Waterloo centre. 

In recent years Crosby Coastal Park has seen significant tourism investment, including in 
Antony Gormley’s Iron Men and the Watersports Centre and the formal parks and gardens. 
Policy ER5 ‘The Sefton Coast and development’ sets out the strategic policy framework for 
the Sefton Coast.  This includes recognition of the recreational role of Crosby Coastal Park, 
as well as the need to maintain the integrity of the internationally important coastal nature 
sites.    There is scope for the Coastal Park to complement South Road and the mixed use 
area.

Crosby centre in particular has faced challenges in recent years. Policy SR8 ‘Centres and 
parades’  offers broad support for retail redevelopment schemes which would make the 
centre more  attractive and accessible, would be undertaken sensitively, are of a high quality 
of design, and would positively enhance the centre as a whole.   Policy SR6 ‘Regeneration’ is 
also relevant.

Policy SR10 ’Transport’ is important for the Crosby area.  The Brooms Cross Road and other 
initiatives aim to improve air quality and the local environment, as well as giving easier 
access to the motorway network.  

Crosby includes some relatively deprived areas as well as some that are amongst the least 
deprived nationally.   Proposed housing sites to be released from the Green Belt in the 
Crosby area are located to the south-east of Hightown, to the north of Crosby and east of 
Thornton: these are listed in Policy SR4 ‘Housing Allocations and Phasing’. There are a few 
smaller housing sites in the urban area identified in the Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA).   

In addition to Policy ER5 [Sefton Coast], referred to above, the environmental policies of 
greatest relevance to Crosby are Policy ER2 ‘Nature conservation and enhancement’, and 
Policy ER6 ‘Heritage’. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 187



Maghull area 

Maghull (including Lydiate), a large town in the east of Sefton, is primarily a commuter 
settlement. There is one main, larger industrial area in Maghull, and Parkhaven Trust 
operates from two extensive sites within the settlement.  Maghull has mainly grown 
throughout the second half of the twentieth century.    

Maghull is surrounded by a large rural, mainly agricultural area, which contains some 
agricultural land of the highest quality.  The area also includes Aintree, on the northern edge 
of the Liverpool conurbation, with its Racecourse, out of town retail park and other shops 
including Asda, and mixed use area with pockets of employment.  Waddicar (Melling) is a 
residential village near the edge of the Kirby urban area (in Knowsley).  Melling, Homer 
Green, Lunt and Sefton are smaller, historic, rural hamlets or villages.  The Leeds and 
Liverpool Canal passes through Maghull, Melling, Aintree and the rural area and offers 
opportunities for recreation and tourism. 

There is a strategic housing and employment site allocated east of Maghull – see Policy 
SRM1. 

As well as housing and a business park, it is anticipated that development of this site will 
include provision of a new motorway spur to the M58 and a new rail station at Maghull North, 
as well as  public open space. Policy T ’Transport’ is therefore important.   

Policy SR4 ‘Housing allocations and phasing’ includes housing sites to be released from the 
Green Belt to the east of Maghull (including the ‘prison’ site), to the east of Aintree and to the 
north of Waddicar (Melling).   There are also a few smaller housing sites in the urban area 
identified in the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA).   

Maghull centre in particular has faced challenges in recent years. Policy SR8 ‘Centres and 
Parades’  offers broad support for retail redevelopment schemes which would make the 
centre more  attractive and accessible, would be undertaken sensitively, are of a high quality 
of design, and would positively enhance the centre as a whole.  This policy also refers to Old 
Roan centre (Aintree), and provides guidance about further out-of-centre retailing.  

Policy SR9 ’Mixed–use areas’ sets out the land use and development approach to the mixed 
use area in Aintree. 

The environmental policies of greatest relevance to Maghull include Policy ER6 ‘Heritage’ 
and Policy CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface water management. Parts of the area, especially 
Maghull, Aintree and the rural area around the River Alt are at risk of river, surface-water and 
other flooding. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 188



Policy Title: SRM1     Strategic allocation - Land east of Maghull
[includes former prison site, subject to any planning application being 
received for this site] 

Policy Text: 1. Land at Ashworth south (the former prison site) together with land 
bounded by the Liverpool – Ormskirk railway, School Lane, the M58 
motorway and Poverty Lane, Maghull shown on the Proposals Map, 
will be brought forward in a phased manner as a comprehensive high 
quality urban extension containing: 

  a minimum of 45 hectares (gross) of housing (including the 
site of the proposed prison), including a mix of market and 
affordable housing

  at least 25 hectares (gross) of serviced employment land, 

  a local centre or other provision of an appropriate scale and 
type to serve the new development, and

  approximately 20.5 hectares (gross) of strategic greenspace, 
including open space, woodland, walking and cycling routes, 
flood mitigation, wildlife space and a landscaped buffer to the 
Liverpool – Ormskirk railway and the M58 motorway. 

2. The development of the site should adopt a master planning 
approach, in order to ensure the creation of an integrated, distinctive, 
well-designed, safe and secure residential neighbourhood and 
employment area incorporating high quality design standards.  

3. Where new development is proposed for employment or other non-
residential purposes adjacent or in close proximity to existing or 
proposed housing, the new development will need to demonstrate 
that it minimises impact on the residential areas. 

4. The development of this area will deliver the following benefits 
through the use of planning conditions, Section 106 and other legal 
agreements:

  a phased development linked to the provision of appropriate 
new facilities and other infrastructure; 

  the provision of a new Maghull North station and associated 
park and ride facility on land to the north of School Lane; 

  the provision of the southbound on slip and northbound off slip 
at Junction 1 of the M58 motorway;  

  the provision of a serviced business park to meet the longer 
term employment needs of the south of the Borough; 

  the creation of integrated, distinctive and well-designed, safe 
and secure neighbourhoods which meets the needs of the 
whole community; 

  the provision of a range of housing types and tenures to meet 
identified housing needs; 

  that new buildings are sustainable, such as by including 
flexibility so that they are adaptable to change and where 
possible provide buildings and spaces that could have 
alternative uses in future, and that are adaptable to climate 
change and the various technologies associated with 
delivering renewable energy; 

  the creation of a new neighbourhood park, including  

Agenda Item 7

Page 189



children’s play facilities, habitat creation and sustainable 
surface water drainage as appropriate, sited along Whinney 
Brook to serve the development and a buffer zone to the M58 
motorway; 

  appropriate surface-water management measures, design 
and enhancement of green infrastructure and landscape 
character in line with the provisions of policies CC2 ‘Flood risk 
and surface water management, PD1 ‘Design’, ER4 ‘green 
infrastructure’ and ER7 ‘Landscape character; 

  good accessibility for bus and train services and direct 
pedestrian and cycle links between the housing and proposed 
Business park and the facilities that serve them; and 

  appropriate developer contributions towards the cost of social 
infrastructure required to serve the local community, including 
local shops, services and community facilities that may be 
required, including the extension of the Summerhill primary 
school. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

None – development needs to take place in the Green Belt if the Council 
is to meet its identified needs. This is the only opportunity to identify an 
area as a sustainable urban extension which is capable of delivering a 
serviced Business Park to meet identified needs as well as a large 
number of houses in the area. It will also deliver other benefits, including 
the provision of the Maghull north station and associated park and ride 
facility and providing the ‘missing’ slip roads to and from the M58 
motorway. It is a well-contained site with well-that will not lead to ‘urban 
sprawl’ but is also more detached from the urban area than other sites as 
it is separated from the main reside area by the Liverpool – Ormskirk 
railway, so will have a lesser impact on nearby residents compared to 
other sites in the Maghull area. 

Explanation: The redevelopment of approximately 13 hectares of previously developed 
land in the Green Belt (the former prison site) as part of a planned urban 
extension - remove if planning application submitted prior to Preferred 
Option approved. 

The creation of well-designed, safe and secure neighbourhood 
incorporating high quality design standards and meet the requirements of 
the ‘sustainable use of resources’ and ‘energy and low carbon’ policies. 
The Explanation needs to refer to scope for Lifetime Homes, Code for 
Sustainable Development or equivalent, district heating 

The site is the only site in south Sefton capable of delivering a serviced 
business park of about 25 hectares. This will be provided as part of the 
development, so that it is laid out and all appropriate services provided so 
that it is ready for individual plots to be developed from about 2020. 

The ‘missing slip roads’ at Junction 1 of the M58 motorway are expected 
to be included in a priority list of Merseyside transport infrastructure for 
2014-19, and funding will be allocated to local areas by the Department 
of Transport to implement their priorities. These are required before the 
Business Park is occupied. 

The creation of a new neighbourhood park is in line with part of policy 

Agenda Item 7

Page 190



ER4 ‘Green infrastructure‘- its tree planting provisions and relevant 
provisions of policy ER2 ‘Nature Conservation and enhancement’ also 
apply. The facilities offered by a neighbourhood park are included in the 
Council’s Parks and Green Spaces Asset Management Strategy’, and 
here should include formal children’s play facilities. 

The park should also incorporate sustainable drainage systems and flood 
storage areas as appropriate, as it should be located along Whinney 
Brook in the area at greatest risk of river flooding and at risk of surface 
water flooding. Policy CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface water management’ 
seeks not to increase surface water run-off rates and volumes on 
greenfield sites, and here this includes specific discharge rates and 
volumes to Whinney Brook.   

Opportunities to enhance or create habitats including wetland habitats 
should be taken. 

In achieving high design standards and provision and enhancement of 
green infrastructure (including trees) within the site, it is particularly 
important to create an attractive urban edge, in line with policy ER7 
‘Landscape character’.       

The development of the site will need to incorporate measures that reflect 
the Council's on-going commitment to reducing carbon emissions in 
Sefton, increasing the use of sustainable energy, and increasing energy 
efficiency in new buildings.  These are set out in policy CC3 ‘Energy and 
Carbon reduction’.  The development should also meet the requirements 
of policy CC4 ’Making the best use of resources.’   

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(1)To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton. 
(3) To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the 
emphasis on improving the quality of place.  
(5)  To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, 
as far as possible close to where the needs arise. 
(6) To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects 
local character and historic assets and minimises impact on its 
surroundings.  
(7) To ensure new housing provision meets the diverse needs of a 
changing population, including affordable housing, special needs 
accommodation and family homes. 
(8) To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to 
leisure opportunities and in safe environments. 
(9) To make sure that new developments include the essential 
infrastructure, services and facilities that it requires. 
(10) Improve access to services, facilities and jobs without having to 
depend on the car. 
(12) To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based 
economy in terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and 
support new and existing businesses. 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable growth and regeneration  

Links to other 
policies:

PC2 Affordable housing  
PD1 Design 
PH1 Health and well-being 
SR7 Infrastructure and developer contributions  

Agenda Item 7

Page 191



ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement   
ER4 Green infrastructure,  
CC2 Flood risk and surface water management,  
CC3 Energy and carbon reduction  
CC4 Making the best use of resources 

Policy Context: National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 151, 156, 157, 173, 175 
+ 177 

Agenda Item 7

Page 192



Agenda Item 7

Page 193



Bootle and Netherton area 

The Bootle area is an urban area sharing a boundary with north Liverpool, and includes 
Netherton, Litherland and Seaforth (including the Port).Bootle has a legacy of large numbers 
of high density Victorian and Edwardian terraced housing. The area continued to grow and 
change through the 20th century, with major post-war redevelopments of housing and 
commercial areas, and new lower density Council-housing built at the edges of the urban 
area such as at Netherton.   

 A significant part of the operational Port of Liverpool is in south Sefton, including the 
Seaforth container terminal and the Freeport. The Port is the single biggest economic 
resource in Sefton, and is also important for the City Region.  The Port of Liverpool has 
ambitious plans for further expansion including the new deep river berth for ‘post-Panamax’ 
vessels. The Port is a strategic site, to which Policy SRB1 ‘The Port and Maritime Zone’ 
applies.  

Policy ER5 ‘The Sefton Coast and development’ sets out the strategic policy framework for 
the Sefton Coast.  This includes recognition of the economic role of the Port, as well as the 
need to maintain the integrity of the internationally important coastal nature sites. The major 
opportunity to expand the Port, with its potential to create local jobs, must be carefully 
balanced with protecting the natural environment and local communities, such as Seaforth, 
which are likely to be most directly affected.   

Other strategic employment sites in Bootle include the post-war industrial and commercial 
developments centres on Dunningsbridge Road (see Policy SR5 ‘Employment requirement 
and strategic employment locations’). The area has a number of smaller industrial pockets, 
and other sources of employment in Bootle office quarter and Bootle town centre. There is 
also a smaller shopping centre at Netherton - Policy SR8 ‘Centres and Parades’ is relevant.       

Bootle’s industrial past has left large tracts of contaminated and derelict land in areas that 
have low land values. This legacy requires investment to remediate vacant sites, overcome 
constraints and make them suitable for new development. However this land also presents 

opportunities   for housing and commercial development to bring new life to a part of the 

borough which has a strong sense of community. Parts of south Sefton and the adjoining 
area of north Liverpool have been identified as priorities for regeneration, and both Councils 
have agreed to a strategic framework to help bring this about.   Seaforth centre has also 
faced challenges in recent years. 

 In recent years, much of south Sefton was designated as part of the Merseyside ‘Housing 
Market Renewal Area’. The initiative has begun to change the housing quality, type and 
tenure available, mainly through demolition of low-demand homes and clearance of former, 
vacant, industrial sites and rebuilding of new homes. There is a need for further investment 
to make sure that this area continues to improve, although government funding for this 
initiative has come to an end. The Council has resolved to channel ‘New Homes Bonus’ 
funding towards this area.  

Policy SR6 ‘Regeneration’ provides a policy framework to promote regeneration in various 
parts of this area.  

Policy SR9 ’Mixed use areas’ sets out the land use and development framework for a 
number of  areas where a more flexible approach to uses is appropriate. 

Policy SR4 ‘Housing allocations and phasing’ includes some sites within Bootle, and there 
are a large number of smaller housing sites in the urban area identified in the Strategic 

Agenda Item 7

Page 194



Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA). There are no proposed housing sites to be 
released from the Green Belt in the Bootle area as there is almost no Green Belt.  

The environmental policies of greatest relevance to Bootle include policy CC3 ‘Energy and 
carbon reduction’ and Policy CC4 ‘Making the best use of resources’. Parts of Bootle are at 
risk of surface-water and other flooding, so Policy CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface water 
management’ is also important.

Agenda Item 7

Page 195



Policy Title: SRB1 The Port and Maritime Zone 

Context The growth of the Port of Liverpool will bring major economic benefits for the 
Liverpool City Region and the wider national economy by increasing 
opportunities for trade with the rest of the world, including key markets in the 
Far East and the Americas.  

Peel Ports has consulted on a draft Mersey Ports Master Plan which sets out 
their future development intentions. This includes an eastward expansion to 
the A565 in Bootle and Liverpool, which will require the relocation of a 
number of existing businesses, and development on the Seaforth nature 
reserve. As the latter is an internationally protected nature conservation site, 
‘appropriate assessment’ under the Habitat Regulations will be required to 
agree what mitigation is needed before this area can be developed. 

The Port expansion will create significant numbers of job opportunities for 
communities across the Liverpool City Region, both directly at the Port and 
through a wide range of other businesses which depend on goods brought in 

Agenda Item 7

Page 196



and out of the Port.  

For the Port to be successful, it needs to have good transport access, 
enabling the efficient and timely movement of large quantities of freight by 
rail, road and water. The Liverpool City Region authorities are working with 
the private sector and Government agencies to identify improvements to 
access by rail, road and water to the Port and enable the Port to expand.  

In the long term (after 2020), a major new road improvement will be needed 
to meet the forecast demand for road access to the Port.  

As well as the significant economic benefits and opportunities provided by 
the Port, there are potential negative environmental impacts on local 
communities. The Liverpool City Region authorities are working with the port 
company and the local communities to ensure that these impacts are 
mitigated and managed in order to minimise this impact.  

Policy Text: 1. Significant development and re-structuring will be permitted in Port and 
Maritime Zone (as shown on the Policy Map) including:  
a) the provision of a deep-water berth;  
b) the expansion of the operational port area to the A565 (Derby Road, 
Rimrose Road and Crosby Road South);  
c) the expansion of the operational port area onto the Seaforth Nature 
Reserve. 

2. Development of the Seaforth Nature Reserve will only be permitted 
provided that: 
a) it is demonstrated both that there are no alternative solutions to this 
expansion into a site of international nature conservation importance  and 
that there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest; and 
b) the provision of appropriate compensatory habitat provision and 
necessary additional mitigation in accordance with Policy ER2 ‘Nature 
conservation and enhancement ’.  

3. Development within the Port and Maritime Zone will be permitted 
provided that the following criteria are met: 
a) The development is a port-related activity and does not prevent the 
comprehensive redevelopment of the area for such purposes;  
b) Development meets the requirements of the Design policy and 
integrates the new development into the natural, built and historic 
environment; 
c) Development adjacent to the A565 and the entrances to the Port 
should make a positive contribution to the urban landscape; 
d) The development is designed to encourage walking and cycling both 
within, to and from the site;  
e) The development includes a standard boundary treatment in order to 
introduce a coherent style to the area; and 
f) Local mitigation measures are included that ensure that there are no 
additional harmful impacts as a result of noise, dust, smells or other forms of 
pollution on the amenity of other occupiers within the area and on adjacent 
communities in accordance with the requirements of Policy PEP1 ‘Pollution 
and Hazards’. 

4. Improvements to the port access by road and/ or rail will be required to 

Agenda Item 7

Page 197



support the expansion of the Port, as set out in Policy SR10 ‘Transport’. This 
may require a new road and /or substantial improvements to the surrounding 
highway network beyond the Port area. The Council will ensure that this is 
designed so that it has the minimal environmental impact and that all 
appropriate mitigation measures are included.

5. Planning conditions and / or legal agreements will be used to ensure 
appropriate mitigation, infrastructure and community facilities are secured. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

The alternative of only allowing the Port to expand within its permitted 
development rights, including the construction of the deep-water berth (which 
is outside the scope of the Council’s development management control) has 
been considered but rejected because the larger area will allow the Port to 
function more effectively resulting from planned expansion which is partly 
outside the Council’s control.  

The Port is identified as a major regional economic asset and driver in the 
former Regional Spatial Strategy (2008), the Liverpool City Region Local 
Economic Partnership Business Plan 2012/13, the SuperPort  Action Plan 
2011-2020,  and Sefton’s Economic Strategy (2013).  Despite the substantial 
environmental mitigation which will be required, not allowing the Port to 
expand would be contrary to the aims of sustainable development and 
economic growth for Sefton and the Liverpool City Region. 

The area between the operational Port and the A565 was included in the Port 
and Maritime Zone in the adopted UDP, although Seaforth Nature Reserve 
was not. It is now proposed to include this in the operational area provided 
that adequate mitigation can be provided before this area is developed. 

The owners of the Port (Peel Ports) intend to proceed with development 
within and adjacent to their operational area in line with the draft Mersey 
Ports Master Plan. There is an outstanding need to address the adverse 
environmental impacts which affect adjacent residential areas in order to 
improve air quality, noise and dust and as a result of development and to 
resolve issues relating to access to the Port. 

Explanation
:

The Local Plan, and the Council through the development management 
process, has only a limited ability to shape future development within the 
operational port area because of the Port’s wide range of permitted 
development rights under the General Permitted Development Order 1995 
(as amended).  Such development may have a harmful impact on the 
surrounding area, visually, and in terms of disturbance, amenity or pollution 
and any issues arising would be addressed by other legislation e.g. relating 
to public health. 

The Port has proposed, in the Mersey Ports Master Plan, a 20-year strategy for 
growth for the Port of Liverpool and The Manchester Ship Canal, that following 
areas should be developed as part of the operational Port: 

  the Seaforth River Terminal (Area L2 “in the Port Master Plan 
Liverpool 2”); 

 land between the current port boundary and the A565 (part of the L5 area 
which also extends beyond the Borough boundary into Liverpool);

  the Seaforth Nature reserve (Area L1) “Seaforth Area B”. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 198



Port permitted development rights
Class B, Part 17 of the General Permitted Development Order 1997 
(as amended) 

Class B Dock, pier, harbour, water transport, canal or inland 
navigation undertakings

B.    Permitted development 
Development on operational land by statutory undertakers or their 
lessees in respect of dock, pier, harbour, water transport, or canal 
or inland navigation undertakings, required: 

(a)for the purposes of shipping, or  

(b)in connection with the embarking, disembarking, loading, 
discharging or transport of passengers, livestock or goods at a 
dock, pier or harbour, or with the movement of traffic by canal or 
inland navigation or by any railway forming part of the undertaking.  

B.1    Development not permitted 
Development is not permitted by Class B if it consists of or 
includes: 

(a)the construction or erection of a hotel, or of a bridge or other 
building not required in connection with the handling of traffic,  

(b)the construction or erection otherwise than wholly within the 
limits of a dock, pier or harbour of—  

(i)an educational building, or  

(ii)a car park, shop, restaurant, garage, petrol filling station or other 
building provided under transport legislation. 

The River Terminal was consented under a Harbour Revision Order in 2007 
and will result in a doubling of the Port’s container handling capacity. There 
are a number of legal agreements in place relating to the mitigation of 
impacts arising from this development. 

The master plan also identifies an area between Regent Road and Derby 
Road where expansion of the Port operational area could occur. Part of the 
identified area is in Liverpool. Existing businesses in this area may need to 
relocate to allow port expansion, and has been taken into account in the 
Council’s Employment Land and Premises Study. The Council’s preferred 
approach to this area is for the area to be comprehensively redeveloped for 
port-related uses. The Council will work with the Liverpool Local Economic 
Partnership (LEP), the Port of Liverpool, Liverpool City Council and Liverpool 
Vision to promote redevelopment and attract investors and new occupiers. 

The third area for identified for expansion is the Seaforth Nature Reserve. 
The Nature Reserve is a proposed Ramsar Site and potential Special 
Protection Area and as such is internationally important for nature 
conservation and is part of the Natura 2000 network of international nature 
sites.  Under the Habitats Regulations etc 1994 (as amended) the Council 

Agenda Item 7

Page 199



has a duty to protect the integrity of sites of international nature importance. 
The master plan confirms that a number of tests need to be satisfied, 
including demonstrating that there is no alternative solution, that the 
development is needed for imperative reasons of overriding public interest 
(‘IROPI’) and that appropriate compensatory habitat provision, and if 
necessary additional mitigation, will be provided before development begins.  

The expansion of the Port of Liverpool is recognised by the Council, the 
Liverpool LEP and the Atlantic Gateway as a key opportunity to stimulate 
growth in the region. The Superport is one of the LEP’s four priorities. 
Businesses are placing significant emphasis on moving people and freight 
both at the lowest possible cost and at the lowest possible carbon output. 
Businesses are placing significant emphasis on moving people and freight 
both at the lowest possible cost and at the lowest possible carbon output. 
Taking advantage of its central location in the UK, and situated in the largest 
economic region in the UK outside of London, the Port is ideally located to 
take advantage of these trends. 

The success or otherwise of a port is inextricably linked to the ability to move 
freight in and out in a congestion free and efficient manner. Port access 
routes are of paramount importance. The current access to the Port is 
constrained and will need to be improved during the plan period. Freight is 
transported by rail, road and sea. Dunnings Bridge Road (the A5036) 
currently carries approximately 70% of the Port’s overall external road traffic. 
This road experiences repeated congestion especially during peak periods. 
The anticipated growth of the Port will undoubtedly exacerbate this. This has 
been recognised in the City Region deal between the Government and the 
six Merseyside Local Authorities (including Halton) which includes a 
commitment to address port access issues. The Council is therefore working 
with the Port, the LEP and the Highways Authority to resolve this and other 
transport-related issues. 

The Atlantic Gateway’s Business Plan highlights the need for environmental 
improvements to improve the environment of the area surrounding the Port, 
which reflects the Council’s priorities for continuing the regeneration of the 
south Sefton area, and particularly those neighbourhoods adjacent to the 
Port. For development that is not covered by the Port’s permitted 
development rights, the Council will use planning conditions to limit the 
effects of noise, dust, smells or other forms of pollution on the amenity of 
other occupiers within the area and on adjacent communities and to secure 
the regeneration of the wider area.  

Another major area of concern is the visual impact of new buildings on the 
periphery of the Port. Where these require planning permission, the Council 
will ensure that appropriate landscaping and/or screening are used to 
minimise the impact of the development, within or adjacent to the operational 
Port, as appropriate. 

The Port has already created a community environmental fund (CEF) to 
compensate for the impact of current development proposals including the 
deep-water berth and river dredging. Additional mitigation, which could 
include the creation of a new fund for off-site environmental improvements 
that will be targeted specifically at improving the environment of the adjoining 
residential areas in Sefton, will be required for further development requiring 
planning permission. This will be used to help regenerate central Seaforth 

Agenda Item 7

Page 200



and the residential areas located to the east of the A565. 

Relevant
Plan
Objectives:

 (1)  To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 
 (2)  To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and 
where possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to 
existing assets. 
(4) To manage the effects of climate change, to encourage best use of 
resources and assets, land and buildings, and to reduce Sefton’s carbon 
footprint. 
(8)  To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to 
leisure opportunities and in safe environments. 
(12)  To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based 
economy in terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and support 
new and existing businesses. 
(13)  To maximise the value of the Port to the local economy and jobs, while 
making sure that the impact on the environment and local communities is 
mitigated.
(14)  To work with our neighbours and partners to make sure Sefton 
contributes to, and benefits from, its place within the Liverpool City Region.

Relevant
Strategic
Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 
ER1 Environmental Assets  

Links to 
other
policies:

SR5 Employment Requirement and Strategic  Employment Locations 
SR10 Transport 
PD1 Design Policy 
ER2 Nature Conservation and Enhancement  
ER5 The Sefton Coast and development 

Policy 
Context:

  NPPF, especially  paragraphs 9, 20 and 21  

  LCR Local Economic Partnership Business Plan 2012/13  

  LCR LEP’s SuperPort  Action Plan 2011-2020,  

  Sefton Economic Strategy (2013) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 201



Section C – Environment and resources

Agenda Item 7

Page 202



[This page has been left blank intentionally] 

Agenda Item 7

Page 203



Chapter 9.
Protection and enhancement of environmental assets

Strategic Policy ER1: ‘Environmental Assets’

1. Sefton’s natural and heritage assets together with its landscape character should continue 
to contribute to the Borough’s sense of place, local distinctiveness and quality of life, 
Development proposals and other initiatives should help achieve this.     

2. A hierarchical approach will be taken to the protection and enhancement of Sefton’s 
environmental assets, according to their designation and significance , including: 

Natural Environment
a) Sites of international nature importance;  
b) Sites of national nature importance; 
c) Sites of local nature and geological importance; 
d) Water resources including the dune aquifer; 
e) Land resources including soil and best and most versatile agricultural land 
f)        Green infrastructure networks including trees, open water, public open space 

and green routes, adopted sustainable drainage systems, and Strategic Nature 
Opportunity Areas and Nature Improvement Areas ,  

g) The role of the open, undeveloped  coast in forming a natural sea defence; 

Built Heritage
h) National  designations, including:  

  Listed Buildings; 

  Registered Parks & Gardens; 
i) Local designations, including: 

  Conservation Areas; 

  Archaeological sites; 

  Locally important heritage assets; 

 Landscape Character
j) Rural landscape character including historic landscape character. 

3. Where appropriate, development should: 

  Protect Sefton’s natural environment, sites and networks, and rural landscape 
character,  

  Enhance Sefton’s natural environment, sites and networks, and rural landscape 
character,    

  Restore or extend natural habitats, other landscape features and green 
infrastructure,  

  Create new habitats and green infrastructure, and  

  Secure their long-term management.  

Priority should be given to improving the quality, linkages and number of environmental 
benefits of ecological and green infrastructure sites and networks, including Strategic Nature 
Opportunity Areas and Nature Improvement Areas. 

Mitigation, replacement and / or compensation relating to these natural environmental 
assets and rural landscape character will be required where appropriate, to make sure that 
environmental assets are protected and retained.  Where it has been demonstrated that 

Agenda Item 7

Page 204



protection or / retention cannot be achieved, appropriate compensatory measures or 
provision will be required.   

4. Where appropriate, development should protect, enhance and promote enjoyment of 
Sefton’s heritage assets, and secure their long-term management . 

Explanation
Section 1 recognises that Sefton has an outstanding environment which helps to make it 
distinctive, and which is valued by local residents and visitors alike.  This should be retained 
and enhanced.  Opportunities to achieve this will come through development proposals, and 
other initiatives by the Council, its partners and other organisations which are likely to be funded 
partly from European, government, Lottery or other funding schemes. Past (and on-going) 
successful initiatives include urban trees and other woodland planting by The Mersey Forest.  

The Sefton Coast is of international importance for nature, and important locally and across the 
Liverpool City Region as green infrastructure; important for recreation, tourism and the economy 
(including the Port) and as a natural sea defence.  Sefton’s flat landscapes and the 
characteristics of its rural area also help define Sefton as a unique place to live.  Other key 
natural features and green infrastructure include rivers, wetlands, grasslands and woodlands, 
recreational green spaces and public open spaces and trees especially in urban areas.  Locally 
distinctive and important elements of Sefton’s built heritage include the ‘Classic Resort’ of 
Southport focussed on Lord Street and the Seafront parks and gardens, the historic centres of 
settlements or villages such as Churchtown, Little Crosby, Waterloo, and more recent 
developments for example in the Housing Market Renewal Area in south Sefton .   

In section 2 of the policy, the hierarchical approach to protecting and enhancing Sefton’s 
environmental assets is based on the level of any statutory or local designation and the legal 
requirements which relate to them; and the significance of particular attributes.  This includes 
their local or wider importance.  In many cases there is national, regional or local guidance 
which helps to determining the importance of particular attributes; such as key habitats or 
species for a nature site, or key features of a Listed Building or Conservation Area . The list of 
assets is in hierarchical or priority order. 

The hierarchical approach for nature and geological sites is based on the level of any statutory 
or local designations and the legal requirements which relate to these. For example, the 
internationally designated nature sites on the Sefton Coast have rigourous policy and legal 
protection, and should only be developed where there are no alternative solutions, there are 
imperative reasons of overriding public interest and where there has been appropriate mitigation 
or compensatory provision.  For nature sites with local designations development may be 
permitted where the benefits of the development clearly outweigh the impact on the nature 
conservation value of the site.   

Section 3 of this policy, together with the following more detailed policies, set out the approach 
to natural environmental assets in more detail.  This includes the approach to Sefton’s green 
infrastructure network, to Nature Improvement areas, shown on the Proposals Map, which lie 
within the Strategic Nature opportunity Areas set out in the Liverpool City Region Ecological 
Framework: 
Nature and geology and green infrastructure 

  Policy ER2 ‘Nature conservation and enhancement and geology’  

  Policy  ER4 ‘The Sefton Coast and development’ 

  Policy ER4 ‘Green infrastructure’  
And, to a lesser extent: 

  Policy CC2 ‘ Flood risk and surface water management’   

Agenda Item 7

Page 205



Section  4 of this policy sets out the approach to heritage assets. In assessing the significance 
of heritage assets in terms of the hierarchical approach, their particular attributes and local 
importance (rather than their level of designation) may be more or as important.  In principle 
national designations  and their associated legal requirements such as Listed Buildings, 
Registered Historic Parks and Gardens and Scheduled Ancient Monuments may be more 
important than, for example Conservation Areas, which are designated locally.   

However, particular attributes of a  Conservation Area may be as important locally as the 
attributes of a particular Listed Building within it, for example.  For archaeological sites, local or 
wider importance may be the most significant factor.  For example the traces of the Mesolithic 
village found in the Lunt area in 2011/2012 may have wider importance.     

Compared to nature sites and habitats, for example, it may be more difficult to provide 
mitigation, compensatory or replacement provision for the harm to an asset or particular 
attribute. 

The following policies set out the approach to heritage assets in more detail:  
Heritage

  Policy ER6 ‘Heritage assets’  

The significance of many of the other environmental assets listed is reflected mainly by their 
local or wider importance.  This includes green infrastructure, water and land resources, 
landscape character and the ability of the open, undeveloped coast to form natural sea 
defences.   The following policies set out the approach to these environmental assets:  
Water resources including the dune aquifer:

  Policy ER5 ‘The Sefton Coast and development’   

  Policy CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface water management’ 

  Policy PD1 ‘Design’ 

  Policy CC4 ‘Making the best use of resources’    

Land resources including soil and best and most versatile agricultural land
Minerals are a finite land resource and can generally only be worked where they are found. 
Sefton has only limited known minerals resources and related infrastructure such as the Port.  It 
has no Mineral Safeguarding Areas or aggregate minerals resources that are currently 
commercially viable or likely to become so in the future.  However, there is the potential for 
energy mineral exploration and extraction and the National Planning Policy Framework is clear 
that mineral planning authorities, such as Sefton, should include policies for the extraction of 
mineral resources.  The policy approach is set out in the ‘Minerals’ policy.  The Framework sets 
the policy for other land resources in Sefton.   

  Policy ER3 ‘Minerals’  

  For other policy areas the policy approach is set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework 

The role of the open, undeveloped coast in forming a natural sea defence

  Policy ER5 ‘The Sefton Coast and development’. 

 Landscape Character 

  Policy ER7 ‘Landscape Character’ 

Agenda Item 7

Page 206



Policy Title: ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement 

Policy Text: Protection / conservation 

1. Development which affects sites of acknowledged nature conservation 
importance, or geological importance, will only be permitted where 
there are no adverse impacts (harm) according to the hierarchical 
approach set out below. Where it has been demonstrated that 
protection or retention cannot be achieved, appropriate mitigation, 
replacement or other compensatory measures will be required.   
Where significant harm resulting from development cannot be 
avoided, adequately mitigated or, as a last resort, compensated, then 
planning permission will be refused.

Development proposals which affect sites of acknowledged nature 
conservation importance must be supported by an Ecological 
Appraisal.   

Plan policies apply to other sites recognised during the Plan period as 
being of acknowledged nature conservation importance. 

International sites 
a) Development which may harm internationally important nature 

sites will only be permitted where there are no alternative solutions 
and there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest, and 
where appropriate provision for mitigation or compensation 
measures is made, as set out in section 2 below.  Such mitigation 
or compensation must be made before development commences. 

This also applies to sites and habitats outside the designated 
boundaries that support species listed as being important in the 
designations of the internationally important sites.  

In Sefton the sites of international nature importance are: 

  Designated and proposed Ramsar sites  

  Designated and potential Special Protection Areas 

  Designated and candidate Special Areas of Conservation. 
   

National sites 
b) Development which may harm nationally-important nature sites 

and geological sites will be subject to special scrutiny. 
Development which harms, directly or indirectly, the special 
interest of the site will not be permitted unless the reasons for the 
development clearly outweigh the nature conservation or 
geological value and benefits of the site itself. 

In Sefton the nationally important nature and geological are: 

  Sites of Special Scientific Interest 

  National Nature Reserves. 

Local sites 
c) Development which may harm locally important nature sites or 

geological sites of local importance will be permitted only where 
the reasons for and benefits of the development clearly outweigh 
the impact on the nature conservation value of the site. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 207



In Sefton the locally important sites are: 

  Local Nature Reserves 

  Local Wildlife Sites (formerly Sites of Local Biological 
Interest). 

In Sefton the sites of regional or local geological importance are: 

  Sites of Local Geological Interest. 

d) Development on sites which contain priority habitats will only be 
permitted where there is no net loss of natural assets.  Priority 
should be first given to avoidance, and then to retention and long 
term management and enhancement of remaining habitat, and 
where appropriate habitat creation, within the site.    

e) Development which may harm other non-designated sites with 
nature or geological interest will be permitted only where the 
reasons for and benefits of the development outweigh the impact 
on the nature conservation or geological value of the site. 

Species
f) Development which may cause harm to protected or priority 

species will be permitted only where there is no net loss of natural 
assets.  Priority should be first given to avoidance, and then to 
retention and long term management and enhancement of 
remaining habitat for the species, and where appropriate habitat 
creation for these species, within the site.    

Mitigation and compensation
2. Mitigation or compensation including replacement provision will be 

required, where appropriate under the terms of 1 (a) to (f) above.  This 
should protect and retain the acknowledged nature conservation or 
geological interest and make sure that there is no net loss of natural 
assets as a result of development, and includes provision for 
appropriate long-term management.  This mitigation or compensation 
should be either within the development site, or by agreement, 
elsewhere.  

Development proposals should be accompanied by plans showing 
details of avoidance, mitigation and/or compensation.  Planning 
conditions or and/or legal agreements may be used to secure such 
measures.

Mitigation or compensation including replacement provision should 
give priority to the creation of new habitat in the Nature Improvement 
Areas. Where it is demonstrated that this priority is not appropriate, 
alternative sites must be deliverable and appropriate within the 
context of the protection and enhancement of Sefton’s nature 
conservation and geological assets. 

Enhancement
3. Opportunities, including those arising through development proposals, 

to enhance the value and benefits of Sefton’s natural assets and 

Agenda Item 7

Page 208



ecological networks should be taken. This includes restoring or adding 
to natural habitats and other landscape features, and the creation of 
habitats where appropriate.  It also includes provision for appropriate 
long-term management.

a) For major development proposals including sites which are a 
phase within a larger site/area where significant levels of phased 
development are proposed, enhancement opportunities should be 
taken within the development site (or larger site). This is additional to 
any requirements for mitigation, or compensatory measures for harm 
to specific habitats or species.  Such enhancement may be linked to 
wider green infrastructure provision, as set out in policy ER4 ‘Green 
infrastructure’.  

b) For small-scale proposals within the urban area, appropriate 
opportunities include within wider green infrastructure provision as set 
out in policy ‘Green infrastructure’, or within Nature Improvement 
Areas, or within any Search Areas for Potential Habitat Expansion.   
This is additional to any requirements for mitigation, or compensatory 
measures for harm to specific habitats or species. 

c) Other opportunities should give priority to the creation of new 
habitat including compensatory habitat in Nature Improvement Areas.  

Explanation: Paragraph 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework recognises that 
pursing sustainable development includes moving  from a net loss of 
biodiversity to achieving net gains for nature, in line with wider 
government policy set out in ‘Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s 
wildlife and ecosystem services’ (2011).   Other national policy for nature 
conservation is set out in paragraphs 1-9 to 119 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. This complements legal duties and requirements for 
nature conservation set out in a range of legislation including the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 and the Habitats 
Regulations 1994 (as amended).  

The internationally important nature sites on the Sefton Coast are the 
most important feature of Sefton’s outstanding natural environment and 
network of green infrastructure  (as set out in policy ER5 ‘The Sefton 
Coast and development)’.

Other key natural features include wetlands – Sefton has an extensive 
network of rivers and drainage channels, grasslands and woodlands   
This outstanding natural environment helps define Sefton, and contributes 
to quality of life and local distinctiveness.  It also forms part of Sefton’s 
network of green infrastructure.  

The key priorities for nature and geology in Sefton are: 
• To manage the natural assets better – to protect the integrity of 

nature sites of international importance on the Sefton Coast, and 
to protect all of Sefton’s nature and geodiversity assets; 

• To make sure there is no net loss of these assets and to extend 
and enhance Sefton’s ecological networks and natural assets. 

The emerging Liverpool City Region (LCR) Ecological Framework draws 
together the evidence (for example nature site designations) and indicates 

Agenda Item 7

Page 209



strategic priorities and opportunities in Sefton and across the sub-region.   

Many natural assets occur on a landform scale, across local authority 
boundaries.  Lancashire County Council is currently preparing an 
Ecological Framework, which will better inform cross-boundary issues 
between Sefton and West Lancashire. Sefton is part of the Liverpool City 
Region (LCR) Local Nature Partnership.     

Protection
Section 1 of the policy deals with protection of Sefton’s nature assets.  
[Internationally-, nationally- and locally designated sites  are due to be 
shown on the Policy Map at the Publication Stage of Local Plan 
preparation].

An Ecological Appraisal must support planning applications given the 
range of ecological features present in Sefton. The details required are 
set out in figure ER2-1 below: 

Figure ER2-1 Requirements for an Ecological Appraisal 
The Ecological Appraisal must: 

• Include a desktop study and consultation with Merseyside 
BioBank to identify any records for protected and/or notable 
species, sites and habitats on, or within 2km of, the site. 

• Include an Extended Phase 1 Habitat survey to identify the 
habitats present on and adjoining the site, with maps and target 
notes appended to the report, in accordance with methods set 
out in the JNCC Handbook for Phase 1 Habitat Survey.  

• Identify the potential for protected and/or notable species and 
any requirements for specialist surveys e.g. breeding birds, 
bats, water vole. Where specialist surveys are required, the 
report should identify when these surveys will be undertaken. 

• Identify any ecological impacts, notably on for designation of the 
internationally important sites, as a result of construction work or 
future site use and suggest measures for avoidance and/or 
mitigation.

• Identify opportunities to make the most of the contribution of the 
proposed development to biodiversity in line with the 
requirements of PPS9 paragraph 14 and would contribute 
towards the biodiversity duty set out in Sections 40 and 41 of 
the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (NERC) 
2006. Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service will be able 
to provide further information to the applicant as the scheme 
progresses. 

• Identify any invasive species list on Schedule 9 of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 as amended, present on the site or 
within 7m of the site boundary. The location and extent of any 
invasive species should be shown on a scaled plan included 
with the survey report. 

There is an over-riding need (set out in the Habitats Regulations, and 
recognised in paragraph 119 of the National Planning Policy Framework) 
to manage sustainable development in a way which protects the integrity 
of nature sites of international importance on the Sefton Coast.   

The approach to protection of the nature sites and species which make up 

Agenda Item 7

Page 210



Sefton’s ecological networks, and of geodiversity, is based on a 
hierarchical approach of internationally, nationally and locally designated 
sites, and other assets of local importance., with the aim of making sure 
that there is no net loss of Sefton’s natural assets.  These sites are set out 
in Figures ER2-2 and ER2-3 below.   

Figure ER2-2 Designated nature sites in Sefton

Internationally important designated nature sites  

  Ribble & Alt Estuaries Ramsar Site 

  Mersey Narrows & North Wirral Foreshore proposed Ramsar 
Site

  Ribble & Alt Estuaries Special Protection Area (SPA) 

  Mersey Narrows & North Wirral Foreshore potential Special  
Protection Area (pSPA) 

  Sefton Coast Special Area of Conservation  (SAC) 

Nationally important designated nature sites  

  Sefton Coast Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)  

  Hesketh Golf Links SSSI 

  Mersey Estuary SSSI 

  Ribble Estuary SSSI and National Nature Reserve (NNR) 

  Ainsdale Sand Dunes NNR (within Sefton Coast SSSI) 

  Cabin Hill NNR (within Sefton Coast SSSI) 

Locally important designated nature sites  

  Ainsdale and Birkdale Sandhills Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 

  Ravenmeols Sandhills LNR 

  Brookvale LNR 

  There are a large number of Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) and 
these are shown in Appendix 2. 

Locally important designated geological sites  
There are a large number of Sites of Local Geological Interest 
(SLGIs) and these are shown in Appendix 2. 

Figure ER2-3 Examples of protected species in Sefton 

  Natterjack toads, sand lizards  

  Birds including waterbirds, such as Whooper swans 
and Pink-footed geese 

  Red squirrels  

  Water voles 
 Bats

Section 1(a) of the policy sets out the stringent requirements for 
development which affects internationally important nature site. It is 
expected that very few development schemes would meet these 
requirements.

Section 1(d) of the policy refers to priority habitats, and section 1 (f) to 
priority species. These are ‘habitats of principal importance’ and ‘species 
of principal importance’ for the conservation of biodiversity in England. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 211



The Council, together with other public bodies (such as the Environment 
Agency), has a duty under section 40 of the Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities (NERC) Act (2006) to conserve biodiversity when 
carrying out its normal functions.  This ‘biodiversity duty’ encompasses 
priority habitats and species. 

Section 41 of the NERC Act requires the Secretary of State to publish lists 
of habitats and species of principal importance.  The initial (late 1990s) 
lists were based on the UK Biodiversity Action Plan (UK BAP).  A 2007 
review saw the list of priority habitats increased from 49 to 65 and the list 
of priority species rise from under 600 to 1150.  Since 2012 responsibility 
has been focussed at a county level under the ‘UK Post-2010 Biodiversity 
Framework’ (July 2012) - for Sefton with the North Merseyside 
Biodiversity Group.

Protected species are those which have specific protection under 
legislation (e.g. badgers, bats).  

Mitigation and compensation
Section 2 of the policy deals with mitigation and compensation. Here, 
indeed throughout this policy, compensation means compensatory 
provision rather than financial compensation. 

It is crucial to this aim of no net loss that appropriate mitigation or 
compensatory provision is made.  This is reflected in section 1 and 
especially section 2 of the policy. Compensatory provision for 
internationally important sites must be made prior to the development 
commencing.  For other sites or species, mitigation /compensation can be 
delivered as part of the development (during the development process).. 
This compensation may be provided by the applicant directly, or through 
an organisation which is a land manager locally.   

Sefton Council owns or manages a number of sites, including much of the 
Sefton Coast. Other key partners who own or manage nature sites in 
Sefton include the Environment Agency (for example at Lunt Meadows 
washland), the National Trust and Natural England (for example on the 
Sefton Coast), the Lancashire Wildlife Trust (for example north of 
Formby), the Canal and Waterways Trust (the Leeds and Liverpool Canal) 
and Mersey Forest and the Forestry Authority (for example, Town Lane 
country park).  Other landowners and farmers also play a local role in 
managing land which includes important habitats, principally for farmland 
birds and pink-footed geese.   

 Priority should be given to the creation of new habitat including 
compensatory habitat in Nature Improvement Areas or Strategic 
Opportunity Areas, such as those identified in the emerging LCR 
Ecological Framework.      
             

Enhancement

Section 3 of the policy focuses on enhancement of Sefton’s natural 
assets, including restoring or adding to natural habitats and other 
landscape features, and the creation of habitats where appropriate.  The 
Council would strongly encourage this, where appropriate and viable.  
This is in line with the National Planning Policy Framework and 

Agenda Item 7

Page 212



‘Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem 
services’ (2011).   

The Council will encourage opportunities for habitat enhancement within 
development sites.  These opportunities may be linked, but should be 
additional to, wider green infrastructure provision set out in Policy GI 
‘Green infrastructure’. These opportunities range for example from larger 
scale habitat creation within larger sites including those released from the 
Green Belt (such as wetland habitat in linked to surface water 
management (SuDS) or flood risk storage areas) to smaller urban sites 
(such as ‘bat boxes’, tree planting).   

The Council will also encourage other opportunities arising from 
development to enhance appropriate areas, which may include Nature 
Improvement Areas [which may be shown on the Policy Map at the 
Publication Stage of Local Plan preparation].], or any Search Areas for 
Potential Habitat Expansion set out in the emerging LCR Ecological 
Framework.   

Additionally, as set out in section 3 (c), there will be opportunities for the 
Council, together with its partners, to enhance Sefton’s nature sites, and 
with it, the green infrastructure network.  This could be through changes 
to land management practices for green spaces in their control as well as 
habitat creation involving more substantial   interventions.  It is anticipated 
that funding would come from a variety of sources.     

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(2) To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where 
possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing 
assets. 
(13) To maximise the value of the Port to the local economy and jobs, while 
making sure that the impact on the environment and local communities is 
mitigated.
(14)To work with our neighbours and partners to make sure Sefton contributes to, 
and benefits from, its place within the Liverpool City Region. 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

ER1 Environmental assets  
CC1 Climate change  

Links to other 
policies:

ER4 Green infrastructure 
ER5 The Sefton Coast and development   
ER7 Landscape Character  
CC2 Flood risk and surface water management   
SRB1 The Port and Maritime Zone  
SRS3 Southport Seafront 

Policy Context:   Habitats Directive, Birds Directive, Habitats etc Regulations 1994 (as 
amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (NERC) 2006, 
and other legislation relating to nature sites and species. 

  Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services 
(2011), Defra 

  National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 9, 109-119. 

  Liverpool City Region (LCR) Ecological Framework 2012  

  Circular 06/2005  

  North Merseyside Local Wildlife Sites – guidelines for selection (2003?) 
    

Agenda Item 7

Page 213



Policy Title: ER3       Minerals 

Policy Text: 1. To minimise the need for minerals extraction, the production and 
use of recycled and secondary aggregates across the Borough 
will be encouraged. Mineral resources present on development 
sites will be expected to be extracted for beneficial use prior to 
development proceeding, unless special circumstances can be 
demonstrated that justify proceeding without prior extraction. 

2. The Port of Liverpool and strategic rail freight links suitable for 
the movement of aggregate minerals will be safeguarded from 
inappropriate development.  Proposals for non-mineral related 
development that may threaten the functioning of the wharfage of 
the Port of Liverpool, transport links or other infrastructure  
through which minerals are landed, processed (including 
secondary and recycled aggregate materials) and trans-shipped, 
will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that: 

  The mineral deposit or infrastructure is of no commercial 
interest, and is unlikely to be so in the future; or 

  There is an overriding case for development taking place;  

  Equivalent alternative infrastructure capacity exists which is 
able to meet commercial needs. 

3. Proposals for the exploration, extraction, storage, processing and 
distribution of minerals, including energy minerals (oil and gas 
exploration, appraisal and production [including unconventional 
hydrocarbons] ) and primary, secondary and recycled 
aggregates, will be permitted if the following criteria are met: 

  There is a demonstrable need and market demand for the 
mineral;

  The proposal would not undermine the greater use of 
alternative, secondary or recycled materials; 

  The operations permitted will not have an unacceptable 
adverse impact on the natural and historic environment, 
water resources, residential amenity or human health; 

  The proposed location for the development is the most 
suitable, taking into account environmental, geological and 
technical factors; 

  The mitigation of any negative impacts will be secured; 

  Where applicable, sensitive and high quality environmental 
restoration and aftercare of sites will be implemented at the 
earliest opportunity, to a standard and manner consistent 
with the proposed end use and the character, setting and 
landscape of the surrounding area. 

Explanation: Minerals are a finite resource and can generally only be worked where 
they are found. Whilst Sefton does not have any Mineral Safeguarding 
Areas, other than for port and transport infrastructure, or indeed any 
aggregate minerals resources that are currently commercially viable or 
likely to become so in the future, there is the potential for energy mineral 
exploration and extraction and the Framework is clear that mineral 
planning authorities should include policies for the extraction of mineral 
resources. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 214



There are extant licences for onshore oil and gas exploration that cover 
parts of Sefton. The licensing is done nationally in blocks and do not 
reflect political boundaries and are not subject to any form of local 
authority influence – therefore the Local Plan cannot affect them.  
Planning standards, however, can be implemented for the above ground 
installations required for exploration unless they fall under the National 
Strategic Infrastructure system.  Licenses are for oil and gas and do not 
distinguish between conventional and unconventional extraction.  

Proposals for any development should not lead to proven or potential 
reserves being sterilised. Such resources will be protected from changes 
in land uses unless the need for the development outweighs the benefits 
of the mineral resource. 

All proposals for minerals, aggregate, oil or gas exploration, extraction, 

storage, processing and distribution should be accompanied by: 

  An operations statement, setting out how the impacts of 
development will be minimised; 

  A restoration and aftercare plan. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

2; 4; 6 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

ER1 Environmental Assets 

Links to other 
policies:

CC5 Waste 

Policy Context: Waste Local Plan 
NPPF section 13 

Agenda Item 7

Page 215



Policy Title: ER4 Green infrastructure

Policy Text: 1. Sefton’s green infrastructure networks should be protected, enhanced 
and extended where appropriate.  Development proposals and other 
initiatives should help achieve this.  The key components of Sefton’s 
green infrastructure network are: 

  The Sefton Coast, 

  Public open space,  

  Sefton’s network of paths and cycleways,  

  Sites of acknowledged nature conservation or geological 
importance

  Adopted Sustainable Drainage Systems and land formally 
designed to manage surface water and flood risk,   

  Trees, including their landscaping context.     

The Sefton Coast
2. Development on or adjacent to the Sefton Coast should meet the 

provisions of policy ‘The Sefton Coast and development’.  

Public open space 
Protection / conservation 
3. The following types of development are acceptable in principle on 

public open space, subject to the provision of policy ER2 ‘Nature 
conversation and enhancement’ being met : 
a) Environmental improvements designed to enhance the quality, 

number or performance of green infrastructure functions, of the 
public open space, including built facilities ancillary to the use of 
the site; 

b) Other development proposals, where: 

  For sites within Southport Seafront and Crosby Coastal Park, 
the provision of the specific policies for these areas are met; or;   

  An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown 
the public open space to be surplus to the requirements set out 
in Figure ER4-2 of the Plan; or 

  The loss of public open space resulting from the proposed 
development would be replaced by equivalent or better 
provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location;  

  The development is for alternative sports and recreational 
provision, the needs for which clearly outweigh the loss. 

Enhancement 
4. Development on sites which meet the criteria set out below should 
provide appropriate new public open space within the development site 
(including appropriate new path and /or cycleway linkages) which should 
provide for public recreation,  and as many other green infrastructure 
functions as appropriate. These are proposals for: 

  Sites of 50 or more new build homes or conversions to  create 50 
or more new homes which are in areas with a shortfall in 
provision against the standards in Figure ER4-2, or 

  Sites, including sites which are a phase within a larger area/site, 
where significant levels of phased development are proposed. 

The developer should make sure that suitable arrangements are in place 
for long-term management, maintenance and public access to the site.   

Agenda Item 7

Page 216



New public open space created under section 4 during the Plan period 
will be accorded the policy protection set out in sections 1 and 3 of the 
policy, even where it is not shown on the Proposals Map.

Sefton’s network of paths and cycleways
Protection, conservation and enhancement
5. Development that would make it difficult to establish or retain a public 
right of way, or Strategic Path as shown on the Proposals Map, will be 
permitted where it enhances or implements the route, or where an 
acceptable alternative route is provided.  

Sites of acknowledged nature conservation or geological importance 
Protection, conservation, mitigation and compensation, and enhancement
6. Development likely to have an impact on sites of acknowledged nature 
conservation or geological importance should meet the provisions of policy 
‘Nature conservation and enhancement’.  

Land for management of surface water and flood risk 
Protection / conservation and enhancement 
7. Development on a site which is an adopted Sustainable Drainage 
System, or is formally designed to manage surface water or flood risk, is 
acceptable in principle, subject to the provisions of policy ER2 ‘Nature 
conversation and enhancement’ and other Plan policies being met,  where 
the development proposals: 

a) Do not reduce the ability of the adopted Sustainable Drainage 
System or the area for surface water or flood risk management to 
manage the surface water or flood risk, and 

b) Where practicable, enhance the performance of this or other green 
infrastructure functions, including nature conservation subject to the 
provision of policy ER2 ‘Nature conservation and enhancement’.       

Trees and landscaping
Protection / conservation
8. Development is acceptable in principle where: 

a)  There is no unacceptable loss of, or damage to, existing trees or 
woodlands or significant landscaping during or as a result of 
development; 

b)   Trees not to be retained as a result of the development are 
replaced at a ratio of at least 2:1 within the site.  

Enhancement
5. All development proposals should include an appropriate landscape 

scheme which includes planting, which for  new build development 
should include additional, new, trees which shall  be planted at a 
minimum of: 

a) 2 trees for each new home; or

b) For non-residential development, whichever is the greater of:

  1 tree for each new parking space; or 

  1 tree per 150m2  of  gross floorspace 

Note (for
information):

Our approach to urban greenspace needs to change to reflect national 
planning policy.  Much of our public open space (such as parks, playing 
fields, sports club sites and allotments) will continue to be protected in both 
urban and rural areas.  We will protect fewer amenity green spaces (e.g. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 217



highway verges). A revised approach to urban school and college sites and 
care institutions intends to allow more development whilst retaining the key 
characteristics of the sites as far as possible, and more development on site 
where this use has ceased.  Almost all former private urban greenspaces will 
now be part of the primarily residential area. More information is set out in 
Appendix 3, which is provided for information purposes only at this stage.

Explanation: Green infrastructure is critical to Sefton and the wider Liverpool City Region 
(LCR) – for sustainable economic prosperity, an attractive environment for 
businesses, people and nature, for recreation, health and well-being.  Green 
infrastructure reduces air pollution, and air temperatures locally, and helps to 
reduce and manage flood risk.  

Figure ER4-1 Green infrastructure functions
Green infrastructure  functions (or benefits) & ecosystem services  
include:

 Climate change functions (e.g. regarding temperature and air 
quality) 

 Flood risk management functions (e.g. storage of surface water 
or other flood water, infiltration benefits)  

 Quality of life functions (e.g. visual, buffer, image of area)   

 Economic functions (e.g. image of area, more investment) 

 Health and well-being functions (e.g. physical activity and mental 
health and well-being) 

 Tourism functions (e.g. contribution of site to Sefton’s tourism 
attractions) 

 Cultural benefits (e.g. contribution to heritage, or a venue for 
community events, environmental education)  

 Recreation benefits (e.g. informal or formal recreation, active 
sports, allotments)   

 Nature conservation benefits (e.g. habitats and species)   

 Food production benefits (e.g. allotments and community 
orchards or gardens). 

The National Planning Policy Framework defines green infrastructure as “A 
network of multi-functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of 
delivering a wide range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local 
communities”.  The Framework further refers to ecosystem services – “the 
benefits people obtain from ecosystems, such as, food, water, flood and 
disease control and recreation.   

The network of multi-functional green or open spaces provide multiple 
benefits and functions for those who live, work, invest in, spend their leisure 
time or visit Sefton, as set out in Figure ER4-1 .   Typically, the same site will 
have a number of green infrastructure functions, (or benefits) Through this 
policy the Council is seeking to enhance the number or performance of 
green infrastructure functions for its sites.   

The key components of Sefton’s green infrastructure network are:

  The Sefton Coast,   

  Public open space,  

  Sefton’s network of paths and cycleways,  

  Designated nature sites and ecological networks , 

  Adopted Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) and land formally 

Agenda Item 7

Page 218



designed to manage surface water and flood risk,   

  Trees, including their landscaping context.     .    
These components of Sefton’s green infrastructure network are important 
environmental assets for Sefton, and help to shape its character, local 
distinctiveness and sense of community and identity.  

The Sefton Coast 
The Sefton Coast is a major component of Sefton’s green infrastructure 
network and outstanding natural environment which helps to define Sefton. 
This is set out in more detail in policy ’The Sefton Coast and development’ 
and its explanation, whose provisions should be met. 

Public open space 
The Framework stresses the need to protect open space (especially 
paragraph 74),defined as “All open space of public value, including not just 
land, but also areas of water (such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) 
which offer important opportunities for sport and recreation and can act as a 
visual amenity.” [sic]

The Council considers that open space of public value – public open space – 
comprises:   

  Public parks (including local parks), play areas, countryside /coastal  
parks (within the Green Belt) and Blundellsands Key Park,  water 
spaces such as the canal, and Crosby and Southport Marine Lakes    

  Public playing fields, pitches and outdoor sports sites 

  Club pitches and outdoor sports sites, and the Pay and play’ golf 
courses at Bootle and Southport, 

  Public nature sites (e.g. Copy Farm Wildlife area).  

  Allotments 

  Amenity  spaces 

  Churchyards and cemeteries. ‘  

  

[Designated public open spaces will be shown on the Policy Map at the 
Publication Stage of Local Plan preparation]. 

Such public open space provides recreation, benefits including exercise 
through active sports, walking, cycling and use of play facilities, and mental 
health and well-being benefits of seeing or experiencing green space, trees 
and ‘nature.’  It may also have other green infrastructure benefits (such as 
nature benefits and surface water storage) and in such cases the provisions 
of other relevant Plan policies should be met.  

Some of Sefton’s public open space is also important to the Borough’s 
heritage. For example,  Botanic Gardens (Churchtown), and Derby Park in 
Bootle  are registered on the national list of Parks and Gardens of Special 
Historic Interest.  Other parks are within Conservation Areas or contain or 
provide the setting for Listed Buildings (for example, Potters Barn and park, 
Waterloo.

The standards for public open space provision, set out in Figure ER4-2 
below, are based on the Green Space Strategy 2008. [The quality standards 
are based on existing provision levels.   The provision figures will need early 
revision due to the new approach to public open space set out in this policy.   
The accessibility deficiency areas for both parks and accessible nature 

Agenda Item 7

Page 219



spaces will also need early review].

The aims of sections 3 and 4 of the policy are to protect public open space 
from built development, while allowing its recreation or other green 
infrastructure functions benefits to be enhanced; and to seek new provision 
where appropriate in new development.   

Figure ER4-2 – Standards for public open  space provision [set out in 
the Green Space Strategy (2008]) 

Quantity:

Type of public open space Hectares per thousand population  

Parks and children’s play 1.2

Outdoor sports sites  Based on existing  provision 

Nature sites Based on existing  provision

Allotments Based on existing  provision 

Amenity green space Based on existing provision 

Churchyards and cemeteries  Based on existing provision 

Quality: based on Green Flag criteria – national quality standards.
Accessibility:  Everyone to live within 15 to 20 minutes’ walk (1km ) or 
larger (neighbourhood) parks or accessible nature spaces. 

Note:  The quality standards are based on existing provision levels. The provision 
figures will need early revision due to the new approach to public open space set 
out in this policy.  The accessibility deficiency areas for both parks and accessible 
nature spaces will also need early review. 

It should be noted that the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010  restricts  development on 
playing fields or sites used as playing fields (which it defines)in the last 5 
years.

The Council recognises that there are a number of smaller, sports club sites 
in Sefton’s urban areas which are surrounded by housing, occupied by 
tennis and/or bowls clubs. The Council considers that such sites would not 
be suitable for alternative public recreation uses, primarily because of 
amenity, access and size issues.  Therefore, in terms of section 3(b) of the 
policy, the Council considers that for these sites only, if these clubs cease to 
exist and no similar clubs show an interest in occupying the premises within 
3 months, and/or occupy them within 6 months, then the development will be 
acceptable – i.e. will meet - the provisions of section 3(b) of the policy. 

 Where there is an existing shortfall in provision against the standards in 
Figure ER4-2 in the area (usually the Area Committee area), new public 
open space should be provided for new build schemes of 50 or more homes 
or for conversions of substantial buildings or groups of buildings where 50 or 
more new homes are provided, such as Land East of Maghull.  It should also 
on sites where significant levels of phased development are proposed. This 
includes smaller sites which form part of – or a phase of larger development 
sites, areas or allocations. 

New public open space provided within a development site should be 
appropriate in terms of site type, design, location(s) and number of 
green infrastructure functions provided, in terms of: 

Agenda Item 7

Page 220



  Any equipped children’s and young person’s play area should 
be within a site of at least 0.25 hectares in size, in a location 
which has good accessibility and good natural surveillance,    

  Providing a variety of types of public open space in the area, 
compared to the standards in Figure ER4-2,   

  Including, where appropriate,  sustainable drainage systems or 
flood storage, 

  Linking to existing path networks in the area and providing new 
safe, green routes between homes, jobs, schools,  public 
transport and other services, 

  Wider green infrastructure provision,  including trees and 
nature conservation and enhancement, to which other Plan 
policies apply,  

  Site specific considerations, including design and heritage, and 

  The need to make sure that suitable arrangements are in place 
for long-term management, maintenance and public access to 
the site.   

Based on the 2008 SPD – this text may be better placed in a revised 
SPD  

The Council would support other public open space enhanced or provided by 
developers or partners such as The Mersey Forest or the Forestry Authority, 
subject to other Plan policies, and to the need to make sure that suitable 
arrangements are in place for long-term management, maintenance and 
public access to the site.  This includes for example informal or other 
recreation opportunities linked to a Ribble Coast and Wetlands Regional 
Park and associated infrastructure, or within the Housing Market Renewal 
Area in Bootle.

Sefton’s network of paths and cycleways
The Framework stresses the importance of rights of way and access (para 
75), a coastal footpath for England (para 107).  Sefton’s network of rights or 
way, paths, cycle routes and Strategic Paths are important for their value as 
recreation and general transport routes – for example providing traffic-free or 
less heavily trafficked routes from homes to jobs, schools or other facilities.   
They are also key linkage between the urban and rural areas within and 
around Sefton, including coast and countryside parks and other public open 
space. As well as paths for walkers, cyclists and those with limited mobility, 
there are a number of bridleways in Sefton.

Where an existing (right of way or Strategic Path is within or next to a 
development site, it should be retained.  If appropriate it should be 
enhanced, for example in terms of its width, surface, safety and natural 
surveillance.  Paths should be diverted only if the alternative route increases 
connectivity within and outside the site.  

Where a proposed Strategic or other path is within a development site, it 
should be implemented as part of the development proposals, with an 
appropriate route and design (for example in terms of the factors listed 
above).   Where the proposed path is next to the development site, where 
appropriate the path should be implemented, with an appropriate route and 
design.   

[Strategic paths are due to be shown on the Policy Map at the Publication 

Agenda Item 7

Page 221



Stage of Local Plan preparation]. 

Sites of acknowledged nature conservation or geological importance 
These form an important part of Sefton’s green infrastructure. This is set out 
in more detail in policy ’Nature conservation and enhancement’ and its 
explanation, whose provisions should be met.  This is in line with paragraphs 
106 -199 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Adopted Sustainable Drainage Systems and land formally designed to 
manage surface water and flood risk   
Policy CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface water management’ sets out the 
importance this in Sefton.  Paragraph 100 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework refers to the need for policies to ‘safeguard land from 
development that is required for current and future flood management’. 
Paragraph 99 says that green infrastructure can help manage the risks to 
development in vulnerable areas, such as flood risk, posed by climate 
change.  Sustainable surface water drainage systems (SuDS) may also have 
other green infrastructure functions, for example providing wetland habitat 
for nature.

The Flood & Water Management Act 2010 includes provisions (not yet 
implemented) which in effect require Councils to approve SuDS schemes 
which meet national and local requirements, and to adopt such approved 
schemes once completed.    

Such adopted SuDS schemes, together with any other areas which are 
formally designed to manage surface water or flood risk (such as SuDS 
schemes which are completed before the provisions of the Act are 
implemented) should be protected from development which would harm 
these flood risk management functions.   

Trees  and landscaping
Trees, and other significant landscaping, can provide almost all of the green 
infrastructure functions set out in Figure ER4-1 above, for example  visual 
appeal and image, quality and, character of the local area, reducing air 
temperatures locally and providing shade or shelter, trapping air pollutants, 
and  mental health and well-being benefits.  While tree cover in Sefton is 
generally relatively low, street trees and other urban trees are very 
important, because of these benefits.  

It is important to protect existing trees, and for new trees to be planted in 
new development schemes, as part of a wider landscaping and planting 
scheme .    Tree survey information should be provided as part of any 
planning application.  Loss of existing trees and significant landscaping on 
development sites should be avoided where possible.  Loss of trees which 
are subject to Tree Preservation Orders will be acceptable only if it is 
demonstrated that there are no practical alternative solutions to the scale 
and layout of development. Ancient Woodland are important nature assets, 
and so the provisions of policy ’Nature conservation and enhancement’ 
apply.

Other  
More generally, development proposals within or on the edge of the rural 

Agenda Item 7

Page 222



area, including those for informal countryside recreation, paths or recreation 
and sports uses, should not cause no significant harm to the tranquillity or 
quiet enjoyment of the rural area, or to ambient night time light levels, as set 
out in policy PEP1 ‘Pollution and Hazards’.  These are particularly important 
in Sefton’s more remote rural areas, in some landscape character areas and 
in relation to sites or species of, where the provisions of policies ’Landscape 
Character’ and ’Nature conservation and enhancement’, respectively, should 

be met.

The Council, its partner organisations and others have a role in promoting, 
developing, managing or enhancing green infrastructure in Sefton.  These 
include The Mersey Forest, the Environment Agency, Natural England, the 
LCR Local Nature Partnership, Parish Councils and the Lancashire Wildlife 
Trust  and in some cases developers.  

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(2) To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where 
possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing 
assets. 
(3) To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the emphasis on 
improving the quality of place. 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

ER1 Environmental assets 
CC1 Climate Change and Carbon Reduction   

Links to 
other
policies:

ER5 The Sefton Coast and development 
CC2 Flood risk and surface water management 
ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement 
ER6 Heritage assets   
SRS3 Southport Seafront 
PH1 Health and Wellbeing 
   

Policy 
Context: 

  National Planning Policy Framework  

  Emerging LCR Green infrastructure Framework 

   Emerging LCR Ecological Framework 

Agenda Item 7

Page 223



Policy Title: ER5      The Sefton Coast and development 

Policy Text: 1. The Sefton Coast is a key component of the green infrastructure of 
Sefton and the City Region with a range of benefits and functions 
including its international importance for nature, economy and tourism, 
recreation and leisure, and quality of life. Development proposals and 
other initiatives should help protect, enhance and extend where 
appropriate this green infrastructure.     

Appropriate provision for mitigation or compensation should be made to 
make sure that development does not have an adverse effect on 
internationally important nature sites. Development which may have an 
adverse effect on internationally important nature sites will only be 
permitted where it can be demonstrated that there are both no 
alternatives and imperative reasons of overriding public interest 

2. Adjacent to the developed coast the following uses are acceptable in 
principle, subject to the provisions of sections 3 and 4: 
a) Port-related uses within the Port and Maritime Zone, in line with the 

provisions of policy SRB1 ‘Port and Maritime Zone’; 
b) Leisure and tourism and other appropriate uses within Southport 

Seafront, in line with the provisions of policy SRS3 ‘Southport 
Seafront’;

c) Within Crosby Coastal Park :
i. Outdoor recreation, leisure and tourism uses;  
ii. Re-use of existing buildings, and south of Hall Road small- 

scale new built facilities, for uses linked to outdoor 
recreation, water-based recreation on the Marina or tourism 
facilities, including visitor centres and facilities for 
exhibitions; and. 

iii. Proposals for new habitat creation or enhancement, which 
are appropriate to the location. 

3. In and adjacent to the undeveloped coast the following uses are 
acceptable in principle, subject to the provisions of sections 3 and 4:  

a) Development linked to the management of the natural areas 
and landscape features of the undeveloped coast, including 
management of informal recreation; 

b) Development required for coastal defence; or 
c) Development comprising landfall facilities for off-shore 

installations. 

4. Subject to the provisions of sections 1, 2 and 3 above, development will 
be permitted where it is demonstrated that the proposals:  

a) Will not increase the risk of tidal flooding or coastal erosion 
through their impact on coastal processes; 

b) Will not impair the capacity of the coast to form a natural sea 
defence or adjust to changes in conditions without risk to life or 
property;

c) Will not harm natural assets of the Sefton Coast, including 
nature and geological interest, landscape, the  quantity and 
quality of the dune aquifer and bathing water quality;  

d) Will not adversely affect the integrity of sites of international 
nature conservation importance and meets the requirements 
set out in policy ER2 ‘Nature conservation and enhancement’; 

Agenda Item 7

Page 224



and
e) Make provision for the creation and maintenance of the Sefton 

Coast Path where appropriate, and in all other cases would not 
impair the creation and maintenance of the Coast Path. 

5. Some parts of the Sefton Coast are subject to coastal change.  In 
addition to meeting the provisions of sections 1 to 4 above, 
development in the Coastal Change Management Area should: 

a) Be located in areas at lowest risk of coastal change, following a 
sequential approach which demonstrates that:

  There are no alternative reasonably available sites; and 

  Within the site, buildings and infrastructure are located 
in the areas at lowest risk of coastal change; 

b) Demonstrate that it will safe over its lifetime.   Where 
appropriate, conditions may be used to limit the lifetime of 
development requiring a coastal location to a temporary period, 
or to limit its use or occupancy;

c) Demonstrate wider sustainability benefits.

Agenda Item 7

Page 225



Proposed Coastal Change Management Area;  
(Policy ER5 ‘The Sefton Coast and Development’) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 226



Explanation: The importance of the Sefton Coast 
The Sefton Coast is a major component of Sefton’s green infrastructure 
network and outstanding natural environment which helps to make the 
Borough distinctive and which is valued by local residents and visitors 
alike.    The 22 miles of the Sefton Coast help define Sefton. As well as its 
landscapes and internationally important nature sites, the Coast has 
played a significant role in the economic development of Sefton and the 
growth of its settlements.

The Sefton Coast is critical for sustainable economic prosperity, as it 
contributes to the conditions for economic and tourism growth, economic 
security and to the presence of the Port. The attractiveness of the 
environment is in part what determines where firms choose to locate, and 
where the workforce and others choose to live.  People with good access 
to green infrastructure also tend to be healthier and more productive. The 
Sefton Coast provides accessible areas for relaxation, recreation, walking 
and cycling, which further helps improve health and well-being.   

Development on the Sefton Coast 
Sections 2 and 3 of the policy seek appropriate, sustainable development 
on the Sefton Coast, in line with the existing character, functions and 
benefits  (including the economy) of different parts of the Coast.     

[The Port and Maritime Zone and Southport Seafront will be shown on the 
Policy Map at the Publication Stage of Local Plan preparation].

The Council recognises the importance of the developed coast especially 
for recreation, and the economy of Sefton, notably for leisure and tourism, 
low carbon including off-shore initiatives, and the Port.    The developed 
coast means the mainly built-up areas adjacent to man-made sea 
defences at the Port, Crosby Coastal Park south of Hall Road and 
Southport Seafront.    The Port is of strategic economic importance, while 
Southport Seafront has a strategic leisure and tourism role.  Crosby 
Coastal Park is also important for recreation, leisure and tourism.   

The Council recognises the importance of the undeveloped coast, 
especially for nature, coastal protection, informal recreation including 
walking, cycling, bird-watching and nature study, and golf. The 
undeveloped coast means the mostly open and undeveloped areas which 
form part of natural sea defences or are adjacent to them, and the area just 
north of Southport Pier.   Almost all of this area lies within the Green Belt. 
The undeveloped coast is the area from north of Hall Road, Crosby to the 
Weld Road roundabout, Southport, and the area north of the Pier.    The 
main aim of the policy in the undeveloped coast is to protect, and where 
appropriate enhance, its natural assets. 

Crosby Coastal Park   
Crosby Coastal Park stretches for several kilometres between the Port and 
Hightown. It its public open space and much is a Local Wildlife Site. The 
Coastal Park is characterised by its vast, open aspect of grassland, 
bordered to the coast by natural sand-dunes, most of which is a Local 
Wildlife Site. It also includes other distinctive features such as Crosby 
Marine Lake and associated watersports activities, and the formal gardens 

Agenda Item 7

Page 227



which lie within Waterloo Conservation Area.  

Since the 2000s Crosby Coastal Park has become more important for 
recreation and leisure, due in part to its accessible location at the northern 
end of the greater Liverpool conurbation and recent investment in the Iron 
Men, Antony Gormley’s ‘Another Place’ sculptures, Crosby Watersports 
and Activity Centre, the play area next to it, in the historic seafront gardens 
and strategic cycling and path links.  The Council supports the 
consolidation of this role, linked to any future development of a cultural 
quarter around South Road and Waterloo centre.     

Section 2 (c) of this policy seeks to secure high quality development which 
will enhance Crosby Coastal Park and its recreation, leisure, tourism and 
nature functions, whilst protecting and where appropriate enhancing its 
natural assets.  

Natural assets of the Sefton Coast
The need to protect the integrity of the international importance of the 
nature sites along the Sefton Coast is critical.  The provisions of Policy 
ER2 ’Nature conservation and enhancement ’ must be met.  

It is important that development – whether at or next to the coast or more 
distant from it- does not adversely affect the capacity of the coast to form a 
natural sea defence or adjust to changes in conditions. 

It is also important to protect, and where appropriate enhance, bathing 
water quality and the quantity and quality of the dune aquifer (although 
some factors affecting water quality such as agricultural practices are 
beyond the control of the planning process).  This applies to development 
at or next to the coast and may apply to more development more distant 
from it.

An important factor affecting bathing water is the quality of watercourses, 
or surface water run-off, which flows into the sea.  The provisions of Policy 
CC2 ‘Flood risk and water quality’ are also important. Ainsdale, Formby 
and Southport are formally designated as bathing beaches and as such 
are subject to rigourous water quality checks and regulations.  Water 
quality will also affect the internationally important nature sites along the 
Sefton Coast and beyond.

The self-contained aquifer within the dunes discharges eastwards into the 
peat moss and westwards to the intertidal area and the Irish Sea. This 
dune aquifer is crucial to the ecology of the dunes and surrounding areas, 
affecting both habitat and species. Also it is an important source of water 
for several golf courses in the area.   

Part 9 of the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 seeks to establish a 
footpath (for informal recreation) around the whole of the English coast, as 
set out in paragraph 107 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
Sefton Council remains committed to the retention of the Sefton Coast 
Path. Sefton Council considers that where appropriate, subject to nature 
conservation and other constraints, the Path should be provided for cyclists 
as well as recreational walkers.  Development should protect, and where 
appropriate help implement, the Coast Path [which is due to be shown on 

Agenda Item 7

Page 228



the Policy Map at the Publication Stage of Local Plan preparation].

Coastal Change 
The natural processes affecting the coast, and especially the undeveloped 
coast, mean that parts of the Sefton Coast are subject to coastal change. 

[The Coastal Change Management Area will be shown on the Policy Map 
at the Publication Stage of Local Plan preparation.  The Sefton Coastal 
Change Management Area is shown on the attached map for information].

Climate change and rising sea levels are likely to increase coastal change, 
and hence the importance of Sefton’s natural sae defences. Paragraphs 
106 to 108 of the National Planning Policy Framework deal specifically with 
management of coastal change.  

In some areas the Sefton Coast is accreting, and this change is considered 
to be broadly positive.  For example north of Southport Pier the coastal 
salt-marsh is extending seawards, and currently this has the effect of 
increasing coast defences landwards of this.   

In other areas the undeveloped coast is vulnerable, to coastal change and 
specifically erosion. For example, the natural coast is vulnerable to erosion 
from south of Hightown and Altmouth northwards via Formby Point to the 
Ainsdale area.  This is reflected by the Shoreline Management Plan policy 
approach here, which is for ‘managed re-alignment’. For the rest of 
Sefton’s coastline, including the accreting salt-marsh north of Southport 
Pier, the Shoreline Management Plan policy is to ‘hold the line’.    

Section 5 of the policy sets out the additional requirements for 
development in Sefton’s Coastal Change Management Areas, in line with 
the National Planning Policy Framework. In section 2(a) infrastructure 
includes sewers, rail lines and building access.

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(1) To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 
(3) To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where 
possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing 
assets. 
(4) To manage the effects of climate change, to encourage best use of resources 
and assets, land and buildings, and to reduce Sefton’s carbon footprint. 
(6) To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local 
character and historic assets and minimises impact on its surroundings.  
(8) To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to leisure 
opportunities and in safe environments. 
(12) To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based economy in 
terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and support new and existing 
businesses. 
(13) To maximise the value of the Port to the local economy and jobs, while 
making sure that the impact on the environment and local communities is 
mitigated.
(14) To work with our neighbours and partners to make sure Sefton contributes to, 
and benefits from, its place within the Liverpool City Region. 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

CC1 Climate change,  
ER1 Environmental assets 

Links to other 
policies:

ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement and geology 
ER7 Landscape Character  

Agenda Item 7

Page 229



SRB1 The Port and Maritime Zone,  
SRS3 Southport Seafront  

    

Policy Context:  NPPF

 Legislation relating to  coastal defence 

 Shoreline Management Plan for sub-cells 11a and 11b (SMP2) (2011)  

 Sefton Flood and Coastal Defence Policy Statement 

 Bathing Waters Directive and related UK Regulations  

 Habitats and Wild Birds Directives and related UK Regulations  

 Water Framework Directive; 

 SCP Nature Conservation Strategy and Biodiversity Delivery Plan   

Agenda Item 7

Page 230



Policy Title: ER6     Heritage Assets 

Policy Text: 1.  Development affecting Heritage Assets or their settings will be 
permitted where the development preserves or enhances the aspects 
of the asset which contribute to its significance.  Opportunities should 
be taken to restore historic features or better reveal the significance of 
heritage assets and their settings where appropriate. 

  Development which preserves the features of listed buildings 
and their settings will be permitted. 

  Development within conservation areas must be of high quality 
design and appropriate to its historic context.  Development 
affecting features which positively contribute to a conservation 
area or its setting will be permitted where the character and 
appearance of the building, its relationship to its setting and 
historic interest are maintained. Enhancements to sites or 
features which do not contribute to the conservation area will be 
required where appropriate. 

  Development within Registered Historic Parks and Gardens will 
be permitted where the development relates well to its layout, 
features, topography, views and is of high quality design, 
sympathetic to its context. 

  Development affecting undesignated heritage assets will be 
permitted where the aspects that contribute to its heritage 
significance are conserved or enhanced.  

  Development on or within the setting of archaeological sites will 
be permitted where the nature of the archaeology is well 
understood and the development has been designed to avoid 
harm to the asset, including interpretation where appropriate. 

  Developments adjacent to or within the setting of heritage 
assets should not undermine their desirability or ability to viably 
use those heritage assets. 

Development affecting heritage assets shall be accompanied by a 
heritage statement.   

2. Development which results in harm to heritage assets will be permitted 
where there is a clear and convincing justification.  

  Demolition or substantial harm to a scheduled ancient 
monument, listed building, or a building which positively 
contributes to a conservation area will only be accepted in 
exceptional circumstances.  

  Proposals involving the loss, or weakening of aspects which 
contribute to the significance of a designated heritage asset or 
its setting will only be accepted where there are public benefits 
resulting from the proposals that outweigh the harm, and the 
harm has been minimised. (outlined in the explanation – see 
below)

  Where proposals are harmful to the significance of a 
undesignated heritage asset, any benefits of the scheme will be 
considered in the balance with the scale of harm. 

  Losses to archaeological sites will be permitted only where the 
merits of the development justify the loss and the harm has 
been minimised and mitigated appropriately.

Agenda Item 7

Page 231



Explanation: Sefton’s historic environment is a diverse rich and valued part of the 
borough’s cultural heritage – different parts of Sefton have their own 
identity and historic features which give them their own particular sense of 
place.   Heritage assets are often regarded as attractive aspects of an 
area, and can be a focus of local pride. 

The historic environment of Sefton represents a finite resource. The Policy 
aims to protect Sefton’s heritage assets and manage change to them 
where appropriate. Proposals should seek to make the most of and 
enhance the heritage values of the site, to maximise the benefits of 
development.   

National policy and guidance will be used to underpin the operation of the 
policy.  A Heritage Assets SPD will be produced in due course. 

Designated Heritage Assets include Listed Buildings, Scheduled 
Ancient Monuments, Registered Parks and Gardens and 
Conservation Areas.  

In Sefton these are: 

  560 Listed Buildings and their settings, including Sefton’s only  
Grade I listed building, St Helen’s Church in Sefton village, and 
many shops and cast iron verandahs along Lord Street in, 
Southport and a range of other agricultural, domestic and 
commercial buildings, 

  25 Conservation Areas, ranging from  Conservation Areas focussed 
on historic rural villages, such as Little Crosby and historic centres 
such as Churchtown or Waterloo 

  5 Parks and Gardens on the national register of Parks and Gardens 
of Special Historic Interest -  These are Botanic Gardens,, Hesketh 
Park, King’s and South Marine Gardens in Southport, Derby Park in 
Bootle, and the Ince Blundell Estate, 

  13 Scheduled Ancient Monuments (SAMs), comprising 9 Historic 
cross bases, three moated sites and an ancient chapel and burial 
ground in Lydiate. 

Undesignated heritage assets include sites and buildings that have a 
level of heritage interest that merits consideration in planning 
decisions, but fall short of the criteria set for formal designations.

In Sefton these include: 

  Buildings or sites which have no formal designations but have local 
heritage and/or architectural interest such as ‘the War Grave;’ site 
close to Stanley Road in Bootle;  

  Archaeological sites such as the remains of the Mesolithic 
dwellings recently discovered near Lunt; 

  Buildings or sites on locally compiled lists. 

Proposals affecting heritage assets must be informed by a proper 
understanding about what is significant about them.   Heritage Statements 
must accompany applications affecting heritage assets. They may form 
part of Design and Access Statements where appropriate. They should be 
proportionate - the greater the scale of works, the more in- depth the 

Agenda Item 7

Page 232



assessment should be. The statement should as a minimum explain the 
heritage significance of the site and how this has been taken into account 
in the design of the proposals.   

Restoration, repairs or enhancements will be required as part of 
development proposals, where this is appropriate.  This will be particularly 
relevant when large scale redevelopments or conversions to new uses are 
proposed. Where appropriate, enhancements to Heritage Assets or their 
settings can be funded through developer contributions.  

Opportunities to make repairs and secure vulnerable sites for the future 
(including those ‘at risk’) should be taken, especially where changes 
around the site may otherwise make it more vulnerable.  
Development which results in harm to heritage assets or their settings is 
not always avoidable. The greater the significance of the asset or part 
affected, and the nature of its designation - the clearer the need and 
stronger the justification for any harmful works must be. Where works will 
result in harm to the heritage interest, proposals for the development will 
be assessed against national policies and guidance. 

Sometimes development or alterations which harms designated historic 
assets may be justifiable if there are overriding public benefits.  Where the 
benefits of the development are limited to personal circumstances or 
preferences, or financially motivated, these are not likely to be considered 
‘public benefits’. National policy and guidance, and any relevant local 
policy and guidance relating to heritage should be adhered to. 

Planning applications for demolition should include details of any 
remediation or redevelopment.  Planning applications for any 
redevelopment proposals should be submitted concurrently, preferably 
forming part of the same application. 

In a conservation area or historic park or garden where proposals include 
for demolition and redevelopment, an uninterrupted, phased programme 
for the development shall be agreed and a contract signed before the 
building or structure is demolished, where appropriate.  

If losses are agreed, recording, analysis and reporting shall be undertaken 
where appropriate.  

Listed Buildings 
The integrity of Sefton’s 560 Listed Buildings, their features, and their 
settings, should be protected from harm.  

Conservation Areas 
Sefton Council has a duty to review its Conservation Areas from time to 
time, and as a result Conservation Area boundaries can change over time, 
and new Conservation Areas may be designated. 

The character of Conservation Areas must be positively managed, so that 
changes arising from development conserve, and where possible enhance, 
the aspects of the Conservation Areas which are important to their historic 
interest and appearance.  This will mean that Conservation Areas can 
continue to be enjoyed by those living, working or visiting them.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 233



Conservation Area appraisals and management policies (where available), 
define the individual characteristics which contribute to the character of the 
conservation areas and identify opportunities for enhancement.  Proposals 
for alterations to features within the conservation area should be consistent 
with the advice in the appraisal and any management policies and take 
opportunities to enhance the area. 

Registered Historic Parks and Gardens  
Registered Parks and Gardens should be conserved and retained for their 
intrinsic value and the benefit of users.  Their historic qualities give the 
parks an added dimension to their use and enjoyment by visitors and also 
confer economic benefits.  Four of Sefton’s 5 Register Parks and Gardens 
are Grade II and are Victorian in origin.  Ince Blundell Hall estate is Grade 
II* and incorporates a number of highly graded listed buildings. 

Scheduled Ancient Monuments and archaeology 
Sefton contains archaeological sites which hold evidence of the area’s 
history of occupation and agriculture spanning thousands of years. 

Some archaeological sites of national importance benefit from statutory 
designation as “Scheduled Ancient Monuments”. Works to these sites or 
activities carried out in their vicinity will usually require a special consent 
from the Secretary of State. Sefton has a comparatively high number of 
Scheduled Ancient Monuments in comparison to neighbouring authorities 
that of 13, all being of Medieval in origin, predominately of cross bases with 
the exception of three moated sites and a domestic chapel and burial 
ground.

Sefton’s Scheduled Ancient Monuments all include above ground remains 
or landforms.  They are therefore vulnerable to decay and damage.  
Development should not impact on them and they should be preserved in 
situ.   

Information about Sefton’s sites with archaeological interest is held within 
the Historic Environment Record (HER).  This is updated with information 
as and when new sites are discovered.  Where proposed development is 
on previously undeveloped land or is believed to have potential to affect a 
historic asset of archaeological value applicants should check the HER 
when a site is considered for development, in order to discover if 
archaeological assets are present. 

If a site is highlighted as known or suspected to contain archaeological 
assets, a proportionate amount of information should accompany 
applications. Desktop assessments will be required as a minimum.  
Preliminary fieldwork may also be required.  The information which 
supports the development proposals should be sufficient to describe the 
likely impacts on the archaeological asset, explain what measures to 
minimise any impacts have been taken and describe any proposed 
mitigation measures.  

Where an archaeological site is of a national level of importance it subject 
to the same protections as if it were designated. 

Undesignated Heritage Assets 
Some historic buildings, areas, parks, site or structures or other features of 

Agenda Item 7

Page 234



historic, heritage or cultural value fall short of the quality required for 
national designations.  Though not statutorily protected, their local heritage 
‘value’ is a material consideration when determining planning applications.  
The value of non-designated heritage varies, and those which have a 
greater level of historic interest and value to the community will be afforded 
greater protections.   

Non-designated assets which will be affected by development proposals 
should be identified early in the planning process.  Pre-application 
discussions are advised where the application may have local heritage 
implications. 

Where appropriate, the local planning authority will create a list of locally 
designated heritage assets in accordance with best practice guidelines.  
Additional measures such as ‘Article 4 Directions’ or legal agreements   
may be used to give additional protection, where appropriate. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local character 
and historic assets and minimizes impact on its surroundings 

To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the emphasis on 
improving the quality of [place 

To manage the effects of climate change, to encourage best use of resources and 
assets, land and buildings, and to reduce Sefton’s carbon footprint. 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

ER1 Environmental Assets  
P1 People and Places 

Links to other 
policies:

PD1 Design,  
PD2 Sites of school and colleges and care institutions in the urban area, 
CC4 Making the best use of resources,  
ER4 Green infrastructure, 
ER7 Landscape Character,  

Policy Context: 
e.g. NPPF 
paragraph; gov 
guidance; 
Council/partner 
plans 

NPPF Chapter 12  
PPS 5 Practice Guide 

English Heritage Publications 

Agenda Item 7

Page 235



Policy Title: ER7 Landscape Character 

Policy Text: 1.  Development in the countryside will be permitted where proposals 
protect, enhance or restore landscape character, as appropriate.  

2.  Development on sites on the edge of settlements (including within 
and outside the urban area) should protect and enhance the positive 
distinctive features of both the surrounding built townscape and rural 
landscapes.   

Explanation: The National Planning Policy Framework recognises the importance of 
landscape.  Sefton’s rural landscapes, including its historic landscapes, 
are a strategic environmental asset which contributes significantly to 
Sefton’s distinctive character and sense of place.  The main components 
are its generally flat, low lying, and open character, linked to the Coast 
and Lancashire plain. There are 8 landscape character areas in Sefton, 
as set out in Figure ER7-1 below.  

Figure ER7-1 Landscape Character Areas in Sefton 
Sefton Coast  

  Sandy foreshore (the intertidal area) 

  Coastal dunes (from the west of Blundellsands to the 
west of Birkdale (including the area west of Hightown, 
Formby and Ainsdale) 

  Dune backlands (focussing on the eastern area between 
Formby and Ainsdale, the southern fringes of Formby, 
and eastern fringes of Hightown to Crosby, Churchtown 
and a small area west of Birkdale) 

Lancashire Plain 

  Coastal Marshlands (north and west of Southport) 

  Carr farmlands (east of Southport and Formby into West 
Lancashire, and the Sefton fringe of the Alt Valley from 
Hightown to Maghull and Netherton)

  Estate farmlands (north of Netherton, Thornton and 
Crosby)

  Settled farmlands (east of Maghull, Aintree and Melling, 
and into West Lancashire) 

  Enclosed Marsh (a small area north of Southport) 

Landscape character types, features and characteristics across Sefton 
are set out in the Landscape Character SPG and Merseyside Historic 
Landscape Characterisation Project and any additional or subsequent 
guidance.  Similar information is available for West Lancashire – parts 
of the two districts have the same or similar landscape characteristics.    

Sefton’s landscapes have evolved to their present form over thousands 
of years of a combination of natural geomorphological changes and 
human influence – Sefton’s landscape here has been occupied and lived 
in for several thousand years.   

Perhaps the more notable historic landscapes and settlements occur 
around North Meols / Churchtown, Formby Hall, Ince Blundell, Little 

Agenda Item 7

Page 236



Crosby and Thornton, Lydiate Hall, Melling Rocks and Melling House.  

In this policy, and in strategic policy, ER1 ‘Environmental Assets’, 
‘landscape’ refers to the rural landscape including that of Sefton’s 
villages, and includes historic landscape aspects.  The landscape 
(townscape) of Sefton’s larger settlements is covered by the ‘Design’ 
and related policies.   

Section 1 of the policy aims to protect, enhance or restore, where 
appropriate, landscape character as a result of development. 
Development should not harm the significant characteristics of the 
particular landscape.  A proportionate approach will be taken depending 
on the qualities and value of the affected landscape.  It should be noted 
that as almost all of Sefton’s rural landscapes are within the Green Belt, 
the principle of development will generally be set out in the other Local 
Plan polices, notably Policy PD3 ‘Development in the Green Belt’.  

The need for protection will generally increase with the rarity of the 
landscape locally and in some cases regionally, the quality of the site in 
terms of its landscape character, and historical importance. Where 
viable and appropriate, landscape character should be enhanced, There 
may be need for greater  enhancements  where the site or the wider 
landscape is degraded, for example on a previously- developed site, 
close to major route corridors (such as the M57) or within areas which 
were  formerly  landfill sites such as the Rimrose Valley or Sefton 
Meadows.

The relative tranquillity and relative absence of light pollution is an 
important part of the character of some of Sefton’s landscapes area is 
an important part of their character, and this should be born in mind 
when applying policy PEP1 ‘Pollution and Hazards’. There is a balance 
between the new tree planting (in terms of policy ER4 ‘Green 
infrastructure‘) and the character of Sefton’s landscapes.  

Section 2 of the policy focuses on the specific issues at the urban/ rural 
edge.  The policies PD1 ‘Design’ and ER4 ’Green infrastructure’ are also 
particularly relevant. 

While Green Belt policy in effect limits the amount of development in the 
countryside and Sefton’s smaller villages; development, and the amount 
and location of tree planting in these areas can affect landscape 
character. Development on sites at the edge of the built up area 
(whether inside or outside it), including at the edges of housing and 
employment sites released from the Green Belt, can have a significant 
impact on landscape character.  It is particularly important that 
development and the amount and design of tree planting  on such sites 
makes the most of opportunities to reflect and reinforce local landscape 
character including historic landscape values.  

The distinctive features of Sefton’s landscape and its qualities 
include:

  Topography, landforms and geology 

  Coastal foreshore, dunes, pinewoods and coastal 
parks

Agenda Item 7

Page 237



  Patterns of dispersed, or nucleated settlement 
including relationships between farmsteads 

  Field patterns and remnants of previous land 
management regimes 

  Boundary treatments including field boundaries 

  Character of drains, ditches, ponds and waterways 
and their relationship to boundaries, trees or other 
features

  Regular and irregular patterns and species of 
woodlands, plantations, trees and hedgerows 

  Distant and open views, tranquillity and remoteness 

  Character and networks of country lanes 

  Heathland, wetland or agricultural character 

  Building materials  

  Local patterns of ecology and habitats  

  Leisure and recreational uses 

  Historic earthworks, buried and built features 

  Historic and cultural connections 
[The above may go into an SPD, as now]

Relevant Plan 
Objectives:

To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local 
character and historic assets and minimises impact on its surroundings.  

To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the 
emphasis on improving the quality of place.  

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

ER1 Environmental Assets 
P1 People and Places 

Links to other 
policies:

PD1 Design 
PD3 Development in the Green Belt 
ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement and geology 
ER4 Green infrastructure  
ER6 Heritage Assets 
PEP1 Pollution and Hazards

Policy Context: National Planning Policy Framework 
EU Directive on Landscape 

Agenda Item 7

Page 238



Chapter 10.  Climate change and carbon reduction

Strategic Policy CC1: ‘Managing Climate Change and Reducing Sefton’s 
Carbon footprint’

1. The location and design of development should take every opportunity to mitigate for and 
adapt to climate change and extreme weather events, and to reduce Sefton’s carbon 
footprint, in terms of: 

  Reducing the risk of flooding from  a range of sources and of coastal change 

  Reducing transport emissions 

  Improving access, accessibility and sustainability 

  Reducing energy use and emissions through energy efficiency 

  Using good design to maximise benefits from natural energy and resources 

  Increasing use of decentralised, renewable and low carbon energy 

  Reducing water use and improving water quality 

  Making the best use of sites, buildings and materials 

  Reducing waste and increasing recycling 

  Reducing the impact of climate change on the natural environment 

  Reducing the risks from temperature extremes.    

Explanation

Climate change in the North West, including Sefton, is likely to result in:   

  Warmer summers and winters, with more temperature extremes  

  Drier summers , winters (the same/wetter?) 

  More intense rainfall 

  More storminess 

  Rising sea levels   
(UKCIP 2009)

This policy, and supporting more detailed policies, aim to help Sefton both to adapt to climate 
change (for example through flood risk management) and mitigate it (through reducing 
carbon emissions (for example from reducing energy and transport emissions, and reducing 
use of non-renewable resources including water). 

Sefton is a low-lying, coastal authority, in the path of prevailing north-westerly winds. This 
means that it is especially vulnerable to the impacts of climate change in relation to flood risk 
and storminess.(General)

Flood risk and water quality 
Flood risk from all sources and its management is a important local issue; especially surface 
water flood risk, which in any given year has a 1 in 100 chance (1%) of potentially affecting 
30% of properties in Sefton.    (Sefton SWMP, GL’s SWMP presentation) 

Water quality in Sefton is generally good or moderate, reflecting recent tighter regulation of 
industrial sites and environmental awareness, although the need to reduce nutrient 
enrichment and agro-chemical input, and the impact of the legacy of contaminated sediment 
(from previous industrial use).  Nevertheless, the need to protect and enhance water quality 
remains crucial throughout Sefton, for its own sake and notably to help protect the integrity of 
the internationally important coastal nature sites and the quality of watercourses flowing in 

Agenda Item 7

Page 239



these sites and the dune aquifer.    (EA’s River Basin Management Plan, North West River Basin 
District (2009))  

  Policy CC2 ‘Flood Risk and Surface water management’  

  Policies PD1 ‘Design’ and CC4 ‘Making the best use of resources’  

Coastal Change
The coastline –notably the natural coast - is vulnerable to limited change (erosion) south of 
Hightown and from the mouth of the River Alt northwards around Formby Point to Weld 
Road, Southport, although north of the Pier the coastal salt-marsh is extending seawards.  
(Shoreline Management Plan for sub-cells 11a and 11b (SMP2) (2011, general)) 

  Policy ER5 ‘The Sefton Coast and development’ 

Transport and accessibility
The National Planning Policy Framework calls for local plans to focus significant 
development in locations which are or can be made sustainable, where the need to travel will 
be reduced and the use of sustainable transport - such as walking, cycling, public transport 
or low–emissions vehicles  - can be as high as possible.  This can help to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions, to support Sefton in moving to a low carbon future.  It is also 
important to make appropriate proviso nfor transport infrastructure.    

  Policy PC1 ‘Access and facilities’ 

  Policy SR10 ‘Transport’ 

Energy
Sefton has a good record in working with developers to secure provision of energy from on-
site renewable sources for major non-residential development, achieving high Code for 
Sustainable Homes (in the Housing Market Renewal Areas of Bootle) and BREEAM (New 
schools) ratings, and has seen recent on-shore (Port) and off-shore wind turbine 
developments as well as combined heat and power (district heating) schemes in 
developments (Port).  Studies have shown that Sefton may have some potential for further 
renewable energy infrastructure developments.

Fuel poverty is an issue in much of Sefton (which a recent multi-million pound (REECH) 
programme targeting energy efficiency, together with other initiatives, has had significant 
success in reducing).  The local aspiration to reduce fuel poverty ties in with national and 
local targets to reduce energy use and CO2 emissions, and to support appropriate 
renewable and low carbon energy schemes in Sefton as well as the low carbon economy 
generally. (Planning Services Records, LCR Renewable Energy Study (2010), REECH documents, 

Affordable Warmth Strategy)      

  Policy CC3  ‘Energy and Carbon Reduction’ 

  Policies PD1 ‘Design’ and CC4 ‘Making the best use of resources’  

Careful use of resources (including water) and sites
United Utilities’ Water Resources Management Plan (2009) indicates no potential shortfall in 
the amount of water needed up to 2034/35, in the Integrated Zone which covers Sefton and 
most of the rest of North-West England.  However, this is meeting of demand is due to 
increased water management measures such as leakage reduction, water efficiency and 
water source enhancements.  Efficient use of water in development is therefore important, 
not least in potentially reducing the need for abstraction of local groundwater.   

(UU’s  Water Resources Management Plan (2009), esp table 13.1) 

‘Water poverty’ is potentially important in Sefton, given the existing evidence of ‘fuel poverty’. 
Section 1 of the policy addresses these issues. 

  Policy PD1 ‘Design’ and CC4 ‘Making the best use of resources’ 

  Policy CC2 ‘Flood Risk and Surface water management’  

Agenda Item 7

Page 240



Waste
European legislation, government targets, increased waste generation, the need for 
improved environmental protection and rising public expectations all drive the need for rapid 
changes in our approach to managing waste. In particular, the Liverpool City Region 
(Merseyside and Halton) needs to reduce its reliance on landfill by providing alternative 
facilities for recycling, reprocessing, treatment and disposal.  The joint Waste Local Plan for 
the Liverpool City Region (LCR) promotes sustainable waste management for all waste 
streams across the six LCR districts.   

  Policy CC5 ‘Waste.’ 

Impact on green infrastructure  - Reducing the impact of climate change on the natural
environment
The National Planning Policy Framework recognises the role of green infrastructure in 
helping adapt to and mitigate for climate change.  Sefton’s more detailed policies also 
recognise the importance of green infrastructure in Sefton, and the range of functions and 
benefits which it provides. Green infrastructure reduces air pollution, and air temperatures 
locally, and this may have health benefits, particularly in heatwaves.  
(http://www.greeninfrastructurenw.co.uk , A Green infrastructure plan for the Liverpool City Region 
(2011), [draft] Green Space Study (2011)) 

Sefton’s internationally important coastal nature sites are particularly vulnerable to ‘coastal 
squeeze’ due mainly to climate change, rising sea levels, characteristics of the dune aquifer, 
and the proximity of existing urban areas. Agricultural land (including that which is best and 
most versatile) lies mainly within low-lying areas reliant on pumped drainage.  It is particularly 
vulnerable to changes in rainfall amounts and intensity, land drainage and flood risk 
management.  
(Alt-Crossens FRM Strategy, Agricultural Land Study, national information, Green Space Strategy)         

  Policy ER4  ‘Green infrastructure’ 

  Policy ER5 ‘The Sefton Coast and development’ 

  Policy ER2 ‘Nature conservation and enhancement and geology’ 

  Policy CC2 ‘Flood Risk and Surface water management’  

Temperature extremes
It is likely that the impacts of climate change in Sefton will include more extreme summer 
temperatures.  Past evince in the UK and Europe indicates that this can cause or exacerbate 
health problems, including deaths, particularly in vulnerable groups such s the elderly or the 
very young.  Design and layout of sites and buildings, and the presence of green 
infrastructure notably trees or water, may help reduce temperatures.  This may be directly 
through shade, or by reducing passive solar gain inside buildings.  Trees and planting 
(through the cooling effects of evapo-transpiration) and water can reduce air temperatures 
locally.  The choice of materials and finishes for buildings and hard landscaping may also 
effect temperatures, due to differences in absorbing heat(from the sun),         

Sefton has considerable areas of sandy and peaty soils as well as clay and other soils.  
Some are particularly vulnerable to soil loss, erosion, shrinkage/expansion or instability 
(which could affect stability of buildings, structures and infrastructure).  Climate change may 
increase these soil and landscape vulnerabilities.  

(Agricultural Land Study, national information, Sefton’s Climate Change Adaptation Plan and 

corporate workshop discussions thereon, consultee comments on Core Strategy Options (2011))

More generally, likely changes in temperature and rainfall will affect the range of suitable 
plants in urban and rural developments, as well as biodiversity across Sefton. (Alt-Crossens 

FRM Strategy, Agricultural Land Study, national information, Green Space Strategy)         

  Policy ER4 ‘Green infrastructure’ 

  The policy approach to land resources including soil and best and most versatile 
agricultural land is set out in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 241



Policy Title: CC2 Flood risk and surface water management 

Policy Text: 1. Development should be located in areas at lowest risk of flooding, 
following a sequential approach to flood risk which demonstrates 
that there are no alternative reasonably available sites which are at 
lower risk from flooding; and that within the site, buildings are 
located in the areas at lowest risk of flooding. 

2. Development will be permitted where it is demonstrated that: 

a) The development, over its lifetime is safe and is for an 
appropriate use given the level of flood risk;  

b) Surface water is managed sustainably within the site as far as 
possible; and surface water run-off rates and volumes are 
reduced by 20% (compared to the pre-existing rates) for 
brownfield sites and for greenfield sites do not exceed 
greenfield rates.   

Development incorporates sustainable drainage systems in 
preference to removal of surface water through existing 
sewers. Robust justification is required for any development 
seeking to connect surface water run-off to a public sewer 
network.

Where possible sustainable drainage systems should 
incorporate:  

  Above ground, natural drainage features rather than 
engineered or underground systems, 

  Enhancements to water quality, 

  Creation of new wetland or other habitats and 
enhancements to existing habitats; and        

c) Flood risk from all sources has not been increased, and where 
possible has been reduced (in addition to the provisions of 
section 2b above), within the site or elsewhere. 

3. Site-specific Flood Risk Assessments will be required for all 
development on sites of 0.5 hectares or more in Critical Drainage 
Areas.

4. Sustainable drainage schemes (SuDS) under section 32 and  
Schedule 3 of  the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 should 
meet  the  criteria set out in section 2 above, in addition to the 
National Standards. 

Explanation: Paragraphs 99 to 104 of the National Planning Policy Framework and its 
Technical Guide refer to flood risk management, including the need to 
develop policies to manage flood risk from all sources and take 
opportunities offered by new development to reduce the causes and 
impacts of flooding.   Sefton has prepared a Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment (SFRA) 2013, in line with this national guidance.     

The National Planning Policy Framework and its Technical Guide deal in 

Agenda Item 7

Page 242



some detail with river and tidal flood risk, which affect some parts of 
Sefton as set out in the SFRA.  

However, the SFRA and Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP) 
indicate that surface-water flood risk is the most significant flood risk in 
Sefton. Around 40,000 of 120,000 properties (around 33%) are affected 
by surface-water flood risk at the 1 in 100 year event.  Climate change, 
and notably the likelihood of increased rainfall intensity, is likely to 
increase the risk of surface water flooding (and flooding from other 
sources) and/or the challenge of managing it effectively.      

Hence, it is important in Sefton that new development manages and in 
some cases reduces surface water flood risk, and manages surface water 
sustainably through use of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS).  The 
requirements in section 2(b) for development on brownfield sites to 
reduce surface water run-off rates and volumes by 20% (compared to the 
pre-existing rates), and for greenfield sites not to exceed greenfield rates 
are based on the recommendations in the SFRA and the SWMP.    This 
applies to extensions as well as new buildings, although it is accepted that 
section 2()b) may not always be achieved in schem3s which are purely 
changes of use.  

This management of surface water runoff links to the Local Flood Risk 
Strategy, also produced by the Council in response to its legal duty to 
manage flood risk from surface water, groundwater and other ‘local’ 
sources. Applicants should refer to national or local guidance on SuDS, 
such as the. CIRIA SuDS Manual and RSPB/WWT SuDS guidance).   

Section 32 and Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 
in effect require Councils to approve SuDS schemes which meet national 
and local requirements, and to adopt such approved schemes once 
completed.   These provisions of the Act have not yet been implemented, 
but it is anticipated that they will be implemented early in the Plan period. .  
However, sections 2(b) and 4 of the policy set out Sefton’s local 
requirements, once the provisions come into effect. 

As set out in the ‘Green infrastructure’ policy, such adopted SuDS 
schemes, together with any other areas which are formally designed to 
manage surface water or other flood risk (for example, Lunt Meadows 
washland) are important components of Sefton’s green infrastructure.  As 
such they should be protected from development which would harm these 
flood risk management functions, and applicants should also refer in 
particular to the ‘Green infrastructure’ policy.  

A key aspect of green infrastructure is that it may have many functions, as 
set out in Figure GI; for example nature or public recreation functions. An 
aim of section 2(b) of this flood risk and surface water management  
policy is to make sure that SuDS have other functions, where appropriate. 

Another aim of sections 2(b) and 2(c) of the policy is to help implement 
the Environment Agency ’s River Basin Management Plan (which relates 
to Water Framework Directive requirements).  This emphasises wider 
water quality measures, not just reducing pollution from run-off and 
discharges, including: 

  Redeveloping older industrial sites near to watercourses (e.g. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 243



because of historic pollution) for less polluting uses like housing 

  Making river channels more natural and less engineered, e.g. 
creating new flood storage areas, removing structures which might 
impede flow 

  Opening up culverts in (re)development sites – again to make the 
river more natural. 

  Improving biodiversity, linked to improvements in water quality.   

Water quality in Sefton is generally good or moderate. There is a need to 
protect & enhance water quality for its own sake and to help protect the 
integrity of the coastal nature sites and the quality of watercourses flowing 
into them and the dune aquifer.   

As part of making sure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere, as set 
out in section 2(d) of the policy, applicants should also follow existing 
‘good practice’ and Environment Agency  bye-laws, such as not building 
within 8m/10m of watercourses or defences, not building over culverts 
and opening them up where practicable.   

The National Planning Policy Framework sets out national requirements 
for site-specific Flood Risk Assessments. The additional, Sefton-specific 
requirement in section 3 of this policy is for site-specific Flood Risk 
Assessments in Critical Drainage Areas for surface water.  This reflects 
the significance of surface water flood risk in Sefton.  The Critical 
Drainage Areas are identified in the Sefton Surface Water Management 
Plan (2011) and reproduced in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
(2013).

Site-specific Flood Risk Assessments are a key tool for demonstrating 
that flood risk from all sources has been taken into account and managed 
appropriately.  Section 3 aims to make sure that development in the parts 
of Sefton where surface water flood risk is most significant take it properly 
into account.      

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(4) To manage the effects of climate change, to encourage best use of resources 
and assets, land and buildings, and to reduce Sefton’s carbon footprint. 
(2) To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where 
possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing 
assets. 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

CC1 Climate Change and Carbon reduction 
ER1 Environmental  Assets 

Links to other 
policies:

ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement 
ER4 Green infrastructure  
ER5 The Sefton Coast and development   
PD1 Design    

Policy Context:  National Planning Policy Framework and Technical Guide  

 Flood & Water Management Act 2010 

 [draft] Local Flood Risk Strategy (2013) 

 Environment Agency River Basin Management Plan / Water Framework 
Directive 

Agenda Item 7

Page 244



Policy Title: CC3      Energy and carbon reduction 

Policy Text: Energy efficient and low carbon design
1. The design of development should achieve  reductions in greenhouse 

gas emissions through: 
a) Making the most of natural solar gain through site and 

building layout and design; 
b) Energy efficiency measures; 
c) Use of low carbon, decentralised and renewable energy, 

including micro-generation, where practicable; and
d) Provision of infrastructure for low emissions vehicles, where 

practicable or where the development is within the scope of 
an approved or committed Council or partner programme.         

2. Development should meet national standards for energy efficiency or 
any future locally-determined standards.  Extensions will be permitted 
where the energy efficiency of both the proposed extension and of the 
existing home meets these standards.    

3. Larger housing development schemes  and major non-residential 
development should incorporate renewable energy measures to 
provide at least 10% of the predicted energy requirement from on–site 
or decentralised renewable energy sources.  

4. Where it is not viable  for development to meet these energy standards 
and targets set out in sections 2 to 4 above, applicants should consider 
compensatory provision, including financial contributions, within the 
context of the Government’s emerging ‘Allowable Solutions’ framework 
or the Council’s approved energy strategies. 

Low carbon, renewable and decentralised energy Infrastructure 
5. Development in appropriate locations for large scale grid-connected 

renewable energy infrastructure and equipment, and for decentralised, 
renewable and low carbon energy schemes, will be permitted where 
they do not result in unacceptable harm to the local environment which 
cannot be mitigated successfully.  

This includes the area of search for wind energy at Ince Blundell and 
the priority zone for district heating at Kew, Southport. 

Proposals within the Green Belt will need to demonstrate that the 
wider benefits of the development outweigh the potential harm to the 
Green Belt.

Appropriate provision for mitigation or compensation should be made 
to make sure that proposals do not have an adverse effect on 
internationally important nature sites. Development which may have 
an adverse effect on internationally important nature sites will only be 
permitted where it can be demonstrated that there are both no 
alternatives and imperative reasons of overriding public interest. 

6.  New-build development proposals (excluding extensions) should use 
available local opportunities for decentralised or district heating. Such 
development proposals in an area which could be served by an existing 
or committed decentralised or district heat network should: 

Agenda Item 7

Page 245



a) Include the necessary network and other infrastructure within 
the site and scheme; 

b) Be constructed, located and designed to allow future 
connectivity; and

c) Contribute an appropriate amount to the capital cost of the 
network provision. 

Where it is not practicable for development to achieve this, applicants 
should consider compensatory provision, including financial 
contributions, within the context of the Government’s emerging 
‘Allowable Solutions’ framework or the Council’s approved energy 
strategies and plans. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

The NPPF requires Local Plans to help secure radical reductions in 
greenhouse gas emissions and support the delivery of low carbon and 
renewable energy and infrastructure (para 93).  LPAs are also required to 
support the move to a low carbon future and to actively support energy 
efficiency improvements to existing buildings (para 95).   Thus there are no 
reasonable alternatives to this policy.   

Agenda Item 7

Page 246



Proposed area of search for wind energy at Ince Blundell 

Proposed priority zone for district heating

Agenda Item 7

Page 247



Explanation
:

This Energy and carbon reduction policy reflects the Council’s on-going 
commitment to reducing carbon emissions in Sefton, increasing the use of 
sustainable energy, increasing energy efficiency in new and existing 
buildings, and reducing fuel poverty. 

Sefton has a good track record of achieving this, for example: 

  Reducing its own carbon emissions and energy use (Carbon 
Management Plan), 

  £14m REECH programme of energy efficiency measures in existing 
homes in Sefton and across the Liverpool City Region, 

  Achieving the 30% reduction target for energy use in local authority 
housing between 1996 and 2011 (set out in Sefton’s first  Home 
Energy Conservation Act (HECA) Plan, 

  Implementing the 2006 Unitary Development Plan policy DQ2 
‘Renewable Energy in development’ which required major non-
residential development to provide the capacity for 10% of its energy 
use from on-site renewable sources. 

Energy efficient and low carbon design

In section 1 of the policy, the requirement to provide infrastructure for low 
emissions vehicles links to paragraph 35 of the NPPF, which says that, 
where practical, development should incorporate facilities for charging plug-
in and other ultra-low emission vehicles, where practicable or where the 
development is within the scope of an approved or committed Council or 
partner programme.           

Section 2 of the policy seeks the highest practicable energy efficiency 
standards. The Government has stated its intention to raise the standards 
set out in Part L of the Building Regulations over time, in line with the higher 
levels of the Code for Sustainable Homes or/BREAAM levels (although these 
are currently under review).  The Building Regulations are the appropriate 
standard for section 2 of the policy until other national or local standards are 
in place, in which case the latter will take precedence. The Council would 
positively encourage developments which achieve greater energy efficiency 
standards.   

In the policy, including   section 4, viable means appropriate, technically 
feasible and financially viable. In assessing whether a scheme is viable, 
wider considerations than carbon reduction, cost and fuel security may 
apply. For example, the likely impact on heritage assets including Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas or other environmental assets may be 
important.

Section 2 of the policy also seeks to improve the energy efficiency of existing 
buildings, linked to proposals for extensions or additional floor space for 
existing homes and other properties.  This is in line with paragraph 95 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework which promotes active support for 
energy efficiency improvements to existing buildings. [May produce an SPD] 

Section 3 also seeks to retain the Sefton’s commitment to seeking provision 
of on-site renewable energy for major non-residential development, as part 
of the overall approach to energy use and efficiency.   Major non-residential 

Agenda Item 7

Page 248



development means new build development with a gross floorspace of 1,000 
sq m or more.  Section 3 also extends this commitment to larger housing 
schemes.  These are schemes of 50 or more new build homes or 
conversions which create 50 or more new homes. 

Where developers cannot meet the standards set out in the policy, any 
compensatory provision, including financial contributions should be used to 
support approved projects within the context of the Government’s emerging 
‘Allowable Solutions’ framework or the Council’s approved energy strategies 
and plans. 

As well as the Government’s emerging ‘Allowable Solutions’ framework, 
current Council priorities are set out in the LCR Sustainable Energy Action 
Plan, Sefton Sustainable Energy Action Plan  and the Home Energy 
Conservation Act (HECA) Plan 2013. The HECA Plan 2013 gives priority to 
reducing fuel poverty in Sefton. 

These include Council energy plans and strategies include projects for 
energy efficiency improvements to existing homes, in line with paragraph 95 
of the NPPF.  These would complement the energy efficiency improvements 
to existing buildings set out in sections 2 and 3 of the policy.    

 Low carbon, renewable and decentralised energy Infrastructure 

This part of the policy –sections 5 and 6 - sets out a supportive framework 
for delivering low and zero carbon energy infrastructure, in line with the 
NPPF and local and sub-regional strategies and plans. It will help Sefton to 
deliver carbon reduction targets and increase the proportion of decentralised 
and low carbon energy, to help achieve a low carbon economy for Sefton. 

It draws on the LCR Renewable Energy Capacity Study 2011 (Renewable 
Energy Study), which  provides evidence of the opportunities for renewable 
and low carbon energy in Sefton and the City Region, West Lancashire and 
Warrington.  It considered the viability of different forms of energy 
generation, identified possible constraints, set out suitable areas of least 
constraint and greatest resource, and sets indicative renewable and low 
carbon energy generation targets for each of the districts.  

Section 5 of the policy refers to large scale grid-connected renewable energy 
infrastructure and equipment including wind, solar photovoltaics, and 
Combined Heating and Power, or District Heating, schemes.   

The area of search for wind energy at Ince Blundell and the priority zone for 
district heating at Kew, Southport (using biomass Combined Heat and 
Power) are based on the evidence and conclusions set out in the LCR 
Renewable Energy Capacity Study 2011 (Renewable Energy Study).  The 
Study and this policy approach recognise that other sites may also be 
suitable. 

[These areas are due to be shown on the Policy Map at the Publication 
Stage of Local Plan preparation.  The relevant areas are shown in the 
attached plans, for information]. 

The ‘Onshore Wind Area of Search’ at Ince Blundell is adjacent to another 
Area of Search in West Lancashire; Areas of Search that form the best 

Agenda Item 7

Page 249



estimate of where wind energy generation may be most effective but have 
not been subject to an assessment of some major constraints or full viability.  
It notes that other sites where wind speeds are high may also be suitable for 
onshore wind development.

Offshore wind energy schemes, such as the existing wind turbines of Burbo 
Bank in Liverpool Bay, are outside the authority of the Council. 

Mitigation of harm to the local environment in sections 5 and 6  will be 
considered in relation to the likely impacts on: 

  Local residents (including flicker noise and shadow flicker for wind 
energy proposals); 

  Air, water and soil quality [TV etc reception?], and potential noise, 
light pollution; 

  Green infrastructure, including ecology; 

  Land resources including agricultural land; 

  The historic environment including designated and non-designated 
heritage assets; 

  Landscape character and value (including  cumulative impacts); 

  Transport, aviation navigation systems and communications; 

  Flood risk; 

  Other locally important issues and issues of acknowledged 
importance; and 

  Community benefits associated with the proposal. 

Proposals within the Green Belt will need to demonstrate that the wider 
benefits of the development outweigh the potential harm to the Green Belt.
With respect to internationally important nature sites such measures will 
need to be sufficiently extensive to enable a conclusion of no adverse effect 
on integrity unless it can be demonstrated that there are both no alternatives 
and Imperative Reasons of Overriding Public Interest. Such measures refers 
to mitigation and/or compensatory provision, as referred to in policy N 
‘Nature conservation and enhancement and geology,’ whose provisions also 

apply.

While these issues relate mainly to larger scale schemes, they may be 
relevant also to smaller schemes.  For example the benefits of micro-
generation would rarely outweigh adverse affects on heritage assets.    

Section 7 of the policy would include any community–led initiatives for  
decentralised, renewable and low carbon energy schemes, including those 
put forward in Neighbourhood Plans .

The Council’s support for renewable energy includes the provision for new 
build development (excluding extensions) to use available local opportunities 
for decentralised or district heating, in section 7.   The Council would also 
encourage this for conversions.  

Such schemes are often complex. District heating generally requires a range 
of types of users and high demands and number of users in reasonable 
proximity.  Schemes are often best located within or close to a large built-up 
area with a range of land uses.   Schemes also require sustained input and 
commitment from many partners.  .   

Agenda Item 7

Page 250



Thus the Council recognises, in section 7, that it is reasonable for developers 
to meet the criteria in set out in the section, where a scheme is already in 
place or where there is a firm proposal to set one up.  It would, however, 
encourage developers to take a pro-active role in initiating such schemes.  

Where these criteria are in place, but it is not viable for a development 
scheme to meet them, the applicant should consider compensatory 
provision, including financial contributions, within the context of the 
Government’s emerging ‘Allowable Solutions’ framework or the Council’s 
approved energy strategies and plans.  These are discussed in more detail 
above.

Relevant 
Plan
Objectives: 

(4)To manage the effects of climate change, to encourage best use of resources and 
assets, land and buildings, and to reduce Sefton’s carbon footprint. 
(1) To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

Managing Climate Change and Reducing Sefton’s Carbon footprint.   

Links to 
other
policies:

PD1 Design  
CC4 Making the best use of resources   

SR2 Extent of the Green Belt   
ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement  
ER6 Heritage Assets 
ER7 Landscape Character 

Policy 
Context: 

NPPF paras 93 -98, and para 35  
Climate Change Act 2008 
LCR Sustainable Energy Action Plan 2012 
Sefton Sustainable Energy Action Plan (draft) 2013 
Sefton Home Energy Conservation Act (HECA) Plan 2013 
Sefton Economic Strategy (2013) 
Merseyside Local Transport Plan  

Agenda Item 7

Page 251



Policy Title: CC4 Making the best use of resources

Policy Text: 1. Development should be sustainable in terms of the consumption of 
resources, including water.  The design and layout of sites and 
buildings and the methods of construction should:

a) Achieve efficiency in the use of land and buildings by re-using 
buildings and sites (brownfield land) where possible, 

b) Achieve reductions in the use of non-renewable resources, 
through:

  Water efficiency, including recycling of ‘grey-water’ where 
practicable, 

  Re-using and recycling existing materials where practicable, 

  Use of materials from renewable or sustainable sources 
where practicable,  

  Use of sustainable drainage systems in line with the 
provisions of policy ‘Flood risk and surface water 
management’, and   

  Energy efficiency and use of renewable and low carbon 
energy in line the provisions of policy E ‘Energy and Low 
Carbon development’’ 

2. Larger housing development schemes and major non-residential 
development should meet national standards, or any future locally-
determined standards, for internal and external water use, health and 
well-being and ecology. 

3. New residential development should achieve a minimum density of 30 
dwellings per hectare, except where a lower density can be justified 
having regard to the prevailing layout and character of the immediate 
surrounding area. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

An alternative approach is to include this policy within a wider ‘Design’ 
policy, but this was considered to be confusing.   

Explanation: The National Planning Policy Framework requires development to be 
sustainable and to use natural resources prudently. This policy sets out  
Sefton’s priorities for achieving this. 

Sefton has a good track record of achieving high rates of development on 
brownfield sites (100% for most of the 2000s).   However, studies such as 
the Strategic Housing Availability Assessment (SHLAA), housing need 
study, Employment Land and Premise Study (ELPS) produced during the 
Local Plan preparation process show that the supply of brownfield land is 
running out and that we need to look outside the existing built up area and 
develop some greenfield sites.  Nevertheless, the choice of Preferred 
Option and development sites has sought to reduce the extent of these 
sites.  Other Local Plan policies – for example regarding density and design 
quality - help to achieve this.     

Sefton has a good track record of seeking sustainable development, for 
example for major housing [re]development in the HMRI area which 
achieved specific EcoHomes, Code For Sustainable Homes or Building for 
Life standards; new schools and colleges built in the 2000s and other 
development (such as the ‘exemplar’ Asda store in Bootle and various 

Agenda Item 7

Page 252



industrial developments.  Sefton is committed to this approach - not just for 
energy but also for other aspects of sustainable design - and this policy 
seeks to consolidate past successes. 

National emphasis has been on energy rather than other sustainable 
design and resource issues such as use of resources and health and well-
being which are important in the Sefton context.    ‘Water poverty’ is also 
potentially important in Sefton, given the existing evidence of ‘fuel poverty’. 
Section 1 of the policy addresses these issues. 

Section 2 of the policy refers to standards.  While the higher levels of the 
Code for Sustainable Homes and BREEAM schemes (currently under 
review) have set out higher aspirations, current national standards are set 
out in Part L of the Building Regulations. The Building Regulations remain 
the appropriate standard for section 2 of the policy until other national or 
local standards are in place, in which case the latter will take precedence. 
The Council would positively encourage developments which achieve 
greater energy efficiency standards.   

Major non-residential development means new build development with a 
gross floorspace of 1,000 sq m or more.  Section 3 also extends this 
commitment to larger housing schemes.  These are schemes of 50 or more 
new build homes or conversions which create 50 or more new homes

Higher development densities can play a part in efficiency in the use of land 
and buildings, as set out in section 3 of this policy.  However, density of 
development, including housing density, should be compatible with good 
design and respect local character and distinctiveness, as set out in policy 
PD1 ‘Design’.

The minimum residential density target is a broadly a continuation of the 
approach in the previous Unitary Development Plan and in the former 
Planning Policy Statement 3: Housing. The minimum density of 30 dwelling 
per hectare has worked well in Sefton, allowing for a range of development 
types to be accommodated whilst ensuring an efficient use of land. 

However, in some areas of Sefton the prevailing character is of detached, 
low density housing. In these areas, the minimum density target will not be 
applied where it is judged that meeting this would result in development out 
of character with the surrounding area.

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(4)To manage the effects of climate change, to encourage best use of resources 
and assets, land and buildings, and to reduce Sefton’s carbon footprint. 
(7) To ensure new housing provision meets the diverse needs of a changing 
population, including affordable housing, special needs accommodation and family 
homes. 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

CC1 Managing Climate Change and Carbon Reduction 

Links to other 
policies:

PD1 Design 
CC2 Flood risk and surface water management  
CC3 Energy and carbon reduction 
PH1 Health and well-being  
ER6 Heritage Assets  

Policy 
Context: 

National Planning Policy Framework 
Code for Sustainable Homes / BREAAM 
UU’s Water Resources Plan  
Merseyside Waste Plan (MWDA Plan)      

Agenda Item 7

Page 253



Policy Title: CC5 Waste

Policy Text: The Council will promote sustainable waste management in 
accordance with the waste hierarchy. As set out in the Merseyside 
and Halton Waste Local Plan it will work to: 

  Identify and safeguard [where appropriate] waste 

management sites in appropriate locations; 

  Assist in the implementation of a resource-recovery led 

strategy for sustainable waste management; 

  Ensure that the Borough contributes to meeting the 

identified sub-regional waste management needs; 

  Encourage good design in new development in order to 

minimise waste, promote the use of reclaimed and 

recycled materials and to facilitate the storage, collection 

and recycling of waste; 

  Encourage the sustainable transport of waste and promote 

use of site waste management plans and audits; and 

  Ensure that waste management facilities are developed 

whilst minimising any negative impacts on the environment 

and communities of the Borough 

The allocation of sites and detailed development management 
policies are provided in the Merseyside and Halton Waste Local 
Plan.

Explanation: European legislation, government targets, increased waste 
generation, the need for improved environmental protection and 
rising public expectations all drive the need for rapid changes in 
our approach to managing waste. In particular, the Liverpool City 
Region (Merseyside and Halton) needs to reduce its reliance on 
landfill by providing alternative facilities for recycling, reprocessing, 
treatment and disposal. 

Agreement was reached between Sefton Council, the other 
Merseyside Councils and Halton Council to prepare a joint Waste 
Local Plan (formerly known as the "Waste DPD") for the Liverpool 
City Region area. The Merseyside and Halton Waste Local Plan 
has been prepared by Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service 
(MEAS), and promotes sustainable waste management for all 
waste streams across the six constituent districts. Decisions 
regarding planning for new waste management facilities should 
comply with policies in the Waste Local Plan, this policy and other 
relevant policies in the Local Plan. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives:

4. To manage the effects of climate change, to encourage best 
use of resources and assets, land and buildings, and to reduce 
Sefton’s carbon footprint. 
6.  To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, 
respects local character and heritage assets and minimises impact 
on its surroundings. 
9. To make sure that new developments include the essential 

Agenda Item 7

Page 254



infrastructure, services and facilities that it requires. 
12. To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based 
economy in terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, 
and support new and existing businesses. 

Relevant Strategic 
Policy: 

CC1 Climate Change 

Links to other 
policies:

ER3 Minerals 

Policy Context: e.g.
NPPF paragraph; gov 
guidance;
Council/partner plans 

Waste Local Plan 
NPPF 

Agenda Item 7

Page 255



SD1      Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach that 

reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National 

Planning Policy Framework. It will always work proactively with applicants jointly to find 

solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure 

development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. 

Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where relevant, 

with polices in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at 

the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether: 

 Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National Planning Policy 

Framework taken as a whole; or 

 Specific policies in the Framework indicate that development should be restricted. 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 256



Strategic policy P1: ‘People and Places ‘ 

1. Development should have a beneficial impact on people and the places where they live. 
This should include:  

  Maintaining and enhancing the local distinctiveness and character of towns, 
villages and neighbourhoods,  

  A high quality design, in terms of building and their relationship to their 
surroundings, 

  Making it easier for people to lead a healthy, active lifestyle,  

  Better connected communities, 

  Improve access to a choice of homes, education, jobs, services and facilities, 
culture and leisure opportunities and outdoor recreation, particularly by walking, 
cycling and public transport, 

  Safe neighbourhoods, with reduced fears of crime and anti-social behaviour,  

  Protecting amenity, especially residential amenity 

  Minimise pollution and reduced risk to health,  

  Local participation in decision making.  

2. Development should be supported by a suitable range of services and facilities that meet 
the everyday needs of people, such as schools, health facilities, open spaces, public 
transport, shops and other local services. . 

3. Town and Local centres and shopping parades should continue to be the main location 
for a diverse range of local uses that residents visit regularly. 

Explanation

Planning decisions can impact on the lives of people in many ways. It can determine the 
type, availability, quality and affordability of homes, provide places where people can work, 
impact on how people choose to travel, impact on their lifestyle and health, and affect the 
general quality life and place. 

The Framework makes it clear the importance of engaging with communities in the 
preparation of Local Plans so that they reflect a set of agreed priorities for the area. This 
policy sets out the key priorities for the Local Plan for issues that can directly impact on 
people and places. These have come about through a number of consultation stages, a 
review of plans and policies of the Council and its partners and an assessment of the 
evidence. Detailed policies in this section set out how these priorities will be implemented. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 257



Design / local distinctiveness /character

Policy Title: PD1 Design

Policy Text: 1. Development will be permitted where it is of high quality design that 
responds positively to the townscape, local character and 
distinctiveness of its surroundings.  

2. In areas where there is a lack of local character and distinctiveness, 
rather than reproducing any negative aspects and form of its 
surroundings development will need to demonstrate a distinctive 
quality to help to positively respond to its local environment. 

3. In order to be of high quality design, consideration will be given 
specifically to the following points: 

  Scale, density, massing, height, landscape, layout, alignment, 
orientation, materials, access, active frontages, townscape, 
architecture and amenity. 

  Promotion of retaining or creating landmark and gateway 
features particularly on corner or focal points in order to assist 
in legibility and creating or maintaining local distinctiveness. 

  Ease and safety of movement by creating new routes through 
identified development sites that integrate well with existing 
street patterns, priority should be given to the connectivity and 
permeability afforded to pedestrians, cyclists and those with 
limited mobility. 

  Safety and security of those within and outside the 
development through natural surveillance and creation of active 
frontages. 

  Preservation and enhancement of views towards, within and 
out of the development, especially for green edge sites where 
improvement of views into a townscape can help mitigate 
negative impact on openness.  

  Flexibility and adaptability to change in order to be sustainable 
and where possible provide buildings and spaces that could 
have alternative uses in future and that are adaptable to climate 
change and the various technologies associated with delivering 
renewable energy. 

  The delivery of high quality well connected and well maintained 
public realm, providing a range of spaces, enabling people to 
lead a healthy, active lifestyle, whilst helping to prevent crime 
and anti-social behaviour. 

  Where there is a mixture of uses within a development site care 
needs to be taken in order to effectively combine and integrate 
the different uses in a well thought out and holistic manner, 
including the protection of amenity.   

Agenda Item 7

Page 258



Explanation: Section 7 of the National Planning Policy Framework urges the need for 
good design as a key aspect of sustainable development.  Design 
relates to the success of many different aspects, objectives and targets 
such as economic prosperity, provision of new homes and public 
spaces, sustainability, well integrated communities, accessibility, 
legibility, adaptability and diversity. High quality and inclusive design – 
including for individual buildings, larger schemes, public and private 
spaces  - should contribute positively to making places better for 
people.   

This policy encourages development to create distinctive, sustainable  
places, by promoting mixed use areas, integrating residential 
development with community facilities, retail, other service provision, 
public space and public transport.  

The policy sets out general design criteria, which reflect relevant 
national guidance. The precise level of detail in any design and access  
statement or appraisal will vary from one site to the next.  Other Local 
Plan policies deal with more specific design issues -  for example  
those relating to sustainable design, energy and carbon reduction,  
sustainable surface water drainage (SuDS), and landscaping.    

Procedures

Proposals should take account of the characteristics of the site and its 
surroundings.  When a design and access statement is necessary, it  
should include the following information and assessments of: 

  The general character and distinctiveness of local buildings, 
spaces, public realm and landscape.  

  Landmarks and other features that are key to maintaining its 
local distinctiveness.  

  The diversity or uniformity of urban grain, style, construction, 
materials, detailing, decoration and period of existing buildings 
and spaces. 

  The topography of the site and surrounding area. 

  Views into and out from the site and its surroundings, such as  
streetscene elevations, visual demonstration of views of the 
proposed development 

  The current and historic uses in the area. 

To help major developments achieve high standards of design, they 
may be required to go through the national design review process 
(currently facilitated by Places Matter). Any recommendations from the 
Panel may be taken into consideration. 

Local Distinctiveness and Context

 Local character and distinctiveness plays a key role in defining a place 
and in reinforcing local pride, and should influence high quality design 
for new development. Where new development relates well to its 
surroundings, it is more likely to make a greater contribution to 
sustainability.  
Sefton has many diverse and distinctive areas of local character and 
identity. The character of larger areas of Bootle, Crosby, Formby, 
Maghull-Aintree and Southport has been set out in “Settlement 

Agenda Item 7

Page 259



Character Plans”, which are relevant as an overview.  Some areas may  
have more detailed information available – for example forthcoming 
Neighbourhood Plans, masterplans or Conservation Area Appraisals.  
The residential density approach, outlined in Policy CC4 ‘Making the 
best use of resources’, may also be relevant.  Rural landscape 
character types, features and characteristics across Sefton are set out 
in the Landscape Character SPG and Merseyside Historic Landscape 
Characterisation Project. 

Place Making

It is important when creating new neighbourhoods and regenerating 
deprived neighbourhoods that they have a real sense of quality, place 
and identity. They should be integrated with the adjacent settlement 
pattern and land-uses and have good connections by all means of 
transport (including walking and cycling) to jobs, education, health and 
other facilities.    

New development should integrate with the existing street pattern and 
services where possible. This can help improve legibility - making it 
easier for people to understand their surroundings and how to move 
through them.  It also improves permeability - ease of movement along 
a variety of safe, convenient and pleasant routes with priority for 
walking, cycling, those with limited mobility and public transport. Policy 
PC1 ‘Access and facilities’ is relevant to this.    

Where new development sites are at the urban fringe (which in Sefton 
is usually the boundary with the Green Belt) or next to public open 
spaces, it is particularly important to take opportunities to protect and 
enhance the positive distinctive features of both the surrounding built 
townscape and rural landscapes, in line with policy ER7 ‘Landscape 
Character’.  Similar considerations apply to sites next to public open 
spaces.

Environmental sustainability 

In order to increase environmental sustainability, where possible 
buildings and spaces should be designed in an adaptable and flexible 
manner. This could include floor layouts, architectural details, 
positioning of openings and integrated features to make it easier to 
extend or re-use for  a number of different functions 

Further sustainable design principles include those outlined in national 
guidance and good practice guidance (e.g. as produced by CABE  
Design Council).   

Development should also be designed to be as energy and water 
efficient as possible, and to use resources sustainably. Policies CC3 
‘Energy and carbon reduction’ and CC4 ‘Making the best use of 
resources’ may also be relevant. 

Safety, security and amenity

High quality places bring wider sustainability and community benefits, 
such as better health and education outcomes, reduced levels of crime, 
and improvements in community cohesion and social inclusion.  
They can have a significant value to a community, provide local focal 
points and can offer spaces for recreation or for people to meet 

Agenda Item 7

Page 260



establishing and maintaining economic vitality and sustainable 
communities.

This will create places where people will want to live and reinforce the 
importance of reducing crime and the fear of crime. A better 
understanding of these issues is provided in detailed national guidance 
including best practice guidance. 

Provision of high quality space around buildings – whether public or 
private space, green or hard-surfaced – is integral to good design.  The 
provisions of Policy ER4 ‘Green infrastructure’ are relevant, especially 
the sections relating to landscaping.  There is also a need to manage 
surface water sustainably, as set out in policy CC2 ‘Flood risk and 
surface water management’.  Other Local Plan policies may also be 
relevant.

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(3)  To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the 
emphasis on improving the quality of place. 
(4)  To manage the effects of climage change, to encourage best use of 
resources and assets, land and buildings, and to reduce Sefton’s 
carbon footprint. 
(6)  To make sure that development is designed to a high quality, 
respects local  character and historic assets and minismises impact on 
its surroundings. 
(8)  To allow people living in Sefton to lvie a healthy life, with access to 
leisure  opportunities and in safe environments. 
(10)  To improve access to services, facilites and jobs without people 
having to depend on the car.

Relevant Strategic 
Policy: 

ER1 Environmental Assets   
SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration   
P1 People and Places 
CC1 Climate change and carbon reduction

Links to other 
policies:

ER6 Heritage Assets 
ER7 Landscape Character
SR4 Housing Allocations and Phasing 
SRM1 Strategic site – Land east of Maghull 
SR6 Regeneration 
SR8 Centres and Parades 
PH1 Health and Wellbeing 
PEP1 Pollution and hazards 
PC1 Access and facilities 
CC3 Energy and carbon reduction 

Policy Context: NPPF 17. Core Planning principles, NPPF 7 Requiring Good Design 
By Design: Urban Design in the planning system: towards better practice 
CABE
Building for Life 12: the sign of a good place to live CABE 
Planning for Places: Delivering good design through core strategies CABE 

Agenda Item 7

Page 261



Policy Title: PD2 Education and care institution sites in the urban area 

Policy Text: Sites in active use as schools, colleges or other institutions
1. For sites in active use as schools, colleges or other institutions, the 

following types of development  are acceptable in principle where 
the criteria in section 2  are met :   

i. Development proposals directly related to the existing uses  
of the site, and for diversification of uses  which comprises 
sustainable economic growth of the existing use; 

ii. Development for community-based recreation or sports 
facilities which are ancillary to the existing use of the site; 

iii. Environmental improvements designed to enhance the 
environmental quality of the site, or where appropriate the 
key characteristics (including number or performance of 
green infrastructure functions) of the site; 

iv. Any other development, including housing or sustainable 
economic development, which is limited in scale and extent 
and compatible with the existing uses of the site and 
surrounding land-uses. 

2. Development proposals which meet  section 1 and any relevant site-
specific section are acceptable in principle where it is demonstrated 
that, for the site as a whole, subject to the provisions of other Local 
Plan policies being met,: 

a) A significant proportion of the whole institutional site remains 
open in character, and  

b) The environmental quality, and  where appropriate the key 
characteristics (including the number or performance of 
green infrastructure functions) of the site, especially the open 
area, is enhanced;   

c) For school and college sites, sufficient provision of playing 
fields and other appropriate facilities is retained. 

Relevant policies include; PD1 ‘Design’, ER2 ‘Nature 
conservation and enhancement’, ER4 ‘Green infrastructure’ and 
ER6 ‘Heritage assets.’ 

Sites formerly but no longer used as schools, colleges or other 
institutions
3. For sites formerly in use as schools, colleges or other institutions the 

following types of development are acceptable in principle where the 
design of the development meets the provisions of other relevant 
Local Plan policies, and where appropriate, the key characteristics 
(including the number or performance of green infrastructure 
functions) of the site are retained or enhanced:   

i. Alternative school, college or residential institutional uses;  
ii. Any other development proposals for uses compatible with 

the surrounding land-uses.  
Relevant policies include; PD1 ‘Design’, ER2 ‘Nature 
conservation and enhancement’, ER4 ‘Green infrastructure’ and 
ER6 ‘Heritage assets.’ 

Note: Our approach to urban greenspace needs to change to reflect national 
planning policy.  Much of our public open space (such as parks, playing 
fields, sports club sites and allotments) will continue to be protected in 
both urban and rural areas.  We will protect fewer amenity green spaces 

Agenda Item 7

Page 262



(e.g. highway verges). A revised approach to urban school and college 
sites and care institutions intends to allow more development whilst 
retaining the key characteristics of the sites as far as possible, and more 
development on site where this use has ceased.  Almost all former 
private urban greenspaces will now be part of the primarily residential 
area. More information is set out in Appendix 3, which is provided for 
information purposes only at this stage.

Explanation: The purpose of this policy is to make clear the type and scale of 
development which will be is acceptable in principle on the school and 
colleges sites and care institutions (such as hospitals, and large care 
facilities such the Parkhaven Trust site in Maghull) in the urban area.  
These sites, shown on the Proposals Map, comprise large-scale 
buildings set in extensive grounds.    

[Designated Education and care institution sites in the urban area will be 
shown on the Policy Map at the Publication Stage of Local Plan 
preparation]. 

This policy does not apply to institutional sites, or parts of sites, which 
are in the Green Belt, or to education and institutional uses in the urban 
area which are not in large grounds.  Other National Planning Policy 
Framework and Local Plan policies apply to the principle of development 
on these sites. 

The schools and colleges sites in Sefton include schools maintained by 
the local authority, private schools, academies, foundation schools and 
‘free schools’.  The institutions shown on the Proposals Map include 
hospitals such as Southport Hospital and institutions which provide for 
specific health or care needs.  These include the Parkhaven Trust which 
operates from two sites in Maghull, the proposed ‘extra care’ facility on 
Damfield Lane in Maghull, the Nugent Care Society at Clarence House 
in Formby, and Nazareth House in Crosby.   

 The aim of this policy, together with other Local Plan policies, is to allow 
suitable development while protecting, and where possible enhancing, 
the key characteristics of particular sites.  These characteristics may 
include key design, green infrastructure, heritage or other characteristics 
– generally excepting openness and associated visual amenity.  This 
exception is because development under sections 1(i), 1(ii) 1(iv) and 3 is 
likely to involve building on previously open land. Key characteristics 
referred to in the policy include the number or performance of green 
infrastructure functions. Green infrastructure functions are shown in 
Figure ER4-2.

Many schools in Sefton date from the post-war period and are generally 
undistinguished, with few key characteristics. Other, usually older, 
schools, and institutional sites may have heritage, nature conservation, 
or other importance, as well as their educational or health and well-being 
value.  As such they may make an important contribution to the 
character and distinctiveness of their local area.   

However, for sites in active use as schools, colleges or other institutions, 
sections 1 and 2, and notably sections 1(iv) and 2(a) of the policy seek 
to limit the loss of openness of the site as a whole.  The site is a whole is 

Agenda Item 7

Page 263



the site of the institution as a whole, not a smaller part of it which may be 
the subject of any planning application.       

Notably, section 1(iv) limits the scale and extent of the types of 
development set out in section 1(iv), and section 2(a) reinforces this by 
requiring a significant part of the site to remain open. These sections 
seek to make sure that the loss of openness is appropriate to the 
particular characteristics of the site as a whole (, and the need for the 
Local Plan to allow sustainable development.  Section 2(b) seeks to 
enhance any remaining key characteristics of the site as a whole, and of 
the remaining open areas.   

A major reason for facilitating other appropriate, limited development (as 
set out in section 1(iv) of the policy) is that in recent years, non-
educational institutions in particular have faced financial, regulatory and 
other pressures to enhance and extend the type, range, extent and 
standards of their facilities.  Pressures may also include changing local 
needs and demands, not least because of Sefton’s increasing  number 
of elderly people, which may have seen an increased demand  for  
particular types of care services such as dementia care services and 
‘extra’ care’.  There has also been pressure for health authorities to 
provide housing for ‘key workers’. This policy aims to help such 
institutions to flourish and diversify.   

Section 2(c) of this policy aims to make sure that schools and colleges 
retain sufficient playing fields and other relevant facilities, in line with any 
relevant government guidance.   

For sites formerly, but no longer, used as schools, colleges or other 
institutions, loss of openness is likely to be acceptable except where it 
affects another key characteristic, such as the setting of Listed Building, 
publicly accessible land, a nature site or trees subject to a Tree 
Preservation Order.     However, section 3 seeks to retain and enhance 
other remaining key characteristics. 

 It should be noted that, notwithstanding this policy, there are other 
regulations which restrict development on playing fields generally, and 
school playing fields and former school playing fields in particular.  

Playing fields are defined in the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010.  The 
Order restricts development on playing fields or sites used as playing 
fields in the last 5 years. The Department for Education’s ‘Playing Fields 
Directive’ places other restrictions on the development or loss of school 
playing fields and land used as school playing fields in the last 10 years.  
Section 2(b) of the ‘Green infrastructure’ policy seeks to protect public 
playing fields from development. 
         

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

(5) To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the needs arise. 
(6) To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local 
character and historic assets and minimises impact on its surroundings.  
(2) To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where 
possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing 
assets. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 264



(3) To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the emphasis 
on improving the quality of place. 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

P1 People and places 
ER1 Environmental assets  

Links to other 
policies:

ER2 Nature conversation and enhancement  
ER4 Green infrastructure  
ER6 Heritage assets  
PD1 Design    
   

Policy Context: National Planning Policy Framework  
Emerging LCR Green infrastructure Framework 
Emerging LCR Ecological Framework  
Various Conservation Area Appraisals 

Agenda Item 7

Page 265



Policy Title: PD3 Development in the Green Belt 
This policy is sets out how the Council will apply and interpret the 
requirements of section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework in 
Sefton, so that the essential characteristics of the Green Belt – their 
openness and permanence - are preserved when any development is 
permitted.

Policy Text: New development
The following categories of new development will be permitted in the 
Green Belt provided they preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do 
not conflict with the purposes of including land in it: 
1. Buildings for agriculture and forestry; 
2. Appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, recreation, and for cemeteries; 
3. Small-scale composting in the countryside; or 
4. Mineral extraction, engineering and other operations. 

Where possible, development which is permitted by virtue of this policy 
should be located within or adjacent to existing settlements or groups of 
permanent buildings in order to protect the openness of the Green Belt. 

Alterations or extensions to existing buildings
Extensions or alterations to an existing building will only be permitted 
provided that they: 
1.  do not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size 
of the original building; and  
2.      is sympathetic to the design of the original building. 

Replacement buildings in the same use
Where a building is replaced by one in the same use, development will be 
permitted:
1. If the replacement building is not materially larger than the one it 

replaces; and 

2. The remains of a permanent structure have blended into the 

landscape in the process of time.  

Changes of use of existing buildings 
The change of use of existing buildings in the Green Belt will only be 
permitted where: 
1. the building is of permanent and substantial construction and 
sufficient of the building remains so that any previous use has not 
blended into the landscape in the process of time; 
2. if the building was originally used for the purposes of agriculture, it 
has been in existence for a minimum of 10 years or the agricultural use 
did not permanently cease more than 3 years before the date the 
application  was submitted; and  
3. the development would not have a greater impact on the openness 
of the Green Belt than the original building. 

Redevelopment of previously developed land and buildings 
The partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites 
(brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use (but excluding 
temporary buildings), will be permitted provided that the new building 
would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and 

Agenda Item 7

Page 266



the purposes of including land within it than the existing development. 

The form, bulk and general design of any replacement or new building(s) 
should conserve and enhance the form and style of the original building 
or group of buildings and be in keeping with its surroundings, unless there 
are overwhelming reasons to permit an alternate form of development 
which would have a lesser impact on the openness of the Green Belt than 
the existing development.  

Limited infill
Limited infill will be permitted within: 
1. the ‘inset’ villages of Ince Blundell and Little Crosby (see Policy SR2 
‘Extent of the Green Belt’), provided that the requirements of Policy PD3 
‘Development in the Green Belt’ and PD1 ‘Design’ are met, and also 
Policy ER6 ‘Heritage Assets’ for development in Little Crosby; and 
2. within Ashworth Hospital, Altcar Rifle Range and RAF Woodvale 
and on other previously developed land, whether redundant or in 
continuing use but excluding temporary buildings, provided that all of the 
following criteria are met: 
a) the development would not have a greater impact on the openness 
of the Green Belt and the purposes of including land within it; and 
b) it does not lead to a substantial increase in the proportion of the site 
which is developed. 

Explanation: Development in the Green Belt 
The National Planning Policy Framework states that most development in 
the Green Belt is inappropriate. The only exceptions to this are set out in 
paragraphs 89 and 90 of the NPPF. Any other development is, by 
definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in 
very special circumstances.  

This policy sets out the criteria the Council will apply to development 
which is not inappropriate, in order to ensure that the openness of the 
Green Belt is maintained and the purposes of including land in the Green 
Belt sustained. These are based on, and clarify, the requirements of 
paragraphs 89 and 90 of the NPPF.  

Whilst most of the exceptions included in this paragraph are likely to be 
granted planning permission subject to normal planning considerations, 
due to the size and shape of Sefton and its main settlements, there is no 
exceptional affordable housing requirement in the Green Belt and 
applications for such housing are likely to be refused. 

The Council has adopted ‘a minimum of 10 years’ as the period buildings 
should be in existence to demonstrate that they are of permanent 
construction. This is derived from paragraph 2 of the Town and  Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (Amendment) Order 1997 (SI 
1997 No. 366) which states that if a building or extension erected under 
specified agricultural permitted development rights on or after 1 April 1997 
permanently ceases to be used for agriculture within ten years of its 
substantial completion, and planning permission has not been granted 
authorising development for purposes other than  agriculture within three 
years of the permanent cessation of its agricultural use, and there is no 
outstanding appeal, the building or extension must be removed unless the 

Agenda Item 7

Page 267



local planning authority has otherwise agreed. 

The Council’s existing SPG ‘Development in the Green Belt’ will be 
updated and replaced with a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) to 
reflect the changes resulting from the introduction of the NPPF. This will 
also provide guidance about how terms such as ‘materially larger’, 
‘disproportionate additions’ and ‘not having a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt and the purposes of including land within it’ 
which are used in the NPPF will be interpreted by the Council. It will also 
set out how this policy applies to house extensions.. 

Paragraph 86 of the NPPF states that if villages which should be 
protected for reasons other than to protect the important contribution the 
open character of the village makes to the openness of the Green Belt 
should be excluded from the Green Belt. Ince Blundell and Little Crosby 
are the only villages in Sefton where a limited amount of infill development 
may be accommodated. Development in these villages should be 
controlled by other policies in the Plan including Policy PD1 ‘Design’ and 
ER6 ‘Heritage assets’ and other Development Management policies. 

For other development that may be proposed in the Green Belt, including 
those listed in paragraphs 90 and 91 of the NPPF, applications will be 
considered on their individual merits. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

1. To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 
2. To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where 
possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing 
assets. 
5. To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the needs arise.
6. To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local
character and historic assets and minimises impact on its surroundings.  
9. To make sure that new developments include the essential infrastructure,
services and facilities that it requires. 
14. To work with our neighbours and partners to make sure Sefton contributes to, 
and benefits from, its place within the Liverpool City Region.

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SD1 Promoting Sustainable Development  
SS1 Spatial strategy
ER1 Environmental assets  
SR1 Sustainable growth and regeneration 

Links to other 
policies:

Design, Conservation and DM policies e.g. those relating to house extensions.  
Need to update and replace Development in the Green Belt SPG with a SPD. 

Policy Context: Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework, especially paragraphs 81, 
89 and 90 

Agenda Item 7

Page 268



Version 5 

Policy Title: PD4   House Extensions and Alterations 

Policy Text: Extensions and alterations to houses dwelling houses will be approved 
where:

  They are of a high quality of design that complements or 
matches the style of the dwelling and the surrounding area; 

  The size and scale of development is in keeping with the 
original dwelling and the character of the area; 

  The extensions and alterations are designed to minimise the 
impact upon the amenity of neighbouring properties. in 
particular extensions must not: 

o Result in a loss of outlook, from the main windows of 
neighbouring habitable rooms (including bedrooms, 
kitchens, living rooms, conservatories and dining 
rooms).

o Cause a significant loss of light for neighbours. 
o Be over-dominant. 
o Cause an significant loss of privacy for other residents.  

Alternatives 
Considered:

The only alternative is to not have a policy on House Extensions and 
for House Extensions to be considered as part of the wider design 
policy. However as House Extensions constitute a significant 
proportion of planning applications and they also present their own 
issues of design and amenity in relation to neighbouring properties, 
then a policy is considered necessary.  

Explanation: Extensions and alterations to residential properties are important in 
that they allow householders flexibility to adapt their properties to 
changing reflect changes in lifestyles situations without having to move 
house.  

For the purpose of this policy the above considerations will be given to 
outbuildings, garden structures, decking etc, where planning 
permission is required. 

All householder developments will need to consider other relevant 
policies in the Local Plan, for example where the site is: 

 A heritage asset (including being a Listed Building and/or being 
in or adjacent to a Conservation Area). 

 The site is in the Green Belt. 

Further detailed guidance is set out in Supplementary Planning 
Documents.  

Relevant Plan 
Objectives:

  To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with 
the emphasis on improving the quality of place.  

  To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, 
respects local character and historic assets and minimises 
impact on its surroundings. 

  To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with 
access to leisure opportunities and in safe environments. 

Relevant
Strategic Policy: 

P1 People and Places 

Agenda Item 7

Page 269



Version 5 

Links to other 
policies:

PD1 Design. 
PC1 Access & Facilities. 
ER6 Heritage & Conservation. 

There is an existing House Extensions SPG. This will be superseded 
by a new House Extensions SPD. 

Policy Context: There isn’t a specific policy context. Links to amenity and design in 
NPPF.

Agenda Item 7

Page 270



Version 5 

Policy Title: PD5    Telecommunications 

Policy Text: 1. Where planning permission or prior approval is required, schemes 
for telecommunications equipment involved with mobile phone 
network development will be permitted provided that: 

  that it would not significantly harm the visual quality, landscape 
or setting of an environmentally sensitive area or building 
indicated by the following designations: 

o Green Belt; 
o Ecologically Valuable Sites; 
o Heritage Assets; 

  that the number, siting, design or scale would not significantly 
harm the appearance of the street scene, including buildings; 

  that the number, siting, design or scale would not impede 
movement and compromise pedestrian safety. 

  Must demonstrate that opportunities to mast share and reduce 
impacts have been taken. 

  Protect the outlook from residential properties. 

2. All telecommunications applications must be accompanied by the 
appropriate ICNIRP certificate.  

Alternatives 
Considered:

The alternative is to have no policy. It is felt that due to the importance 
of modern telecommunications and the public concerns that often 
accompany telecommunications installations that a separate policy is 
required.  

Explanation: Telecommunications equipment can be unsightly and there are 
concerns among the public about health impacts (especially around 
schools, hospitals and homes). The Council recognises the need for 
telecommunications equipment to support their systems. However 
planning permission and prior approval will only be given for proposals 
that meet the criteria set out in this policy and those in Government 
Guidance and Statutory Regulations. The Government expects local 
authorities to be supportive of the economic and social advantages 
that telecommunications equipment can bring and for operators to 
handle any environmental impacts sensitively and take into account 
the public’s views. 

For the purposes of this policy, telecommunications equipment 
includes: 

 base stations on buildings, 

  ground-based masts,  

  equipment cabins,  

 antennae,

 microwave dishes 

  ancillary apparatus equipment) 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives:

  To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in 
Sefton

  To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, 
respects local character and heritage assets and minimises 
impact on its surroundings.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 271



Version 5 

  To make sure that new developments include the essential 
infrastructure, services and facilities that it requires. 

  To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based 
economy in terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, 
and support new and existing businesses. 

Relevant
Strategic Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable growth and regeneration.  

Links to other 
policies:

SR7 Infrastructure and developer contributions.  

Policy Context: National Planning Policy Framework paras. 42 - 46 

Agenda Item 7

Page 272



Policy Title: PD6     Advertisements 

Policy Text: Proposals for advertisements will be assessed against their impact 
upon amenity and public safety.

In relation to amenity the following will be considered: 

  They should be in scale and sympathetic to their immediate 
surroundings and not dominate buildings, street scenes or open 
areas;

  They should respect the design and appearance of buildings on 
which they are displayed and be properly co-ordinated with the 
design of the building and its features. The advertisement 
should respect the window / wall proportions and rhythm of an 
elevation and be integrated into the building or be of solid 
construction;    

  The size, location, any illumination and whether a proliferation 
of adverts will create clutter, will be taken into consideration; 

  Signs in open countryside and rural areas, residential areas, or 
affecting heritage assets will require particularly sensitive 
treatment and will need to be more carefully designed so they 
do not have an adverse impact. 

In relation to public safety the following will be considered: 

  The location, siting, design or scale must not impede movement 
of pedestrians or compromise pedestrian safety. 

  The location, siting, illumination, design or scale must not 
compromise the safety of vehicles using the public highway. 

Advertisements displayed within or adjacent to Heritage Assets will 
need to be of particularly high quality, respecting the size, materials, 
proportions and detailing of the building. 

Advertisements on the verandahs in the Lord Street Conservation Area

  Advertisements attached to the verandahs should be limited in 
extent and must not over-dominate or hide their features. The 
cumulative effects of signage on the verandahs will be taken 
into account.   

Explanation: Local planning authorities are responsible for the day to day operation 
of the advertisement control system established by the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations 2007. NPPF 
para 67 also spells out how the LPAs should use those powers. The 
advertisement control system covers a very wide range of 
advertisements and signs including: 

  Posters and notices 

  Placards, boards (including A boards) and hoardings 

  Fascia signs and projecting signs 

  Pole signs and canopy signs 

  Models and devices 

  Advance signs and directional signs 

  Estate agents boards 

  Banners 

  Stationary vehicles used for the purpose of advertising 

Agenda Item 7

Page 273



Advertising is closely associated with urban life and can be one of the 
most dominant elements of the environment. It can enhance the 
appearance and vitality of a street but can also cause considerable 
damage to visual amenity by cluttering the built environment and 
detracting from the quality of the area and the street scene. Displaying 
an advertisement without consent is a criminal offence. Advertisements 
(defined under Advertisement Regulations) include not only hoardings, 
but blinds and canopies with lettering, flags with logos, balloons etc.  

Some advertisements can have a real impact upon public safety, 
especially when they are on or adjacent to the public footway or 
highway. All applicants should check that they do not need permission 
from the highways authority. A particular issue can be A boards that 
can create a hazard to pedestrians. 

Advertisements within or adjacent to Heritage Assets can be 
particularly harmful if they are not displayed sensitively. The verandahs 
in the Lord Street Conservation Area are a key feature of Southport’s 
distinctiveness and present particular problems with inappropriately 
designed advertisements. Advertisements attached to the verandahs 
should be limited in extent and must not over-dominate or hide their 
features. The cumulative effects of signage on the verandahs will be 
taken into account.   

Powers will be used to remove any advertisement or hoarding erected 
without consent and where appropriate and practical, to challenge 
unauthorised hoardings and advertisements that cause substantial 
injury to visual amenity and public safety.  

Relevant Plan 
Objectives:

  To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in 
Sefton.

  To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, 
respects local character and historic assets and minimises 
impact on its surroundings.  

  To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with 
access to leisure opportunities and in safe environments. 

  To support Sefton’s town and local centres so they are able to 
adapt to local and wider needs for shopping, leisure, culture 
and other services, which contribute to making centres more 
viable.

Relevant
Strategic Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth & Regeneration. 
P1 People and Places 

Links to other 
policies:

PD2 Design.
ER6 Heritage Policies.  
PA3 Enforcement.
PC1 Access and Facilities. 

Policy Context: NPPF para 67   

Agenda Item 7

Page 274



Making it easier for people to lead a healthy, active lifestyle  
 

Policy Title: PH1 Health and Wellbeing 

Policy Text: The Council and its partners will help to improve environments and 
places that encourage people to lead healthy and active lifestyles.  

Proposals for new development should seek to: 

  Maximise opportunities for additional and improved sport, 
recreation and leisure facilities in appropriate locations; 

  Improve access to and management of areas of ecology and 
natural value; 

  Protect and improve safe walking and cycling routes between 
homes, schools, jobs and other facilities; 

  Restrict uses that have a negative impact on health, such as 
those that cause pollution and result in high traffic levels, in 
sensitive areas, such as residential areas, schools and 
hospitals; 

The proliferation of Hot Food Takeaway outlets [use class A5] is 
managed.

Explanation: Nationally the life expectancy of people born in Sefton is lower than the 
national. In addition there are large discrepancies within in Sefton as 
life expectancy is 11.5 years lower for men and 10.5 years lower for 
women in the most deprived areas of Sefton than in the least deprived 
areas.

Some particularly prevalent health problems in Sefton include obesity 
and diabetes, respiratory disease, cardiovascular disease, cancers, 
alcohol abuse, depression and mental illness, and smoking related 
diseases. 

In general terms the health of people can be improved by providing 
homes and jobs for people and improving the environment in which 
they live. However, a number of other measures can be implemented 
to help specific issues.  

About 20.7% of Year 6 children are classified as obese, higher than 
the average for England. For adults the rate increases to 23.9%. Being 
obese increases your risk of developing a number of serious and 
potentially life-threatening diseases such as diabetes, strokes, cancer 
and depression. Whilst the causes of obesity are numerous and do not 
have a single solution, there is a clear link between obesity and 
sedentary lifestyles.  

One way that planning can assist is to improve the local environment 
and provide places for formal and informal physical activity. A network 
of open spaces in accessible locations, that are safe and secure, can 
provide places that people will choose to visit and use. Additionally 
providing services, facilities, schools and jobs in locations that make 
walking or cycling a viable travel choice will assist in increasing the 
amount of exercise people take. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 275



In addition to the above measures, there is a need to control the 
proliferation of hot food takeaways in Sefton, but particularly in areas 
where poor health and obesity levels are highest. The prevalence of 
uses such as these can influence eating habits and has been linked to 
the risk of obesity [Government Office for Science (2010) Tackling Obesities: 

Future Choices – Project Report 2nd Edition]. This approach is set out in Policy 
PH2 Food and Drink. 

Air pollution can cause and exacerbate problems associated with 
respiratory and inflammatory systems, but can also lead to more 
serious conditions such as heart disease and cancer. People with lung 
or heart conditions may be more susceptible to the effects of air 
pollution. 

Large scale developments have the ability to incorporate measures 
within the scheme to improve the health of residents who live there.  

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

8. To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to leisure 
opportunities and in safe environments. 
9. To make sure that new developments include the essential infrastructure, 
services and facilities that it requires. 
10. Improve access to services, facilities and jobs without having to depend 
on the car. 

Relevant Strategic 
Policy: 

P1 People and Places 
ER1 Environmental Assets 

Other Relevant 
policies:

PH2 Food and Drink 
PEP1 Pollution and Hazards 
PC1 Access and Facilities 
ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement  
ER4 Green Infrastructure 

Policy Context: NPP Framework . 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy  
Healthy Weight Strategy 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 276



Version 5 

Policy Title: PH2       Food and Drink

Policy Text:   Proposals for food and drink uses in the town, district and 
local centres will be permitted where they meet all of the 
following criteria: 

o they would not cause significant harm to local 
amenity; 

o they would not result in a grouping of similar uses 
which would harm the character of the area; 

o any external ventilation and extractor systems do 
not significantly harm the external appearance of 
the building or the street scene. 

  Proposals for food and drink uses in or adjacent to 
Primarily Residential Areas will not be permitted where 
they cause significant harm to residential amenity or the 
residential character of the local area. 

  Proposals for hot food takeaways [A5 uses] within 400 
metre walking distance of secondary schools, sixth form 
colleges and borough and district level parks will not 
normally be granted permission. This is to protect the 
health of children. Exceptions may be made where: 

o in the case of takeaways near to secondary schools 
and sixth form colleges, the application has a 
condition attached restricting opening hours until 
after 1630 hours. 

o in all cases where the takeaway is in a designated 
town, district or local centre.  

Procedures 

  Details of external flues & extractor systems must be 
submitted with all applications. 

  Conditions may be used to restrict opening hours where 
appropriate.  

Alternatives 
Considered:

The alternatives included not having a policy and not having any 
restrictions upon A5 uses.  

Explanation: Food and drink uses include restaurants, cafes, hot food 
takeaways, public houses and wine bars i.e. ‘Classes A3, A4 and 
A5’ food and drink uses. Such uses can contribute to the vitality of 
Sefton’s town, district, and local centres. However, food and drink 
uses should not harm the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties through noise, disturbance or smell, or their effect on 
the appearance of the street scene. 

Sefton has high levels of childhood obesity. It is acknowledged in 
the Sefton Strategic Needs Assessment shows that Sefton has a 
well above average level of childhood obesity. Limiting access for 
people of school ages to potentially unhealthy hot food is one of a 
number of ways to help address this issue. The policies apply to 
schools, to make it more difficult for children to get takeaways (A5) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 277



Version 5 

at either lunch or straight after school, and public parks which are 
often are used by children of teenage years to socialise. A 240 
metre straight line distance is used to replicate a 400 metre 
walking distance.  This is used as a proxy to estimate a 5 to 10 
minute walking distance. This distance calculation is in line with 
other approved national and Council strategies.  

The list of Borough and District Parks for the policy applies are: 

Southport

  HESKETH PARK 

  BOTANIC GARDENS 

  ROTTEN ROW 

  SOUTHPORT BEACH 

  SOUTHPORT GOLF LINKS 

  BEDFORD PARK 

  MEOLS PARK RECREATION GROUND 

  CARR LANE RECREATION GROUND 

  BIRKDALE BEACH AND DUNES 

  PORTLAND STREET PLAYING FIELDS 

  AINSDALE BEACH 

  SOUTHPORT SKATE PARK 

  TOWNLANE COMMUNITY WOODLAND 

Formby

  FORMBY DISCOVERY CENTRE AND BEACH 

  DEANSGATE LANE PLAYING FIELDS 

  DUKE STREET PARK 

Crosby

  CROSBY COASTAL PARK 

  CHAFFERS PLAYING FIELD (INC BROOK VALE 
PLAYING FIELDS) 

  VICTORIA PARK 

  BUCKLEY HILL PLAYING FIELDS 

  RIMROSE VALLEY COUNTRY PARK 

Sefton East Parishes 

  NORTHWAY OPEN SPACE 

Bootle and Netherton 

  NORTH PARK 

  SOUTH PARK 

  DERBY PARK 

  KINGS GARDEN 

  HATTON HILL PARK 

  RIMROSE VALLEY COUNTRY PARK 

  MARIAN PARK 

Exceptions will be made where the proposal is for a takeaway in a 
town, district or local centre as these are often the most 
appropriate places for takeaways (subject to the first part of this 
policy).

Agenda Item 7

Page 278



Version 5 

Food and drink uses may be acceptable within the Primarily 
Residential Area, but only if they do not harm residential amenity. 

In order to protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers, 
conditions will be used to restrict opening hours. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives:

  To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, 
with the emphasis on improving the quality of place.  

  To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, 
respects local character and historic assets and minimises 
impact on its surroundings.  

  To support Sefton’s town and local centres so they are able 
to adapt to local and wider needs for shopping, leisure, 
culture and other services, which contribute to making 
centres more viable.

Relevant Strategic 
Policy: 

 P1 People and Places.  

Links to other 
policies:

PC1 Access and Facilities. 
SR8 Centres and Parades.  
PH1 Health and Wellbeing.
PA1 Development in Primarily Residential Areas. 

Policy Context: e.g.
NPPF paragraph; gov 
guidance;
Council/partner plans 

Sefton Strategic Needs Assessment. 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

Agenda Item 7

Page 279



Better communities 

Policy Title: PC1      Access and facilities 

Policy Text: 1. In order to improve accessibility in Sefton new development should 

adhere to the following principles: 

  Be located and designed to encourage walking and cycling both 
within, to and from the site, 

  Be located in areas that are accessible, or are capable of being 
made accessible, to bus stops and rail stations, 

  Be located in areas with an accessible existing range of local 
services and facilities or, where appropriate,  be supported by 
new services and facilities, 

  Consider the needs of all residents and users of services and 
facilities, including those with limited mobility,  

  Consider the safety of pedestrians, cyclists and all road users, 
and

  The provision of on-site car parking should not exceed the 
Council’s adopted maximum standards 

Travel Plans will be required for development specified in the 
table below. 

2. The preferred locations for development which generates significant 
movement of freight are: 

  Sites which are served by sea, canal, rail or where rail facilities 
can be provided as part of the development; or where these 
options are not available, 

  Where there is good access to a road designated a Freight 
Priority Route. 

Explanation: The location of development determines both the number of journeys 
which are generated and what the transport choices are. Development 
which is likely to generate a significant number of journeys should be 
located in areas that are accessible by walking, cycling or public 
transport. These areas are defined in the ‘Ensuring Choice of Travel 
SPD’. 

The most accessible locations are generally those within easy walking 
distance of public transport services [200m of a bus stop or 400m of a 
rail station]. These areas are identified in the Ensuring Choice of Travel 
SPD. Improvements will be sought in new developments that are not 
within these distances, to improve access to public transport. These 
improvements will be set out in the Council’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
and/or within site specific development briefs.  

The most accessible locations in relation to public transport, a range of 
local services and the Council’s Car Parking Standards are set out in the 
Ensuring Choice of Travel Supplementary Planning Document.

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

4. To manage the effects of climate change, to encourage best use of 
resources and assets, land and buildings, and to reduce Sefton’s carbon 

Agenda Item 7

Page 280



footprint. 
5. To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as 
far as possible close to where the needs arise.  
8. To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to 
leisure opportunities and in safe environments. 
10. To Improve access to services, facilities and jobs without having to 
depend on the car. 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SP3 People and Places 

Links to other 
policies:

SR10 Transport 

Policy Context: NPPF part 4 
LTP3 

Thresholds for Transport Assessments and Travel Plans 

Land Use Threshold 

Food retail/ non-food retail/ cinema and conference facilities/ clad D2 
including leisure 

1000m2

Class B1 including offices/ hospitals/ higher and further education 2500m2

Stadia 1500 seats 

Class B2 industry 5000m2

Class B8 distribution and warehousing 10000m2

Housing development 100 homes 

Development proposals which impact on the primary route network 

Agenda Item 7

Page 281



Context : The Government is committed to delivering a wide choice of homes to 
meet market, affordable and special needs and create mixed 
communities. Whilst the largest contribution to provision will be made 
by market housing, it will also be important to meet the needs of 
households requiring affordable and special needs housing where 
these needs are identified. 

Policy Title: PC2     Affordable and Special Needs Housing 

Policy Text: The Council will seek the provision of affordable and/or special needs 
housing where a Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) or 
other evidence justifies such a need.  

Affordable housing and/or special needs housing will be sought as part 
of proposals for  new developments of 15 dwellings or more (or for 
residential and other conversions involving 15 or more additional 
dwellings net) where there is a proven need based on the most recent 
SHMA or other robust evidence.  

The Council requires affordable housing to be provided in all parts of 
the Borough except Bootle, on the basis of 30% of the total scheme 
(measured by bedspaces) and split by 80% social rented and 20% 
intermediate housing. 

Where special needs housing is provided, either in addition to or as an 
alternative to affordable housing, it should be provided in proportion to 
the above overall scheme proportions and mix of tenure. This would 
apply whether the scheme is solely for special needs housing or as part 
of a mixed affordable and special needs housing development  

Affordable housing or special needs housing will be secured through 
legal agreements. 

Affordable and/or special needs housing will be provided in accordance 
with this policy, except where a robust assessment of a scheme’s 
economic viability indicates that this cannot be achieved. 

Explanation: The Council will, from time to time, commission studies to assess the 
need for affordable and special needs housing. 

A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) will be prepared to provide 
more detailed policy guidance to aid the delivery of affordable and 
special needs housing. In the future such an SPD may vary the 
proportion of affordable and/or special needs housing sought on sites 
from the levels stated above, dependent on any changes in the 
Borough’s affordable and special housing needs as demonstrated by 
new evidence and changes in economic viability. 

Based on current evidence, for developments of 15 or more dwellings 
(or conversions involving 15 or more additional dwellings net) the 
Council would normally expect the provision of 30% affordable or 
special needs housing, measured by bedspaces. This should be split by 
80% social rented housing and 20% by intermediate housing (the 
Council normally has 100% nomination rights in respect of the former).  

The Council also requires that the affordable or special needs dwellings 
shall be (a) ‘tenure blind’ i.e. that there shall be no external visual 
difference between the affordable/special needs housing and market 

Agenda Item 7

Page 282



housing and (b) ‘pepperpotted’ i.e. there a reasonable dispersal of 
affordable housing or special needs units within residential 
developments to promote mixed communities and minimise social 
exclusion. (The only exception to this will be where it can be 
demonstrated that the affordable or special needs housing has to be 
grouped together for operational or management purposes). 

With the aim of promoting mixed communities, the Council will expect 
any affordable or special needs housing to be providedwithin the site as 
part of a mixed tenure/type of development. The Council will allow 
these to be provided on another site instead of the application site only 
in very exceptional circumstances i.e. where it would:  
(a) result in a more sustainable development and encourage inclusive 
and mixed communities; 
(b) take place on an alternative local site under the control of the 
applicant;
(c) broadly provide a similar amount on the alternative site to what 
would have been provided on the application site; and  
(d) provide the housing on the alternative site to an agreed programme 
and at the same time as the development of the application site.        

The above is subject to economic viability. Where an applicant seeks to 
depart from the policy position on this basis, the Council requires a full 
financial assessment to be submitted. This will be appraised by  
independent economic viability consultants. The applicant will be 
required to meet the full cost of this work. 

The affordable housing requirement currently applies to all parts of the 
Borough with the exception of Bootle (i.e. the wards of Derby, Linacre 
and Litherland), where we will not currently be seeking 
affordable housing, although this may change when the refresh of the  
Strategic Housing Market Assessment is completed.  

All affordable or special needs housing will be secured through an 
appropriate legal agreement. 

The density of development proposed must be appropriate for the site 
taking account of all relevant planning considerations. 

 Special needs housing is intended for people with a physical disability, 
frail elderly people, young vulnerable people, people with a learning 
disability, a mental health problem or severe sensory disability. It may 
include other special needs which are identified over time.  

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

1. To support urban regeneration and priorities for investment in Sefton 
5. To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the needs arise.
7. To ensure new housing provision meets the diverse needs of a changing 
population, including affordable housing, special needs accommodation and 
family homes. 
8. To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to leisure 
opportunities and in safe environments.

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable Growth and Regeneration 
P1 People and Places 
PD1 Design 

Links to other 
policies:

SR3 Housing requirements  
PH1 Health and Wellbeing 

Policy Context: NPPF: para 7, bullet 2; para 17, bullet 3; para 47, bullet 1; Para 50. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 283



Policy Title: PC3 Planning for Travellers 

Policy Text: 1. Land at Broad Lane, Formby (as shown on the plan) is allocated as a 
Traveller site. Further areas will be allocated in the Local Plan to meet 
the identified needs for traveller accommodation.  

2. Proposals for new sites for traveller accommodation should meet the 
following criteria: 

  The site should provide a safe environment for intended occupants; 

  The site should have good or adequate access to the primary road 
network;

  The use of a site for traveller accommodation should not make it 
difficult to develop a larger site for other uses; 

  The site should be within easy reach of a range of essential 
facilities and services, including health services, schools, and jobs; 

  The use should not cause significant harm to the amenity of 
neighbouring properties; 

  The site should, as far as possible, be in a location that meets the 
aspirations of the traveller community. 

Explanation: The Council must identify specific ‘deliverable’ sites for travellers.  This 
must provide a supply of pitches for a period of five years based on a 
target derived from a study of local need.  The Council must also identify a 
supply of specific, developable sites or broad locations for growth looking 
six to ten years ahead and, where possible, 11-15 years ahead. 

There is currently one traveller site in Sefton, located at Broad Lane, 
Formby, providing 16 permanent pitches. The most recent assessment of 
traveller need for Sefton concluded that a further 16 permanent pitches 
were required to 2016. In addition the study identified a need for 10 transit 
pitches across the study area [i.e. Knowsley, Wirral, Liverpool and Sefton]. 
Since the publication of this assessment consent for two additional pitches 
has been given adjacent to the Broad Lane site.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 284



The evidence of traveller pitches requirements needs to be updated. Six 
authorities that make up the Liverpool City Region have agreed to 
participate in a joint study to update the traveller needs for the area. The 
study should be complete towards the end of 2013 and it is expected that 
this will indicate that Sefton has a need for further pitches. 

The National Planning Policy Framework says that traveller 
accommodation is considered inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt. However paragraph 15 states that local planning authorities can make 
exceptional limited alteration to the defined Green Belt boundary “which 
might be to accommodate a site inset within the Green Belt” through the 
plan-making process. The Framework proposes that “if land is removed 
from the Green Belt in this way it should be specifically allocated as a 
traveller site only”. 

As there is a shortage of land for all types of homes in the urban area the 
Council is considering releasing Green Belt land to meet future housing 
needs which will be identified following the completion of the Liverpool City 
Region Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment later this 
year. The allocation of Traveller sites should only be done as part of the 
Local Plan process. This provides an opportunity to identify sites using the 
same criteria for traveller accommodation as for other homes.  

The traveller needs assessment will identify how many pitches may be 
required. Once the findings are known we will undertake a further  
assessment to determine the preferred location of new pitches.

Sites should be within easy reach of a range of essential facilities and 
services.  Guidance on this is provided in the ‘Ensuring Choice of Travel‘ 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

5. To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as far as 
possible close to where the needs arise. 
7. To ensure new housing provision meets the diverse needs of a changing 
population, including affordable housing, special needs accommodation and family 
homes. 
8. To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to leisure 
opportunities and in safe environments. 
10. To improve access to services, facilities and jobs without having to depend on 
the car. 

Relevant 
Strategic
Policy: 

P1 People and Places 

Links to other 
policies:

SR3 Housing Requirement 

Policy Context: Planning Policy for Traveller Sites [CLG, March 2012] 

Agenda Item 7

Page 285



Policy Title: PC4     Community Facilities 

Policy Text: Development will be approved for the creation and improvement of 
community facilities of public value where they do not conflict with other 
policies within this plan. 

Where development proposals are submitted for new or improved 
community facilities, they should be in an accessible location or be 
served by sustainable modes of transport. 

Where a proposal will result in the loss of a valued community facility, 
the development will only be approved where it can be demonstrated 
that the facility is no longer needed or where alternative provision can be 
made to meet community needs. 

Particular importance will be attached to retaining important community 
facilities where if that facility is lost the village/neighbourhood would be 
left without such a facility. Where it is proposed to redevelop (including 
changing the use) a community facility of local importance, development 
will be permitted where it meets the following criteria: 

  The existing facility is being relocated or is being replaced on the 
site or in the nearby vicinity, or; 

  An existing accessible facility can reasonably provide for the 
facility or service that is being lost with the development, or; 

  The use is no longer economically viable and it can be 
demonstrated that there is no longer a demand for the use as 
demonstrated through a minimum 12 month marketing exercise. 

Explanation: For the purposes of this policy, the definition of a community or cultural 
facility of public value are; facilities including land or buildings that are 
have been formally identified as an “Asset of Community Value” through 
the Community Right to Bid process. Community facilities may include 
(but not exclusively): 

  Local shops 

  Meeting places 

 Sports venues

 Cultural buildings

 Public houses

  Places of worship 

  Schools 

The NPPF seeks to promote the active use of, and to guard against the 
loss of valued cultural and community facilities and to plan positively for 
new facilities. 

Community facilities often compete with other uses which command a 
higher value and are therefore subject to development pressures. This 
can put existing facilities under pressure and it is therefore necessary to 
put in place measures to preserve such infrastructure. 

In certain situations it may be necessary to relocate a community or 
cultural facility, either within a site to facilitate a development or on a 
nearby site. Each application will be assessed on its own merits for 
whether the replacement facility is acceptable.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 286



In other circumstances, there may exist a surplus in provision of a 
particular facility, such that the loss of one facility does not create a gap 
in community/cultural service provision. Applicants will be required to 
demonstrate that sufficient alternative 
provision exists and that it is accessible to users.  

The Council will not support applications for changes of use that result in 
the loss of community and cultural facilities unless it is clearly 
demonstrated that the continued use is no longer financially viable, this 
includes consideration of grant funding and other income streams that 
might be available. Alongside this, it is also necessary to demonstrate 
that there is no current or future likely demand for the facility through a 
marketing exercise.

It is important that new facilities are well located and accessible to 
communities that use them. Proposals will also be required to meet the 
amenity, highway and other policy requirements set out elsewhere in 
this document. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives:

  To protect and enhance the built environment of Sefton, with the 
emphasis on improving the quality of place.  

  To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects 
local character and historic assets and minimises impact on its 
surroundings.  

  To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access 
to leisure opportunities and in safe environments. 

  Improve access to services, facilities and jobs without having to 
depend on the car. 

  To make sure that new developments include the essential 
infrastructure, services and facilities that it requires. 

Relevant
Strategic Policy: 

P1 People and Places 

Links to other 
policies:

PC1 Access and Facilities.  
PH1 Health and Well-being. 
PD1 Design 

Policy Context: 
e.g. NPPF 
paragraph; gov 
guidance; 
Council/partner 
plans 

NPPF paras 70 – 72 
Community Right to Bid and local listing.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 287



Protecting amenity 

Policy Title: PA1 Development in Primarily Residential Areas 

Policy Text: New residential development will be permitted in Primarily Residential 
Areas shown on the Proposals Map where consistent with other Local 
Plan policies. 

Non-residential development will be permitted in Primarily Residential 
Areas provided that it can be demonstrated that the proposal: 

(a) will not have an unacceptable impact on residential amenity; and;
(b) is otherwise compatible with a residential area. 

Explanation: The Primarily Residential Areas comprise the main housing areas in the 
Borough. New residential development is acceptable in principle in these 
areas, subject to other Local Plan policies. A key consideration in 
assessing development proposals in the Primarily Residential Areas is 
the impact on the residential amenity of existing residents. Design 
considerations will also be very important. 

It is recognised that some types of non-residential development in 
residential areas are necessary to ensure facilities are in easy reach of 
local people. For example, local shops, services and small-scale leisure 
uses can reduce the need for car journeys and help to create a sense of 
community. 

However, inappropriate development can be harmful to both the 
appearance and amenity of residential areas. In general, developments 
that generate a significant amount of noise or traffic should be avoided 
in residential areas.  

All non-residential development in a Primarily Residential Area will be 
considered on its merits.

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

  To meet the diverse needs for homes, jobs, services and facilities, as 
far as possible close to where the needs arise. 

  To ensure that development is designed to a high quality, respects local 
character and historic assets and minimises impact on its surroundings. 

  To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to 
leisure opportunities and in safe environments. 

  To promote economic growth and jobs creation, a wider based 
economy in terms of job type, skills and the local labour supply, and 
support new and existing businesses. 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

SR1 Sustainable growth and regeneration 
P1 People and places.  

Links to other 
policies:

PD1 Design  
PC1 Access and Facilities  
PH1 Health and Wellbeing 
SR4 Housing Allocations and Phasing 
ER6 Heritage Assets  

Policy Context: None  

Agenda Item 7

Page 288



Policy Title: PA2    Planning Enforcement 

Policy Text: The Council will act proportionately in the extent to which it 
investigates and pursues breaches of planning control.  

Where it is considered expedient and in the wider public interest to do 
so, the Council will take the necessary appropriate action to secure 
compliance with planning related controls, utilising its powers under the 
relevant planning, advertisement and conservation acts, policies and 
guidance to ensure. 

Where it is considered appropriate to do so, the Council will seek to 
prosecute those who fail to comply with any statutory planning 
enforcement notice. Powers under the various planning acts allowing 
direct action to be taken to remedy breaches of statutory notices may 
also be utilised where appropriate. 

Alternatives 
Considered:

The alternatives include having no enforcement policy or having an 
Enforcement Plan. The inclusion of this policy will improve the 
implementation of many of the objectives and policies in the plan. 

Explanation: Effective enforcement is important as a means of protecting the public 
from inappropriate development and implementing the Local Plan 
effectively through proper planning decisions and effective monitoring 
and enforcement. The National Planning Policy Framework states in 
paragraph 207 that the LPA should act proportionately to suspected 
breaches of planning control.  Sometimes unauthorised development 
takes place in breach of planning and related controls. Although 
legislation imposes no duty on the Council to utilise its enforcement 
powers in respect of breaches of planning controls, the Council is 
nevertheless committed to taking enforcement action where it is 
practical, reasonable, and necessary to do so in the wider public 
interest. It is a criminal offence to not comply with an enforcement 
notice and some breaches of planning control are also criminal acts 
(for example unauthorised works to a Listed Building and the 
unauthorised display of advertisements.  

In considering any enforcement action, the Council will decide whether 
the harm is sufficient to warrant further action being taken in the public 
interest.   

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

All

Relevant Strategic 
Policy: 

All

Links to other 
policies:

All

Policy Context: e.g.
NPPF paragraph; 
gov guidance; 
Council/partner 
plans 

NPPF para 207. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 289



Minimise pollution and reduced risk to health

Policy Title: PEP1    Pollution and Hazards 

Policy Text: Development proposals should demonstrate that environmental risks 
have been evaluated and appropriate measures have been taken to 
minimise the risks of harm or damage to people, property and the 
natural environment from: 

  Pollution of the land, surface water, groundwater and the air, 

  Hazardous substances 

  Noise/vibration, dust, odour or artificial light pollution  

Development will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that: 

  It would not lead to the exceedence of a National Air Quality 
Strategy (NAQS) objective(s) or the declaration of an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA). 

  appropriate measures are incorporated into proposals to reduce 
pollution to air, water and soil; 

  there would not be unacceptable risk to the users of the site, 
occupiers of neighbouring land or the environment from the 
presence of hazardous substances; 

  the impact of noise/vibration and lighting will not be significant or 

can be reduced to an acceptable level. 

Planning conditions or legal agreements will be used to ensure that 
appropriate measures are incorporated into proposals to reduce 
pollution to an acceptable level. 

The cumulative effects of development will be taken into account, in 
terms of the impact of a number of developments in an area. The in-
combination effects of various types of pollution will also be considered. 

Specific regard will given to locations [such as rural areas], to types of 
development [such as hospitals and schools] and to the likely users of 
development [such as children and older people] that may be more 
sensitive to specific types of pollution. 

Explanation: A number of industrial installations and processes in the Borough are 
controlled through other regulatory mechanisms to ensure that pollution 
to soil, water and air and the risks posed by the storage and use of 
hazardous substances are effectively managed. The planning system is 
intended to complement these statutory processes to minimise the 
effects on the local and natural environment. 

Development will not automatically be acceptable in planning terms 
simply because it meets statutory requirements under pollution control 
regimes or hazardous substance consents. 

The risk posed by the storage and use of hazardous substances is 
reduced by maintaining appropriate distances (defined by the Health 
and Safety Executive) between establishments where hazardous 
substances are present and sensitive areas. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 290



Soil quality and the quality of surface water and groundwater could be 
affected by uncontrolled industrial processes, waste disposal, mineral 
extraction or through inadequate foul or surface water drainage. The 
pollution of surface water or groundwaters could harm important 
ecological areas. To treat water run-off at source developers are 
encouraged, where possible, to incorporate sustainable drainage 
systems into their proposals. [see policy CC2 ‘Flood risk and surface 
water management’]   

Air pollution can be caused by extra traffic generated by development or 
through industrial processes. Developments that are more likely to 
cause air pollution will not be permitted if they could affect the Borough’s 
ability to meet the national air quality targets.   

Developments may also lead to an increase in those exposed to air 
pollution, for example a housing development next to a heavily trafficked 
road.  Such developments would not be permitted where they would 
lead to the declaration of an AQMA 

An Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) must be declared if pollutant 
concentrations are likely to exceed health based standards in any 
outdoor location where members of the public are likely to be present. 
Where an AQMA is declared an air quality action plan (AQAP) must be 
drawn up detailing how the local authority intends to improve air quality.  

Sefton have declared five Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA);  

  two at Crosby Road North, Waterloo [at Waterloo Primary School 
and at the junction with South Road];  

  Millers Bridge, Bootle;  

  the junction of Church Road and Hawthorne Road, Litherland; 
and

  Princess Way, Seaforth. 

Problems can arise where development that generates noise/ vibration, 
dust or odour is proposed close to sensitive development (housing, 
schools and hospitals) or when sensitive uses are located close to 
existing sources of noise/vibration, dust or odour. Where this is the case 
appropriate assessments should be carried out (and submitted with the 
planning application). 

The Noise Policy Statement for England provides guidance to enable 
decisions to be made regarding what is an acceptable noise burden. 
The Noise Policy Statement for England applies to all types of noise 
apart from noise in the workplace [occupational noise]. The key types of 
noise covered are Environmental Noise, which includes noise from 
transport; Neighbour Noise, which includes noise from inside and 
outside of people’s homes; and Neigbourhood Noise, which includes 
noise arising from within the community such as industrial, 
entertainment, trade and business premises. It is also important that 
development should not cause significant harm to the tranquillity or quiet 
enjoyment of sites used for countryside recreation or designated nature 
sites, and the provisions of other Plan policies should also be met.  
Poorly designed lighting is responsible for sky glow and glare, which can 
harm wildlife, residential amenity and the character of an area, including 

Agenda Item 7

Page 291



a more-remote area in the Green Belt or a designated nature site.  
Details of the lighting design of a development should be submitted to 
assess the likely impact, and the provisions of other Plan policies, such 
as ‘Nature and geology’ should also be met .  

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

2. To protect and enhance Sefton’s important natural environment and where 
possible create new environmental assets which are well connected to existing 
assets. 
8. To enable people living in Sefton to live a healthy life, with access to leisure 
opportunities and in safe environments. 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

P1 People and Places 

Links to other 
policies:

PEP2 Land Affected by Contamination 
PH1 Health and Wellbeing 
PD1 Design 
ER2 Nature conservation and enhancement  
ER4 Green infrastructure 
ER7 Landscape Character 
CC2 Flood risk and surface water management    

Policy Context: NPPF paragraphs 123 & 125 

Agenda Item 7

Page 292



Policy Title: PEP2    Land Affected by Contamination 

Policy Text: Where there is evidence that a site may be affected by contamination, or 
the proposed development is particularly sensitive to contamination, 
proposals shall be accompanied by, as a minimum, a Preliminary 
Investigation report. 

Development will only be permitted where sufficient information is 
provided to verify that the potential contamination can be dealt with by 
remediation, such that the proposed development is shown to be viable, 
will be suitable for its new use, and will not place the users of the 
proposed development and neighbouring land uses or environment at 
unacceptable risk.  

Where proposals are acceptable in principle, planning permission will be 
granted subject to conditions requiring: 

  Where appropriate, a full site investigation and assessment to be 

carried out prior to commencement of development; and 

  The development to incorporate all the remedial measures found 

to be necessary. 

Where remedial measures are required to deal effectively with 
contamination, a verification report must be submitted to demonstrate 
compliance with the agreed remediation objectives and criteria. 

After remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being 
determined as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990. 

Explanation: Brownfield sites and land affected by contamination must be brought into 
beneficial use wherever possible so that land is used effectively. This will 
reduce the amount of derelict land and support urban regeneration. 

There are many sites in Sefton that may potentially be affected by 
contamination due to past industrial activities, through various waste 
materials that have been deposited throughout the Borough or current 
contaminative land uses. 

The purpose of this policy is to ensure that measures to remove or treat 
land affected by contamination do not endanger public health or the 
environment. This policy applies to land suspected of being affected by 
contamination or where the proposed development may be particularly 
sensitive to contamination. 

The policy requires developers to establish the nature, degree and extent 
of any contamination and other relevant ground conditions on the 
development site by carrying out preliminary, exploratory and main 
investigations (as required). If unacceptable risks are identified, it will be 
necessary for the developer to undertake an options appraisal, prior to 
developing a remediation strategy and implementation plan that deals 

Agenda Item 7

Page 293



effectively with the risks from contamination in a sustainable way. 

Conditions will be used to ensure that the approved remediation strategy 
is implemented. A verification report that demonstrates compliance with 
the agreed remediation objectives and criteria will need to be submitted 
for approval prior to commencement of use of the development. 

Where a site is affected by contamination, responsibility for securing a 
safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 

Relevant Plan 
Objectives: 

3, 4 

Relevant 
Strategic Policy: 

P1 People and Places 

Links to other 
policies:

PEP1 Pollution and Hazards 

Policy Context: National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 120,  121 &143 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (April 2012) Environmental 
Protection Act 1990: Part 2A Contaminated Land Statutory Guidance 
Sefton Council Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy (Third Review) Revised 
August 2010 

Agenda Item 7

Page 294



Sefton Local Plan Preferred Option document 
 
 

Appendices 
 

 
  

Agenda Item 7

Page 295



[This page has been left blank intentionally] 

 
  

Agenda Item 7

Page 296



Appendix 1: List of Studies  

The list of studies can be found at via the web-page http://www.sefton.gov.uk/planningstudies, 
which will be updated before the start of the consultation period.  

Current studies are listed below. 

Consequences Study  
 Consequences Study [NLP, 2013] 

Agricultural Land  
  Agricultural Land Study [ADAS, 2012] 

Green Belt Study 
 Green Belt Study [SMBC, 2013] 

Housing 
 2012 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment for  Sefton (SHLAA) [SMBC, 2013] 
 2012 5-year supply position statement 
 Review of Sefton Housing Requirement [NLP, 2011] 
 [Updated] Review of Sefton’s Housing Requirement [NLP, 2012] 
 Strategic Housing Market Assessment [Fordham Research, 2008] 
 Housing Need in Sefton further detail [2010] 
 Sefton Housing Search and Expectations Study [2010] 
  Informed Economic Assessment of Affordable Homes [2010]  
 Report to Sefton Council’s Cabinet about Housing restraint and Affordable Housing [2008]   
 Scope for Affordable Rent in Sefton [2011]  

Employment 
 Employment Land and Premises Study [BE Group, 2010] 
 [Updated] Employment Land and Premises Study [BE Group, 2012] 
 Joint Employment Land & Premises Study [2008] 
 Economic Strategy [SMBC, 2012] 

Sub-Regional Studies 
 Greater Merseyside Overview Study of Development Land Needs and Supply 

Retail 
 Retail Strategy Review [2012] 
 Bootle and Southport Health Checks 2012 
 Sefton District Centres, Local Centres and Shopping Parades Study 
 Committee Report for Retail Strategy Review 2012 

Environmental Studies 
 Green Space and Recreation Study [2009] 
 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment [Capita Symonds, 2013] 
 Sequential Test Position Statement [Capita Symonds, 2013] 
  Draft Green Space Study [2011] 
 Liverpool City Region Renewable Energy Capacity Study [2011]   

Other studies 
 Port Masterplan [Peel Ports, 2011] 

 Health and Wellbeing Strategy [SMBC, 2013] 

Agenda Item 7

Page 297



  

 

Appendix 2:   
List of Local Wildlife Sites and Sites of Local Geological Interest 
 
This appendix relates especially to policy ER2 ‘Nature conservation and enhancement.’   
 
Local Wildlife Sites (LWSs) 
 
LWSs which have only local designations   

 Key Park, Blundellsands 

 Fazakerley Sidings Aintree  

 Wham Dyke Meadows 

 Municipal Golf Links, Southport 

 Pond & open space, north of Copy Lane, Netherton 

 Open space & brook, west of A59, Maghull 

 Whinny Brook [Maghull] 

 The Stray, Southport 

 Open space, east of railway between Melling & Poverty Lane, Maghull 

 Leeds Liverpool Canal  [part] 

 Railway Freshfield Station to Fisherman's Path 

 Land at Parkhaven Trust, Maghull 

 Sniggery Farm wood & pastures 

 Orrell Hill Wood 

 Southport Marine Lake 

 Homer Green Sewage Works (disused) 

 Former Sefton Hall, Sefton Village 

 Lydiate Wood, South West of Holland's Farm 

 Southport Old Link Golf Course 

 Switch Island, Maghull 

 North Meols Estate, Churchtown 

 Dismantled Railway Aintree Triangle 

 Land east of canal, Wango Lane, Waddicar 

 Formby Moss 

 Ince Blundell & Little Crosby Estates 

 Rimrose Valley & Canal 

 Flea Moss Wood & Ponds 

 Edge Farm Rookery 
 
LWSs where parts (including large parts) of the LWS also have international and/or 
national designations 

 Lifeboat Road to St Joseph's Hospital 

 National Trust & associated fields 

 Altcar Firing Ranges 

 Freshfield Dune Heath, Woodvale Airfield, Willow Bank Caravan Park 

 Falklands Way Dunes 

 Hillside Golf Club 

 Southport & Ainsdale Golf Club 

 Albert Road to Lifeboat Road 

 Range Lane to Albert Road 

 Formby Golf Club 

 Hesketh Golf Links & SSSI 

 Kenilworth Road Dunes, Ainsdale 

Agenda Item 7

Page 298



  

 West Lancs Golf Club 

 Coastguard Station, Hall Road 

 Railway Hillside Station to Birkdale Station 

 Crosby Marine Lake 
 

LWS sites which also, in their entirety, have international and/or national designations 
are not listed here.  They are listed in the explanation to policy ER2 ‘Nature 

conservation and enhancement’.       
 
 
Sites of Local Geological Interest  
 

 Orrell Hill Wood 

 Aintree Triangle South 

 Great Crosby Boulder 

 Crossens Erratic, Banks Road 

 Ainsdale and Birkdale Foreshore and Dunes 

 Formby Point Foreshore and Dunes 

 Alt Estuary and Hightown Foreshore 

 Crosby Foreshore and Dunes 

 Harris Drive, Bootle 

 Southport and Crossens Foreshore 

 Ravenmeols and Altcar Foreshore and Dunes 

 The Dell 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 299



A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 3
 

A
p

p
ro

a
c

h
 t

o
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
u

rb
a

n
 g

re
e

n
s
p

a
c
e

s
 

  O
u
r 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t
o
 u

rb
a
n
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 t
o
 c

h
a
n
g

e
 t

o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
la

n
n
in

g
 p

o
lic

y
. 

 T
h
is

 c
h
a
n
g

e
 h

a
s
 l
a
rg

e
ly

 o
v
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 t

h
e
 c

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 d

ra
ft

 
G

re
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 S

tu
d
y
 (

2
0
1
1
).

  
 

 M
u
c
h
 o

f 
o
u
r 

p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

s
u
c
h
 a

s
 p

a
rk

s
, 
p
la

y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

s
, 
s
p
o
rt

s
 c

lu
b
 s

it
e
s
 a

n
d
 a

llo
tm

e
n
ts

) 
w

ill
 c

o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
 b

e
 p

ro
te

c
te

d
 i
n
 b

o
th

 u
rb

a
n
 a

n
d
 r

u
ra

l 
a
re

a
s
. 
 W

e
 w

ill
 p

ro
te

c
t 
fe

w
e
r 

a
m

e
n
it
y
 g

re
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
s
 (

e
.g

. 
h
ig

h
w

a
y
 v

e
rg

e
s
).

 A
 r

e
v
is

e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t

o
 u

rb
a
n
 s

c
h
o

o
l 
a
n
d
 c

o
lle

g
e
 s

it
e
s
 a

n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

in
te

n
d
s
 t

o
 a

llo
w

 m
o
re

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

w
h
ils

t 
re

ta
in

in
g
 t

h
e
 k

e
y
 c

h
a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti
c
s
 o

f 
th

e
 s

it
e
s
 a

s
 f

a
r 

a
s
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
, 

a
n
d
 m

o
re

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
n
 s

it
e
 w

h
e
re

 t
h
is

 
u
s
e
 h

a
s
 c

e
a
s
e
d
. 
 A

lm
o
s
t 
a
ll 

fo
rm

e
r 

p
ri
v
a
te

 u
rb

a
n
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
s
 w

ill
 n

o
w

 b
e

 p
a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 p

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 r
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
a
re

a
. 

  
M

o
re

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 
in

 
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 3
, 
w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 f

o
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

u
rp

o
s
e
s
 o

n
ly

 a
t 
th

is
 s

ta
g
e
. 

 T
h
is

 m
e
a
n
s
 t

h
a
t 

S
e
ft

o
n
’s

 G
re

e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 a

n
d
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 S

tu
d
y
 (

2
0
0
9
) 

is
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
o
 n

e
e
d
 e

a
rl
y
 r

e
v
ie

w
, 

a
s
 t

h
e
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

s
 a

re
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 

le
v
e

ls
. 

  
 

 ‘C
u
rr

e
n
t 

u
rb

a
n
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
s
’ 
m

e
a
n
s
 u

rb
a
n
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
s
 d

e
s
ig

n
a
te

d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 2

0
0
6
 S

e
ft

o
n
 U

n
it
a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P

la
n
. 
  

T
h
e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 c

h
a
n
g
e
s
 t

o
 

d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
s
 s

e
t 
o
u
t 

b
e
lo

w
 w

ill
 b

e
 r

e
fl
e
c
te

d
 o

n
 t

h
e
 P

o
lic

y
 M

a
p
 a

t 
th

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n
 P

u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
 S

ta
g
e
. 
 H

e
n
c
e
, 
th

is
 A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 i
s
 f
o
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

t 
th

is
 

s
ta

g
e
. 
  
  
  
 

 T
h
e
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 l
is

te
d
 s

e
p
a
ra

te
ly

 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it
te

e
 a

re
a
, 

b
e
lo

w
, 
in

 a
lp

h
a
b
e
ti
c
 o

rd
e
r:

 

 
C

ro
s
b
y
 

 
F

o
rm

b
y
 

 
L
in

a
c
re

 a
n
d
 D

e
rb

y
 

 
L
it
h
e
rl
a
n
d
 a

n
d
 F

o
rd

 

 
S

e
ft

o
n
 E

a
s
t 
P

a
ri
s
h
e
s
 

 
S

o
u
th

p
o
rt

 

 
S

t 
O

s
w

a
ld

’s
 a

n
d
 N

e
th

e
rt

o
n
 a

n
d
 O

rr
e
ll.

 
 T

h
e
 f

ir
s
t 
ta

b
le

 i
n
 e

a
c
h
 c

a
s
e
 l
is

ts
 t
h
e
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 
u
rb

a
n
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
s
, 
b
y
 u

rb
a
n
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
 r

e
fe

re
n
c
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r,

 b
u
t 

a
ls

o
 s

h
o
w

in
g

 s
it
e

 n
a
m

e
, 
s
tr

e
e
t 
a
n
d
 

s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 
a
re

a
. 
  
 T

h
e
 s

e
c
o
n
d
 t

a
b
le

, 
w

h
e
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

, 
lis

ts
 o

th
e
r 

p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 a

re
 i
n
 t

h
e
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
. 
  

 N
o
te

 t
h
a
t 
w

h
ile

 t
h
e
 t
a
b
le

s
 h

ig
h
lig

h
t 
w

h
e

re
 m

o
re

 s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
t 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 m

a
y
 b

e
 n

e
e
d
e
d
, 
th

e
 d

e
ta

ile
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 o
f 

a
n
y
 s

it
e
 w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 c

u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 a

n
 

u
rb

a
n
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
 m

a
y
 b

e
 s

u
b
je

c
t 
to

 c
h
a
n

g
e
 a

t 
th

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n
 P

u
b
lic

a
ti
o
n
 S

ta
g
e

, 
e
v
e
n
 w

h
e
re

 t
h
is

 i
s
 n

o
t 
lis

te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 t

a
b
le

s
. 
 T

h
is

 i
s
 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

s
it
e
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
 m

o
re

 a
c
c
u
ra

te
ly

 a
n
d
 a

m
e
n
d
 h

is
to

ri
c
 d

ra
ft
in

g
 e

rr
o
rs

. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 300



C
ro

s
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

 C
ro

s
b

y
  

A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 L
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  

 
 

C
ro

s
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
 u

rb
a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

S
e
tt

le
m

e
n

t 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
  
P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 e

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
1
4
5
 

B
lu

n
d
e
lls

a
n
d
s
 K

e
y
 P

a
rk

 
W

a
rr

e
n
 R

o
a
d
 

B
lu

n
d
e
lls

a
n
d
s
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
e
rm

is
s
iv

e
 u

s
e
 

p
a
rk

 -
 B

lu
n
d
e
lls

a
n
d
s
 K

e
y
 P

a
rk

).
  

G
1
4
6
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 R

U
F

C
 

S
t 

M
ic

h
a
e
ls

 R
o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
).

 

G
1
4
7
 

D
o
w

h
ill

s
 R

o
a
d
 T

e
n
n
is

 
C

lu
b
 [

&
 o

p
e
n
 l
a
n
d
] 

D
o
w

h
ill

s
 R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 &

 P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
o
m

e
 o

f 
s
it
e
 i
s
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 -

 t
e
n
n
is

 c
lu

b
) 

b
u
t 
s
o
m

e
 

is
 n

o
t.
 C

h
a
n
g

e
 l
a
tt

e
r 

to
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
1
4
8
 

C
o
rn

e
r 

M
e
rr

ilo
c
k
s
 R

d
 &

 
S

e
rp

e
n
t 

M
e
rr

ilo
c
k
s
 R

o
a
d
 

B
lu

n
d
e
lls

a
n
d
s
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a
 a

lt
h
o
u
g

h
 a

 l
o
c
a
l 

p
a
rk

 i
n
 A

s
s
e
t 
M

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

(n
o
 f
a
c
ili

ti
e
s
).

 

G
1
4
9
 

U
rs

u
lin

e
 R

C
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

N
ic

h
o
la

s
 R

o
a
d
 

B
lu

n
d
e
lls

a
n
d
s
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
5
0
 

S
t 

N
ic

h
o
la

s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

N
ic

o
la

s
 R

o
a
d
 

B
lu

n
d
e
lls

a
n
d
s
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
5
1
 

M
a
ri
n
e
 A

F
C

 
C

o
lle

g
e
 R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
1
5
2
 

A
le

x
a
n
d
ra

 P
a
rk

 
C

o
ro

n
a
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
5
3
 

M
e
re

 P
a
rk

 
V

ic
to

ri
a
 R

o
a
d
 

W
e
s
t 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
),

 
a
s
 s

it
e
 i
s
 a

b
o
v
e
 0

.2
5
h
a
. 

G
1
5
4
 

V
a
le

w
o
o
d
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

S
h
e
rw

o
o
d
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 C

ro
s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
5
5
 

S
h
e
rw

o
o
d
 A

llo
tm

e
n
ts

 
S

h
e
rw

o
o
d
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 C

ro
s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

) 

G
1
5
6
 

S
t 

M
ic

h
a
e
ls

 (
e
x
 M

a
n
o
r 

H
ig

h
 S

c
h
o
o
l)
 

M
a
n
o
r 

R
o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
5
8
 

O
p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 O

a
k
la

n
d
 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 

W
o
o
d
e
n
d
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
1
5
9
 

S
t 

L
u
k
e
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

L
it
tl
e
 C

ro
s
b
y
 R

o
a
d
 C

ro
s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
).

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 301



C
ro

s
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
 u

rb
a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

S
e
tt

le
m

e
n

t 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
  
P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 e

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
1
6
0
 

B
ro

w
n
m

o
o
r 

P
a
rk

 s
p
o
rt

s
 

c
lu

b
 

B
ro

w
n
m

o
o
r 

P
a
rk

 
C

ro
s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 -

 
te

n
n
is

) 

G
1
6
1
 

C
o

ro
n

a
ti

o
n

 P
a
rk

 
C

o
ro

n
a
ti

o
n

 R
o

a
d

 C
ro

s
b

y
 

P
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
 

P
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
6
2
 

S
t 

L
u
k
e
's

 C
h
u
rc

h
 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 

c
e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
1
6
3
 

G
re

a
t 

C
ro

s
b
y
 R

C
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

T
h
e
 N

o
rt

h
e
rn

 
R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
).

  

G
1
6
4
 

S
a
c
re

d
 H

e
a
rt

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
).

 

G
1
6
6
 

N
a
z
a
re

th
 H

o
u
s
e
 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
) 

G
1
6
7
 

S
a
c
re

d
 H

e
a
rt

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

M
a
rl
d
o
n
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
6
8
 

M
e
rc

h
a
n
t 

T
a
y
lo

rs
 P

la
y
in

g
 

F
ie

ld
 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
p
la

y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

) 

G
1
6
9
_
1
 

V
ic

to
ri
a
 P

a
rk

 
C

o
lle

g
e
 R

o
a
d
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
, 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
6
9
_
2
 

V
ic

to
ri
a
 P

a
rk

 w
e
s
t 

o
f 

S
o
m

e
rv

ill
e
 R

o
a
d
 

S
o
m

e
rv

ill
e
 R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 
- 

u
s
e
d
 b

y
 

F
ri
e
n
d
s
 o

f 
V

ic
to

ri
a

 P
a
rk

 a
s
 n

a
tu

re
 

a
re

a
. 

G
1
7
0
 

B
ro

o
k
e
 R

o
a
d
 W

e
s
t 
re

a
r 

g
a
rd

e
n
s
 

B
ro

o
k
e
 R

o
a
d
 

W
e
s
t 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

L
o
n
g
 s

in
c
e
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

b
a
c
k
 g

a
rd

e
n
s
 –

 
s
h
o
u
ld

 n
o
t 

b
e
 u

rb
a
n
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e

. 

G
1
7
1
 

S
t 

J
o
h
n
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

D
e
n
m

a
rk

 S
tr

e
e
t 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
7
2
 

S
t 

E
d
m

u
n
d
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

O
x
fo

rd
 R

o
a
d
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
7
3
 

P
o
tt

e
rs

 B
a
rn

 P
a
rk

 
C

ro
s
b
y
 R

o
a
d
 

S
o
u
th

 
W

a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
7
4
 

C
h
ri
s
t 

C
h
u
rc

h
, 
O

ld
 

C
h
u
rc

h
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 R

o
a
d
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

M
o
s
t 

o
f 

s
it
e
 c

o
v
e
re

d
 b

y
 b

u
ild

in
g

 b
e
s
t 

a
s
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 r

a
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 
a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
).
 

G
1
7
6
 

R
im

ro
s
e
 H

o
p
e
 C

E
 

T
h
o
m

s
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

S
e
a
fo

rt
h
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 302



C
ro

s
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
 u

rb
a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

S
e
tt

le
m

e
n

t 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
  
P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 e

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

G
1
7
8
 

B
o
w

lin
g

 g
re

e
n
 

P
a
rk

la
n
d
s
 W

a
y
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 -

 
b
o
w

lin
g

 g
re

e
n
),

 a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 s

it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 

G
1
7
9
 

F
o
re

fi
e
ld

 I
n
fa

n
ts

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

F
o
re

fi
e
ld

 L
a
n
e
  

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
8
0
 

F
o
re

fi
e
ld

 J
u
n
io

r 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

F
o
re

fi
e
ld

 L
a
n
e
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
8
1
 

C
h
e
s
te

rf
ie

ld
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

C
h
e
s
te

rf
ie

ld
 R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
8
2
 

H
o
ly

 F
a
m

ily
 H

ig
h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

M
o
o
r 

L
a
n
e
 

T
h
o
rn

to
n
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
8
3
 

T
h
o
rn

to
n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

S
ta

n
n
y
fi
e
ld

 D
ri
v
e
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

(&
 P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

fo
rm

e
r 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
, 
m

o
s
t 

s
ti
ll 

in
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
u
s
e
).

 F
lo

o
d
 r

is
k
 

m
a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 

a
re

a
 m

a
y
 b

e
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
 

G
1
8
4
 

E
d
g

e
 L

a
n
e
 g

ra
s
s
 v

e
rg

e
 

E
d
g

e
 L

a
n
e
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

, 
m

o
s
t 
is

 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
y
w

a
y
. 
 

G
1
8
5
 

S
t 
W

ill
ia

m
 o

f 
Y

o
rk

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

E
d
g

e
 L

a
n
e
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
8
6
 

R
u
n
n
e
lls

 L
a
n
e
 P

a
rk

 
R

u
n
n
e
lls

 L
a
n
e
 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 
- 

a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 

s
m

a
ll.

 

G
1
8
6
 

R
u
n
n
e
lls

 L
a
n
e
 P

a
rk

 
R

u
n
n
e
lls

 L
a
n
e
 

T
h
o
rn

to
n
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 
- 

a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 

s
m

a
ll.

 

G
1
8
7
 

R
a
m

b
le

rs
 A

F
C

 
M

o
o
r 

D
ri
v
e
 

T
h
o
rn

to
n
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
1
8
8
 

M
o
o
r 

P
a
rk

 C
ri
c
k
e
t 
G

ro
u
n
d
 E

lm
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
1
8
9
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 H

ig
h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

D
e
 V

ill
ie

rs
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 C

ro
s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
9
0
 

S
c
a
p
e
 L

a
n
e
 /
M

o
o
rl
a
n
d
 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 A

llo
tm

e
n
ts

 
M

o
o
rl
a
n
d
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

) 

G
1
9
1
 

H
ig

h
to

w
n
 C

h
ild

re
n
's

 p
a
rk

 
T

h
o
rn

b
e
c
k
 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 

H
ig

h
to

w
n
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
9
2
 

R
a
n
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 

(K
e
rs

la
k
e
 W

a
y
) 

R
a
n
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 

(K
e
rs

la
k
e
 W

a
y
) 

H
ig

h
to

w
n
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

H
a
s
 n

o
 f
o
rm

a
l 
p
u
b
lic

 a
c
c
e
s
s
, 
s
o
 i
s
 n

o
t 

p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
).
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 303



C
ro

s
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
 u

rb
a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

S
e
tt

le
m

e
n

t 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
  
P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 e

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
1
9
3
 

M
a
ri
n
e
 P

a
rk

 [
C

ro
s
b
y
 

C
o
a
s
ta

l 
P

a
rk

] 
M

a
ri
n
e
rs

 R
o
a
d
 

(S
o
u
th

 O
f)

 
W

a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
a
s
ta

l 
/ 
c
o
u
n
tr

y
 

p
a
rk

).
  

G
1
9
4
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 M

a
ri
n
e
 P

a
rk

 (
a
re

a
 

a
ro

u
n
d
 l
a
k
e
s
) 

S
o
u
th

 R
o
a
d
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
, 

S
e
a
fo

rt
h
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
a
s
ta

l 
/ 
c
o
u
n
tr

y
 

p
a
rk

).
 

G
1
9
5
 

M
a
ri
n
e
 G

a
rd

e
n
s
 

M
a
ri
n
e
 T

e
rr

a
c
e
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
9
6
 

M
e
rc

h
a
n
t 

T
a
y
lo

rs
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

S
o
u
th

 R
o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
9
7
 

B
e
a
c
h
 L

a
w

n
 G

a
rd

e
n
s
 

B
e
a
c
h
 L

a
w

n
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
9
8
 

A
d
e
la

id
e
 G

a
rd

e
n
s
 

A
d
e
la

id
e
 T

e
rr

a
c
e
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
9
9
 

C
re

s
c
e
n
t 
G

a
rd

e
n
s
 

M
a
ri
n
a
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
0
2
 

M
o
o
rs

id
e
 P

a
rk

 
M

o
o
rs

id
e
 R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
0
3
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 T

e
n
n
is

 C
lu

b
 

P
a
rk

 R
o
a
d
  

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 -

 
te

n
n
is

) 

G
2
0
4
 

C
h
u
rc

h
 o

f 
S

t 
P

e
te

r 
&

 S
t 

P
a
u
l 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 

c
e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
2
0
5
 

M
e
rc

h
a
n
t 

T
a
y
lo

rs
 G

ir
ls

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

 

G
2
0
6
 

M
e
rc

h
a
n
t 

T
a
y
lo

rs
 G

ir
ls

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

 

G
2
0
7
 

N
e
w

fi
e
ld

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

E
d
g

e
 L

a
n
e
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
4
1
1
 

K
in

g
s
 P

a
rk

 
K

in
g

s
 P

a
rk

 
S

e
a
fo

rt
h
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 
- 

b
u
t 
m

a
y
 

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 a
s
 p

a
rk

 d
u
e
 

to
 b

e
 r

e
c
o
n
fi
g
u
re

d
 r

e
c
e
n
tl
y
. 

G
4
2
0
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 C

o
a
s
ta

l 
P

a
rk

 
(P

ro
m

e
n
a
d
e
) 

H
a
ll 

R
o
a
d
 W

e
s
t 

T
o
 L

e
o
p
o
ld

 R
o
a
d
 

B
lu

n
d
e
lls

a
n
d
s
, 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
a
s
ta

l 
/ 
c
o
u
n
tr

y
 

p
a
rk

).
  

G
4
2
3
 

H
ig

h
to

w
n
 H

o
te

l 
S

c
h
o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

H
ig

h
to

w
n
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

O
u
td

o
o
r 

a
re

a
 f
o
r 

p
u
b
lic

 h
o
u
s
e
, 

s
o
 n

o
t 

re
a
lly

 p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 

s
p
a
c
e
).

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 304



 C
ro

s
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

 f
o

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

 C
ro

s
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

  
fo

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

S
e
tt

le
m

e
n

t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 

P
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

s
u

m
m

a
ry

 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 e

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

P
P

3
9
7
1
2
 

S
t 

M
a
ry

s
 C

o
lle

g
e
 S

p
o
rt

s
 

C
lu

b
  

 
H

ig
h
to

w
n
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

P
P

3
9
7
1
7
 

R
o
n
a
ld

 H
o
u
s
e
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

 
 

G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
 

 

P
P

3
9
7
2
1
 

M
o
o
r 

P
a
rk

 C
ri
c
k
e
t 
G

ro
u
n
d
 

(N
o
rt

h
e
rn

 C
lu

b
) 

 
T

h
o
rn

to
n
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

P
P

3
9
7
9
0
 

S
t 

M
a
ry

's
 C

o
lle

g
e
 S

p
o
rt

s
 

G
ro

u
n
d
 (

C
ro

s
b
y
) 

 
C

ro
s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

P
P

4
0
 

M
e
rc

h
a
n
t 

T
a
y
lo

rs
 P

la
y
in

g
 

F
ie

ld
s
 

 
C

ro
s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

S
L
0
0
1
 

Q
u
e
e
n
s
w

a
y
 A

llo
tm

e
n
ts

  
Q

u
e
e
n
s
w

a
y
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

) 

S
L
0
0
4
 

C
h
a
ff

e
rs

 F
ie

ld
s
  

G
le

n
w

y
lli

n
 

R
o
a
d
  

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

S
L
0
1
0
 

B
u
c
k
le

y
 H

ill
 S

p
o
rt

s
 G

ro
u
n
d
 

B
u
c
k
le

y
 H

ill
 

N
e
th

e
rt

o
n
  

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 
(i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

S
L
0
1
1
 

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 C

o
u
n
tr

y
 P

a
rk

 
(E

d
g

e
 L

a
n
e
 t
o
 L

y
d
ia

te
 L

a
n
e
) 

 L
y
d
ia

te
 L

a
n
e
 

C
ro

s
b
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 
(i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

) 

 
C

o
a
s
ta

l 
p
a
rk

 (
w

h
e
re

 n
o
t 

c
o
v
e
re

d
 i
n
 o

th
e
r 

s
it
e
s
) 

 
C

ro
s
b
y
 /

 H
ig

h
to

w
n
  

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 
(i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
a
s
ta

l 
/ 

c
o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 p

a
rk

) 

 
O

th
e
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 w

o
o
d
la

n
d
s
 

(s
u
c
h
 a

s
 S

n
ig

g
e
ry

 W
o
o
d
) 

 
C

ro
s
b
y
 /

 L
it
tl
e
 C

ro
s
b
y
 /

  
H

ig
h
to

w
n

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 
(i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 p

a
rk

) 

 
T

h
o
rn

to
n
 C

re
m

a
to

ri
u
m

 
 

T
h
o
rn

to
n
  

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 

c
e
m

e
te

ry
),

 i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
 

 
L
it
tl
e
 C

ro
s
b
y
 C

h
u
rc

h
  

 
L
it
tl
e
 C

ro
s
b
y
  

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 

c
e
m

e
te

ry
),

 i
n
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 305



 F
o

rm
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

 F
o

rm
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  

 
 

F
o

rm
b

y
  

A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  
- 

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
2
0
9
 

R
a
n
g

e
 H

ill
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

S
ta

p
le

to
n
 R

o
a
d
/ 

R
a
n
g

e
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
1
0
 

C
a
m

b
ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 G

ro
u
n
d
 

S
t 

L
u
k
e
’s

 C
h
u
rc

h
 

R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
1
1
 

S
t 

L
u
k
e
s
 C

E
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

J
u
b
ile

e
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
1
3
 

B
e
e
c
h
w

o
o
d
 D

ri
v
e
 W

o
o
d
s
 

B
e
e
c
h
w

o
o
d
 D

ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
),

 o
v
e

r 
 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 
 

G
2
1
4
 

K
ir
k
la

k
e
 R

o
a
d
 w

e
s
t 

v
e
rg

e
 

K
ir
k
la

k
e
 R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 -
 r

o
a
d
 v

e
rg

e
. 

G
2
1
5
 

K
ir
k
la

k
e
 R

o
a
d
 e

a
s
t 

v
e
rg

e
 

K
ir
k
la

k
e
 R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 -
 r

o
a
d
 v

e
rg

e
. 

G
2
1
6
 

S
t 

J
e
ro

m
e
s
 R

C
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

W
ic

k
s
 G

re
e
n
 C

lo
s
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
1
7
 

G
re

e
n
lo

o
n
s
 W

a
lk

 O
p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

G
re

e
n
lo

o
n
s
 W

a
lk

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

O
v
e
r 

0
.2

5
h
a
, 
s
o
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 

s
p
a
c
e
).

 

G
2
1
8
 

W
o
o
d
la

n
d
s
 C

o
u
n
ty

 I
n
fa

n
ts

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

W
ic

k
s
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
1
9
 

P
ro

fe
s
s
io

n
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

C
e
n
tr

e
 

P
a
rk

 R
o
a
d
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

G
2
2
0
 

H
a
re

b
e
ll 

C
lo

s
e
 P

a
rk

 (
p
a
rt

 
o
f 

o
ri
g

in
a
l 
s
it
e
 G

2
2
0
) 

R
a
v
e
n
m

e
o
ls

 L
a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a
, 
s
o
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

A
re

a
. 
W

e
ll-

w
o
o
d
e
d
. 

G
2
2
0
_
2
 

R
a
v
e
n
m

e
o
ls

 L
a
n
e
 (

p
a
rt

 o
f 

o
ri
g

in
a
l 
G

2
2
0
 H

a
re

b
e
ll 

C
lo

s
e
) 

R
a
v
e
n
m

e
o
ls

 L
a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 -
 n

o
t 
a
 p

u
b
lic

 s
it
e
. 

G
2
2
1
 

B
ill

s
 L

a
n
e
 P

a
rk

 
B

ill
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
2
2
2
 

Y
o
u
th

 C
lu

b
 

C
h
e
a
p
s
id

e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
a
l 
u
s
e
 a

s
 b

ro
a
d
ly

 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l.
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 306



F
o

rm
b

y
  

A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  
- 

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
 a

llo
w

s
 s

o
m

e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

if
 k

e
y
 s

it
e
 

c
h
a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti
c
s
 a

re
 r

e
ta

in
e
d
. 

G
2
2
3
 

R
e
d
g

a
te

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

R
e
d
g

a
te

 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
2
4
 

D
u
k
e
 S

tr
e
e
t 

P
a
rk

 
D

u
k
e
 S

tr
e
e
t/

P
h
ill

ip
s
 

L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
2
5
 

O
u
r 

L
a
d
y
 o

f 
C

o
m

p
a
s
s
io

n
 

R
C

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

B
u
ll 

C
o
p
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
2
6
 

A
lt
c
a
r 

R
o
a
d
 A

llo
tm

e
n
ts

 
A

lt
c
a
r 

R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

) 

G
2
2
7
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

H
o
ly

 T
ri
n
it
y
 C

E
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 

L
o
n
s
d
a
le

 R
o
a
d
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

G
2
2
9
 

W
a
tc

h
y
a
rd

 L
a
n
e
 (

K
in

g
 

G
e
o
rg

e
 V

) 
P

la
y
in

g
 F

ie
ld

s
 

C
h
u
rc

h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
2
3
1
 

S
m

it
h
y
 G

re
e
n
 o

p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 S

m
it
h
y
 G

re
e
n
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
) 

G
2
3
2
 

S
m

it
h
y
 G

re
e
n
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 

G
ro

u
n
d
 

S
m

it
h
y
 G

re
e
n
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
2
3
3
 

D
e
a
n
s
g

a
te

 L
a
n
e
 P

la
y
in

g
 

F
ie

ld
s
 

D
e
a
n
s
g

a
te

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
2
3
4
 

F
o
rm

b
y
 H

ig
h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

F
re

s
h
fi
e
ld

 R
o
a
d
 (

L
o
n
g

 
L
a
n
e
) 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
3
5
 

S
t 

J
e
ro

m
e
s
 R

C
 C

h
u
rc

h
 

G
re

e
n
lo

o
n
s
 D

ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
2
3
6
 

H
o
lm

w
o
o
d
 w

o
o
d
la

n
d
 a

n
d
 

p
la

y
 a

re
a
 

B
a
rk

fi
e
ld

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
2
3
7
 

F
re

s
h
fi
e
ld

 S
ta

ti
o
n
 c

a
r 

p
a
rk

 M
o
n
ta

g
u
 R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
2
3
8
 

L
e
o
n
a
rd

 C
h
e
s
h
ir
e
 H

o
m

e
s
 
C

o
lle

g
e
 P

a
th

 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
) 

G
2
3
9
 

F
o
rm

b
y
 T

e
n
n
is

 &
 C

ri
c
k
e
t 

C
lu

b
 

C
ri
c
k
e
t 

P
a
th

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 &
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

M
o
s
t 

p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
),

 b
u
t 

p
a
rt

 n
o
t 
in

 s
p
o
rt

s
 u

s
e
 s

o
 c

o
u
ld

 b
e
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 e
v
e
n
 t

h
o
u
g

h
 w

e
ll-

w
o
o
d
e
d
. 

G
2
4
0
 

F
re

s
h
fi
e
ld

 B
o
w

lin
g

 C
lu

b
 

T
im

m
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 -

 b
o
w

lin
g

) 

G
2
4
1
 

S
t 

P
e
te

rs
 C

h
u
rc

h
 &

 
G

re
e
n
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

M
o
s
t 

p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 307



F
o

rm
b

y
  

A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  
- 

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 C

o
rn

e
r 

c
e
m

e
te

ry
).

 

G
2
4
2
 

T
ri
n
it
y
 S

t 
P

e
te

rs
 C

E
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

P
a
ra

d
is

e
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
4
4
 

B
re

w
e
ry

 L
a
n
e
 P

la
y
in

g
 

F
ie

ld
s
 (

C
la

re
n
c
e
 H

o
u
s
e
) 

B
re

w
e
ry

 L
a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
 o

r 
is

 i
t 

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
?
) 

G
2
4
5
 

C
la

re
n
c
e
 H

o
u
s
e
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

(N
u
g

e
n
t 

C
a
re

) 
W

e
s
t 
L
a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
) 

G
2
4
6
 

H
o
ly

 T
ri
n
it
y
 C

h
u
rc

h
 

R
o
s
e
m

a
ry

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

M
o
s
t 

p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 

c
e
m

e
te

ry
),

 a
n
d
 a

ls
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
s
 s

o
m

e
 t
e
n
n
is

 c
o
u
rt

s
 

w
h

ic
h
 m

a
y
 b

e
 l
in

k
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

h
u
rc

h
. 

G
2
4
7
 

C
h
u
rc

h
 o

f 
O

u
r 

L
a
d
y
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
L
a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n

 (
s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
4
8
 

F
re

s
h
fi
e
ld

 C
P

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

W
a
tc

h
y
a
rd

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
4
9
 

V
ic

a
ra

g
e
 R

o
a
d
 O

p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

V
ic

a
ra

g
e
 R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a
, 
a
lt
h
o

u
g

h
 w

e
ll-

w
o
o
d
e
d
. 

G
2
5
0
 

F
o
rm

b
y
 s

w
im

m
in

g
 p

o
o
l 

(s
o
u
th

e
rn

 p
a
rt

 o
f 

p
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

D
u
k
e
s
 W

a
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

- 
b
u
t 

a
m

e
n
d
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 t
o
 j
o
in

 t
h
e
 t
w

o
 s

w
im

m
in

g
 p

o
o
l 
s
it
e
s
 

to
g

e
th

e
r.

 

G
2
5
1
 

F
o
rm

b
y
 s

w
im

m
in

g
 p

o
o
l 

(n
o
rt

h
e
rn

 p
a
rt

 o
f 

s
it
e
) 

D
u
k
e
s
 W

a
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

- 
b
u
t 

a
m

e
n
d
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 t
o
 j
o
in

 t
h
e
 t
w

o
 s

w
im

m
in

g
 p

o
o
l 
s
it
e
s
 

to
g

e
th

e
r.

 

G
4
0
7
 

L
a
n
d
 a

t 
th

e
 L

in
g

d
a
le

s
 

L
in

g
d
a
le

s
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

a
s
 a

b
o
v
e
 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 

   

Agenda Item 7

Page 308



 F
o

rm
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

 f
o

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

 

F
o

rm
b

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

  
fo

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

A
L
0
1
0
 

A
llo

tm
e
n
ts

 
H

o
g
g

s
 H

ill
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 (
in

 G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

B
) 

- 
a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

 

 
C

o
a
s
ta

l 
p
a
rk

 (
w

h
e
re

 n
o
t 

c
o
v
e
re

d
 i
n
 o

th
e
r 

s
it
e
s
) 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 (
in

 G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
a
s
ta

l 
/ 
c
o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 p

a
rk

) 

 
O

th
e
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

w
o
o
d

la
n
d
s
 (

s
u
c
h
 a

s
 

S
n
ig

g
e
ry

 W
o
o
d
) 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 (
in

 G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 p

a
rk

) 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 309



 L
in

a
c
re

 a
n

d
 D

e
rb

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

 L
in

a
c
re

 &
 D

e
rb

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  
- 

li
s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

 

L
in

a
c
re

 &
 D

e
rb

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
 u

rb
a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
0
0
9
_
2
 

C
e
n
te

n
a
ry

 G
a
rd

e
n
s
 

S
ta

n
le

y
 R

o
a
d
 

R
e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o

n
 a

re
a
 a

n
d
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
  

S
it
e
 o

f 
H

u
g

h
 B

a
ir
d
 C

o
lle

g
e
 e

x
te

n
s
io

n
 t

o
 b

e
 s

a
m

e
 

d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
 a

s
 r

e
s
t 
o
f 

H
u
g

h
 B

a
ir
d
 (

re
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

a
re

a
).

  
R

e
s
t 
o
f 

s
it
e
 t

o
 b

e
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(p
a
rk

) 

G
0
0
2
 

S
it
e
 o

f 
fo

rm
e
r 

B
o
o
tl
e
 

S
p
o
rt

s
 S

ta
d
iu

m
 

S
tu

a
rt

 R
o
a
d
 N

o
rt

h
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
0
0
4
 

H
ill

s
id

e
 H

ig
h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

B
re

e
z
e
 H

ill
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
, 

m
a
y
b
e
 p

a
rt

 p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

- 
a
t 

le
a
s
t 
th

e
 f
ro

n
t 

p
a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 s

it
e
).

 N
e
e
d
 t
o
 d

e
c
id

e
 w

h
e
th

e
r 

S
tu

a
rt

 R
o
a
d
 

P
la

y
in

g
 F

ie
ld

s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
. 
 

G
0
0
5
 

B
e
d
fo

rd
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

B
a
lli

o
l 
R

o
a
d
 E

a
s
t 
/ 

Q
u
a
rr

y
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
0
7
_
1
 

S
o
u
th

 P
a
rk

 
B

a
lli

o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
0
7
_
2
 

B
o
o
tl
e
 C

ri
c
k
e
t 
C

lu
b
 

W
a
d
h
a
m

 R
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
0
1
0
 

D
e
rb

y
 P

a
rk

 
W

o
rc

e
s
te

r 
R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
1
1
 

H
a
tf

ie
ld

 R
o
a
d
 f
o
rm

e
r 

b
o
w

lin
g

 g
re

e
n
 

H
a
tf

ie
ld

 R
o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
1
2
 

C
h
ri
s
t 

C
h
u
rc

h
 C

E
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

W
a
te

rw
o
rk

s
 S

tr
e
e
t 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 &

 
P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 a

re
a
 -

 P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

. 
R

e
s
t 

o
f 

s
it
e
 -

 I
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
1
3
 

A
s
h
 S

tr
e
e
t 
P

a
rk

 W
a
r 

G
ra

v
e
 

A
s
h
 S

tr
e
e
t 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

  

G
0
1
4
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

S
t 

M
a
ry

's
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

p
la

y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

 
A

s
h
c
ro

ft
 S

tr
e
e
t 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

G
0
1
6
_
1
 

S
t 

M
a
ry

s
 C

E
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

Ir
la

m
 R

o
a
d
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

fo
rm

e
r 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

 

G
0
1
6
_
2
 

B
a
n
k
 R

o
a
d
 o

p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

B
a
n
k
 R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 310



L
in

a
c
re

 &
 D

e
rb

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
 u

rb
a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
0
1
7
 

S
t 

M
a
ry

s
 G

a
rd

e
n
 o

f 
R

e
s
t 

Ir
la

m
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
1
8
 

A
s
h
c
ro

ft
 S

tr
e
e
t 

o
p
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
 

A
s
h
c
ro

ft
 S

tr
e
e
t 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
1
9
 

M
a
rs

h
 L

a
n
e
 F

ie
ld

 
Ir

la
m

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n

 s
p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
),

 b
u
t 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b

e
 a

m
e
n
d
e
d
. 

G
0
2
0
 

B
e
e
c
h
 R

o
a
d
 O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 

M
a
rs

h
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 -

 a
m

e
n
it
y
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
. 
S

it
e
 

e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 i
n
 l
a
s
t 
fe

w
 y

e
a
rs

 w
it
h
 n

e
w

 f
e
n
c
in

g
, 

p
a
th

s
, 
tu

rn
in

g
 a

re
a
s
, 
la

n
d
s
c
a
p
in

g
 a

n
d
 l
a
y
o
u
t.
 

G
0
2
1
 

S
t 

M
o
n
ic

a
s
 R

C
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

K
e
lly

 D
ri
v
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
2
3
 

P
le

a
s
a
n
t 

S
tr

e
e
t 
O

p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

P
le

a
s
a
n
t 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

. 
S

it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
a
. 

G
0
2
4
 

M
a
rs

h
 L

a
n
e
 P

la
y
 A

re
a
 

M
a
rs

h
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
2
5
 

N
o
rt

h
 P

a
rk

 
S

ta
n
le

y
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
2
6
 

O
p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 G

a
s
 D

e
p
o
t 

L
in

a
c
re

 L
a
n
e
 

R
e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 A

re
a
 

R
e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 a

re
a
 ,

 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h

 s
u
rr

o
u
n
d
in

g
 

a
re

a
s
 

G
0
2
7
 

In
fi
lle

d
 f

o
rm

e
r 

ra
ilw

a
y
 

c
u
tt

in
g
 

F
e
rn

h
ill

 R
o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 &

 
P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
a
rt

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
),

 r
e
s
t 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
2
8
 

T
h
o
m

a
s
 G

ra
y
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

C
h
e
s
n
u
t 
G

ro
v
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
2
9
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

T
h
o
m

a
s
 G

ra
y
 

In
fa

n
ts

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

B
a
lf
o
u
r 

R
o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 &
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

R
e
d
ra

w
 t

h
e
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 a
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 s

it
e
 w

it
h
in

 
n
e
w

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
(i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 –

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
),

 r
e
s
t 

s
u
rp

lu
s
 

to
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 s

o
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
3
0
 

A
ll 

S
a
in

ts
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

M
a
rs

h
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
3
2
 

P
o
e
ts

 P
a
rk

 
P

e
e
l 
R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
3
3
 

P
e
e
l 
R

o
a
d
 P

la
y
 A

re
a
 

P
e
e
l 
R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
3
4
 

S
t 

J
o
a
n
 o

f 
A

rc
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

R
im

ro
s
e
 R

o
a
d
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

G
0
3
6
 

S
e
a
fo

rt
h
 R

o
a
d
 O

p
e
n
 

S
e
a
fo

rt
h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 311



L
in

a
c
re

 &
 D

e
rb

y
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
 u

rb
a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

S
p
a
c
e
 (

s
o
u
th

) 
- 

N
e
a
r 

V
e
rd

i 
S

tr
e
e
t 

G
0
3
7
 

D
e
e
p
d
a
le

 P
a
rk

 &
 Y

o
u
th

 
T

ra
in

in
g

 C
e
n
tr

e
 

G
ra

y
 S

tr
e
e
t 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
u
g
g

e
s
t 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
3
9
 

O
u
r 

L
a
d
y
 S

ta
r 

o
f 

th
e
 S

e
a
 

R
C

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

N
e
w

 F
o
rt

 W
a
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
4
3
 

G
re

e
n
a
c
re

 N
u
rs

e
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

P
ro

v
in

c
e
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
8
5
 

R
a
ilw

a
y
 l
a
n
d
 

H
o
rn

b
y
 B

o
u
le

v
a
rd

 
P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
8
7
 

N
o
rf

o
lk

 P
la

c
e
 O

p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

N
o
rf

o
lk

 P
la

c
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

  

G
0
8
8
 

B
o
w

e
rs

d
a
le

 P
a
rk

 
S

e
a
fo

rt
h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
8
9
 

S
e
a
fo

rt
h
 T

ri
a
n
g

le
 (

n
o
rt

h
) 

S
e
a
fo

rt
h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
0
9
0
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
  
R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

E
lm

 D
ri
v
e
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e

 a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n
 

G
3
9
4
_
1
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 

C
a
n
a
l 
L
in

a
c
re

 B
ri
d
g

e
 t
o
 

B
e
d
fo

rd
 P

la
c
e
 

B
e
d
fo

rd
 P

la
c
e
 T

o
 

L
in

a
c
re

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 w

a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
4
0
8
 

B
o
o
tl
e
 V

ill
a
g

e
, 

a
d
ja

c
e
n
t 
to

 
lib

ra
ry

 
S

ta
n
le

y
 R

o
a
d
 

B
o
o
tl
e
 R

e
g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 a

re
a
 

S
it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a

, 
s
o
 d

e
s
ig

n
a
te

 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 i
ts

 
s
u
rr

o
u
n
d
in

g
s
. 
  

        

Agenda Item 7

Page 312



 L
it

h
e
rl

a
n

d
 a

n
d

 F
o

rd
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

 L
it

h
e
rl

a
n

d
 &

 F
o

rd
  

A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  

 
 

L
it

h
e
rl

a
n

d
 a

n
d

 F
o

rd
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
 u

rb
a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
0
3
8
 

R
a
ilw

a
y
 c

u
tt

in
g
 a

d
ja

c
e
n
t 

to
 S

t 
W

ilf
re

d
s
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

H
a
w

th
o
rn

e
 R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 /
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

P
a
rt

 s
c
h
o
o
l 
p
la

y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

 (
in

s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
),

 p
a
rt

 
P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

. 

G
0
4
0
 

L
o
n
g
fi
e
ld

 R
o
a
d
 P

a
rk

 
L
o
n
g
fi
e
ld

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
4
1
 

L
a
th

o
m

 R
o
a
d
 B

o
w

lin
g

 
g

re
e
n
 G

ro
u
n
d
 

L
a
th

o
m

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 g

a
rd

e
n
, 

a
n
d
 

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
),

 b
u
t 
m

a
y
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 

G
0
4
2
 

M
e

lla
n
e
a
r 

P
a
rk

 
L
u
n
t 

R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
4
7
 

S
it
e
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
B

e
a
c
h
 R

o
a
d
, 

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

) 

G
0
4
9
 

S
h
a
re

d
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
p
la

y
in

g
 

fi
e
ld

 
B

ra
b
y
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
 -

 d
e
ta

c
h
e
d
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
p
la

y
in

g
 

fi
e
ld

) 

G
0
5
0
 

S
t 

E
liz

a
b
e
th

s
 R

C
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

W
e
b
s
te

r 
S

tr
e
e
t 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
7
4
 

C
a
p
ta

in
s
 L

a
n
e
 O

p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

C
a
p
ta

in
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 g

re
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
0
7
6
 

S
t 

P
h
ili

p
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

C
h
u
rc

h
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
7
7
 

S
t 

P
h
ili

p
s
 C

h
u
rc

h
 

O
rr

e
ll 

R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
0
7
8
 

S
t 
W

ilf
ri
d
s
R

C
 H

ig
h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
H

a
w

th
o
rn

e
 R

o
a
d
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e
 

G
0
8
1
 

K
ir
k
s
to

n
e
 P

a
rk

 
M

o
s
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
8
2
 

E
n
g

lis
h
 M

a
rt

y
rs

 R
C

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
L
a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
8
4
 

T
h
ir
lm

e
re

 D
ri
v
e
 T

e
n
n
is

 
C

o
u
rt

s
 

T
h
ir
lm

e
re

 D
ri
v
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 &
 P

u
b
lic

 
o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 o
n
 b

it
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
, 

a
n
d
 P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

fo
r 

th
e
 r

e
s
t 
(i
f 

o
v
e
r 

0
.2

5
h
a
).

 

G
0
8
6
 

H
a
p
s
fo

rd
 R

o
a
d
 P

a
rk

  
P

a
lm

e
rs

to
n
 D

ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 313



L
it

h
e
rl

a
n

d
 a

n
d

 F
o

rd
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
 u

rb
a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
0
9
1
 

H
a
tt

o
n
 H

ill
 P

a
rk

 
H

a
tt

o
n
 H

ill
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
9
2
 

A
llo

tm
e
n
ts

 H
a
tt

o
n
 H

ill
 R

d
 

H
a
tt

o
n
 H

ill
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

) 

G
0
9
3
 

H
a
tt

o
n
 H

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l H

a
tt

o
n
 H

ill
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
9
4
 

C
a
n
a
l 
fo

o
tb

ri
d
g

e
 

a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
e
s
 

K
ir
k
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 W

e
s
t 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

) 
- 

lin
k
s
 t

o
 

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 

G
0
9
5
 

L
o
n
s
d
a
le

 P
a
rk

 
L
o
n
s
d
a
le

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
9
6
 

O
u
r 

L
a
d
y
 Q

u
e
e
n
 o

f 
P

e
a
c
e
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 

F
o
rd

 L
a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 &

 
h
o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

P
a
rt

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
),

 p
a
rt

 –
 t

h
e
 f

o
rm

e
r 

p
la

y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

 -
 i
s
 a

 p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

G
1
0
4
 

B
ro

a
d
 H

e
y
 /

 S
e
ft

o
n
 M

o
s
s
 

L
a
n
e
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

W
o
o
d
la

n
d
 

S
e
ft

o
n
 M

o
s
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 
 

G
1
0
6
 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

C
 C

e
m

e
te

ry
 

G
o
rs

e
y
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
1
0
7
 

L
it
h
e
rl
a
n
d
 S

p
o
rt

s
 P

a
rk

 
R

o
b
in

s
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

- 
b
u
t 
a
m

e
n
d
 

a
n
d
 c

h
e
c
k
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
 t

o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
c
u
rr

e
n
t 
u
s
e
s
 i
n
 

th
e
 a

re
a

. 

G
1
0
8
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

C
e
n
tr

e
 

(F
o
rm

e
r 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
o
f 

th
e
 

G
o
o
d
 S

h
e
p
h
e
rd

) 

S
te

rr
ix

 L
a
n
e
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

G
1
2
9
 

'T
h
e
 B

a
c
k
y
' 

B
a
rk

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
3
0
 

B
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 R
o
a
d
 v

e
rg

e
 

B
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 R
o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
1
3
1
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

B
e
a
c
h
 R

o
a
d
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
P

la
y
in

g
 F

ie
ld

s
 

R
a
n
e
la

g
h
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

fo
rm

e
r 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
p
la

y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

) 

G
1
3
2
 

A
m

o
s
 S

q
u
a
re

 O
p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

H
y
th

e
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
3
3
 

L
a
n
d
e
r 

R
o
a
d
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

L
a
n
d
e
r 

R
o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 -
 n

o
t 
'g

re
e
n
' s

o
 d

o
e
s
 

n
o
t 
ju

s
ti
fy

 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
. 

G
1
3
5
 

L
it
h
e
rl
a
n
d
 M

o
s
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

S
te

rr
ix

 L
a
n
e
/B

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 
R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
  

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

- 
b
u
t 

a
m

e
n
d
 a

n
d
 c

h
e
c
k
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
 t

o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
c
u
rr

e
n
t 

u
s
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a

re
a

. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 314



L
it

h
e
rl

a
n

d
 a

n
d

 F
o

rd
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
 u

rb
a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 2

0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
1
3
8
 

L
it
h
e
rl
a
n
d
 H

ig
h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

S
te

rr
ix

 L
a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
4
0
 

G
ra

s
m

e
re

 D
ri
v
e
 V

e
rg

e
 

G
ra

s
m

e
re

 D
ri
v
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

, 
a
s
 r

o
a
d
 v

e
rg

e
 

G
3
9
4
_
2
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 

C
a
n
a
l 
L
in

a
c
re

 L
a
n
e
 t
o
 

C
h
u
rc

h
 R

o
a
d
 

L
in

a
c
re

 L
a
n
e
 T

o
 

C
h
u
rc

h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 w

a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
3
9
8
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 

C
a
n
a
l 
R

im
ro

s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 t

o
 

C
h
u
rc

h
 R

o
a
d
 

C
h
u
rc

h
 R

d
 T

o
 F

ie
ld

 
V

ie
w

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 w

a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
4
1
0
 

H
o
rn

b
y
 F

la
ts

 
L
in

a
c
re

 R
o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
v
a
te

 s
it
e
, 
s
o
 n

o
t 

p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 –

 i
s
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
4
1
4
 

S
m

a
ll 

a
re

a
 a

d
j 
A

s
h
 R

o
a
d
 

&
 e

x
is

ti
n
g

 R
V

 g
a
te

w
a
y
 

g
re

e
n
s
p
a
c
e
 

A
s
h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
a
rt

 o
f 

p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

 R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

) 

G
4
1
8
 

L
a
n
d
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 c

a
n
a
l 

a
n
d
 B

ru
n
e
l 
D

ri
v
e
 

L
it
h
e
rl
a
n
d
 

R
/O

 B
ru

n
e
l 
D

ri
v
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
4
2
2
 

L
a
n
d
 a

t 
F

ie
ld

 L
a
n
e
  

B
ru

n
e
l 
D

ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

- 
b
u
t 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry

 n
e
e
d
s
 t

o
 b

e
 e

x
te

n
d
e
d
 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 

c
u
rr

e
n
t 

s
it
u
a
ti
o
n
 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 315



L
it

h
e
rl

a
n

d
 a

n
d

 F
o

rd
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

 f
o

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

  

L
it

h
e
rl

a
n

d
 a

n
d

 F
o

rd
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

  
fo

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

S
L
0
0
2
 

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 W

e
tl
a
n
d
 

B
e
a
c
h
 R

o
a
d
  

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 (
in

 G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

 p
a
rt

 o
f 

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

) 

S
L
0
0
3
 

B
ro

o
k
 V

a
le

 p
la

y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

s
 

B
ro

o
k
 V

a
le

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 (
in

 G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

S
L
0
0
5
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 

C
a
n
a
l 
fr

o
m

 F
ie

ld
 V

ie
w

 t
o
 

w
in

d
in

g
 h

o
le

 n
e
a
r 

F
o
rd

 
V

ie
w

 

F
ie

ld
 V

ie
w

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 w

a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

S
L
0
0
7
 

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 C

o
u
n
tr

y
 

P
a
rk

 (
s
o
u
th

 o
f 

R
im

ro
s
e
 

V
a
lle

y
 R

o
a
d
) 

 

B
e
a
c
h
 R

o
a
d
  

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

) 

 
O

th
e
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

w
o
o
d

la
n
d
  

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

 

 
C

a
n
a
l 
(w

h
e
re

 i
t 

lie
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 w

a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 316



 S
e
ft

o
n

 E
a
s
t 

P
a
ri

s
h

e
s
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

 S
e
ft

o
n

 E
a
s
t 

P
a
ri

s
h

e
s
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
li

s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  

 
 

S
e
ft

o
n

 E
a
s
t 

P
a
ri

s
h

e
s
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
li

s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 

L
o

c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
1
1
4
 

R
a
ilw

a
y
 l
a
n
d
 O

ld
 R

o
a
n
 

S
ta

ti
o
n
 

C
o
p
y
 L

a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
1
2
8
 

R
a
ilw

a
y
 l
a
n
d

 O
ld

 R
o
a
n
 

S
ta

ti
o
n
 

C
o
p
y
 L

a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
1
4
3
 

B
u
ll 

L
a
n
e
 O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 

(A
in

tr
e
e
 T

ri
a
n
g

le
) 

B
u
ll 

L
a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 -
  

p
o
o
r 

s
u
rv

e
ill

a
n
c
e
, 

p
o
o
r 

a
c
c
e
s
s
, 

a
n
d
 s

it
e
 i
s
 o

n
 

m
a
n
y
 l
e
v
e

ls
 (

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 c

u
tt

in
g

).
 

G
2
5
2
 

W
e
ld

 B
lu

n
d
e
ll 

o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
2
5
3
 

M
a

llo
ry

 P
a
rk

 
M

a
llo

ry
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
5
4
 

S
t 
G

re
g

o
ry

s
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

S
a
n
d
y
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
5
6
 

L
y
d
ia

te
 J

u
n
io

r 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

L
a
m

b
s
h
e
a
r 

L
a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
5
7
 

L
a
m

b
s
h
e
a
r 

L
a
n
e
 O

p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

L
a
m

b
s
h
e
a
r 

L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
2
5
8
 

O
a
k
h
ill

 P
a
rk

 (
b
o
w

lin
g

 g
re

e
n
) 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
2
5
9
 

R
id

g
e
w

a
y
 P

a
rk

 
C

o
ro

n
a
ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
6
0
 

K
e
n
y
o
n
s
 L

a
n
e
 O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 

K
e
n
y
o
n
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
6
1
 

N
o
rt

h
w

a
y
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

N
o
rt

h
w

a
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
6
2
 

C
le

n
t 

G
a
rd

e
n
s
 

C
le

n
t 

G
a
rd

e
n
s
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
6
3
 

L
a
th

o
m

 G
a
rd

e
n
s
 

L
a
th

o
m

 D
ri
v
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 a

s
 s

it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 
S

it
e
 m

a
n

a
g

e
d
 b

y
 M

a
g

h
u
ll 

T
o
w

n
 

C
o
u
n
c
il.

 

G
2
6
4
 

M
o
s
s
 P

a
rk

 
G

ilp
in

 A
v
e
n
u
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 317



S
e
ft

o
n

 E
a
s
t 

P
a
ri

s
h

e
s
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
li

s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 

L
o

c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
2
6
5
 

M
e
rs

e
y
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 P

a
rk

 
M

e
rs

e
y
 A

v
e
n
u
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
6
6
 

D
o
d
d
s
 P

a
rk

 
D

o
d
d
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
6
7
 

R
o
u
n
d
 M

e
a
d
e
 P

a
rk

 
T

h
e
 R

o
u
n
d
 M

e
a
d
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
6
8
 

S
t 

J
o
h
n
 B

o
s
c
o
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

G
re

e
n
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
7
0
 

S
o
u
th

 c
o
rn

e
r 

W
e
s
tw

a
y
/L

p
o
o
l 

R
d
 

W
e
s
tw

a
y
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 a
s
 s

it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 
W

e
ll-

w
o
o
d
e
d
. 

G
2
7
1
 

D
e
y
e
s
 H

ig
h
 &

 S
t 
A

n
d
re

w
s
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 

N
o
rt

h
w

a
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
7
3
 

W
h
in

n
e
y
 B

ro
o
k
 P

la
y
in

g
 

F
ie

ld
s
 

E
a
s
tw

a
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
2
7
4
 

G
le

n
n
 P

a
rk

 
E

a
s
tw

a
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
7
5
 

M
a
ri
c
o
u
rt

 H
ig

h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

H
a
ll 

L
a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
7
6
 

M
a
ri
c
o
u
rt

 H
ig

h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
lo

w
e
r 

H
a
ll 

L
a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
7
8
 

P
a
rk

h
a
v
e
n
 T

ru
s
t 
(K

y
ff

in
 

T
a
y
lo

r 
&

 J
a
m

e
s
 P

a
g

e
 

h
o
u
s
e
s
) 

D
a
m

fi
e
ld

 L
a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n

) 

G
2
7
9
 

L
a
n
d
 s

o
u
th

 w
e
s
t 

o
f 

D
a
m

fi
e
ld

 
L
a
n
e
 

D
a
m

fi
e
ld

 L
a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
, 

a
s
 n

o
 p

u
b
lic

 
a
c
c
e
s
s
. 

 W
it
h
in

 C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a
 a

n
d
 

a
d
ja

c
e
n
t 
to

 L
is

te
d
 B

u
ild

in
g
 a

n
d
 c

a
n
a
l,
 s

o
 

s
it
e
’s

 o
p
e
n
n
e
s
s
 h

a
s
 c

u
lt
u
ra

l 
&

 h
is

to
ri
c
 

im
p
o
rt

a
n
c
e
. 

G
2
8
0
 

P
a
rk

h
a
v
e
n
 T

ru
s
t 

S
e
ft

o
n
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
),

 b
u
t 
s
p
lit

 t
h
e
 s

it
e
 

('
e
x
tr

a
-c

a
re

' 
&

P
a
rk

h
a
v
e
n
).

 

G
2
8
1
 

M
a
g

h
u
ll 

H
ig

h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

O
rm

o
n
d
e
 D

ri
v
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
8
2
 

K
in

g
 G

e
o
rg

e
 V

 P
la

y
in

g
 

F
ie

ld
s
 

N
o
rt

h
w

a
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
8
3
 

O
ld

 H
a
ll 

P
la

y
in

g
 F

ie
ld

 
H

a
ll 

L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
2
8
4
 

L
a
n
d
 a

t 
M

a
g

h
u
ll 

S
ta

ti
o
n
 

S
ta

ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
it
e
 i
s
 m

o
s
tl
y
 L

o
c
a
l 
W

ild
lif

e
 S

it
e
 a

n
d
 h

a
s
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 318



S
e
ft

o
n

 E
a
s
t 

P
a
ri

s
h

e
s
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
li

s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 

L
o

c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

T
P

O
s
, 

a
ls

o
 s

o
m

e
 F

Z
2
 a

n
d
 F

Z
3
. 

G
2
8
5
 

O
ld

 H
a
ll 

P
a
rk

 (
F

o
rm

e
r 

s
c
h
o
o
l 

s
it
e
) 

H
a
ll 

L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
8
6
 

S
t 
G

e
o
rg

e
s
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

O
ld

 H
a
ll 

R
o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
8
8
 

P
im

b
le

y
 P

la
y
in

g
 F

ie
ld

 
F

ie
ld

w
a

y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
2
8
9
 

S
u
m

m
e
rh

ill
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

P
o
v
e
rt

y
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
9
0
_
1
 

H
u
d
s
o
n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

M
o
o
rh

e
y
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
2
9
0
_
2
 

M
o
o
rh

e
y
 P

a
rk

 
C

h
u
rc

h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
9
2
 

J
c
n
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 
R

d
 S

o
u
th

 
L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 S

o
u
th

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

S
it
e
 i
s
 o

v
e
r 

p
o
s
s
ib

le
 0

.2
5
h
a

, 
s
o
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

(a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 c

o
u
ld

 b
e
 

s
e
e
n
 a

s
 a

 h
ig

h
w

a
y
 v

e
rg

e
 a

n
d
 t
h
u
s
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

).
 

G
2
9
3
 

N
o
rt

h
 c

o
rn

e
r 

W
e
s
tw

a
y
/L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 
R

d
 

W
e
s
tw

a
y
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
it
e
 s

m
a
lle

r 
th

a
n
 0

.2
5
h
a
. 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
2
9
4
 

S
t 

A
n
d
re

w
s
 C

h
u
rc

h
 

D
a
m

fi
e
ld

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 

c
e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
2
9
5
 

S
t 
G

e
o
rg

e
s
 C

h
u
rc

h
 

S
ta

ti
o
n
 R

o
a
d
 /
 G

a
tl
e
y
 

D
ri
v
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 a
n
d
 m

a
y
 

b
e
 s

o
m

e
 P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
  

S
o
m

e
 i
s
 c

h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 s
o
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
).

 R
e
s
t 
P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 e
x
c
e
p
t 
s
m

a
ll 

a
re

a
 o

f 
u
n
d
e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 –

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 -

 i
f 

b
e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a
).

  
R

e
v
ie

w
 

s
it
e
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
. 

G
2
9
6
 

H
a
ig

 C
re

s
c
e
n
t 
O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 

H
a
ig

h
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

 a
s
 r

o
a
d
 v

e
rg

e
, 

e
v
e
n
 i
f 

m
a
in

ta
in

e
d
 b

y
 P

a
ri
s
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il.

 

G
2
9
7
 

S
o
u
th

 M
e
a
d
e
 O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 

S
o
u
th

 M
e
a
d
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
9
8
 

R
a
in

b
o

w
 P

a
rk

 
R

a
in

b
o

w
 D

ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
2
9
9
 

M
e

lli
n
g

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

W
h
e
e
le

r 
D

ri
v
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
0
0
 

O
p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 i
n
 S

e
ft

o
n
 v

ill
a
g

e
 B

ri
d
g

e
s
 L

a
n
e
 

G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
 

S
e
ft

o
n
 v

ill
a
g

e
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
c
o
m

e
 a

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 319



S
e
ft

o
n

 E
a
s
t 

P
a
ri

s
h

e
s
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
li

s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 

L
o

c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

c
e
n
tr

e
 

'w
a
s
h
e
d
 o

v
e
r'
 v

ill
a
g

e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
. 

A
s
 

s
it
e
 i
s
 p

ri
v
a
te

, 
w

ill
 l
ie

 w
it
h

in
 t

h
e
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
 

b
u
t 

w
ill

 n
o
t 

b
e
 P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
. 

G
3
0
1
 

D
a
v
e
n
h
ill

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

A
in

tr
e
e
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
0
2
 

H
a
rr

o
w

 D
ri
v
e
 P

a
rk

 
H

a
rr

o
w

 D
ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

 /
p
la

y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

s
) 

G
3
0
3
 

H
o
ly

 R
o
s
a
ry

 R
C

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

O
ri
e
l 
D

ri
v
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
0
4
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

H
o
ly

 R
o
s
a
ry

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

A
in

tr
e
e
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

fo
rm

e
r 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
9
2
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 
C

a
n
a
l 

N
o
rt

h
w

a
y
 t

o
 P

im
b
le

y
 F

ie
ld

s
 

N
o
rt

h
w

a
y
 T

o
 P

im
b
le

y
 

F
ie

ld
s
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 

w
a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
3
9
3
_
2
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 
C

a
n
a
l 

r/
o
 N

e
th

e
rt

o
n
 G

ra
n
g

e
 t
o
 

ra
ilw

a
y
 l
in

e
 

N
e
th

e
rt

o
n
 G

ra
n
g

e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 

w
a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
3
9
5
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 
C

a
n
a
l 

M
a
g

h
u
ll 

B
ro

o
k
 t

o
 N

o
rt

h
w

a
y
 

N
o
rt

h
w

a
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 

w
a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
3
9
6
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 
C

a
n
a
l 

O
rm

s
k
ir
k
 R

o
a
d
 t
o
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 

lin
e
 

W
e
s
t 
F

ro
m

 O
rm

s
k
ir
k
 

R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 

w
a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
3
9
7
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 
C

a
n
a
l 

R
a
c
e
c
o
u
rs

e
 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
E

s
ta

te
 

to
 O

rm
s
k
ir
k
 R

o
a
d
 

E
a
s
t 

F
ro

m
 O

rm
s
k
ir
k
 

R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 

w
a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
3
9
9
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 
C

a
n
a
l 

S
p
e
n
c
e
rs

 L
a
n
e
 t

o
 M

5
7
 

S
p
e
n
c
e
rs

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 

w
a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
4
1
2
 

S
a
ti
n
w

o
o
d
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t,
 M

e
lli

n
g
 
S

a
ti
n
w

o
o
d
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t,
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 
a
s
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
s
 

c
h
ild

re
n
's

 p
la

y
, 

a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a
. 

G
4
1
3
 

H
ic

k
o
ry

 G
ro

v
e
, 

M
e
lli

n
g
 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 
 

G
4
1
5
 

S
t 

H
e
le

n
's

 C
h
u
rc

h
 S

e
ft

o
n
 

L
u
n
t 

R
o
a
d
 

G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
 &

 P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

S
e
ft

o
n
 v

ill
a
g

e
 d

u
e
 t

o
 b

e
c
o
m

e
 a

 '
w

a
s
h
e
d
 

o
v
e
r'
 v

ill
a
g

e
, 

i.
e
. 

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
, 
b
u
t 
s
it
e
 w

ill
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 320



S
e
ft

o
n

 E
a
s
t 

P
a
ri

s
h

e
s
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

- 
li

s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 

L
o

c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

s
ti
ll 

b
e
 P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 a

s
 i
t 
is

 a
 

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
. 

G
4
1
6
 

P
u
n
c
h
 B

o
w

l 
P

u
b
lic

 H
o
u
s
e
 

L
u
n
t 

R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 (
in

 t
h
e
 G

re
e
n
 

B
e
lt
) 

S
e
ft

o
n
 v

ill
a
g

e
 d

u
e
 t

o
 b

e
c
o
m

e
 a

 '
w

a
s
h
e
d
 

o
v
e
r'
 v

ill
a
g

e
 i
n
 t

h
e
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
, 
b
u
t 
p
u
b
lic

 
o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 a
s
 a

n
 o

u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 s

it
e
 

(b
o
w

lin
g

 g
re

e
n
).
 

G
4
1
7
 

T
ra

n
s
 P

e
n
n
in

e
 T

ra
il 

n
o
rt

h
 o

f 
P

a
rk

 L
a
n
e
 

S
e
n
ti
n
e
l 
W

a
y
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

. 

      S
e
ft

o
n

 E
a
s
t 

P
a
ri

s
h

e
s
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

 f
o

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

  

S
e
ft

o
n

 E
a
s
t 

P
a
ri

s
h

e
s
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

  
fo

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

P
P

3
9
7
0
8
 

S
a
n
d
y
 L

a
n
e
 P

la
y
in

g
 

F
ie

ld
s
 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 (
in

 G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
),

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 

G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
. 

 
C

o
u
n
tr

y
 P

a
rk

s
 a

n
d
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 w

o
o
d
la

n
d
  

 
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 p

a
rk

) 
w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 

G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
. 

 
C

a
n
a
l 
(w

h
e
re

 i
t 

lie
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 w

a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 321



 S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

 S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

 

S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
0
0
1
 

L
a
n
d
 a

t 
F

o
lk

e
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 

F
o
lk

e
s
to

n
e
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

a
s
 m

o
re

 t
h
a
n
 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 

G
0
0
3
 

L
a
n
d
 N

o
rt

h
 o

f 
M

e
o
ls

 C
o
p
 

R
e
ta

il 
P

a
rk

 
M

e
o

ls
 C

o
p
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
),

 a
s
 s

it
e
 i
s
 

o
v
e
r 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 

G
0
0
6
 

M
a

lh
a
m

 C
lo

s
e
 

M
a

lh
a
m

 C
lo

s
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
),

 a
s
 s

it
e
 i
s
 

o
v
e
r 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 

G
0
0
8
 

S
h
o
re

 R
o
a
d
 g

ra
s
s
 v

e
rg

e
 

S
h
o
re

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
&

 s
e
m

i 
g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
).

 
P

a
rt

 o
f 

K
e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 R

o
a
d
 g

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
 s

y
s
te

m
, 

in
te

g
ra

l 
to

 d
e
s
ig

n
 o

f 
s
u
rr

o
u
n
d
in

g
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

re
a
. 

G
0
1
5
 

K
e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 R

o
a
d
 g

ra
s
s
 v

e
rg

e
 K

e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

. 
H

ig
h
w

a
y
 v

e
rg

e
, 

e
le

v
a
te

d
. 
 

G
0
3
1
_
1
 

L
a
n
d
 n

o
rt

h
 D

o
b
b
ie

s
 G

a
rd

e
n

 
C

e
n
tr

e
 

B
e
n
th

a
m

s
 W

a
y
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

G
0
3
1
_
2
 

D
o
b
b
ie

s
 G

a
rd

e
n
 C

e
n
tr

e
 

B
e
n
th

a
m

s
 W

a
y
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
3
5
_
1
 

C
h
ri
s
t 
th

e
 K

in
g

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

B
e
n
th

a
m

s
 

W
a
y
/S

ta
m

fo
rd

 R
o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
3
5
_
2
 

fo
rm

e
rl
y
 c

la
s
s
e
d
 a

s
 C

h
ri
s
t 

th
e
 K

in
g

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

B
e
n
th

a
m

s
 W

a
y
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 (

b
u
t 

s
c
h
e
m

e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 
in

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
 d

e
ta

c
h
e
d
 s

c
h
o
o
l 
p
la

y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

) 

G
0
5
3
 

L
a
n
d
 a

d
ja

c
e
n
t 
T

o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 

C
o
m

m
e
rc

e
 P

a
rk

 
T

o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
A

re
a
 &

 
P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
a
rt

 o
f 

la
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
, 
p
a
rk

la
n
d
 s

tr
u
c
tu

re
 f
o
r 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 B
u
s
in

e
s
s
 P

a
rk

 a
n
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

it
e

. 

G
0
7
1
 

R
o
s
e
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t 
(g

a
rd

e
n
 i
n
 

fr
o
n
t 

o
f 

3
5
-6

9
 C

h
e
rr

y
 R

o
a
d
 

C
h
e
rr

y
 R

o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
, 

a
s
 s

it
e
 i
s
 l
e
s
s
 t
h
a
n
 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 

G
3
0
6
 

F
e
rr

y
s
id

e
 L

a
n
e
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 

G
ro

u
n
d
 

F
e
rr

y
s
id

e
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 322



S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
3
0
7
 

M
a
ri
n
e
 D

r/
P

re
s
to

n
 N

e
w

 R
d
 

T
ri
a
n
g

le
 

M
a
ri
n
e
 D

ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

a
s
 o

v
e
r 

0
.2

5
h
a
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 c

o
u
ld

 b
e
 s

e
e
n
 a

s
 a

 h
ig

h
w

a
y
 

v
e
rg

e
. 

G
3
0
8
 

C
ro

s
s
e
n
s
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 P

a
rk

 
R

u
ff

o
rd

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
0
9
 

M
a
rs

h
s
id

e
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

E
ls

w
ic

k
 G

re
e
n
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
1
0
 

F
le

e
tw

o
o
d
 &

 H
e
s
k
e
th

 S
p
o
rt

 
&

 S
o
c
ia

l 
C

lu
b
  

F
re

c
k
le

to
n
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
1
1
 

P
re

s
to

n
 N

e
w

 R
o
a
d
 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 G

r 
P

re
s
to

n
 N

e
w

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
1
2
 

N
o
rt

h
 e

n
d
 o

f 
th

e
 S

tr
a
y
 

R
a
th

m
o
re

 C
re

s
c
e
n
t 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
),

 b
u
t 

m
a
y
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

  

G
3
1
3
 

L
a
rk

fi
e
ld

, 
P

re
s
tf

ie
ld

 -
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

P
re

s
to

n
 N

e
w

 R
o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
1
4
 

N
o
rt

h
 m

id
-s

e
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
th

e
 

S
tr

a
y
 

R
a
th

m
o
re

 C
re

s
c
e
n
t 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
),

 b
u
t 

m
a
y
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 

G
3
1
5
 

S
o
u
th

 m
id

-s
e
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
T

h
e
 

S
tr

a
y
 

L
e
x
to

n
 D

ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
),

 b
u
t 

m
a
y
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 

G
3
1
6
 

B
o
ta

n
ic

 G
a
rd

e
n
s
 

B
a
n
k
fi
e
ld

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
3
1
7
 

C
h
u
rc

h
to

w
n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

t 
C

u
th

b
e
rt

s
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
1
8
 

S
t 

P
a
tr

ic
k
s
 R

C
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

R
a
d
n
o
r 

D
ri
v
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
2
0
 

S
ta

n
le

y
 H

ig
h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

M
a
rs

h
s
id

e
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
2
1
 

P
e
a
c
e
h
a
v
e
n
 H

o
u
s
e
 

R
o
e
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
) 

G
3
2
2
 

D
e
v
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 R

o
a
d
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 

G
ro

u
n
d
 

D
e
v
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
2
3
 

C
a
n
n
in

g
 R

o
a
d
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 

G
ro

u
n
d
 

C
a
n
n
in

g
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
2
4
 

R
u
s
s
e
ll 

R
o
a
d
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 

G
ro

u
n
d
 

R
u
s
s
e
ll 

R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 323



S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
3
2
5
 

N
o
rw

o
o
d
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

N
o
rw

o
o
d
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
2
6
 

M
e
o

ls
 C

o
p
 S

c
h
o
o
l 
&

 K
G

V
 

C
o
lle

g
e
 

N
o
rw

o
o
d
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
o
lle

g
e
 s

it
e
) 

G
3
2
7
 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 F
C

 
H

a
ig

 A
v
e
n
u
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
2
8
 

S
p
h
y
n

x
 T

e
n
n
is

 C
lu

b
 

A
s
h
d
o
w

n
 C

lo
s
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 -

 t
e
n
n
is

) 

G
3
2
9
 

B
is

h
o
p
 D

a
v
id

 S
h
e
p
h
e
rd

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

L
a
w

s
o
n
 S

tr
e
e
t 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
3
1
 

H
e
s
k
e
th

 P
a
rk

 
P

a
rk

 C
re

s
c
e
n
t 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
3
3
2
 

L
a
n
d
 a

t 
th

e
 r

e
a
r 

o
f 

A
rg

y
le

 
R

o
a
d
 (

A
rg

y
le

 T
e
n
n
is

 C
lu

b
) 

A
rg

y
le

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 -

 t
e
n
n
is

) 

G
3
3
3
 

L
o
rd

 S
tr

e
e
t 
g

a
rd

e
n
s
 

L
o
rd

 S
tr

e
e
t 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
3
3
5
 

C
o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d
 P

a
rk

 
C

o
m

p
to

n
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
3
3
6
 

D
u
k
e
 S

tr
e
e
t 

C
e
m

e
te

ry
 

D
u
k
e
 S

tr
e
e
t 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
3
3
7
 

S
t 

P
e
te

rs
 C

h
u
rc

h
 

S
t 

P
e
te

rs
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
3
3
8
 

S
t 

P
a
u
ls

 C
h
u
rc

h
 

S
t 

P
a
u
ls

 S
tr

e
e
t 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

M
o
s
t 

o
f 

s
it
e
 i
s
 c

o
v
e
re

d
 b

y
 c

h
u
rc

h
 b

u
ild

in
g
, 

lit
tl
e
 i
s
 

g
re

e
n
 -

 P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

. 

G
3
3
9
 

S
t 

P
a
u
l's

 G
a
rd

e
n
s
 

D
u
k
e
 S

tr
e
e
t 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

F
o
rm

a
l 
lo

c
a
l 
p
a
rk

, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 b

e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a
 -

 
p
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
).

 

G
3
4
0
 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 C
ri
c
k
e
t 

C
lu

b
 

T
ra

fa
lg

a
r 

R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
4
1
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
fo

r 
th

e
 P

a
rt

ia
l 

H
e
a
ri
n
g
 

G
ra

n
v
ill

e
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

fo
rm

e
r 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
) 

G
3
4
2
 

G
re

e
n
b
a
n
k
 H

ig
h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

H
a
s
ti
n
g

s
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
4
3
 

K
e
w

 W
o
o
d
s
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

O
v
in

g
to

n
 D

ri
v
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
4
4
 

S
R

U
F

C
 &

 W
a
te

rl
o
o
 R

d
 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 

W
a
te

rl
o
o
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
4
5
 

B
e
d
fo

rd
 P

a
rk

 
K

e
w

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
3
4
6
 

C
a
rr

 L
a
n
e
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 

G
ro

u
n
d
 

C
a
rr

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 324



S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
3
4
7
 

B
ir
k
d
a
le

 H
ig

h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

W
in

d
y
 H

a
rb

o
u
r 

R
o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
4
9
 

B
ir
k
d
a
le

 R
C

 C
e
m

e
te

ry
 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
3
5
0
 

A
in

s
d
a
le

 M
e
th

o
d
is

t 
c
h
u
rc

h
 

a
n
d
 H

a
ll 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
A

v
e
n
u
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
3
5
1
 

A
in

s
d
a
le

 W
a
r 

M
e
m

o
ri
a
l/
V

ill
a
g

e
 G

re
e
n
 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
3
5
2
 

S
a
n
d
b
ro

o
k
 R

d
 W

o
o
d
la

n
d
 

(f
o
rm

e
r 

tr
e
e
 n

u
rs

e
ry

) 
S

a
n
d
b
ro

o
k
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
3
5
3
 

K
in

g
 M

e
a
d
o
w

 P
ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 
a
n
d
 e

a
rl
y
 y

e
a
rs

 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 c

e
n
tr

e
 

M
e
a
d
o

w
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
5
4
 

T
h
e
 A

in
s
d
a
le

 S
p
o
rt

s
 a

n
d
 

S
o
c
ia

l 
C

lu
b
 

G
le

n
e
a
g

le
s
 D

ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
5
5
 

C
h
e
rr

y
 R

o
a
d
 P

la
y
g

ro
u
n
d
 

C
h
e
rr

y
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
3
5
6
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

S
t 

J
o
h
n
 S

to
n
e
 R

C
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 
M

e
a
d
o

w
 L

a
n
e
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

G
3
5
8
 

P
in

fo
ld

 L
a
n
e
 P

la
y
 A

re
a
 

P
in

fo
ld

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
(p

a
rk

s
 a

n
d
 g

a
rd

e
n
s
).

 
(I

m
p
o
rt

a
n
t 
lo

c
a
l 
p
a
rk

, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 s

it
e

 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 

G
3
5
9
 

S
o
u
th

 e
n
d
 o

f 
T

h
e
 S

tr
a
y
 

B
a
lm

o
ra

l 
D

ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

- 
w

a
s
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 A
G

 (
a
m

e
n
it
y
 g

re
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
3
6
0
 

D
is

u
s
e
d
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 

V
e
ru

la
m

 R
o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

L
o
n
g
 n

a
rr

o
w

 s
tr

ip
, 
a
t 
re

a
r 

o
f 

p
ri
v
a
te

 g
a
rd

e
n
s
. 
  

G
3
6
1
_
A

 
M

e
re

fi
e
ld

 (
S

p
e
c
ia

l)
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

W
e
s
tm

in
s
te

r 
D

ri
v
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
6
1
_
B

 
S

h
o
re

s
id

e
 C

.P
. 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

W
e
s
tm

in
s
te

r 
D

ri
v
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
6
2
 

D
u
n
e
s
 n

o
rt

h
 o

f 
K

e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 

R
o
a
d
 

K
e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

- 
m

o
re

 
th

a
n
 j
u
s
t 
a
 v

e
rg

e
. 

G
3
6
3
 

L
a
n
d
 e

a
s
t 
o
f 

K
e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 

R
o
a
d
 

K
e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
),

 a
s
 

o
v
e
r 

0
.2

5
h
a
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 c

o
u
ld

 s
e
e
 t

h
is

 a
s
 a

 
h
ig

h
w

a
y
 v

e
rg

e
 a

n
d
 h

e
n
c
e
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

Agenda Item 7

Page 325



S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

A
re

a
. 

G
3
6
4
 

L
a
n
d
 w

e
s
t 

o
f 

K
e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 

R
o
a
d
 

K
e
n
ilw

o
rt

h
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
),

 a
s
 

o
v
e
r 

0
.2

5
h
a
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 c

o
u
ld

 s
e
e
 t

h
is

 a
s
 a

 
h
ig

h
w

a
y
 v

e
rg

e
 a

n
d
 h

e
n
c
e
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

A
re

a
. 

G
3
6
5
 

C
h
u
rc

h
to

w
n
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

P
la

y
in

g
 F

ie
ld

s
 

S
u
n
n
y
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
6
6
 

S
t 

C
u
th

b
e
rt

s
 C

h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 
B

o
ta

n
ic

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
3
6
7
 

M
e
o

ls
 P

a
rk

 
S

c
a
ri
s
b
ri
c
k
 N

e
w

 R
o
a
d
 P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

 a
n
d
 p

la
y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

s
).
 

G
3
6
8
 

S
h
o
re

 R
o
a
d
 g

ra
s
s
 v

e
rg

e
 

S
tr

a
tf
o
rd

 C
lo

s
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
),

 a
s
 

o
v
e
r 

0
.2

5
h
a
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 c

o
u
ld

 s
e
e
 t

h
is

 a
s
 a

 
h
ig

h
w

a
y
 v

e
rg

e
 a

n
d
 h

e
n
c
e
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

A
re

a
. 

G
3
6
9
 

F
a
rn

b
o
ro

u
g

h
 R

o
a
d
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

F
a
rn

b
o
ro

u
g

h
 R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
3
7
0
 

Q
u
e
e
n
s
c
o
u
rt

 H
o
s
p
ic

e
 

T
o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 (

K
e
w

) 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
) 

G
3
7
1
_
1
 

L
a
n
d
 w

e
s
t 

o
f 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 
G

e
n
e
ra

l 
H

o
s
p
it
a
l 
(1

) 
T

o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 K

e
w

 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
  I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 -

 h
o
s
p
it
a
l)
 –

 b
u
t 
m

a
y
 

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 

G
3
7
1
_
2
 

L
a
n
d
 w

e
s
t 

o
f 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 
G

e
n
e
ra

l 
H

o
s
p
it
a
l 
(2

) 
T

o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 K

e
w

 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 -

 h
o
s
p
it
a
l)
 –

 b
u
t 
m

a
y
 

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 

G
3
7
2
 

T
o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 P

la
y
g

ro
u
n
d
 

T
o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
3
7
3
 

L
a
n
d
 w

e
s
t 

o
f 
T

o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 

T
o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

) 
 

G
3
7
4
_
1
 

P
o
rt

la
n
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 
P

la
y
in

g
 

F
ie

ld
s
 (

o
ri
g

in
a
l 
s
it
e
 G

3
7
4
) 

P
o
rt

la
n
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

–
 b

u
t 
m

a
y
 

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
c
u
rr

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 

u
s
e
s
 i
n
 a

re
a
 

G
3
7
4
_
2
 

P
a
rt

 o
f 
T

o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 'C

o
u
n
tr

y
 

P
a
rk

' I
.e

. 
G

3
7
7
 (

fo
rm

e
rl
y
 p

a
rt

 
o
f 

s
it
e
 G

3
7
4
) 

B
e
n
th

a
m

s
 W

a
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

)–
 b

u
t 
m

a
y
 n

e
e
d
 

to
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
c
u
rr

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 u

s
e
s
 

in
 a

re
a
 

G
3
7
7
_
1
 

T
o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 '
C

o
u
n
tr

y
 P

a
rk

' 
B

e
n
th

a
m

s
 W

a
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

) 
–
 b

u
t 
m

a
y
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 326



S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
c
u
rr

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 

u
s
e
s
 i
n
 a

re
a
 

G
3
7
7
_
2
 

T
o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 A

llo
tm

e
n
ts

 
T

o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

) 
–
 b

u
t 
m

a
y
 n

e
e
d
 

to
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
c
u
rr

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 u

s
e
s
 

in
 a

re
a
 

G
3
7
7
_
3
 

P
a
rt

 o
f 

P
o
rt

la
n
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 

P
la

y
in

g
 F

ie
ld

s
 (

u
s
e
d
 t
o
 b

e
 

m
is

ta
k
e
n
ly

 i
n
 G

3
7
7
) 

P
o
rt

la
n
d
 S

tr
e
e
t 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
)–

 b
u
t 
m

a
y
 

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 t
o
 r

e
fl
e
c
t 
c
u
rr

e
n
t 
la

n
d
 

u
s
e
s
 i
n
 a

re
a
 

G
3
7
9
 

S
a
n
d
b
ro

o
k
 R

o
a
d
 R

e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 

G
ro

u
n
d
 

S
a
n
d
b
ro

o
k
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
8
0
 

H
e
s
k
e
th

 G
o
lf
 L

in
k
s
 

C
o
c
k
le

 D
ic

k
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

g
o
lf
 )

 

G
3
8
1
 

O
v
in

g
to

n
 D

ri
v
e
 O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 

O
v
in

g
to

n
 D

ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
3
8
2
 

V
ic

to
ri
a
 P

a
rk

 
R

o
tt

e
n
 R

o
w

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 a
n
d
 s

o
m

e
 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 S
e
a
fr

o
n
t 
 o

n
ly

 
M

o
s
t 

is
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

),
 b

u
t 

n
e
e
d
 t

o
 

a
m

e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 t
o
 r

e
m

o
v
e
 t

h
e

 C
a
ra

v
a
n
 C

lu
b
 

s
it
e
 (

w
h
ic

h
 i
s
 i
n
 S

o
u
th

p
o
rt

 S
e
a
fr

o
n
t 

a
re

a
),

 a
n
d
 

s
e
p
a
ra

te
 t

h
e
 F

lo
w

e
r 

S
h
o
w

 s
it
e
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

s
it
e
 a

t 
th

e
 s

o
u
th

 e
n
d
. 

G
3
8
5
 

R
o
o
k
e
ry

 S
p
o
rt

s
 &

 S
o
c
ia

l 
C

lu
b
 

R
o
e
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
3
8
6
 

M
a
ri
n
e
 D

ri
v
e
 T

ri
a
n
g

le
 

M
a
ri
n
e
 D

ri
v
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

  

G
3
8
7
 

S
e
a
c
ro

ft
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t 
O

p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

S
e
a
c
ro

ft
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
it
e
 b

e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a
. 
In

 F
lo

o
d
 Z

o
n
e
2
 a

n
d
 F

lo
o
d
 

Z
o
n
e
 3

 -
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

. 

G
3
8
9
 

H
a
rt

le
y
 R

o
a
d
 B

lu
n
d
e
lll

 D
ri
v
e
 

G
a
rd

e
n
s
 

H
a
rt

le
y
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
3
9
0
 

M
e
a
d
o

w
 H

o
m

e
s
 

S
a
n
d
b
ro

o
k
 R

o
a
d
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

G
4
0
0
 

B
o
ta

n
ic

 G
a
rd

e
n
s
 B

o
w

lin
g
 

G
re

e
n
 

B
o
ta

n
ic

 R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

B
e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a
  
b
u
t 

o
th

e
rw

is
e
 p

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

(o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 –

 b
o
w

ls
. 

 M
a

y
 b

e
 p

o
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 

m
e
rg

in
g

 w
it
h

 B
o
ta

n
ic

 G
a
rd

e
n
s
 s

it
e
?
) 

G
4
0
3
 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 G
e
n
e
ra

l 
H

o
s
p
it
a
l 

T
o
w

n
 L

a
n
e
 (

K
e
w

) 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 -

 h
o
s
p
it
a
l)
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 327



S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e

v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
4
0
4
 

S
t 

J
o
h
n
s
 C

h
u
rc

h
 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
4
0
5
 

C
ro

s
s
e
n
s
 C

 o
f 

E
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

R
u
ff

o
rd

 R
o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 I

n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
4
0
6
 

T
h
e
 P

a
s
tu

re
s
 

B
a
y
tr

e
e
 C

lo
s
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a
. 
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
4
1
9
_
1
 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 M
a
ri
n
e
 L

a
k
e
, 
e
a
s
t 

o
f 

n
e
w

 b
ri
d
g

e
 a

n
d
 p

ie
r 

P
ro

m
e
n
a
d
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 
- 

b
u
t 
m

a
y
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 

a
m

e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 

G
4
1
9
_
2
 

F
lo

ra
l 
H

a
ll 

G
a
rd

e
n
s
 

T
h
e
 P

ro
m

e
n
a
d
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

  
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 
- 

b
u
t 
m

a
y
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 

a
m

e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 

G
4
1
9
_
3
 

P
ri
n
c
e
s
 P

a
rk

 
M

a
ri
n
e
 P

a
ra

d
e
 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 S
e
a
fr

o
n
t 

P
a
rt

 o
f 

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 '
M

a
ri
n
e
 P

a
rk

' 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
s
it
e
 

- 
b
u
t 
m

a
y
 n

e
e
d
 t
o
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

. 

G
4
1
9
_
4
 

L
a
k
e
s
id

e
 R

a
ilw

a
y
 

O
ff

 M
a
ri
n
e
 P

a
ra

d
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 
- 

b
u
t 
m

a
y
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 

a
m

e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 

G
4
1
9
_
5
 

M
a
ri
n
e
 L

a
k
e
, 
K

in
g

s
 G

a
rd

e
n
s
 
P

ro
m

e
n
a
d
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

w
a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
) 

- 
b
u
t 
m

a
y
 n

e
e
d
 

to
 a

m
e
n
d
 b

o
u
n
d
a
ry

 

G
4
2
1
 

C
h
u
rc

h
to

w
n
 T

e
n
n
is

 C
lu

b
 

M
ill

 L
a
n
e
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 328



S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  
- 

li
s
t 

o
f 

p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

 f
o

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

  

S
o

u
th

p
o

rt
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

  
fo

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
O

 P
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 D
e

s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

s
u

m
m

a
ry

 
P

O
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e

s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 e

x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

A
L
0
0
1
 

B
ir
k
d
a
le

 I
rr

ig
a
ti
o
n
 

A
llo

tm
e
n
ts

 
M

o
s
s
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 (
in

 t
h
e
 G

re
e
n
 

B
e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

B
) 

- 
a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

 

A
L
0
0
3
 

C
h
u
rc

h
to

w
n
 A

llo
tm

e
n
ts

 
B

lu
n
d
e
ll 

L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 t
h
e
 G

re
e
n
 

B
e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

B
) 

- 
a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

 

A
L
0
0
4
 

M
o
s
s
 L

a
n
e
 A

llo
tm

e
n
ts

 
M

o
s
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 t
h
e
 G

re
e
n
 

B
e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

B
) 

- 
a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

 

P
P

2
4
 

L
iv

e
rp

o
o
l 
R

o
a
d
 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 G

ro
u
n
d
 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 t
h
e
 G

re
e
n
 

B
e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
 a

n
d
 p

a
rk

) 

P
P

3
9
6
8
0
 

Y
M

C
A

 P
la

y
in

g
 F

ie
ld

s
 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 t
h
e
 G

re
e
n
 

B
e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

 
O

th
e
r 

p
a
rt

s
 o

f 
th

e
 c

o
a
s
ta

l 
p
a
rk

  
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 t
h
e
 G

re
e
n
 

B
e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e

 (
c
o
a
s
t 
/ 

c
o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 p

a
rk

) 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 329



S
t 

O
s
w

a
ld

’s
 a

n
d

 N
e
th

e
r
to

n
 a

n
d

 O
r
r
e
ll

 A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 A

re
a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
  

 S
t 

O
s
w

a
ld

’s
 a

n
d

 N
e
th

e
r
to

n
 a

n
d

 O
r
r
e
ll

 A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 -
 l
is

t 
o

f 
2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

 

S
t 

O
s
w

a
ld

’s
 a

n
d

 N
e
th

e
r
to

n
 a

n
d

 O
r
r
e
ll

 A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

  
- 

li
s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
0
2
2
 

D
is

m
a
n
tl
e
d
 r

a
ilw

a
y
 

S
o
u
th

p
o
rt

 R
o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
4
4
 

S
t 
G

e
o
rg

e
 o

f 
E

n
g

la
n
d
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 

F
e
rn

h
ill

 R
o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

A
s
 l
it
tl
e
 g

re
e
n

 s
p
a
c
e
, 
c
o
n
s
id

e
r 

c
h
a
n
g

in
g

 t
o
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

. 

G
0
4
5
 

F
e
rn

h
ill

 S
p
o
rt

s
 C

e
n
tr

e
 

F
e
rn

h
ill

 R
o
a
d
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
p
o
rt

s
 c

e
n
tr

e
 f
o
rm

in
g

 p
a
rt

 o
f 
T

h
e
 H

a
w

th
o
rn

e
s
 

[F
re

e
] 

S
c
h
o
o
l 
n
e
x
t 
d
o
o
r,

 b
u
t 

v
e
ry

 l
it
tl
e
 o

f 
s
it
e
 i
s
 

g
re

e
n
 h

e
n
c
e
 n

o
t 
in

s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
. 

G
0
4
6
 

B
o
o
tl
e
 C

e
m

e
te

ry
 

L
in

a
c
re

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
) 

G
0
4
8
 

M
e
n
a

i 
P

a
rk

 
4
3
 C

in
d
e
r 

L
a
n
e
 O

rr
e
ll 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
5
1
 

O
rr

e
ll 

M
o
u
n
t 

P
a
rk

 
O

rr
e
ll 

R
o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
5
2
 

S
t 

R
o
b
e
rt

 B
e
lla

rm
in

e
s
 R

C
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 

H
a
rr

is
 D

ri
v
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
5
4
 

A
llo

tm
e
n
ts

 G
a
rd

n
e
r 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 

G
a
rd

n
e
r 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

) 

G
0
5
5
 

O
rr

e
ll 

L
a
n
e
 S

p
o
rt

s
 

G
ro

u
n
d
 

O
rr

e
ll 

L
a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

N
o
w

 d
e

v
e
lo

p
e
d
 f

o
r 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 

G
0
5
6
 

A
b
b
e
y
s
te

a
d
 P

a
rk

 
P

a
rk

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
5
7
 

P
a
rk

 L
a
n
e
 V

e
rg

e
 

P
a
rk

 L
a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
, 

a
s
 s

u
rr

o
u
n
d
in

g
s
 

G
0
5
8
 

L
it
tl
e
w

o
o
d
s
 S

p
o
rt

s
 

G
ro

u
n
d
 (

E
v
e
rt

o
n
 j
u
n
io

rs
) 

D
u
n
n
in

g
s
 B

ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
0
5
9
 

N
e
th

e
rt

o
n
 P

a
rk

 
C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 C

e
n
tr

e
 (

s
it
e
 o

f 
fo

rm
e
r 

N
e
th

e
rt

o
n
 P

a
rk

 
P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o

l)
 

D
u
n
n
in

g
s
 B

ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

B
ro

a
d
ly

 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
u
s
e
. 
S

c
h
o
o
l 
c
lo

s
e
d
 &

 
d
e
m

o
lis

h
e
d
 b

u
t 
D

ir
e
c
to

r 
o
f 

C
S

 a
d
v
is

e
s
 t

h
a
t 
n
e
w

 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 c

e
n
tr

e
 u

s
e
s
 p

la
y
in

g
 f

ie
ld

s
 a

n
d
 i
s
 

s
e
e
k
in

g
 t

o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 p

u
b
lic

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 c

h
ild

re
n
's

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 330



S
t 

O
s
w

a
ld

’s
 a

n
d

 N
e
th

e
r
to

n
 a

n
d

 O
r
r
e
ll

 A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

  
- 

li
s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

p
la

y
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 o

n
 t
h
e
m

. 

G
0
6
0
 

A
d
u
lt
 T

ra
in

in
g
 C

e
n
tr

e
 

P
a
rk

 L
a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
. 

G
0
6
1
 

D
e
e
rb

a
rn

 P
a
rk

 
D

e
e
rb

a
rn

 D
ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
6
2
_
A

 
H

ig
h
w

a
y
 V

e
rg

e
 

O
rm

s
k
ir
k
 R

o
a
d
 A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
6
2
_
B

 
H

ig
h
w

a
y
 V

e
rg

e
 

D
u
n
n
in

g
s
 B

ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 

A
re

a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
6
2
_
C

 
H

ig
h
w

a
y
 V

e
rg

e
 

C
o
p
y
 L

a
n
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
6
3
 

O
lle

ry
 G

re
e
n
 P

la
y
 A

re
a
 

O
lle

ry
 G

re
e
n
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

),
 a

lt
h
o
u
g

h
 s

it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 

0
.2

5
h
a
. 

G
0
6
4
 

A
llo

tm
e
n
ts

 B
ro

w
n
s
 L

a
n
e
 

B
ro

w
n
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

) 

G
0
6
5
 

O
u
r 

L
a
d
y
 o

f 
W

a
ls

in
g

h
a
m

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

S
ta

n
d
 P

a
rk

 A
v
e
n
u
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
6
7
 

B
o
o
tl
e
 G

o
lf
 C

o
u
rs

e
 

S
e
ft

o
n
 M

o
s
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

B
o
o
tl
e
 G

o
lf
 C

o
u
rs

e
)s

) 

G
0
6
8
 

A
tl
a
n
ti
c
 I

n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
O

p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

D
u
n
n
in

g
s
 B

ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
A

re
a

, 
s
o
m

e
 a

lr
e
a
d
y
 b

u
ilt

 o
n
 

G
0
6
9
 

A
llo

tm
e
n
ts

 D
u
n
n
in

g
s
 

B
ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 

D
u
n
n
in

g
s
 B

ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
llo

tm
e
n
ts

) 

G
0
7
0
 

S
a
v
io

 R
C

 H
ig

h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

D
u
n
n
in

g
s
 B

ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
0
7
2
 

G
ir
o
 P

a
rk

 (
O

rr
e
ll 

P
u
b
lic

 
P

le
a
s
u
re

 G
ro

u
n
d
) 

N
e
th

e
rt

o
n
 W

a
y
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
0
7
3
 

R
a
ilw

a
y
 l
a
n
d
 

H
a
rr

is
 D

ri
v
e
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
0
9
8
 

IM
P

A
C

T
 P

u
p
il 

R
e
fe

rr
a
l 

U
n
it
 

D
a
le

a
c
re

 D
ri
v
e
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
, 
p
a
rt

 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 
in

s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

P
a
rt

 o
f 
s
it
e
 i
n
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 u

s
e

 a
s
 P

u
p
il 

R
e
fe

rr
a
l 

U
n
it
, 
re

s
t 

is
 a

 p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

G
0
9
9
 

G
o
rs

e
y
 L

a
n
e
/E

d
g

e
 

L
a
n
e
/B

u
c
k
le

y
 H

ill
 O

p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

E
d
g

e
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

) 
- 

p
a
rt

 o
f 

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 

G
1
0
0
 

B
ly

th
 H

e
y
 O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 

B
u
c
k
le

y
 H

ill
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

Agenda Item 7

Page 331



S
t 

O
s
w

a
ld

’s
 a

n
d

 N
e
th

e
r
to

n
 a

n
d

 O
r
r
e
ll

 A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

  
- 

li
s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
1
0
2
 

L
a
n
d
 a

t 
B

u
c
k
le

y
 H

ill
 F

ir
e
 

S
ta

t 
B

u
c
k
le

y
 H

ill
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

C
lo

s
e
s
t 

to
 a

n
 I
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
a
l 
u
s
e
 (

a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 n

o
 c

a
re

 
e
le

m
e
n
t)

 

G
1
0
3
 

P
e
n
d
le

 P
la

y
 P

a
rk

 
P

e
n
d
le

 D
ri
v
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
0
9
 

H
o
ly

 S
p
ir
it
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 
S

e
ft

o
n
 M

o
s
s
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
) 

G
1
1
0
 

N
e
th

e
rt

o
n
 M

o
s
s
 C

P
 

S
c
h
o
o
l 

T
h
e
 M

a
ri
a
n
 W

a
y
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

c
a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
) 

G
1
1
1
 

S
t 

C
h
ri
s
to

p
h
e
r'
s
 w

o
o
d
la

n
d
 

p
a
rk

 
S

w
if
ts

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

- 
w

a
s
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 s
h
o
w

n
 a

s
 A

m
e
n
it
y
 G

re
e
n
s
p
a
c
e
. 

G
1
1
2
 

M
a
ri
a
n
 P

a
rk

 
S

a
ra

h
s
 C

ro
ft
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
1
3
 

S
t 
O

s
w

a
ld

s
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

B
ro

w
n
s
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
1
5
 

B
o
o
tl
e
 H

ig
h
 S

c
h
o
o
l 

B
ro

w
n
s
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 &

 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 

S
it
e
 o

f 
fo

rm
e
r 

s
c
h
o
o
l 
b
u
ild

in
g

 i
s
 p

ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

R
e
s
t 
o
f 

s
it
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 h
a
v
e
 

in
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
a
l 
d
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n
. 

G
1
1
6
 

C
o
p
y
 L

a
n
e
 O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 

C
o
p
y
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
1
1
7
 

C
o
p
y
 F

a
rm

 W
ild

lif
e
 a

n
d
 

P
la

y
 A

re
a
 

C
o
p
y
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
1
1
8
 

S
t 

A
m

b
ro

s
e
 B

a
rl
o
w

 R
C

 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

C
o
p
y
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
2
1
 

S
t 

B
e
n
e
d
ic

ts
 R

C
 J

u
n
io

r 
S

c
h
o
o
l 

C
o
p
y
 L

a
n
e
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
2
2
 

N
e
th

e
rt

o
n
 G

re
e
n
 

A
ld

ri
n
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

a
s
 s

it
e
 i
s
 

a
b
o
v
e
 0

.2
5
h
a
. 

G
1
2
4
 

W
a
te

rs
id

e
 O

p
e
n
 S

p
a
c
e
 

W
a
te

rs
id

e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

a
m

e
n
it
y
 s

p
a
c
e
) 

G
1
2
5
 

G
ra

n
g

e
 P

ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

S
to

n
y
fi
e
ld

 
E

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
2
6
 

K
ill

e
n
 G

re
e
n
 P

a
rk

 
F

le
e
tw

o
o
d
s
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 

G
1
2
7
 

F
o
rm

e
r 

S
t 

R
a
y
m

o
n
d
s
 R

C
 

P
ri
m

a
ry

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

H
a
rr

o
p
s
 C

ro
ft
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 

P
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

llo
c
a
ti
o
n
. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 332



S
t 

O
s
w

a
ld

’s
 a

n
d

 N
e
th

e
r
to

n
 a

n
d

 O
r
r
e
ll

 A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

  
- 

li
s
t 

o
f 

2
0
0
6
 U

n
it

a
ry

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

la
n

 u
rb

a
n

 g
re

e
n

s
p

a
c
e
s
 a

n
d

 p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

G
1
3
4
 

N
e
th

e
rt

o
n
 M

e
th

o
d
is

t 
C

h
u
rc

h
 

G
o
rs

e
y
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
h
u
rc

h
y
a
rd

 a
n
d
 c

e
m

e
te

ry
),

 
a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 u

n
fe

n
c
e
d
 a

n
d
 o

p
e
n
 g

ra
s
s
la

n
d
. 

G
1
3
6
 

N
e
th

e
rt

o
n
 A

c
ti
v
it
y
 C

e
n
tr

e
 

G
lo

v
e
rs

 L
a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

G
1
3
9
 

R
o
w

a
n
 P

a
rk

 S
c
h
o
o
l 

M
e
n
a

i 
R

o
a
d
 

E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
a
n
d
 c

a
re

 i
n
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
s
 

In
s
ti
tu

ti
o
n
 (

s
c
h
o
o
l 
s
it
e
) 

G
1
4
1
 

C
h
a
rl
e
s
 B

e
s
t 
G

re
e
n
 

L
o
u
is

 P
a
s
te

u
r 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

p
a
rk

) 
a
s
 h

a
s
 c

h
ild

re
n
's

 p
la

y
 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
, 

a
lt
h
o
u
g

h
 s

it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 0

.2
5
h
a
. 

G
1
4
2
 

S
e
ft

o
n
 R

e
ta

il 
P

a
rk

 O
p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
 

D
u
n
n
in

g
s
 B

ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 I
n
d
u
s
tr

ia
l 
A

re
a
, 
a
s
 s

u
rr

o
u
n
d
in

g
s
 

G
1
4
4
 

R
a
ilw

a
y
 c

u
tt

in
g
 G

a
rd

n
e
r 

A
v
e
n
u
e
 

N
e
th

e
rt

o
n
 W

a
y
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

G
3
9
1
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 

C
a
n
a
l 
G

o
rs

e
y
 L

a
n
e
 

B
ri
d
g

e
 t

o
 D

u
n
n
in

g
s
 C

a
n
a
l 

B
ri
d
g

e
 

B
ro

w
n
's

 L
a
n
e
 A

c
c
e
s
s
 

P
o
in

t 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 w

a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
3
9
3
_
1
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 

C
a
n
a
l 
D

u
n
n
in

g
s
 C

a
n
a
l 

B
ri
d
g

e
 t

o
 e

/o
 N

e
th

e
rt

o
n
 

G
ra

n
g

e
 

D
u
n
n
in

g
s
 B

ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 w

a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

G
4
0
9
 

L
a
n
d
 a

d
ja

c
e
n
t 
to

 
D

u
n
n
in

g
s
 C

a
n
a
l 
B

ri
d
g

e
 

D
u
n
n
in

g
s
 B

ri
d
g

e
 R

o
a
d
 P

ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a
 

S
it
e
 i
s
 b

e
lo

w
 p

o
s
s
ib

le
 0

.2
5
h
a
 t

h
re

s
h
o
ld

 s
o
 

P
ri
m

a
ri
ly

 R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
A

re
a

, 
a
s
 s

u
rr

o
u
n
d
in

g
 l
a
n
d
 

u
s
e
s
?
  

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 333



 S
t 

O
s
w

a
ld

’s
 a

n
d

 N
e
th

e
r
to

n
 a

n
d

 O
r
r
e
ll
 -

  
li

s
t 

o
f 

p
ro

p
o

s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li

c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i
n

 t
h

e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

 f
o

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 L

o
c
a
l 
P

la
n

  
 

 S
t 

O
s
w

a
ld

’s
 a

n
d

 N
e
th

e
r
to

n
 a

n
d

 O
r
r
e
ll

 A
re

a
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e
 -

 l
is

t 
o

f 
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 n
e
w

 p
u

b
li
c
 o

p
e
n

 s
p

a
c
e
s
 i

n
 t

h
e
 G

re
e
n

 B
e
lt

  
fo

r 
d

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

L
o

c
a
l 

P
la

n
  
 

G
ID

 
N

a
m

e
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

P
re

fe
rr

e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 
D

e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 s

u
m

m
a
ry

 
P

re
fe

rr
e
d

 O
p

ti
o

n
 P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti

o
n

 -
 

e
x
p

la
n

a
ti

o
n

  

S
L
0
0
6
 

L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 L

iv
e
rp

o
o
l 

C
a
n
a
l 
fr

o
m

 w
in

d
in

g
 h

o
le

 
n
e
a
r 

F
o
rd

 V
ie

w
 t

o
 G

o
rs

e
y
 

L
a
n
e
 

F
ie

ld
 V

ie
w

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 w

a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

S
L
0
0
8
 

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 C

o
u
n
tr

y
 

P
a
rk

 (
R

im
ro

s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 

R
o
a
d
 t

o
 E

d
g

e
 L

a
n
e
) 
 

E
d
g

e
 L

a
n
e
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

) 

S
L
0
0
9
 

P
la

y
F

o
o
tb

a
ll.

c
o
m

  
D

ru
m

m
o
n
d
 R

o
a
d
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

o
u
td

o
o
r 

s
p
o
rt

s
) 

- 
p
a
y
 a

n
d
 

p
la

y
 

S
L
0
1
2
 

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 C

o
u
n
tr

y
 

P
a
rk

 (
P

in
fo

ld
 W

o
o
d
la

n
d
) 

N
o
rt

h
e
rn

 P
e
ri
m

e
te

r 
R

o
a
d
  

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 -

 P
in

fo
ld

 W
o
o
d
la

n
d
 (

p
a
rt

 o
f 

R
im

ro
s
e
 V

a
lle

y
 c

o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

).
  

 
O

th
e
r 

c
o
u
n
tr

y
 p

a
rk

s
 a

n
d
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 w

o
o
d
la

n
d
  

 
 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

c
o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 p

a
rk

) 
w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 

G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
. 

 
C

a
n
a
l 
(w

h
e
re

 i
t 

lie
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

 
P

u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

in
 G

re
e
n
 B

e
lt
) 

P
u
b
lic

 o
p
e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 (

n
a
tu

ra
l 
g
re

e
n
 s

p
a
c
e
 /
 w

a
te

r 
s
p
a
c
e
 -

 c
a
n
a
l)
. 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 334



Annex A  

Sefton Local Plan - Draft Equalities Impact Assessment 

Brief description of the anticipated outcomes of the proposal:  
 

At the heart of the Local Plan is a spatial strategy which describes the overall pattern of development for Sefton and a series of policies covering housing, 

employment, retail, open space and other matters such as design, environment, health and social issues.  

 

The Preferred Option is for the Local Plan to meet the housing and employment needs for Sefton whilst best protecting Sefton’s environmental assets.  

1. Impact  
 
Summarise any positive impact(s) (benefits) or any negative impact(s) (i.e. potential for discrimination, disadvantage or disproportionate 

treatment) this proposal may have for people with protected characteristics, and the evidence you have taken into account to reach this 

conclusion:  

Impact Protected  

Characteristic Positive Neutral Negative 

Explanation  Evidence 

Age ü   Several positive aspects have been identified. 

 

Positive impact through the proposed design 

policy which will help reduce crime, fear of 

crime, harassment etc, and will enable people of 

all ages to feel safer across Sefton. This is 

particularly relevant to older people who often 

feel prevented from visiting areas due to fear of 

crime. Younger people are often the victims of 

crime and careful design should make public 

areas and parks safer for them to visit. 

 

The aim of the Local Plan to increase investment 

and growth will have a greater beneficial impact 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment – assesses the 

housing needs for all residents in Sefton, including 

needs of specific age groups 

www.sefton.gov.uk/planningstudies  

 

Older People’s Housing Strategy 

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=3123  

 

Sefton Strategy for Older Citizens 

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=2812  

 

 

UK Crime statistics 

www.ukcrimestats.com  

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 7

P
a
g
e
 3

3
5



on younger people. Unemployment rates are 

much higher among people aged 16 to 25 and 

economic growth will provide greater 

opportunities for employment and training to 

people in this age range. 

 

The provision of affordable homes will assist 

young people to access their own home.  

 

The pollution policy specifically restricts 

developments that would cause pollution nearby 

sensitive areas, including those that may have 

greater use by children or older people. 

 

Design out Crime 

www.designcouncil.org.uk/our-

work/challenges/security/design-out-crime/  

 

Equality and Diversity Forum 

www.edf.org.uk  

 

Disability ü   Positive impact through the proposed design 

policy which will help reduce crime, fear of 

crime, harassment etc, and will enable people of 

all abilities to feel safer across Sefton. 

 

The design policy also seeks to improve access 

and ease of movement for all people including 

those with limited mobility. 

Local Transport Plan 3 

http://www.letstravelwise.org/content206_Local-

Transport-Plan-3.html  

 

UK Crime statistics 

www.ukcrimestats.com  

 

Design out Crime 

www.designcouncil.org.uk/our-

work/challenges/security/design-out-crime/  

 

Equality and Diversity Forum 

www.edf.org.uk  

 

Gender 

Reassignment 

ü   Positive impact through the proposed design 

policy which will help reduce crime, fear of 

crime, harassment etc, and will enable people 

from gender reassignment groups to feel safer 

across Sefton. 

Equality and Diversity Forum 

www.edf.org.uk  

 

LGB&T strategy  

www.lgf.org.uk/Your-rights/LGBT-Strategy/ 

 

A
g

e
n

d
a

 Ite
m

 7

P
a
g

e
 3

3
6



UK Crime statistics 

www.ukcrimestats.com  

 

Design out Crime 

www.designcouncil.org.uk/our-

work/challenges/security/design-out-crime/  

 

Gender ü   Positive impact through the proposed design 

policy which will help reduce crime, fear of 

crime, harassment etc, and will enable people 

from all genders to feel safer across Sefton. 

Equality and Diversity Forum 

www.edf.org.uk  

 

UK Crime statistics 

www.ukcrimestats.com  

 

Design out Crime 

www.designcouncil.org.uk/our-

work/challenges/security/design-out-crime/  

 

Race ü   Positive impact through the proposed design 

policy which will help reduce crime, fear of 

crime, harassment etc, and will enable people 

from all races to feel safer across Sefton. 

 

The Planning for Travellers policy sets out that 

the housing needs of traveller groups in Sefton 

will be met. 

Equality and Diversity Forum 

www.edf.org.uk  

 

Gypsy & Travellers Needs Assessment 2008 

http://www.northwestplanpartialreview.org.uk/  

 

UK Crime statistics 

www.ukcrimestats.com  

 

Design out Crime 

www.designcouncil.org.uk/our-

work/challenges/security/design-out-crime/  

 

Religion/belief ü   Positive impact through the proposed design 

policy which will help reduce crime, fear of 

crime, harassment etc, and will enable people 

Equality and Diversity Forum 

www.edf.org.uk  

 

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 7

P
a
g
e
 3

3
7



from all religions to feel safer across Sefton. 

 

The Community Facilities policy seeks to protect 

important community facilities from 

redevelopment unless it is no longer required or 

alternative facilities can be provided elsewhere. 

Places of worship are included within this policy. 

 

UK Crime statistics 

www.ukcrimestats.com  

 

Design out Crime 

www.designcouncil.org.uk/our-

work/challenges/security/design-out-crime/  

 

Sexual 

Orientation 

ü   Positive impact through the proposed design 

policy which will help reduce crime, fear of 

crime, harassment etc, and will enable people 

regardless of sexuality to feel safer across Sefton. 

 

Equality and Diversity Forum 

www.edf.org.uk  

 

LGB&T strategy  

www.lgf.org.uk/Your-rights/LGBT-Strategy/  

 

UK Crime statistics 

www.ukcrimestats.com  

 

Design out Crime 

www.designcouncil.org.uk/our-

work/challenges/security/design-out-crime/  

 

Pregnancy and 

Maternity 

 ü  No differential impact on this equalities strand. Equality and Diversity Forum 

www.edf.org.uk  

 

Marriage and 

Civil 

Partnership 

 ü  No differential impact on this equalities strand. Equality and Diversity Forum 

www.edf.org.uk  

 

 

 
 
2. Consideration of Alternatives  
 

A
g

e
n

d
a

 Ite
m

 7

P
a
g

e
 3

3
8



Describe what actions will be taken to remove or minimise any potential negative effect identified above (attach evidence or 
provide link to appropriate data, reports etc):  
As no discrimination, negative impacts or disproportionate treatment is anticipated as a result of these policies no action has been taken to remove 

or remedy such effects.  

3. Consultation  
 
Brief description of any consultation with stakeholders. Please attach evidence or provide link to appropriate data, reports etc):  

There have been a number of previous stages of consultation on the Local Plan [previously called the ‘Core Strategy’]. This included a number of 

workshops that were held across Sefton during 2009. These looked at the issues that the Core Strategy should address. In the summer of 2011 we 

undertook a number of public drop-in events across Sefton to get feedback on potential options for the levels of growth we should plan for. We also 

attended a number of groups to give presentations and get feedback on our options. These included groups for young people and schools, residents 

groups, representative groups for older people, parents, health and social care and the Sefton Access Forum. 

Details of the previous consultation work and a summary of the comments received can be viewed at www.sefton.gov.uk/corestrategy  

4. Monitoring Arrangements  
 
Briefly describe the monitoring arrangements/systems that will be put in place to monitor the effects of this proposal:  

There are draft monitoring indicators for the Local Plan set out within the sustainability report. Once agreed these will be reported annually in the 

Authority Monitoring Report (AMR).  

5. Publication  
 
Where will this Equality Impact Assessment be Reported: Cabinet 20 June 2013/ Council 27 June 2013 

  

A
g
e
n

d
a
 Ite

m
 7

P
a
g
e
 3

3
9



P
a
g

e
 3

4
0

T
h

is
 p

a
g

e
 is

 in
te

n
tio

n
a
lly

 le
ft b

la
n
k



1 
 

 

           
Report to: Cabinet     Date of Meeting: 20 June 2013  

Council                         27 June 2013 
          

Subject:    Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan: Adoption of Plan 
 
Report of:  Director Built Environment Wards Affected: All 
 
Is this a Key Decision?   Yes   Is it included in the Forward Plan? 

Yes 
 

Exempt/Confidential  No 
 

 
Purpose/Summary 
All local authorities are required to prepare a Local Plan that provides a policy framework 
and land allocations for new waste management infrastructure to meet the identified 
needs of each Council. This is in addition to the Local Plan which is discussed elsewhere 
on the agenda.  
 
The report includes the results of public consultation on the proposed modifications to 
the Waste Local Plan which was undertaken between November 2012 and January 
2013. 
 
Members are asked to note the report from the Planning Inspector which concluded that, 
subject to the proposed modifications, the Plan is ‘sound’, and “provides an appropriate 
basis for waste planning for Merseyside and Halton over the next 15 years”. 
   
The report asks Council to agree that the Plan be formally adopted as part of the 
statutory “development plan”. 
 

 
 
Recommendations 
 

That Cabinet:   
(i) notes the results of public consultation on the proposed modifications to the 

Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan which was undertaken between 
November 2012 and January 2013 

 
(ii) welcomes the report from the Planning Inspector which concluded that, subject to 

the proposed modifications, the Plan “meets the criteria for soundness in the 
National Planning Policy Framework” and “provides an appropriate basis for waste 
planning for Merseyside and Halton over the next 15 years” 

   
(iii) notes that several of the Sefton Unitary Development Plan policies will be replaced 

by Waste Local Plan policies including the site allocations 
 
(iv)    recommends that Council consider the Waste Local Plan for adoption. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 341



2 
 

 
 
That Council:   
(i)  agrees to delegate powers to the Head of Planning Services to make necessary 

minor typographical changes to the Waste Local Plan prior to its final publication.   
 
 (ii)  agrees to adopt the Waste Local Plan as part of the statutory development plan and 

in so doing note that the adoption is contingent upon all other Merseyside Councils 
and Halton Council also adopting the plan as set out in Section 3 of the report. 
Should all Council proceed to adopt the Waste Local Plan this will take effect on 18 
July 2013.  Should all Councils for whatever reason not proceed to adopt the plan, 
then Council will be advised accordingly. 

 

 
How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community  ü  

2 Jobs and Prosperity  ü  

3 Environmental Sustainability ü   

4 Health and Well-Being ü   

5 Children and Young People  ü  

6 Creating Safe Communities ü   

7 Creating Inclusive Communities  ü  

8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

 ü  

 
Reason for the Recommendation: 
 
To ensure the Joint Waste Local Plan becomes part of the statutory planning framework 
fwithin which to assess proposals for new waste energy infrastructure in Sefton.  
     
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
(A) Revenue Costs 
 

Budgetary provision has already been made to complete the preparation of the Waste  
Local Plan [WLP] including printing costs.  This has been met from within the 2012/13 
Planning Department’s (Planning Policy) Revenue budget.  
 
Financial implications of implementation and monitoring of the WLP have also already 
been agreed with each District through the existing planning services and through the 
joint core service provided by Merseyside EAS. There is a commitment to regular 
monitoring and review of the Plan and any financial implications arising will be reported at 
the appropriate time. 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 342



3 
 

 
(B) Capital Costs 
 

None  
 
Implications: 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 

Legal   Incorporated into report 

Human Resources None 

Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 
Impact on Service Delivery: 
None 
 
 
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?   
The Head of Corporate Finance (FD2322/13) has been consulted and has no comments 
on the report.  
The Head of Corporate Legal Services (LD1638/13) has been consulted and has no 
comments to make. 
 
Are there any other options available for consideration? 
 

No. All local authorities are required to have a Plan of this kind.  
 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision 
 

Council meeting on 27th June 2013. 
 
Contact Officer: Steve Matthews 
Tel: 0151 934 3559 
Email: steve.matthews@sefton.gov.uk  
 

ü 

 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 343



4 
 

 

1.  Introduction 
 
1. Government planning policy requires Local Plans to address sustainable waste 

management. Through Planning Policy Statement 10 (Planning for Sustainable 
Waste Management) and the National Planning Policy Framework, local authorities, 
either individually or as a group, are required to put in place a Local Plan that 
provides a policy framework and land allocations for new waste management 
infrastructure to meet the identified needs of each Council.  

 
2. Following full Council resolutions Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, Sefton, St. Helens 

and Wirral entered into a joint arrangement to prepare the joint Merseyside and 
Halton Waste Local Plan (WLP).  Work commenced in 2006 and Merseyside 
Environmental Advisory Service (Merseyside EAS) has co-ordinated the plan 
preparation process including several public consultation stages. 

 
3. The WLP is primarily focused on (i) providing new capacity and new sites for waste 

management uses and (ii) delivering a robust policy framework to control waste 
development.   The scope of the WLP is to deal with all controlled waste including 
commercial and industrial, hazardous, construction, demolition, excavation and 
local authority collected waste and this amounts to several million tonnes of waste 
requiring collection, recycling, treatment and disposal each year.  This process is 
quite separate from the work of the Merseyside Waste Recycling Authority which 
manages the municipal waste collected by the Merseyside authorities and operates 
the household waste recycling centres.  

 
4. The WLP aims to deliver significant improvements in waste management across the 

sub-region whilst also diverting waste from landfill.  Specifically, the WLP will, 
through its land allocations and policies, provide Districts with a high degree of 
control to direct the waste sector to the most appropriate locations primarily on 
allocated sites.  It will also provide industry with much greater certainty in terms of 
bringing forward proposals that are more likely to be acceptable to the Districts and 
is supported by a robust and detailed evidence base. 
 

5. The WLP principally contains: 
 

• A Vision statement to guide future waste management decision taking over the 
next 15 years; 

•  Strategic objectives and a Spatial Strategy to guide delivery of the Vision; 

• Controlling and enabling Development Management Policies designed to 
provide certainty in planning decisions; 

• Site allocations for both local and sub-regional sites which are broadly 
distributed across all six Council areas; the sites in Sefton comprise Alexandra 
Dock, Bootle [a sub-regional site]; land north of Farriers Way, Atlantic 
Business Park, Netherton; Acorn Way, Bootle; and 55 Crowland St, Southport 
[local sites]; [local sites normally take waste generated in the borough in which 
they are situated; a sub-regional site is larger and is capable of supporting 
facilities which will be of strategic importance to Merseyside and Halton – each 
authority has at least one sub-regional site]; 

• Implementation and Monitoring Framework.  

Agenda Item 8

Page 344



5 
 

 
6. The policies in the WLP will now supersede Policies EMW6, EMW7 and EMW8 in 

the Sefton Unitary Development Plan. 
 

7. Following a total of five public consultations at the various stages of WLP 
preparation, the published WLP was submitted by the six Councils for public 
examination by an Independent Planning Inspector in February 2012. 
 

8. Public hearings were held over a two-week period by the Planning Inspector, 
Elizabeth Ord, in June 2012.  

 
 
2. Agreed Modifications to the Published Plan and Results of Consultation 
 
9. As a result of the Public Examination process, a number of modifications were 

discussed between the Representors, the Waste Planning Authorities and the 
Inspector. These were approved by Members between September and November 
2012.  The modifications were the subject of a further public consultation held 
between November 2012 and January 2013.  
 

10. During the consultation, 23 representations were received in total from 15 
organisations and two individuals. The representations were classified as “positive”, 
“negative” or “neutral” with respect to the modifications. “Neutral” responses were 
mainly those which stated that the representor had noted the contents of the 
consultation but had no comment to make in response. 11 representations were 
neutral, seven were positive and five were negative.  Of the five objections, some 
did not relate to the proposed modifications to the WLP and were therefore not 
directly relevant at this stage. Of those which were valid, an operator from the waste 
industry raised technical concerns, and Cheshire West and Chester, together with 
Lancashire County Council, objected to how the concept of ‘waste self sufficiency’ 
was being interpreted in the WLP.  
 

11. Following consideration of all of the representations received the Inspector decided 
to recommend no further changes to the Plan as a result of the consultation. The 
Inspector concluded that the Plan “meets the criteria for soundness in the National 
Planning Policy Framework”. The WLP itself can be viewed at 
http:\\www.wasteplanningmerseyside.gov.uk. The Inspector’s report and a short 
report on the Consultation Responses, together with the full archive of supporting 
documents, can be found at http:\\merseysideeas-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal.   

 
 
3. Adoption 

 
12. The WLP will need to be formally adopted, like all other statutory planning 

documents, by each of the six Districts to become part of the adopted statutory 
development plan.  Each District should do this through a Full Council resolution.  
Because this is a joint plan a single adoption date must be agreed.  Given that the 
Full Council dates vary between Districts it is recommended that adoption takes 
place on a single date one working day after the last of the six Councils has 

Agenda Item 8

Page 345



6 
 

approved the Plan for adoption.  On the basis of the current programme of Full 
Council meetings this is anticipated during July 2013. 

 
Table 1. Targets dates for adoption meetings 

 

  

Target 

Cabinet date   

Target 

Council date 

Halton* 23-May   17-Jul 

Knowsley*  29-May   26-Jun  

Liverpool* 05-Jul   17-Jul 

Sefton 20-Jun   27-Jun 

St.Helens 29-May   10-Jul 

Wirral 13-Jun   15-Jul 

    

       *provisional dates 

 
13. A similar process as with other Land Use Plans will be used to advertise the 

Council’s intention to adopt the WLP (“Notice to Adopt”) depending on local 
requirements. Members should note that under the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 there is a period for possible judicial review which ends six 
weeks after adoption. 
 

14. Following adoption, progress and compliance with the Plan will be monitored by 
Merseyside EAS staff and the Districts in accordance with the Implementation and 
Monitoring Plan. 
 
 

4. Financial Implications 
 
15. Budgetary provision has already been made to complete the preparation of the 

WLP including Public Examination and printing costs.  The joint preparation of the 
WLP has not only delivered significant financial savings to the Districts compared to 
preparing individual waste plans but has also been an effective example of how the 
Districts have fulfilled their new Duty to Co-operate. 
  

16. Financial implications of implementation and monitoring of the WLP have also 
already been agreed with each District through the existing planning services and 
through the joint core service provided by Merseyside EAS.  There is a commitment 
to regular monitoring and review of the Plan and any financial implications will be 
reported at the appropriate time. 

 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 346



Report to: Licensing & Regulatory Committee  Date of Meeting:  3rd June 2013 
    Council                                                                          27th June 2013 
 
Subject: Introduction of a Byelaw – Cosmetic Treatments 
 
Report of: Director of Built Environment     Wards Affected:  All 
 
Is this a Key Decision?    No     Is it included in the Forward Plan? No
        
Exempt/Confidential       No  
 

Purpose 
 
To seek the Council’s adoption of a new model byelaw governing acupuncture, 
tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis, and the 
consequent revocation of the Council’s existing byelaws covering this activity. 
 
To ensure that the new byelaw can be legally enacted, the Council must ensure that it 
has adopted the latest technical and legal definitions of the various cosmetic 
treatments.   Consequently, this report proposes a technical resolution to demonstrate 
that the provisions of Sections 14 to 17 of part VIII of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 apply within the Borough of Sefton. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
 
That the Licensing and Regulatory Committee notes the report 
 
That the Council:  
 
(i) Approves the adoption of the proposed new model byelaw as set out in Appendix 

B to this report;  
 

(ii) Resolves that the provisions of Sections 14 to 17 of Part VIII of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 apply within the Borough of 
Sefton; and 

 

(iii) Notes the steps to introduce the byelaw as set out in paragraph 2 of the report 
 
How does the decision contribute to the Council’s Corporate Objectives? 
 

 Corporate Objective Positive 
Impact 

Neutral 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

1 Creating a Learning Community  √  

2 Jobs and Prosperity  √  

3 Environmental Sustainability  √  

4 Health and Well-Being √   

5 Children and Young People  √  

6 Creating Safe Communities √   

7 Creating Inclusive Communities  √  

Agenda Item 9

Page 347



8 Improving the Quality of Council 
Services and Strengthening Local 
Democracy 

 √  

Reasons for the Recommendation: 
 
To allow Officers to progress the introduction of new byelaws in order to keep pace 
with developments in the skin piercing industry. 
 
What will it cost and how will it be financed? 
 
(A) Revenue Costs. 
  To recover costs there is a one -off fee for registration (Section 15(6) 1982 Act 

enables local authorities to charge reasonable fees for registration of persons 
carrying on businesses of cosmetic piercing or semi-permanent skin colouring). 
The fee covers initial inspection(s) associated with registration, advising the 
business about registration and associated administration. 

 
(B) Capital Costs 
 Not applicable  
 
Implications: 
 
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below: 
 

Legal - As set out in the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.    
                                  

Finance  The costs to be incurred are likely to be recovered by fees for  
registration. As a result there are no direct financial implications 
 
Human Resources  Not applicable             
 
Equality 
1. No Equality Implication      

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated 

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains  

 
 
Impact on Service Delivery: 
 
Businesses involved in skin piercing are already part of a registration/inspection 
programme.  The new bylaws merely seek to extend the scope of activities covered 
by the registration scheme to further protect public health and so allow a more 
effective service to be delivered at the point of contact with the businesses in 
question. 
 
What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when? 
 
The Head of Corporate Legal Services has been consulted and comments have been  
incorporated into the report (LD 1582). The Head of Finance and ICT has been  
consulted (FD 2266) and notes costs incurred are likely to be recovered by fees for  

√ 

 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 348



registration. As a result there are no direct financial implications 
 
Are there any other options available for consideration? No 
Implementation Date for the Decision – Immediately following the decision of 
Council. 
 
Contact Officer: Terry Wood, Environmental Health (Commercial) Manager 
Tel:   0151 934 4301 
Email:  terry.wood@sefton.gov.uk 
 
 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 The Council has existing byelaws relating to acupuncture, ear piercing and 

electrolysis and tattooing, which were made individually on 12th March 1991 
under powers contained in the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982.   Whilst these byelaws were adequate at the time of adoption, they 
do not cover some of the high risk techniques now in use. 

 
1.2 Over time, the industry has developed, and new advanced types of treatment 

have been introduced.   The current byelaw is now limited in effect, as it does 
not adequately control some beauty therapy treatments, which did not exist 
when the original byelaw was first established.   For example, the existing 
byelaw covers ear piercing but does not cover body piercing, which is an 
activity that presents a greater risk of infection if not carried out correctly. 

 
1.3 The Department of Health has now published updated model byelaws which 

aim to secure the cleanliness of:- 
 

• Premises and fittings in beauty treatment premises; 

• Persons and persons assisting them; and 

• Instruments, materials and equipment used in connection with the practice 
of acupuncture or the business of tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, 
cosmetic piercing or electrolysis. 

 
1.4 If the Council was to adopt these model byelaws, then they would provide 

clean and consistent modern day standards for the beauty therapy industry and 
would provide the necessary controls to allow enforcement officers to take 
action against non-compliant businesses. 

 
1.5 Under the new byelaws, businesses which carry out electrolysis, acupuncture, 

tattooing, cosmetic piercing and micro-pigmentation would have to: 
 

• Register with Sefton Council; and 

• Follow the byelaws on the cleanliness and hygiene of practitioners, 
premises and equipment to protect customers against the risk of infection. 

 
1.6 Therefore, it would be an offence to carry on such a business without being 

registered or to breach the requirements of the byelaw.   Businesses currently 
registered for treatments would not need to re-register. 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 349



1.7 All Sefton businesses which would be affected will be contacted and provided 
with a fact sheet, which outlines what the new byelaw would mean to their 
business.   A copy of this fact sheet is attached at Appendix A. 

 
2. PROCEDURAL STEPS 
 
2.1 All byelaws must be confirmed by the relevant Secretary of State.   The 

Government Department with responsibility for confirming this byelaw is the 
Department of Health.   The steps which would be required include:- 

 
Step 1 - Committee endorses the proposed byelaw 
 
Step 2 - Council approves the model byelaw 
 
Step 3 - The byelaw is formally sealed 
 
Step 4 - The Council advertises the byelaw in a local newspaper and invites 

affected persons to make representations to the Secretary of State 
 
Step 5 - The sealed byelaw is sent to the Secretary of State for confirmation 
 
Step 6 - The Secretary of State decides whether to confirm the byelaw 
 
Step 7 - The byelaw comes into force after one month following confirmation by 

Secretary of State. 
 
2.2 The key point to note from the above process is that any new byelaw must be 

confirmed by the Secretary of State before it can take effect.   No timescales 
are provided for the Secretary of State to consider the byelaw, but previous 
experience suggests that this process can take several months.   If there 
appeared to be a delay in the matter being considered, then officers would 
contact the Secretary of State for clarification. The existing byelaw controls will 
remain in place until the new byelaw is approved. 

 
3. THE NEW BYELAW 
 
3.1 The proposed new byelaw is to be called the “Byelaws for Acupuncture, 

Tattooing, Semi Permanent Skin Colouring, Cosmetic Piercing and 
Electrolysis”.   The power for the Council to make new byelaws is contained in 
Part VIII of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, as 
amended by Local Government Act 2003.   The text of the proposed new 
byelaw is set out at Appendix B to this report.  

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 350



 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

 

FACT SHEET FOR BUSINESSES 
 

 

New byelaws for cosmetic treatments 
 
 

Why do we need new byelaws? 
 
Sefton Council’s existing byelaws date back to the 1990’s. These were adopted to 
adequately control cleanliness in businesses carrying out ear piercing, tattooing, 
electrolysis and similar treatments. The byelaws are now over 20 years old and 
need to be updated to take into account new ways of working and new treatments. 
The Local Government Act 2003 gives local authorities powers to introduce such 
changes by adopting new model byelaws. 

 
When will the new byelaws come into effect? 

 
We are currently working towards adoption of the new byelaws and we will 
publicise when the new byelaws will come into effect 

 
What are the proposed main changes? 

 
The 2003 Act amends the original but now outdated 1982 Act to include cosmetic 
piercing and semi-permanent skin colouring business in addition to ear piercing, 
tattooing and electrolysis. This approach allows for new or other similar activities 
to be covered without the need for new byelaws in the future. 

 
• Cosmetic piercing means puncturing or penetrating the skin of a client with 

pre- sterilised single-use needles and the insertion of pre-sterilized jewellery 
or other adornment into the opening. Ear piercing and cosmetic body piercing 
are now encompassed in one single term ‘cosmetic piercing’. 

 
• Micro pigmentation means the insertion of pigment into the dermal layer of 

the skin. This includes semi-permanent/ permanent make-up, such as lip 
and eye liner, body art and tattoos. 

 
How will any changes to the byelaws affect me? 

 
If you are a business that carries out any of the above treatments and are not 
currently registered, you will need to comply with any changes to the byelaws, 
including the improved hygiene standards. Details will be made available to you 
on adoption of the byelaws. 
 

Will these bylaws make any difference? 
 
Yes. The adoption of new model byelaws will help to improve health and hygiene 
standards in these businesses. The byelaws will apply to new cosmetic treatments 

Agenda Item 9

Page 351



not previously covered by byelaws. In essence, public safety will be served better by 
adopting these new bylaws. 

 
 
 
Do businesses have to re-register? 

 
No, businesses/individuals and premises already registered for activities covered by 
section 15 of the1982 Act current legislation (i.e. tattooing, ear piercing and 
electrolysis) do not have to re-register. 

 
What happens if I do not register? 

 
Section 120 of the Local Government Act 2003 essentially requires permanent skin 
colouring and cosmetic piercing businesses to register themselves and their 
premises with the local authority. Section 16 of the Act provides for offences and for 
non-custodial penalties (summary conviction and fine) for trading without local 
authority registration or breaching local authority byelaws. 

 
Is there a fee for registration? 

 
Yes, Section 15(6) 1982 Act enables local authorities to charge reasonable 
registration fees for registration of persons carrying on businesses of cosmetic 
piercing or semi-permanent skin colouring. The fee covers initial inspection(s) 
associated with registration, advising the business about registration and associated 
administration. 

 
Registration is a one-off event and the fees will not be required annually. We will 
inform you of the fees upon the adoption of the new byelaws. 

 
Where can I get more information about this? 

You can contact Environment Service on:  

Tel: 0845 140 0845 
Fax: 0151 934 4272 
Email: ETScontact@sefton.gov.uk 

Agenda Item 9

Page 352



 

Appendix B 
 

DRAFT SEFTON BYELAWS 
 
 

FOR 
 

Acupuncture, tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis 
 
 
Byelaws for the purposes of securing the cleanliness of premises registered under sections 14(2) or 
15(2) or both of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 and fittings in such 
premises and of persons registered under sections 14(1) or 15(1) or both of the Act and persons 
assisting them and of securing the cleansing and, so far as appropriate, sterilization of instruments, 
materials and equipment used in connection with the practice of acupuncture or the business of 
tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing or electrolysis, or any two or more of 
such practice and businesses made by Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council in pursuance of sections 
14(7) or 15(7) or both of the Act. 

 
 
Interpretation 

 
1.—(1) In these byelaws, unless the context otherwise requires— 

“The Act” means the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982; 

“client” means any person undergoing treatment; 

“hygienic piercing instrument” means an instrument such that any part of the instrument that 
touches a client is made for use in respect of a single client, is sterile, disposable and is fitted with 
piercing jewellery supplied in packaging that indicates the part of the body for which it is intended, 
and that is designed to pierce either─ 

(a)  the lobe or upper flat cartilage of the ear, or 

(b)  either side of the nose in the mid-crease area above the nostril; 

“operator” means any person giving treatment, including a proprietor; 

“premises” means any premises registered under sections 14(2) or 15(2) of the Act; 

“proprietor” means any person registered under sections 14(1) or 15(1) of the Act; 

“treatment” means any operation in effecting acupuncture, tattooing, semi-permanent skin- 
colouring, cosmetic piercing or electrolysis; 

“the treatment area” means any part of premises where treatment is given to clients. 

(2) The Interpretation Act 1978 shall apply for the interpretation of these byelaws as it 
applies for the interpretation of an Act of Parliament. 

 
2.—(1) For the purpose of securing the cleanliness of premises and fittings in such 

premises a proprietor shall ensure that— 

(a)  any internal wall, door, window, partition, floor, floor covering or ceiling is kept clean and 
in such good repair as to enable it to be cleaned effectively; 

(b)  any waste material, or other litter arising from treatment is handled and disposed of in 
accordance with relevant legislation and guidance as advised by the local authority; 

(c)  any needle used in treatment is single-use and disposable, as far as is practicable, or 
otherwise is sterilized for each treatment, is suitably stored after treatment and is disposed 
of in accordance with relevant legislation and guidance as advised by the local authority; 

Agenda Item 9

Page 353



 

(d)  any furniture or fitting in premises is kept clean and in such good repair as to enable it to 
be cleaned effectively; 

(e) any table, couch or seat used by a client in the treatment area which may become 
contaminated with blood or other body fluids, and any surface on which a needle, instrument 
or equipment is placed immediately prior to treatment has a smooth impervious surface 
which is disinfected— 

(i) immediately after use; and 

(ii) at the end of each working day. 

(f)   any table, couch, or other item of furniture used in treatment is covered by a disposable 
paper sheet which is changed for each client; 

(g)  no eating, drinking, or smoking is permitted in the treatment area and a notice or 
notices reading “No Smoking”, and “No Eating or Drinking” is prominently displayed there. 

(2)(a) Subject  to  sub-paragraph  (b),  where  premises  are  registered  under  section  14(2) 
(acupuncture) or 15(2) (tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis) 
of the 1982 Act, a proprietor shall ensure that treatment is given in a treatment area used solely for 
giving treatment; 

(b) Sub-paragraph (a) shall not apply if the only treatment to be given in such premises is ear-
piercing or nose-piercing using a hygienic piercing instrument. 

(3)(a) Subject  to  sub-paragraph  (b),  where  premises  are  registered  under  section  15(2) 
(tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring and cosmetic piercing) of the 1982 Act, a proprietor shall 
ensure that the floor of the treatment area is provided with a smooth impervious surface; 

 
(b) Sub-paragraph (a) shall not apply if the only treatment to be given in such premises is ear-

piercing or nose-piercing using a hygienic piercing instrument. 
 

3.—(1) For the purpose of securing the cleansing and so far as is appropriate, the 
sterilization of needles, instruments, jewellery, materials and equipment used in connection 
with treatment— 

(a)  an operator shall ensure that— 

(i) any gown, wrap or other protective clothing, paper or other covering, towel, cloth or 
other such article used in treatment— 

(aa)   is clean and in good repair and, so far as is appropriate, is sterile; 

(bb)   has  not  previously  been  used  in  connection  with  another  client  unless  it 
consists of a material which can be and has been adequately cleansed and, so far 
as is appropriate, sterilized. 

(ii) any needle, metal instrument, or other instrument or equipment used in treatment or for  
handling  such  needle,  instrument  or  equipment  and  any  part  of  a  hygienic piercing 
instrument that touches a client is sterile; 

(iii) any jewellery used for cosmetic piercing by means of a hygienic piercing instrument is 
sterile; 

(iv) any dye used for tattooing or semi-permanent skin-colouring is sterile and inert; 

(v) any container used to hold dye for tattooing or semi-permanent skin-colouring is 
either disposed of at the end of each treatment or is cleaned and sterilized before re- use. 

(b)  a proprietor shall provide— 

(i) adequate facilities and equipment for— 

(aa)   cleansing; and 

(bb)   sterilization, unless only pre-sterilized items are used. (ii) 

sufficient and safe gas points and electrical socket outlets; 

(iii) an adequate and constant supply of clean hot and cold water on the premises; 

Agenda Item 9

Page 354



 

(iv) clean and suitable storage which enables contamination of the articles, needles, 
instruments and equipment mentioned in paragraphs 3(1)(a)(i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v) to be 
avoided as far as possible. 

 
4.—(1) For the purpose of securing the cleanliness of operators, a proprietor— (a)  

shall ensure that an operator— 

(i) keeps his hands and nails clean and his nails short; 

(ii) keeps any open lesion on an exposed part of the body effectively covered by an 
impermeable dressing; 

(iii) wears  disposable  examination  gloves  that  have  not  previously  been  used  with 
another client, unless giving acupuncture otherwise than in the circumstances described 
in paragraph 4(3); 

(iv) wears a gown, wrap or protective clothing that is clean and washable, or alternatively a 
disposable covering that has not previously been used in connection with another client; 

(v) does not smoke or consume food or drink in the treatment area; and 

(b)  shall provide— 

(i) suitable and sufficient washing facilities appropriately located for the sole use of operators, 
including an adequate and constant supply of clean hot and cold water, soap or 
detergent; and 

(ii) suitable and sufficient sanitary accommodation for operators. 

(2) Where an operator carries out treatment using only a hygienic piercing instrument and 
a proprietor provides either a hand hygienic gel or liquid cleaner, the washing facilities 
that the proprietor provides need not be for the sole use of the operator. 

(3) Where an operator gives acupuncture a proprietor shall ensure that the operator 
wears disposable examination gloves that have not previously been used with another client 
if— 

(a)  the client is bleeding or has an open lesion on an exposed part of his body; or 

(b)  the client is known to be infected with a blood-borne virus; or 

(c)  the operator has an open lesion on his hand; or 

(d)  the operator is handling items that may be contaminated with blood or other body 
fluids. 

 
5. A person registered in accordance with sections 14 (acupuncture) or 15 (tattooing, 

semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis) of the Act who visits 
people at their request to give them treatment should observe the requirements relating to 
an operator in paragraphs 3(1)(a) and 4(1)(a). 

 
6. The byelaws relating to Tattooing, Acupuncture, Ear Piercing and Electrolysis that 

were all made by The Council of the Metropolitan Borough of Sefton on the date to be 
inserted and were confirmed by the Secretary of State for Social Services on the date to be 
inserted

Agenda Item 9

Page 355



 

 
 

COUNCIL’S SIGNATURE COUNCIL’S SEAL 
 

 

The foregoing byelaws are hereby confirmed by the Secretary of State for 
Health on and shall come into operation on 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Member of the Senior Civil Service 
 
Department of Health 

Agenda Item 9

Page 356



 

 

NOTE – THE FOLLOWING DOES NOT FORM PART OF THE BYELAWS 
 
Proprietors shall take all reasonable steps to ensure compliance with these byelaws by persons 

working on premises.   Section 16(9) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 

1982 provides that a registered person shall cause to be prominently displayed on the premises a 

copy of these byelaws and a copy of any certificate of registration issued to him under Part VIII 

of the Act.  A person who contravenes section 16(9) shall be guilty of an offence and liable on 

summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale (see section 16(10)). 
 
Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 also provides that any 
person who contravenes these byelaws shall be guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction 
to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard scale.  If a person registered under Part VIII of the 
Act is found guilty of contravening these byelaws the Court may, instead of or in addition to imposing a 
fine, order the suspension or cancellation of the person’s registration.  A court which orders the 
suspension of or cancellation of a person’s registration may also order the suspension or cancellation 
of the registration of the premises in which the offence was committed if such premises are occupied 
by the person found guilty of the offence.  It shall be a defence for the person charged under the 
relevant sub-sections of section 16 to prove that he took all reasonable precautions and exercised all 
due diligence to avoid commission of the offence. 

 
Nothing in these byelaws extends to the practice of acupuncture, or the business of tattooing, semi-
permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing or electrolysis by or under the supervision of a person 
who is registered as a medical practitioner, or to premises in which the practice of acupuncture, or 
business of tattooing, semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing or electrolysis is carried out by 
or under the supervision of such a person. 

 
Nothing in these byelaws extends to the practice of acupuncture by or under the supervision of a 
person who is registered as a dentist, or to premises in which the practice of acupuncture is carried 
out by or under the supervision of such a person. 

 
The legislative provisions relevant to acupuncture are those in section 14.   The provisions 
relevant to treatment other than acupuncture are in section 15. 

 
The key differences in the application of requirements in respect of the various treatments are as 
follows: 

 
The references in the introductory text to provisions of section 14 (acupuncture) of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 only apply to acupuncture. 
 
The references in the introductory text to provisions of section 15 (tattooing, semi-permanent skin-
colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982 do not apply to acupuncture. 

 
The references in paragraph 1(1) in the definition of “premises” to provisions of section 14 

(acupuncture) only apply to acupuncture. 
 
The references in paragraph 1(1) in the definition of “premises” to provisions of section 15 (tattooing, 
semi-permanent skin-colouring, cosmetic piercing and electrolysis) do not  apply  to acupuncture. 

The requirement in paragraph 2(2) that treatment is given in a treatment area used solely for 
giving   treatment   applies    to   acupuncture,  tattooing,   semi-permanent  skin-colouring, 
cosmetic  piercing  and  electrolysis  but  not  to  ear-piercing  or  nose-piercing  using   a 
hygienic piercing instrument. 

The requirement in paragraph 2(3) that the floor of the treatment area be provided with a smooth 
impervious  surface  applies   to  tattooing,  semi-permanent skin-colouring  and  cosmetic 
piercing but  not  to acupuncture or electrolysis or ear-piercing or nose-piercing using  a 
hygienic piercing instrument. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 357



 

The  requirements  relating  to  dye  or  a  container  used  to  hold  dye  used  for  treatment  in 
paragraphs 3(1) (a) (iv) and (v) apply to tattooing and semi-permanent skin-colouring. 

The requirement in paragraph 4(1)(a)(iii) that an operator wears disposable examination gloves that  have  
not  previously  been  used  with  another  client  does  not  apply  to  acupuncture otherwise than in 
the circumstances described in paragraph 4(3). 

The provisions of paragraph 4(2) in relation to washing facilities apply  to cosmetic piercing using 
only a hygienic piercing instrument. 

The exception whereby the byelaws do not apply to treatment carried out by or under the supervision of a 
dentist  applies only to acupuncture (see section  14(8) of the Act). 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 358



  

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEFTON COUNCIL 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

ANNUAL REPORT 
2012/13 

 

 

 

 

                                                                           

 

 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 359



 

‘Valuing 
Improvement’ 
www.sefton.gov.uk 
scrutiny@sefton.gov.uk 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 360



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
1 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
2012/13 

 
 

   
 
  Councillor Steve McGinnity 
  Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
 

It gives me great pleasure to introduce the Annual Report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board for 2012/13. 
 
Five meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board took place during 
2012/13.  
 
At the beginning of the Municipal Year 2012/13, the Board agreed to hold a training 
session for all Overview and Scrutiny Members with an invitation being extended to 
all Cabinet Members. 
 
At the event, Members were grouped into their respective Committees and scoped a 
topic for a review.  This gave Members an insight into the criteria used for selecting 
topics to review and the journey a review takes from start to finish. 
 
The event was well attended and feedback from Members confirmed that the 
session had been very beneficial, particularly for newly-elected Members.  It is 
envisaged that the Board will give consideration to an annual training session being 
held in the same way each year. 
 
As promised in my Annual Report 2011/12, the Board kept a close eye on Health 
Inequalities across the Borough.  The Board recognised the link between health and 
general wellbeing, with other areas of strategic importance, such as employment, 
education, housing and environment.  With this in mind and after receiving an update 
on Engagement of the Sefton Strategic Needs Assessment and Development of the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, Members requested that an annual report be 
provided to the Board identifying the various health issues dealt with by G.P.’s, to 
include an audit trail of those then referred on to specialists and subsequently 
requiring treatment, to be analysed by ward profile.  We look forward to receiving 
that update in the forthcoming Municipal Year. 
 
The Board has also requested to scrutinise data information regarding the perceived 
differences in health care between the North and South of the Borough. This has 
been and will continue to remain, on the Management Board’s radar. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 361



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
2 

 

Communication has always been a key consideration for the Management Board 
and the Board has previously agreed that Cabinet Member reports would be 
submitted, if the Chair of the Committee deemed it necessary, to the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in order to contribute towards the relationship 
between the Executive and Overview and Scrutiny Members.  
  
Members have welcomed the Cabinet Member update reports and attendance of 
relevant Cabinet Members at Overview and Scrutiny Committees.  This process will 
remain in place despite Cabinet Member decisions being managed electronically.  
 
During 2011/12, the Board agreed to establish a cross-cutting review investigating 
the Port Master Plan.  The Final Report, along with its recommendations, was 
considered by the Board, who commended the report to Cabinet for approval. 
 
The Board was consulted on the development of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
and the review of the calendar of meetings. 
 
Due to the emerging Welfare Rights Reform, Board Members welcomed a 
presentation in relation to the Housing Benefit/Council Tax/Bailiff processes and 
procedures. 
 
All Overview and Scrutiny Committees have embraced the proposal to adopt an 
alternative approach to business.  The Management Board has offered support and 
guidance where necessary, in the promotion of mini- reviews/single item meetings 
with a view to being more productive and adding value with reduced resources.  This 
has been welcomed by all Committees and we hope to build on the successes from 
the previous year to ensure we continually improve. 
 
I think the forthcoming year will be extremely busy for Overview and Scrutiny and the 
Board, particularly the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Performance and 
Corporate Services), who will keep abreast of the implications emerging in relation to 
the Welfare Rights Reform, Council Tax Reduction Scheme and Universal Credit.  
The Board will continue to be updated on the prioritisation of Council services, 
ensuring we continue to deliver services that meet the needs and expectations of our 
residents, partners and clients, within the set budget available. 
 
Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Officers of the Democratic 
Services Team for all their hard work during the year and I look forward to working 
with the team again this year.  
 
Councillor Steve McGinnity 
May 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 362



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
3 

 

Performance and Corporate Services 
 

 

  
Councillor Steve McGinnity 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Performance and Corporate Services 

 
On behalf of the Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Performance and Corporate Services), it gives me great pleasure to introduce 
the 2012/13 Annual Report. 
 
During the year, the Committee has met 6 times and considered issues such as the 
Transformation Programme and Revenue Budget, Public Consultation and 
Engagement on Budget Options, the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, Sefton’s 
Emergency Planning Arrangements, Sefton Strategic Needs Assessment, Welfare 
Reform/Food Bank System and the Review of the Calendar of Meetings.  The 
Committee has focused its attention, in the main, on scrutiny of the Transformation 
Programme and Revenue Budget.  
 
Transformation Programme and Revenue Budget 
This year the Committee continued to receive regular updates on the progress of the 
Transformation Programme.  The Transformation Programme is about:- 

• Putting the customer at the heart of what we do, aiming to protect our most 
vulnerable and delivering quality local services; 

• Delivering value for money services through efficiency and improved 
procurement; and 

• Maximising the potential of all staff, ensuring that staff are consulted and fully 
informed of proposals in order that they may embrace the challenging times 
ahead by working together. 
 

A lot of the transformation work has focused on saving money which gave us a real 
opportunity to examine and change, where required, the way in which we deliver 
services.  This year a number of reviews around Key Services were identified and 
agreed.  The objective is to further improve services to the citizens of Sefton and to 
ensure that the most is made of the valuable assets in our communities by delivering 
21st Century services which meet the needs of our Communities within the available 
budget.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Performance and Corporate 
Services) will play a key role in scrutinising proposals and in reviewing the targets 
and timetable of the Programme. 
  

Agenda Item 10

Page 363



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
4 

 

Along with scrutinising the transformation programme, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Performance and Corporate Services) was also responsible for 
scrutinising the proposed budget for 2013/15.  The budget represents a third year of 
significant reduction in spend.  In scrutinising the 2 year financial plan and budget, 
Committee Members were required to:- 
 

• Consider if Cabinet had met the initial proposals; 

• Feed comments back to Cabinet; 

• Determine that adequate opportunity had been provided for the public and 
service users to be consulted and contribute their views. 

 
The Committee was also briefed on the public consultation and engagement 
approaches to the setting of the Council budget. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Performance and Corporate Services) will 
continue to scrutinise the Revenue Budget in the forthcoming year. 
 
The Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
The Committee welcomed an update on the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, which 
is one of the many changes falling under the umbrella of Welfare Reform.  Members 
were briefed on the impact and risks associated with the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme.  In a nut shell, Council Tax Benefit no longer exists and individuals are 
required to apply instead for Council Tax Reduction. 
 
Sefton’s Emergency Planning Arrangements  
Following flooding incidents at the following sites in Sefton:- 

• Fouracres, Maghull; 

• Sefton Meadows, Maghull; 

• Water Street, Thornton; and 

• Moss Lane, Lydiate, 
the Committee was keen to scrutinise Sefton’s Emergency Planning Arrangements.  
Following a presentation by Officers, Members were re-assured that the 
arrangements in place were adequate and welcomed further work being undertaken 
to develop best practice and explore mutual aid with Merseyside colleagues.  
Members also acknowledged that further work was necessary to audit the Council’s 
capabilities and resources following transformational change. 
 
Welfare Reform/Food Bank  
As a result of emerging legislation, namely “The Welfare Reform Act 2012”, the 
Committee received a presentation in relation to all aspects of Welfare Reform, 
including the impact and possible consequences for the residents of Sefton.  The 
presentation also briefed Members on the actions so far in relation to a Sefton Food 
Bank System and the importance of available food banks for our vulnerable 
residents who are most in need.  The Committee will continue to keep a close eye 
on the impact of all elements of Welfare Reform, including progress on a Food Bank 
System for Sefton.  
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 364



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
5 

 

Port Master Plan Working Group 
I reported in last year’s Annual Report on the progress of the Port Master Plan 
Working Group.  Due to the heavy work load of that Working Group, agreement was 
sought to continue the review into the Municipal Year 2012/13.  The Working Group 
completed the review and submitted its Final Report to Cabinet in September 2012.  
Cabinet welcomed the report and the Cabinet Member for Transportation, in 
particular, welcomed the report as one which could be used as a reference 
document in the future.   
    
Cabinet Member Reports 
In order to keep Overview and Scrutiny Members informed, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board agreed for relevant Cabinet Member Reports to be 
submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairs for them to 
determine what items should be reported to Committee.  The Terms of Reference of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Performance and Corporate Services) covers 
the portfolios of the following two Cabinet Members:- 
 Cabinet Member – Corporate Services and Performance; and 
 Cabinet Member – Communities and Environment. 
 
The Year Ahead 
The Committee will continue to make progress on the following priorities over the 
coming year: 
 
- Monitoring the impact of the Transformation Programme upon the delivery 

of services to the people of Sefton and those who work for Sefton; 
 
- Input and monitoring of budget saving exercises in this financial year. 

 
I envisage the forthcoming year to be extremely busy and challenging for the 
Committee, given the difficult times that are currently being experienced by local 
government.  
 
On behalf of the Committee I would like to thank everyone who has contributed to 
our work over the past year.  I would personally like to thank all Members of the 
Democratic Services Team for their support to me over the past year.  
 
Councillor Steve McGinnity 
May 2013 

Agenda Item 10

Page 365



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
6 

 

Children’s Services 
 
   

   
 
  Councillor Robert Brennan 
  Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
  (Children’s Services) 
 

It gives me great pleasure to introduce Sefton Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services) Annual Report 2012/13 to the 
Council.  
 
Agenda Items 
During 2012/13, the Committee met on 5 occasions and received a number of 
reports on the Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) provided by 
Alder Hey Children’s NHS Foundation Trust. This largely provided follow-up 
information in relation to the implementation of recommendations produced by the 
CAMHS Working Group established by this Committee some two years ago and the 
Committee was also apprised of the restructure of the service and appointments to 
key posts. 
 
The Committee was also mindful of falling school numbers and received information 
on issues relating to School Organisation and School Places on two occasions. Pupil 
numbers and places available were considered. At the request of the Committee, 
Committee Member, Councillor Hands assisted relevant officers with work on this 
matter and he has been authorised to continue with this role as and when required. 
 
Information on the Troubled Families Programme was also received, including a 
definition and progress made by partners in this area. The Committee considered 
that it was important for this information to be made available to all Members and the 
relevant report was referred by the Committee to all of the Council’s Area 
Committees for information. 
 
A presentation was received on Sefton’s Strategic Needs Assessment, with 
particular emphasis on how it related to children’s issues. Another presentation 
focused on GP Consortia in Sefton. This outlined the arrangements to be made for 
South Sefton and Southport and Formby Clinical Commissioning Groups which 
became the responsible local healthcare commissioners from 1 April 2013. 
 
Information on Children’s Complaints and Representations for 2011/12 was received 
by the Committee, in relation to representations regarding children’s social care 
services and corporate complaints made in relation to the Council’s Young People 
and Families Services and individual schools. 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 366



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
7 

 

Other agenda items included the following:- 
 

• Fostering Strategy Regarding Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 
Foster Carers – a proposed targeted recruitment campaign; 

• Childcare entitlement for vulnerable two year olds – in relation to free 
childcare and proposed criteria for entitlement; 

• Registered Childcare Places in Church Ward; 

• School Service Level Agreements; and 

• Sefton’s Timescales for Adoption (an issue raised by Councillor Pat Keith). 
 
Pre-Scrutiny – The Key Decision Forward Plan 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has also been given the opportunity to pre-
scrutinise items from the Council’s Key Decision Forward Plan. The Forward Plan is 
submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee as part of the Work Programme 
update. The pre-scrutiny process assists the Cabinet and Cabinet Members to make 
effective decisions by examining issues beforehand and making recommendations 
prior to a determination being made.  
 
Cabinet Member Reports 
In order to keep Overview and Scrutiny Members informed, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board had previously agreed for relevant Cabinet Member 
Reports for the Children, Schools, Families and Leisure portfolio to be submitted to 
appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairs for them to determine what 
items should be reported to Committee. During 2012/13 I have requested Cabinet 
Member Update Reports to be included on Committee agendas for general 
information purposes for Members of the Committee. Items considered within 
Cabinet Member reports have included issues relating to:- 
 

• Vulnerable children, including safeguarding measures; 

• Early intervention and prevention; 

• Learning support; 

• Health and wellbeing, including the “Active Lifestyles Programme” and other 
leisure/sports programmes; 

• School funding reform; and 

• School performance. 
 
Site Visit 
During March 2013, Members of the Committee undertook a joint site visit with 
Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Health and Social Care) to Alder 
Hey Hospital to view services associated with Children and Adolescent Mental 
Health Services (CAMHS), following a review by this Committee two years 
previously. Committee Members, particularly those who had participated in the 
former review, found this visit to be extremely useful and thoroughly enjoyed seeing 
and hearing for themselves how recommendations made by the Working Group had 
been considered and implemented. 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 367



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
8 

 

Working Groups 
The Joint Cross-Cutting Working Group on the Port Master Plan continued its work 
into 2012/13 and Councillor Dorgan was the representative from this Committee. 
The Working Group finished its work during the autumn and the Cabinet agreed all 
of the recommendations from the Working Group in September 2012. 
 
Following a suggestion at a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board, to which Members of the Cabinet had been invited, a NEETs Working Group 
(not in education, employment or training) was jointly established during 2012/13 
between this Committee and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration 
and Environmental Services). This Committee was represented by myself, as the 
Working Group Lead Member, and also Councillors Dorgan, Keith, Killen and 
McKinley, together with Advisory Member, Mrs. Sandra Cain. Members really 
enjoyed serving on this Working Group and found it to be a real pleasure and 
privilege to have the opportunity to meet and talk with young people about the issues 
they face, particularly those young people who have previously been in the care of 
the Local Authority. The Committee was delighted with the Working Group Final 
Report, so much so that it requested the Cabinet to forward it to the Local 
Government Association as a potential example of best practice. The Cabinet 
agreed to this and also approved all of the recommendations, which we hope will go 
some way to contribute to the prevention of young people falling into the NEET 
category. 
 
The Year Ahead 
I look forward to the new Municipal Year as we look forward to working as a critical 
friend to our Cabinet Member and partners. The Committee will be examining Key 
Priorities for the Council and examining areas for us to investigate in order that the 
services we provide are continually improved to benefit all who live and work in the 
Borough. 
 
I am particularly appreciative of our Democratic Services Officers for their 
commitment, advice and support and especially to the responsible officer during 
2012/13, Debbie Campbell, for her hard work and dedication. 
 
I would also like to take this opportunity to thank all Committee Members for their 
support, hard work and contributions to our work throughout the year. 
 
 
 
Councillor Robert Brennan 
May 2013 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 368



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
9 

 

Health and Social Care 
 
 

 
 
  Councillor Catie Page 
  Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
  (Health and Social Care) 

 
It is my pleasure to introduce the 2012/13 Annual Report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (Health and Social Care). 
 
Introduction 
This is my first Annual Report as Chair of the Committee. I believe that the 
Committee has built on the existing good working relationships with all our health 
partners. The trust that has been built up has meant that we are recognised as a 
“critical friend” and that we are listened to and have been able to have a positive 
influence on the development of health services in Sefton. 
 
The Committee met on five occasions and this Report is presented to the Council 
and a wider audience beyond, in the hope that the information it contains will 
contribute to the debate and discussion about the provision of health and adult social 
care services for Sefton residents and their development, improvement and 
accessibility. 
 
Agenda Items 
As usual, the Committee commenced 2012/13 with consideration of draft Quality 
Accounts from local healthcare providers. This provides Committee Members with 
an opportunity to comment on the performance of local NHS Trusts during the 
preceding twelve months, particularly in relation to patient experience, safety and 
clinical effectiveness. Eight local NHS Trusts submitted their draft Quality Accounts 
for consideration and comment in May 2012 and it is always a challenge to provide 
adequate time to consider all of them in sufficient detail. 
 
Throughout 2012/13 the Committee received regular update reports from NHS 
Sefton during its final year in operation, on a range of activities from developments 
with the local Clinical Commissioning Groups, which operated in “shadow form” 
during 2012/13, to events held throughout the Borough for the promotion of 
wellbeing amongst residents. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 369



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
10 

 

Southport and Ormskirk Hospital NHS Trust also reported to the Committee on a 
regular basis during 2012/13 on a range of issues affecting the Trust, including its 
response to the Care Quality Commission (CQC) warning notice in respect of its 
medicines management. 
 
Regular Update Reports were also received from Aintree University Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust on a range of issues affecting the Trust, including winter pressures, 
and Committee Members were able to raise concerns regarding the cancellation and 
prolonged waiting times for appointments at clinics held by the Trust. 
 
Following the return of Public Health to the local authority remit, the Committee 
received the usual Public Health Annual Report. The 2012 Public Health Annual 
Report focused on health protection and identified key priorities for future work. With 
recent concerns regarding the threat of measles in certain areas of the country, I 
hope work around immunisation and other forms of health protection remain a key 
priority for our Public Health colleagues in the months to come. 
 
Following a presentation by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, way back in January 
2012, the Committee received two reports throughout the year via Sefton 
Partnership for Older Citizens (SPOC), reporting back on developments with 
addressing issues raised by Members on the ageing population. With the 
demographics of the Borough being what they are, obviously the ageing population, 
together with the impact this has on social care offered by the Council, remains an 
on-going concern to this Committee. 
 
Other agenda items received included an update of progress on the former Health 
Inequalities Working Group, a joint working group led by the previous Chair of this 
Committee; a Department of Health Consultation on Local Authority Health Scrutiny, 
where our views were sought following changes brought about by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012; and a recommendation concerning the Denunciation of 
Tobacco Industry Social Responsibility Funding, which was endorsed by the Council. 
 
Presentations 
Throughout 2012/13 the Committee received a number of presentations on the work 
undertaken by various Trusts, particularly by the following:- 
 

• Liverpool Community Health Trust; 

• Mersey Care NHS Trust; and 

• North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust. 
 
In addition, the Committee received a presentation on the Sefton Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment, with particular regard to health and wellbeing objectives. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 370



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
11 

 

Working Groups 

2012/13 saw the continuation of the Joint Cross-Cutting Working Group on the Port 
Master Plan. Both myself and Councillor Roberts represented the Committee until 
the Working Group completed its work during the autumn of 2012 and the Cabinet 
agreed to all of the recommendations made. 
 
No specific Working Group reviews were undertaken by the Committee during 
2012/13 but the Committee did request information on the podiatry service and 
concerns held by Members were acted upon by the Trusts concerned. 
 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Vascular Services) 
One meeting of the above joint body took place during 2012/13, to consider the 
development of two arterial centres for vascular services across Cheshire and 
Merseyside. This has been a joint Committee between Sefton and Knowsley 
Councils and Sefton was represented by myself and Councillors McGuire, Roberts 
and Robinson. 
 
Pre-Scrutiny and the Key Decision Forward Plan 
As ever, the Key Decision Forward Plan provides the Committee with an opportunity 
to pre-scrutinise Key Decision items from the Council’s Forward Plans. The Forward 
Plan is submitted to the Committee as part of its Work Programme update. The pre-
scrutiny process assists the Cabinet and Cabinet Members to make effective 
decisions by examining issues beforehand and making recommendations prior to a 
determination being made. During 2012/13 the Committee did take the opportunity to 
request additional information on a Key Decision, namely the Section 75 Partnership 
Agreement Between Sefton Council and Mersey Care NHS Trust, which set out an 
agreement as to how both organisations contributed towards the delivery of mental 
health services within the Borough. This provided a valuable opportunity for 
Members of the Committee to ask questions and seek additional information on this 
important Key Decision, prior to approval by the Cabinet to enter into a new formal 
agreement. 
 
Site Visits 
During 2012/13 Members of the Committee visited Aintree University Hospital, to 
visit the trauma pathway there; the Walton Centre to see the developments 
underway at Trust premises; Southport and Ormskirk NHS Hospital Trust to view a 
range of services; and also undertook a joint site visit with Members of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services) to Alder Hey Hospital to view services 
associated with Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), 
following a review by that Committee two years previously. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 371



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
12 

 

Cabinet Member Reports 

The regular attendance of the Cabinet Member - Health and Social Care, Councillor 
Cummins, has been particularly appreciated when Cabinet Member reports have 
been considered and the presence of senior officers from the People Directorate has 
been very useful. The update reports and presentations have included the following 
issues:- 
 

• The judicial review of the Council’s decision not to increase fees in 2011/12 
for residential care placements; 

• Winter pressures provided to support adult social care services during the 
winter period; 

• The Supporting People Review, as to how the services can be re-modelled in 
line with the savings required; 

• The Public Health transition at national and local levels; 

• The transition from Local Involvement Networks (LINks) to local Healthwatch; 

• Day Support and the remodelling of the provision in Sefton to reflect the 
changing needs and aspirations of current and future users; 

• Leisure centre pilot projects; 

• Welfare reform; 

• Sefton New Directions; 

• Integrated Adults System, a replacement social care database; 

• Active Lifestyles developments; 

• Consultation on the Care Quality Commission Strategy 2013 to 2016; 

• Towards Excellence in Adult Social Care (TEASC): Progress with Adult Social 
Care priorities England 2011/12; 

• The appointment of an independent Chair of the Adult Safeguarding Board 
and the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) for Sefton; 

• The draft Health and Well-Being Strategy for the Borough; 

• Parkhaven Trust – The Willow Centre; 

• Sefton Dementia Action Alliance; 

• The Strategy for Adults with Autism in England; 

• Church Ward – Older People Pilot; and 

• Substance Misuse Treatment Service. 
 
Contributions Made During 2012/13 
During 2012/13, the Committee was fortunate in having a co-opted member from 
Sefton LINk who was able to bring experience and expertise to the table. The regular 
attendance of representatives of organisations and partners, including senior officers 
and members of NHS Trusts, has been much appreciated and I would like to thank 
our partners for their openness and their responses to our requests and suggestions. 
I would also like to express my gratitude to members of the public who attended the 
Committee during 2012/13 together with my appreciation of the advice and support 
of Dr. Janet Atherton, Sefton’s Director of Public Health, and Fiona Clark, Chief 
Officer for both the Sefton Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs). Fiona has been 
a regular attendee, keeping the Committee apprised of developments with the 
emerging CCGs. 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 372



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
13 

 

I am also grateful to all the Members of the Committee for their support and for the 
enthusiastic way that they have contributed to our work. My special appreciation 
goes to our Democratic Services Officers for their commitment, advice and support 
and particularly to the current officer, Debbie Campbell, for her enthusiasm and hard 
work. 
 
The Year Ahead 
With the impact of the Health and Social Care Act and emergence of the GP 
consortia in both South Sefton and Southport and Formby, from April 2013, together 
with continuing pressures on health and social care services, I am conscious that the 
Committee faces fresh challenges during 2013/14, and I am confident that the 
Committee will continue to rise to the challenges it faces. 
 
Councillor Catie Page 
May 2013 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 373



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
14 

 

Regeneration and Environmental Services 
 
 

   
 
  Councillor Patrick McKinley 
  Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
  Regeneration and Environmental Services 
 

It gives me great pleasure to introduce Sefton Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Environmental Services) Annual 
Report 2012/13. 
 
As a newly appointed Chair of the above Committee, it has been a pleasure and 
privilege to chair the Committee during the year.  The Committee met on five 
occasions during the year, and we were grateful to all those who were invited to 
attend and the various Council Officers who presented reports and offered guidance, 
advice and support to the Committee.   
 
As Chair, I have built strong relationships with the four Cabinet Members whose 
portfolios are within our Terms of Reference.  As part of that process we have 
continued to welcome update reports from Cabinet Members into our agenda.  This 
ensures that the Committee are briefed upon current Cabinet Member activities.  It 
also allows Committee to make judgements and offer assistance to the Cabinet 
Members where they agree it’s required.  Cabinet Members have regularly attended 
the Committee Meetings and Members have appreciated the opportunity to ask 
questions and seek clarifications on certain aspects of their work.       
 
Call-In of Executive Decisions   
 
The Committee dealt with four decisions that had been “called in” during the year 
2012/13.  The call-in mechanism allows at least three Members, who are not 
Members of the Cabinet, to call in a decision for further review.  There are certain 
stipulations associated with what constitutes a valid call-in and the Committee must, 
in the first instance, determine if the call in is a valid one.  When considering a call-in 
at Committee, there is a set procedure to be followed and this assists the Committee 
in ensuring that they receive all the evidence required to determine if the original 
decision was a sound one. 
 
The following decisions were subject to call in:- 

• Receipt of Petitions - Rufford Road/Bankfield Lane, Southport; 

• Implementation of Permitting Building Materials on the Highway; 

• Review of Library Service and Options for Consideration; and 

• Housing in Multiple Occupation and Flats Supplementary Planning Document.  

Agenda Item 10

Page 374



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
15 

 

Members of the public attended for three of the listed items above and were invited 
to make representations to the Committee. 
Detailed information in relation to the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules and 
the call in process can be accessed in the Council’s Constitution and by following the 
link at:- 
 
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s46670/Chapter%206%20-
%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committees.pdf 
 
The Committee continues to actively monitor the progress of the 29 
recommendations from the Watercourse Maintenance and Flooding Working Group.  
The Floods and Water Management Act 2010 has placed a number of duties on 
Local Authorities, in particular those that are Lead Local Flooding Authorities (LLFA).  
I note that in previous years this Committee has been instrumental in ensuring that 
the Council complies with the sentiments of the Act by working with Cabinet to 
ensure that the Council is fulfilling its duty as an LLFA.  This year being no 
exception, the Committee received an Annual Report on Flood and Coastal Risk 
Management.  The Committee will continue to monitor compliance with the Act. 
 
Local Plan Update 
The Committee received an update with regard to the Local Plan.  The Committee 
also received a petition and listened to representations made by a representative of 
the Formby Residents Action Group in relation to “implementing a local plan as a 
matter of urgency which would protect the green belt, farm land, countryside and 
residents in Sefton from any development on such land.” 
 
The Committee will be updated on the outcome of the “consequences study” and 
consideration of a preferred options document which will lead into a 12 week 
consultation and submission of the plan for examination later in 2014. 
 
Review of Progress Made Against the Joint Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy 
The Committee welcomed the Waste Strategy Manager from the Merseyside 
Recycling and Waste Authority who made a presentation on progress on delivery of 
the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy.  The Committee also received an 
update from a Senior Officer of the Council detailing the progress Sefton had made 
against the delivery of the objectives of the Strategy. 
 
The Committee agreed that it would be most appropriate to continue to scrutinise the 
progress of the Merseyside Waste Partnership in delivering the key objectives of the 
Strategy on an annual basis.  This Committee will scrutinise the Strategy at the time 
the Annual Report which details performance is published.  We look forward to 
working with the partnership to ensure that the targets are met. 
 
Sefton Strategic Needs Assessment 
A presentation was received by all four Overview and Scrutiny Committees detailing 
the outcomes of the consultation on the Sefton Strategic Needs Assessment. 
The Committee welcomed the fact that the presentation highlighted the concerns 
residents raised in relation to the Regeneration and Environmental issues.  The 

Agenda Item 10

Page 375



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
16 

 

consultation also recognised that each area across the Borough has significantly 
different concerns.  Members welcomed the fact that the issues were identified and 
highlighted by area.   
 
Sefton Home Energy Conservation Act (HECA) Plan 
The Committee welcomed a report setting out details of a HECA Plan - Green Deal 
that should give homes and businesses the opportunity to make energy saving 
improvements and pay for some or all of the work done over time from expected 
savings from their energy bills. 
This is a good opportunity for Sefton to gain first mover advantage in attracting 
external investment in to Sefton. 
 
NEET (Not in Education, Employment or Training) Working Group 
In September 2012 the Committee embarked on a Joint Review with the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services) to investigate NEET.  The review took 
a focused approach to the investigation, involving interviewing various organisations 
and their honesty in answering the Group’s questions was welcomed.   
The full report may be accessed via the following link:- 
 
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1453&ID=145
3&RPID=7314964&sch=doc&cat=13388&path=13383%2c13388 
 
The Committee will be briefed upon the latest position with regard to NEET and the 
implementation of recommendations, on a six monthly basis. 
 
Employment Development and Development of Local Town Centres and 
Economies Working Group 
The Committee established a Working Group to investigate Employment 
Development and Development of Local Town Centres and Economies.  The Terms 
of Reference and Objectives of the review were rather detailed and with this in mind, 
the Working Group agreed to split the review into two parts for investigation 
purposes with one final report being prepared. 
 
The Committee was keen to examine Employment Development with a view to 
formalising recommendations to maximise job opportunities for local people.  As part 
of the brief, Members interviewed many key witnesses and are currently formalising 
the findings of that part of the review.  It is envisaged that the Working Group will 
start the Town Centres part of the review at the beginning of June 2013. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank all Members, Officers and those 
organisations who have given up their time to come and speak with the Group.  The 
Working Group will keep up the good work and it is anticipated that the final report 
will be completed by September 2013. 
 
Winter Service Policy and Operational Plan 
The Winter Service Policy and Operational Plan is reviewed each Summer to ensure 
that it remains “fit for purpose”.  The Committee scrutinised the plan and was 
satisfied that the plan was “fit for purpose” and all roads across Sefton were deemed 
to be safe during the winter months. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 376



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
17 

 

The Year Ahead 
The Committee will continue to keep abreast of the various matters as listed above. 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank Committee Members, Officers, Partner 
Organisations and the Democratic Services Team for all their hard work and support 
throughout the year. 
 
 
Councillor Patrick McKinley 
May 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 377



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
18 

 

During 2012/13, the following Members served on the Committees indicated:- 
 
 
Overview & Scrutiny Management Board 
 
Councillor McGinnity (Chair) 
Councillor Byrom (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Bradshaw 
Councillor Brennan 
Councillor J. Kelly 
Councillor McKinley 
Councillor Page 
Councillor Robinson 
 
 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services) 
 
Councillor Brennan (Chair) 
Councillor Bradshaw (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Bennett  
Councillor Dorgan 
Councillor Hands 
Councillor Hubbard 
Councillor Keith 
Councillor Killen 
Councillor McKinley 
Councillor Webster 
Canon R. Driver – Church Diocesan Representative 
Father D. Seddon - Church Diocesan Representative 
Ms. M. Bradley - Parent Governor Representative 
Mrs. S. Cain - Parent Governor Representative / Advisory 
Member 
 
 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee (Health & Social Care) 
 
Councillor Page (Chair) 
Councillor Robinson (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Dawson  
Councillor Gatherer 
Councillor Hartill 
Councillor Hubbard 
Councillor J.J.Kelly 
Councillor Killen – changed to Councillor Murphy later in the 
year 
Councillor McGuire 
Councillor Roberts 
Ms. A. Bisbrown-Lee – Co-opted Member, Sefton LINk 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 378



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny 
19 

 

 
 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee (Performance & Corporate Services) 
 

Councillor McGinnity (Chair) 
Councillor Byrom (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Ashton 
Councillor Dawson 
Councillor Kermode 
Councillor Lappin 
Councillor Maguire 
Councillor McIvor 
Councillor Robertson - changed to Councillor McGuire later in the year 
Councillor Robinson 
 
 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration & Environmental Services) 
 

Councillor McKinley (Chair) 
Councillor J. Kelly (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Bennett 
Councillor Booth 
Councillor Gatherer 
Councillor Jones 
Councillor Lappin 
Councillor Maguire 
Councillor Weavers 
Councillor Welsh 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 379



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact Details 
Town Hall 
Trinity Road 

Bootle 
L20 7AE 

Tel: 0151 934 2042 / 2254 
 

Further information can also be found at: 
www.sefton.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 380


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meetings
	Adjourned Annual Council Meeting - 14 May 13

	7 Local Plan for Sefton - Preferred Option Document
	Pages 1-100 from COMBINED LOCAL PLAN for cttee _Map Key Change
	Pages 101-200 from COMBINED LOCAL PLAN for cttee-2
	Page 201 on COMBINED LOCAL PLAN for cttee
	EqIA of Local Plan2

	8 Merseyside and Halton Joint Waste Local Plan - Adoption of Plan
	9 Introduction of a Byelaw - Cosmetic Treatments
	10 Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2012/13

